
Central Bedfordshire 
Council
Priory House
Monks Walk
Chicksands, 
Shefford SG17 5TQ

 

please ask for Sandra Hobbs

direct line 0300 300 5257

date 23 March 2017

                                 NOTICE OF MEETING

EXECUTIVE

Date & Time
Tuesday, 4 April 2017 at 9.30 a.m.

Venue 
Council Chamber, Priory House, Monks Walk, Shefford

Richard Carr
Chief Executive

To:    The Chairman and Members of the EXECUTIVE:

Cllrs J Jamieson  Chairman and Leader of the Council
R Wenham  Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Corporate 

Resources
I Dalgarno  Executive Member for Community Services
S Dixon  Executive Member for Education and Skills
C Hegley  Executive Member for Social Care and Housing and 

Lead Member for Children’s Services
B Spurr  Executive Member for Health
N Young  Executive Member for Regeneration

All other Members of the Council - on request

MEMBERS OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC ARE WELCOME TO ATTEND THIS 
MEETING

This meeting will 
be filmed.*



*This meeting may be filmed by the Council for live and/or subsequent broadcast 
online at 
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/modgov/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=577.
You can view previous meetings there starting from May 2015.

At the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting will 
be filmed by the Council.  The footage will be on the Council’s website for six 
months.  A copy of it will also be retained in accordance with the Council’s data 
retention policy.  The images and sound recording may be used for training 
purposes within the Council.

By entering the Chamber you are deemed to have consented to being filmed by the 
Council, including during any representation you might make, and to the possible 
use of the images and sound recordings made by the Council for webcasting 
and/or training purposes.

Phones and other equipment may also be used to film, audio record, tweet or blog 
from this meeting by an individual Council member or a member of the public.  No 
part of the meeting room is exempt from public filming unless the meeting resolves 
to go into exempt session.  The use of images or recordings arising from this is not 
under the Council’s control.

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/modgov/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=577


AGENDA

1.  Apologies for Absence

To receive apologies for absence.

2.  Minutes

To approve as a correct record, the Minutes of the meeting of the Executive 
held on 7 February 2017.

3.  Members' Interests

To receive from Members any declarations of interest.

4.  Chairman's Announcements

To receive any matters of communication from the Chairman.

5.  Petitions

To consider petitions received in accordance with the Scheme of Public 
Participation set out in Annex 2 of Part A4 of the Constitution.

6.  Public Participation

To respond to general questions and statements from members of the public in 
accordance with the Scheme of Public Participation set out in Appendix A of 
Part A4 of the Constitution.

7.  Forward Plan of Key Decisions

To receive the Forward Plan of Key Decisions for the period 1 May 2017 to 30 
April 2017.

Decisions

Item Subject Page Nos.

8. Council Responsiveness (Recommendations from 
the Overview and Scrutiny Enquiry)

To receive the recommendations of a Corporate 
Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee enquiry 
into Council Responsiveness.

 41 - 54



9. School Parking (Recommendations from the 
Overview and Scrutiny Enquiry)

To receive the recommendations of a Sustainable 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee enquiry 
into School Parking.

 55 - 100

10. Neighbourhood Planning

To provide an update on the latest situation for 
Neighbourhood Planning in Central Bedfordshire, to set 
out the statutory processes involved and to seek 
delegated authority to process Neighbourhood Plans 
through Examination and Referendum and to make 
them at the end of the process.

 101 - 106

11. CCTV Review

To consider the options and recommendations for the 
future development of public space CCTV in Central 
Bedfordshire.

107 - 132

12. Superfast Broadband Extension Project

To support the award of contracts for £3.48m of 
externally secured funding and additional funding as 
secured, to extend superfast broadband infrastructure 
across Central Bedfordshire as part of the Council’s goal 
to maximise superfast broadband coverage by 2020.

 133 - 140

13. Children's Services Transformation Programme

To consider an update on the transformation programme 
for Children’s Services.

 141 - 150

14. Commissioning of New School Places in Barton-Le-
Clay and Marston Moretaine for September 2018

To provide the outcome of the consultation by Arnold 
Academy, Barton-Le-Clay and Church End Lower 
School, Marston Moretaine to expand by one form of 
entry (30 places in each year group) by September 
2018.

 151 - 180

15. Commissioning of New School Places in the Ward of 
Cranfield and Marston Moretaine for September 2018

To seek support for the proposed consultation by 
Holywell Middle School (academy), Cranfield, to expand 
by 1 form of entry (30 places in each middle school year 
group) by September 2018. 

 181 - 190



16. Prescribed Alteration to Robert Peel, St Swithuns VC 
and John Donne CofE Lower Schools

To consider the responses to statutory consultation and 
determine the proposal for the prescribed alterations of 
Robert Peel Lower School, Sandy, John Donne CofE 
Lower School, Blunham and St Swithuns VC Lower 
School, Sandy.

 191 - 204

17. Determination of a Statutory Notice for a Change of 
Age Range at Shillington Lower School from 4-9 to 
2-9 years of age

To seek approval to a change in age range at Shillington 
Lower School (SLS) from 4-9 to 2-9 years of age, to 
integrate a pre school provision. 

 205 - 212

18. The Day Offer for Older People and Adults with 
Disabilities

This report sets out the outcome of the consultation on 
the future Day Offer for vulnerable adults and older 
people, requests that the Day Offer is adopted and 
proposes the next steps.

 213 - 262

19. A421 Dualling M1/J13 - Milton Keynes, Magna Park - 
Compulsory Purchase Order 2017

The report proposes that the Executive give approval to 
for the CPO to be made and issued to secure the land 
that is required to enable the project to move forward to 
the next stage.

To follow

20. Flitwick Station Site and Car Park

To seek agreement to further progress work on a mixed-
use development scheme for the Flitwick station area 
site for the purpose of securing strong commercial 
interest in the scheme and enabling its delivery.

263 - 286

Monitoring Matters

Item Subject Page Nos.

21. Revenue Budget Monitoring Provisional Forecast 
Outturn December 2016 (Quarter 3)

The report sets out the provisional forecast outturn 
financial position for 2016/17 as at the end of December 
2016. 

287 - 318



22. December 2016 Quarter 3 Capital Budget Monitoring 
Forecast Outturn Report

The report sets out the Capital projected outturn for 
2016/17 as at the end of December 2016.  

 319 - 336

23. Period 9 (Quarter 3) – 2016/17 Housing Revenue 
Account Budget Monitoring

The report sets out the financial position for 2016/17 as 
at the end of December 2016. 

 337 - 352

24. Quarter 3 Performance Monitoring

To consider quarter 3 performance monitoring.

353 - 366

25. Exclusion of the Press and Public

To consider whether to pass a resolution under section 
100A of the Local Government Act 1972 to exclude the 
Press and Public from the meeting for the following 
items of business on the grounds that the consideration 
of the items is likely to involve the disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part I of 
Schedule 12A of the Act.

Exempt Appendix

Item Subject Exempt 
Para. Page Nos.

26. Flitwick Station Site and Car Park

To receive the exempt information.  

3 367 - 382

This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by Regulations 
(4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)(Meetings and Access to 
Information)(England) Regulations 2012.

Details of any representations received by the Executive about why any of the above 
exempt decisions should be considered in public: none at the time of publication of the 
agenda.  If representations are received they will be published separately, together with 
the statement given in response



CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE COUNCIL

At a meeting of the EXECUTIVE held in the Council Chamber, Priory House, Monks 
Walk, Shefford on Tuesday, 7 February 2017.

PRESENT

Cllr J G Jamieson (Chairman)
Cllr M R Jones (Vice-Chairman)

Executive 
Members:

Cllrs Cllr S Dixon
Cllr Mrs C Hegley
B J Spurr

Cllrs R D Wenham
J N Young

Deputy 
Executive 
Members:

Cllrs A D Brown
Mrs S Clark
K M Collins
I Dalgarno

Cllrs Mrs A L Dodwell
Ms C Maudlin
Mrs T Stock
B  Wells

Apologies for 
Absence:

Cllrs E Ghent 
G Tubb

Members in Attendance: Cllrs R D Berry
M C Blair
D Bowater
P A Duckett
F Firth

Cllrs Mrs S A Goodchild
Ms A M W Graham
P Hollick
D Shelvey
A Zerny

Officers in Attendance Mr Q Baker AD Legal Services (Monitoring 
Officer)

Miss M Brooks Committee Services Officer
Mr R Carr Chief Executive
Mr M Coiffait Director of Community Services
Ms S Griffin Committee Services Officer
Mrs S Harrison Director of Children's Services
Mrs S Hobbs Committee Services Officer
Ms K McFarlane Business Investment Group Manager
Mrs J Ogley Director of Social Care, Health and 

Housing
Mrs M Scott Director of Public Health
Mr C Warboys Director of Resources

E/16/95.   Minutes 

RESOLVED 

that the minutes of the meeting held on 10 January 2017 be confirmed as 
a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

Page 7
Agenda item 2



Exec - 07.02.17
Page 2

E/16/96.   Members' Interests 

None were declared.

E/16/97.   Chairman's Announcements 

The Executive held a one minute silence in memory of Councillor Lewis Birt.

E/16/98.   Petitions 

No petitions were received.

E/16/99.   Public Participation 

No members of the public had registered to speak.

E/16/100.   Forward Plan of Key Decisions 

RESOLVED

that the Forward Plan of Key Decisions for the period 1 March 2017 to 28 
February 2018 be noted.

E/16/101.   Budget 2017/18 and Medium Term Financial Plan 

The Executive considered a report that set out the proposed budget for 
2017/18 and updated the Medium Term Financial Plan.  The Executive 
Member for Corporate Resources drew attention to the comments and 
recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Committees on the 
proposals and summarised the outcome of the public consultation.  He also 
referred to the addendum to Appendix F as this provided additional 
exemplification of the legal considerations for certain specific efficiencies 
(Category C – Withdrawing Services).  The Local Government Finance 
Settlement was unlikely to be finalised until after Council on 23 February 2017, 
so any adverse implications from the final Settlement would need to be 
accommodated within the contingency contained within the proposed budget.  
The General Fund reserves were continually being assessed to maintain a 
prudent minimum level to respond to unforeseen impacts.  The proposed 
revenue budget for 2017/18 included a contingency of £2.1m.  The reserve 
policy had been updated as set out at Appendix G to the report. To deploy 
reserves to offset efficiencies would be to compromise the Council’s financial 
sustainability.

Page 8
Agenda item 2



Exec - 07.02.17
Page 3

The report identified the efficiencies required to produce a balanced budget in 
the light of the ongoing reduction in funding from the Government and other 
pressures.  £15.2m of efficiencies were identified for 2017/18. Following 
consideration of the responses from the consultation, it was proposed that the 
Council’s element of the Council tax should be increased by 1.549% and a 3% 
precept earmarked for adult social care. 

In response to questions, the Executive Member for Corporate Resources 
explained that councils would be permitted to apply a social care precept of up 
to 6% over a three year period.  In view of the pressures in this area, it was 
proposed that the Council include a 3% precept for 2017/18 and 2018/19.   

New Homes Bonus (NHB) was used to support frontline services and any 
growth above a baseline figure held in an earmarked reserve to fund 
infrastructure costs incurred as a result of growth.  The Provisional Local 
Government Finance Settlement confirmed a reduction in the number of 
payment years for NHB from 6 years to 5 years in 2017/18 and to 4 years in 
2018/19.

The Executive Member welcomed the feedback from an Independent Member 
who was pleased with the comprehensive and numerous briefings provided to 
Members to influence the budget proposed by the Executive.

Reason for decision:  To enable the Council to approve the budget for 2017/18 
and Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 – 2020/21.

RESOLVED

1. to note the response to consultation with the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees as set out in Appendix J and the response to consultation 
with the public and stakeholders as set out in Appendix A(i);

2. to note the Council Tax Base as set out in Appendix H; and

3. to note that certain efficiency proposals identified in Appendix D(ii) will be 
subject to formal consultation and Equality Impact Assessment in the 
coming months and instruct the Corporate Management Team to propose 
alternative compensatory savings if it appears, following a review of the 
outcome of the consultation and Equality Impact Assessment, that any 
specific proposal cannot be delivered. 

RECOMMENDED to Council

1. that the Revenue Budget for 2017/18 and the Medium Term Financial 
Plan for 2017/18 to 2020/21, be approved;

2. that in line with Government guidance, the following increases in 
Council tax (CBC element) for residents of Central Bedfordshire:

(a) a Band D increase of £21.07, representing a 1.549% increase 
on the charge for 2016/17; and

Page 9
Agenda item 2



Exec - 07.02.17
Page 4

(b) a Band D increase of £40.80, representing a 3.0% increase on 
the charge for 2016/17, reflecting a precept of this amount to 
help fund adult social care costs.

In total the Band D increase would be £61.87, representing a 
4.549% increase on the charge for 2016/17.  The CBC element of 
Band D Council tax for 2017/18 would therefore be £1,421.88.

[Note:  Councillor Zerny arrived at the beginning of this item.]

E/16/102.   Capital Programme 2017/18 – 2020/21 

The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Corporate 
Resources setting out the proposed capital programme for the period 2017/18 
to 2020/21.

The capital programme continued to feature some large schemes, including the 
requirement to provide New School Places, the M1/A421 Junction 13 – Milton 
Keynes Magna Park road, M1/A6 Phase 1 and 2, Highways Structural 
Maintenance, Dunstable Leisure Centre and Library and Broadband 
infrastructure.

In response to a question, the Executive Member for Corporate Resources 
explained that £1.5m had been allocated in the programme for the de-trunking 
of the A5.  At this stage a feasibility study would be carried out to establish the 
precise requirements of the work and external funding would be sought to 
support the outcome of the feasibility study.  Additional provision was made as 
a reserve scheme.

Reason for decision:  To enable Council to consider the proposed capital 
programme for 2017/18 to 2020/21 to help deliver the priorities contained in the 
Council’s Five Year Plan.

RECOMMENDED to Council

that the capital programme for 2017/18 to 2020/21 be approved.

E/16/103.   Budget for the Housing Revenue Account (Landlord Business Plan) 

The Executive considered a report of the Executive Member for Corporate 
Resources and the Executive Member for Social Care and Housing setting out 
the financial position of the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and the proposed 
budget for 2017/18.  The proposals:

 responded to legislative changes; 
 made best use of the investment potential; 
 accounted for the rent reduction; and 
 aligned to the debt strategy in the context of long term business planning 

for the landlord services.

Page 10
Agenda item 2



Exec - 07.02.17
Page 5

Reason for decision:  To enable Council to approve the budget for the Housing 
Revenue Account.

RECOMMENDED to Council 

that the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budget proposals for 2017/18 
be approved and:

1. that the recent legislative changes relating to Housing Finance and 
their impact on the Landlord Business Plan, be noted;

2. that the HRA’s debt portfolio and interest payments due in 2016/17, 
be noted;

3. that the intention to commence principal debt repayments from 
2017/18, as approved previously by Council in February 2016, be 
noted;

4. that the Landlord Business Investment Plan, which proposes HRA 
investment throughout the Council area, be approved;

5. that the HRA Revenue Budget for 2017/18 and the Landlord 
Business Plan summary at Appendices A and B to the Executive 
report, be approved;

6. that the 2017/18 to 2020/21 HRA Capital Programme at Appendix C to 
the Executive report, be approved; and

7. that the average rent decrease of 1% for Council tenancies for 
2017/18 in line with the national rental decrease as per Government 
direction, be approved.

E/16/104.   Social Care, Health & Housing Fees & Charges 2017/18 

The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Corporate 
Resources that proposed the revised Social Care, Health and Housing fees 
and charges for 2017/18, identified new services for which it was proposed that 
fees and charges would be levied and identified those charges where proposed 
increases were significantly different from the 1% advisory increase envisaged 
within the 2017/18 Budget Strategy.

Following a representation by a member of the public at the Social Care, 
Health and Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 23 January 2017, 
concerning the proposed charges for the guest rooms and meeting space at 
Priory View, Dunstable, the Executive Member for Corporate Resources moved 
the following amendment to recommendation 2:

Page 11
Agenda item 2



Exec - 07.02.17
Page 6

“That the new  fees and charges to be introduced for 2017/18 (Appendix C to 
the Executive report), be approved subject to the Director of Social Care, 
Health and Housing and the Director of Resources, in consultation with the 
Executive Members for Social Care and Housing and Resources, being 
authorised to determine the fees and charges for the hire of guest rooms and 
meeting space at Priory View, Dunstable, including arrangements for a ‘Friends 
of Priory View’ association to be established, prior to 1 April 2017.” 

Reason for decision:  To enable the Council to agree the price of the fees and 
charges for 2017/18 as part of delivering a balanced budget for 2017/18.

RECOMMENDED to Council

1. that the prices of the fees and charges for 2017/18 (Appendices A 
and B to the Executive report), be approved;

2. that the new fees and charges to be introduced for 2017/18 
(Appendix C to the Executive report), be approved subject to the 
Director of Social Care, Health and Housing and the Director of 
Resources, in consultation with the Executive Members for Social 
Care and Housing and Resources, being authorised to determine the 
fees and charges for the hire of guest rooms and meeting space at 
Priory View, Dunstable, including arrangements for a ‘Friends of 
Priory View’ association to be established, prior to 1 April 2017; and

3. that the comments from the Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
(Appendix D to the Executive report), be noted.

E/16/105.   Treasury Management Strategy and Treasury Policy 

The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Corporate 
Resources that set out the Treasury Management Policy, Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy and the 
Prudential Indicators for 2017/18.  

Reason for decision:  To retain an effective treasury management framework 
for the Council and to adopt a more consistent approach to the calculation of 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) in respect of debt financed capital 
expenditure which pre-dates 1 April 2011.  The proposal was in line with 
guidance issued by the National Audit Office and met the criteria for prudence.

RECOMMENDED to Council

1. that the Treasury Management Policy, Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement and Prudential Indicators for 2017/18, be 
approved;

Page 12
Agenda item 2



Exec - 07.02.17
Page 7

2. that subject to the Council’s external auditor’s opinion the MRP 
policy, as set out at Appendix D (Option 4) to the Executive report, 
be approved to replace the policy approved by Council on 25 
February 2016, in order to allow the change in approach to MRP to 
be applied with effect from the financial year ending 31 March 2017; 
and

3. that the MRP policy, as outlined in Appendix D (Option 4), be 
adopted in respect of the Council’s financial year ending 31 March 
2018, subject to the Council’s external auditor’s opinion.

E/16/106.   Improving Care Home Provision for Older People in Central Bedfordshire 

The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Social Care 
and Housing that set out a new opportunity in Ivel Valley to further improve 
care home provision.  

Oak Manor, Shefford was due to open in September/October 2017 and 30 
places were available to the Council’s customers.  The report sought approval 
to authorise the commencement of consultation on the closure of The Birches 
Older Persons Home (OPH), Shefford and find suitable alternative 
accommodation for the existing residents.  One of the options available to 
residents at The Birches OPH was to relocate to Oak Manor, if they so wished.  
This would provide the residents with improved living conditions.

Reason for decision:  To ensure that prior to making a decision about the future 
of the home, the Executive would have as much information as possible about 
the options available and the view of the interested parties.

RESOLVED

1. to recognise and respond to the opportunities to improve care home 
provision for older people in Ivel Valley by authorising the commencement 
of formal consultation on proposals for the future of The Birches OPH, as 
set out in paragraphs 38 to 48 of the report; and

2. to request that a report be submitted to a future meeting of the Executive 
advising on the outcome of the consultation and making 
recommendations about the future of the home.

[Note:  Councillor Bowater arrived at the beginning of this item.]

Page 13
Agenda item 2



Exec - 07.02.17
Page 8

E/16/107.   Proposal to make a Prescribed Alteration to Robert Peel Foundation 
Lower School, Sandy, St Swithuns VC Lower School, Sandy and John 
Donne C of E Lower School, Blunham 

The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Education 
and Skills that sought approval to commence the statutory consultation for the 
prescribed alterations to the accommodation at Robert Peel Foundation, St 
Swithuns Voluntary Controlled and John Donne Church of England Lower 
Schools.  All three schools had consulted on a proposed change of age range 
for each school from 3-9 years to 3-11 years, to be implemented from 
September 2017, following the agreement of the schools, governors and 
parents.  The Department for Education (DfE)  required that the local authority 
carry out a statutory consultation for those schools that were required to 
physically enlarge their premises, due to an increase in capacity beyond a 
threshold as determined by the DfE.  

In response to a question, the Executive Member for Education and Skills 
confirmed that there were no capital implications for the Council arising as a 
result of the proposal.  However the schools and their governing bodies would 
need to manage their budgets especially carefully to accommodate the impact 
of the physical alterations.

Reason for decision:  To ensure that the Council was able to meet all of the 
legal requirements placed on the Council by the Education and Inspection Act 
2006.

RESOLVED

that the commencement of the statutory consultation process for the 
proposed prescribed alterations for Robert Peel Foundation Lower 
School, St Swithuns VC Lower School, Sandy and John Donne C of E 
Lower School, Blunham, be approved.

[Note:  Councillor Zerny left the meeting after this item.]

E/16/108.   Proposed Change of Age Range for Shillington Lower School from 4-9 to 
2-9 years of age 

The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Education 
and Skills that sought approval to commence a statutory consultation for the 
proposal to change the age range of Shillington Lower School, to integrate a 
pre-school provision following the closure of the previous pre-school on the last 
day of the Autumn school term 2016.

Reason for decision:  To ensure that the village of Shillington has an early 
years facility.

Page 14
Agenda item 2



Exec - 07.02.17
Page 9

RESOLVED

that the statutory process for the proposal to change the age range of 
Shillington Lower School from 4-9 years to 2-9 years be approved by 
integrating a pre-school provision from September 2017, namely:

(i) that publication of the statutory notice be approved;
(ii) that the commence of formal consultation of at least four weeks be 

authorised; and
(iii) that the proposal following the representation period of the statutory 

notice be determined by the Executive on the 4 April 2017.

E/16/109.   Determination of the Council's Admission Arrangements for the Academic 
Year 2018/19 

The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Education 
and Skills that sought approval to determine the Admission Arrangements for 
2018/19 for community and voluntary controlled schools for which the Council 
was responsible.  There were proposed changes to the following two schools:

 Shefford Lower School – proposal to move the measuring point of the 
school; and

 Fairfield Park Lower School – proposal for the creation of priority areas 
within the catchment area of the school and moving the measuring point.

Concerns had been raised through the consultation about  the safety of 
children walking to the new site at Fairfield Park Lower School.  The Executive 
Member explained that as part of the planning approval for the new site, 
conditions had been put in place that included measures to mitigate traffic and 
road safety issues.  The Executive Member for Community Services confirmed 
that he would follow up on the road safety measures.  Also there had been 
concerns about the priority for catchment siblings being split over two sites. 
The school’s governing body had amended the school’s catchment sibling 
criterion to mitigate these concerns. 

Reason for decision:  To enable the Council to meet its statutory obligations to 
determine its admission arrangements for the academic year 2018/19.

RESOLVED

that the admission arrangements for community and voluntary schools 
for the academic year 2018/19, including the authority’s co-ordinated 
scheme and religious affiliation supplementary information form, be 
approved.

Page 15
Agenda item 2



Exec - 07.02.17
Page 10

E/16/110.   European Structural Investment Funds (ESIF) - ESF SEaMLESS 
Programme 

The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Education 
and Skills that provided further detail on the status of the SEaMLESS 
Consortium European Social Funds (ESF) bid.  A programme had been 
planned to commence in January 2017 for completion on 31 December 2019, 
subject to approval by the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP).  The bid 
was still currently under consideration by the DWP which would mean the 
commencement date would be delayed.

Reason for decision:  To enable funding to be secured for SEaMLESS as it 
provided an excellent opportunity to lever in external funding to support  
vulnerable residents back into employment.  

RESOLVED

1. that the further detail provided about the SEaMLESS Consortium 
ESF funding bid, including the budget, outputs, results and targets, 
and associated impacts and risks to the Council, be noted;

2. to authorise the Council entering into the funding agreement, 
subject to approval by the DWP for the programme; and

3. to authorise the Director of Regeneration and Business and the 
Section 151 Officer to approve any minor amendments to this 
funding agreement, in consultation with the Executive Member for 
Regeneration and the Executive Member for Education and Skills.

E/16/111.   Approval to Continue to Fund Healthwatch Central Bedfordshire from 1 
April 2017 to 31 March 2021 

The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Social Care 
and Housing that sought approval to continue to fund Healthwatch Central 
Bedfordshire for the next 3 years.

Reason for decision:  On the basis that Healthwatch Central Bedfordshire had 
performed satisfactorily against the Service Level Agreement since 2013, it 
was proposed that funding continued and that the Service Level Agreement 
was reviewed and updated to reflect current and future priorities.

RESOLVED

that the funding of Healthwatch Central Bedfordshire be approved for a 
further period of 3 years from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020.

Page 16
Agenda item 2



Exec - 07.02.17
Page 11

E/16/112.   Approval to Procure a New and Enhanced Domiciliary Care Framework 
Agreement and to Extend the Current Framework Agreement for a Period 
of 5 Months 

The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Social Care 
and Housing that sought approval for the procurement of a new domiciliary 
care framework and domiciliary care contract/s for four courts for a period of 5 
years (3 years plus up to 2 one year extensions) and to approve an extension 
to the current domiciliary care framework contract by 5 months to 30 
September 2017.

Reason for decision:  The current domiciliary care framework contract for 
adults and older people ended in April 2017 and the Council needed to procure 
a new framework contract to ensure that customers who needed care and 
support at home were able to access these services.

RESOLVED

1. that the procurement of a new domiciliary framework contract be 
approved, with the new arrangement to start on 1 October 2017 with 
a contract term of 3 years, plus up to 2 one year extensions;

2. that the extension to the current domiciliary care framework contract 
for a period of 5 months be approved; and

3. that the procurement of domiciliary care contract/s for four Extra 
Care Courts be approved and that the new contract/s to start on 1 
October 2017 with a contract term of 3 years, plus up to 2 one year 
extensions.

E/16/113.   Exclusion of the Press and Public 

RESOLVED

to exclude the press and public from the meeting for the following item of 
business on the grounds that its consideration was likely to involve the 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

E/16/114.   Leisure Management Contract 

The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member for Community 
Services on the future leisure management contract arrangements at 
Dunstable and Tiddenfoot Leisure Centres and The Grove Theatre.

Reason for decision:  To ensure the provision of leisure and cultural services at 
Dunstable and Tiddenfoot Leisure Centres and The Grove Theatre offer best 
value in commercial terms and benefits for the community.

Page 17
Agenda item 2



Exec - 07.02.17
Page 12

RESOLVED

that the recommendations contained in the exempt report, be approved.

E/16/115.   Tender Award for the Contract for Central Heating and Boiler 
Replacements to Council Housing 2017-2020 

The Executive considered a report from the Executive Member Social Care and 
Housing that sought approval of the award of a 3 year contract, extendable by 
up to a further 3 years, for the Central Heating and Boiler Replacements 2017-
2020.  The existing contract ended in March 2017.

Reason for decision:  The contract would help to ensure that the housing stock 
was kept in good repair and met tenants’ current and future expectations.

RESOLVED

that the award of the most economically and qualitative advantageous 
tender to contractor A for the replacement of Central Heating Installations 
and Boilers  to Council homes be approved.

(Note: The meeting commenced at 9.30 a.m. and concluded at 11.09 a.m.)

Chairman …………….………………….

Dated ………………………………..

Page 18
Agenda item 2



C entralB ed ford shire C ou nc il
Forward P lan ofKey D ec isions

1 M ay 2017 to 30 A pril2018

1) During the period from 1 M ay 2017 to 30 A pril2018 , Central Bedfordshire Council plans to make key decisions on the issues set out below.
“Key decisions” relate to those decisions of the Executive which are likely:

- to result in the incurring of expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant (namely £200,000 or above per annum)
having regard to the budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or

- to be significant in terms of their effects on communities living or working in an area comprising one or more wards in the area of Central
Bedfordshire.

There are exceptions to these criteria which is set out in C2 1.3 in the Council’s Constitution. Specifically, expenditure which is identified in
the approved Council revenue and capital budgets are not key decisions.

2) The Forward Plan is a general guide to the key decisions to be determined by the Executive and will be updated on a monthly basis. Key
decisions will be taken by the Executive as a whole. The Members of the Executive are:

Councillor James Jamieson Leader of the Council
Councillor Richard Wenham Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Corporate Resources
Councillor Ian Dalgarno Executive Member for Community Services
Councillor Steven Dixon Executive Member for Education and Skills
Councillor Carole Hegley Executive Member for Social Care and Housing and Lead Member for Children’s Services
Councillor Brian Spurr Executive Member for Health
Councillor Nigel Young Executive Member for Regeneration

3) Whilst the majority of the Executive’s business at the meetings listed in this Forward Plan will be open to the public and media organisations
to attend, there will inevitably be some business to be considered that contains, for example, confidential, commercially sensitive or personal
information.

This is a formal notice under the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)(Meetings and Access to Information)(England) Regulations
2012 that part of the Executive meeting listed in this Forward Plan will be held in private because the agenda and reports for the meeting will
contain exempt information under Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) and that the public interest in
withholding the information outweighs the public interest in disclosing it.

P
age 19

A
genda item

 7



4) Those items identified for decision more than one month in advance may change in forthcoming Plans. Each new Plan supersedes the
previous Plan. Any person who wishes to make representations to the Executive about the matter in respect of which the decision is to be
made should do so to the officer whose telephone number and e-mail address are shown in the Forward Plan. Any correspondence should
be sent to the contact officer at the relevant address as shown below. General questions about the Plan such as specific dates, should be
addressed to the Committee Services Manager, Priory House, Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford SG17 5TQ.

5) The agendas for meetings of the Executive will be published as follows:

Meeting Date Publication of Agenda

4 April 2017 23 March 2017
6 June 2017 25 May 2017
1 August 2017 20 July 2017
10 October 2017 28 September 2017
5 December 2017 23 November 2017
9 January 2018 21 December 2017
6 February 2018 25 January 2018
3 April 2018 22 March 2018

P
age 20

A
genda item

 7



C entralB ed ford shire C ou nc il

Forward P lan ofKey D ec isions forthe period 1 M ay 2017 to 30 A pril2018

Key D ec isions
D ate ofP u blic ation: 23 M arc h 2017

Ref
No.

Issu e forKey
D ec ision by
the Exec u tive

Intend ed D ec ision Ind ic ative
M eeting
D ate

C onsu ltees and
D ate/M ethod

D oc u m ents
whic h m ay be
c onsid ered

C ontac toffic er(m ethod of
c om m entand c losing d ate)

1. Review of the
2011
Preliminary
Flood Risk
Assessment
(PFRA) -

The Council as
Lead Local Flood
Authority for the
area is required to
provide a review of
its 2011 ‘Preliminary
Flood Risk
Assessment’. This
is a national
requirement on all
unitary and top tier
authorities under
the Flood Risk
Regulations 2009
and needs to be
completed by June
2017.

6 June 2017 Open

Review of the
2011 Preliminary
Flood Risk
Assessment
(PFRA)

Executive Member for
Community Services
Comments by 06/05/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Alys Bishop, Senior Engineer
Email:
alys.bishop@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 4215

P
age 21

A
genda item

 7



Ref
No.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive

Intended Decision Indicative
Meeting Date

Consultees and Date/Method Documents which
may be considered

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

2. Re-
development
of Croft Green,
Dunstable -

To award the tender
for the construction
phase of the re-
development of
Croft Green,
Dunstable.

6 June 2017 Part exempt
Appendix will
contain
commercially
sensitive
information.
Re-development
of Croft Green,
Dunstable

Executive Member for Social
Care and Housing
Comments by 06/05/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Michelle Tsvakai, Housing
Development Officer
Email:
michelle.tsvakai@centralbedfor
dshire.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6505

3. Award of
Contract -
Development
of
Biggleswade
South Gypsy
and Traveller
Site -

Tender evaluation
submission for
Executive approval
for the construction
of a new Gypsy and
Traveller Site at
Biggleswade South.

6 June 2017 Part exempt

Award of
Contract -
Development of
Biggleswade
South Gyspy and
Traveller Site

Executive Member for Social
Care and Housing
Comments by 06/05/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Ian Johnson, Housing Asset
Manager
Email:
ian.johnson@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 5202

P
age 22

A
genda item

 7



Ref
No.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive

Intended Decision Indicative
Meeting Date

Consultees and Date/Method Documents which
may be considered

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

4. The Integration of
Health and Social
Care in Central
Bedfordshire
(recommendations
of Overview and
Scrutiny enquiry) -

To provide the
Executive with the
Council's emerging
vision for the
integration of
Health and Social
care in Central
Bedfordshire.

6 June 2017 Social Care Health and
Housing Overview and
Scrutiny Committee
and Task and Finish Group

Open

The Integration of
Health and Social
Care in Central
Bedfordshire

Executive Member for Health,
Executive Member for Social
Care and Housing
Comments by 06/05/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Jonathon Partridge, Head of
Governance
Email:
jonathon.partridge@centralbedf
ordshire.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 4634

5. Central
Bedfordshire
Local Plan -

To consider the
next steps in the
development of the
Central
Bedfordshire Local
Plan.

6 June 2017 Open Executive Member for
Regeneration
Comments by 06/05/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Sue Frost, Interim Head of
Place Delivery
Email:
sue.frost@centralbedfordshire.g
ov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 4952

P
age 23

A
genda item

 7



Ref
No.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive

Intended Decision Indicative
Meeting Date

Consultees and Date/Method Documents which
may be considered

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

6. Shared Lives
Scheme
Management
Service for
Adults with
Learning
Disabilities -

To seek approval to
commission a
Shared Lives
Scheme
Management
Service for adults
with learning
disabilities.

6 June 2017 Consultation with Provider
Forum 22 November 2016;
Shared Lives Carers and
Customers 13 December
2016 and January 2017.
Internal working group set
up to develop specification
through procurement to
award of contract.

Open

Shared Lives
Scheme
Management
Service for Adults
with Learning
Disabilities

Executive Member for Social
Care and Housing
Comments by 06/05/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Jane Moakes, Head of Strategic
Commissioning
Email:
jane.moakes@centralbedfordshi
re.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 5441

7. Assumptions
for Pupil Yield
arising from
Housing
Development
and Section
106
Contributions -

To provide an
update on the
assumptions around
pupil yield arising
from housing
development and
impact on S106
contribution
calculation
methodology.

6 June 2017 Open

Assumptions for
Pupil Yield
arising from
Housing
Development and
Section 106
Contributions

Executive Member for
Education and Skills
Comments by 06/05/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Victor Wan, Senior Education
Officer (Planning)
Email:
victor.wan@centralbedfordshire.
gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 5574

8. Proposed
Temporary
Expansion of
Henlow
Church of
England
Academy -

To seek approval of
additional middle
school places in the
Ward of Arlesey
through the
temporary
expansion of
Henlow Church of
England Academy
for September 2017

6 June 2017 Open

Proposed
Temporary
Expansion of
Henlow Church
of England
Academy

Executive Member for
Education and Skills
Comments by 06/06/17 to
Contact Officer:
Victor Wan, Senior Education
Officer (Planning)
Email:
victor.wan@centralbedfordshire.
gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 5574

P
age 24

A
genda item

 7



Ref
No.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive

Intended Decision Indicative
Meeting Date

Consultees and Date/Method Documents which
may be considered

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

9. Ivel Valley
Quadrant
Accommodation
Plan -

To adopt the Ivel
Valley Quadrant
Accommodation
Plan, which forms
part of a new suite
of documents to
establish and
articulate the
Council’s holistic
approach to
managing,
developing and
utilising its property
and land assets
portfolio.

6 June 2017 Open

Ivel Valley
Quadrant
Accommodation
Plan

Executive Member for
Regeneration
Comments by 06/05/2017 to
Contact Officer
Bernard Carter, Head of
Facilities Management &
Maintenance
Email:
bernard.carter@centralbedfords
hire.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 4175

10. Central
Bedfordshire
Foster Carers
and Adopters
Policy -

To approve the
implementation of a
policy for Central
Bedfordshire
Council foster
carers and adopters
to apply for loans for
extensions and
adaptations to their
homes.

6 June 2017 Open

Central
Bedfordshire
Foster Carers
and Adopters
Policy

Executive Member for Social
Care and Housing
Comments by 06/05/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Annie Craig, Practice Manager,
Fostering
Email:
annie.craig@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk

P
age 25

A
genda item

 7



Ref
No.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive

Intended Decision Indicative
Meeting Date

Consultees and Date/Method Documents which
may be considered

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

11. Parking
Strategy -

To receive the
outcome of the
consultation and
adopt the Parking
Strategy.

1 August
2017

Sustainable Communities
Overview and Scrutiny
Committee on 16 March
2017.
12 weeks public
consultation commencing in
November 2016.

Open

Parking Strategy

Executive Member for
Community Services
Comments by 01/07/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Gerri Davies, Principal Strategic
Transport Officer
Email:
geraldine.davies@centralbedfor
dshire.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 4854

12. Commissioning of
New Middle
School Places in
Cranfield by
September 2018 -

To consider the
outcome of
consultation by
Holywell CoE
(middle academy)
and to seek
approval of the
proposal.

1 August
2017

Open Executive Member for
Education and Skills
Comments by 01/07/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Victor Wan, Senior Education
Officer (Planning)
Email:
victor.wan@centralbedfordshire.
gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 5574

P
age 26

A
genda item

 7



Ref
No.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive

Intended Decision Indicative
Meeting Date

Consultees and Date/Method Documents which
may be considered

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

13. Highways
Asset
Management
Plan -

The Highways
Asset Management
Plan (HAMP) sets
out our approach to
highways asset
management in
Central
Bedfordshire. The
HAMP will form part
of the Incentive
Fund Bid 2018.

1 August
2017

Open

Highways Asset
Management
Plan

Executive Member for
Community Services
Comments by 01/07/2017 to
Contact Officer:
David Leverington, Rights of
Way Team Leader
Email:
david.leverington@centralbedfo
rdshire.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6107

14. Homelessness
Reduction -

Approve an updated
Homelessness
Strategy Action
Plan, to take
account of new
duties proposed
within the
Government’s
Homelessness
Reduction Bill.

1 August
2017

Open

Homelessness
Reduction

Executive Member for Social
Care and Housing
Comments by 01/07/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Nick Costin, Head of Housing
Service
Email:
nick.costin@centralbedfordshire
.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 5219

P
age 27

A
genda item

 7



Ref
No.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive

Intended Decision Indicative
Meeting Date

Consultees and Date/Method Documents which
may be considered

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

NO N KEY D EC IS IO NS

15. Provisional
Revenue
Outturn Report
2016/17
(subject to
audit) -

The report sets out
the provisional
revenue outturn
financial position for
2016/17 (subject to
audit) as at the end
of March 2017. It
sets out spend
against the
approved budget
and it excludes the
Housing Revenue
Account which is
subject to a
separate report.

6 June 2017 Open

Provisional
Revenue Outturn
Report 2016/17
(subject to audit)

Deputy Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate
Resources
Comments by 06/05/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

16. Provisional
Capital
Outturn Report
2016/17
(subject to
audit) -

The report sets out
the Capital
projected outturn for
2016/17 (subject to
audit) as at the end
of March 2017. It
excludes the
Housing Revenue
Account (HRA)
which is subject to a
separate report.

6 June 2017 Open

Provisional
Capital Outturn
Report 2016/17
(subject to audit)

Deputy Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate
Resources
Comments by 06/05/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083 P

age 28
A

genda item
 7



Ref
No.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive

Intended Decision Indicative
Meeting Date

Consultees and Date/Method Documents which
may be considered

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

17. Provisional
Housing
Revenue
Account
Outturn Report
2016/17
(subject to
audit) -

The report sets out
the Housing
Revenue Account
(HRA) 2016/17
provisional outturn
revenue and capital
position as at March
2017 (subject to
audit).

6 June 2017 Open

Provisional
Housing
Revenue Account
Outturn Report
2016/17 (subject
to audit)

Deputy Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate
Resources, Executive Member
for Social Care and Housing
Comments by 06/05/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

P
age 29

A
genda item

 7



Ref
No.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive

Intended Decision Indicative
Meeting Date

Consultees and Date/Method Documents which
may be considered

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

18. Budget
Strategy and
Medium Term
Financial Plan
(including the
Capital
Programme
and Housing
Revenue
Account) -

This report starts
the formal process
that sets a
framework for
2018/19 – 2021/22
MTFP with updated
planning
assumptions. It also
considers the
impact of changes
in Local
Government
financing and how
these may be
addressed leading
to the setting of a
budget for 2018/19
and Council Tax
rate in February
2018.

1 August
2017

Open

Budget Strategy
and Medium
Term Financial
Plan (including
the Capital
Programme and
Housing
Revenue
Account)

Deputy Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate
Resources
Comments by 01/07/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

19. Fees &
Charges
Policy 2018 -
2021 -

The paper proposes
the Fees & Charges
Policy covering the
three years 2018 to
2021.

10 October
2017

Open

Fees & Charges
Policy 2018 -
2021

Deputy Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate
Resources
Comments by 10/09/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

P
age 30

A
genda item

 7



Ref
No.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive

Intended Decision Indicative
Meeting Date

Consultees and Date/Method Documents which
may be considered

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

20. Fees and
Charges 2018
-

The report proposes
the revised Fees
and Charges prices
for 2018; identifies
new services for
which it is proposed
that Fees or
Charges will be
levied; and identifies
those charges
where proposed
increases are
significantly different
from the advisory
increase as per the
2017/18 Budget
Strategy.

10 October
2017

Open

Fees and
Charges 2018

Deputy Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate
Resources
Comments by 10/09/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

21. Quarter 1
2017/18
Revenue
Budget
Monitoring -

The report sets out
the provisional
outturn financial
position for 2017/18
as at the end of
June 2017. It sets
out spend against
the approved
budget and it
excludes the
Housing Revenue
Account which is
subject to a
separate report.

10 October
2017

Open

Q1 2017/18
Revenue Budget
Monitoring

Deputy Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate
Resources
Comments by 10/09/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

P
age 31

A
genda item

 7



Ref
No.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive

Intended Decision Indicative
Meeting Date

Consultees and Date/Method Documents which
may be considered

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

22. Quarter 1
2017/18
Capital Budget
Monitoring -

The report sets out
the Capital
projected outturn for
2017/18 as at the
end of June 2017. It
excludes the
Housing Revenue
Account (HRA)
which is subject to a
separate report.

10 October
2017

Open

Q1 2017/18
Capital Budget
Monitoring

Deputy Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate
Resources
Comments by 10/09/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

23. Quarter 1
2017/18
Housing
Revenue
Account
Budget
Monitoring -

The report provides
information on the
2017/18 Housing
Revenue Account
(HRA) projected
outturn revenue and
capital position as at
June 2017.

10 October
2017

Open

Q1 2017/18
Housing
Revenue Account
Budget
Monitoring

Deputy Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate
Resources, Executive Member
for Social Care and Housing
Comments by 10/09/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

P
age 32

A
genda item

 7



Ref
No.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive

Intended Decision Indicative
Meeting Date

Consultees and Date/Method Documents which
may be considered

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

24. Quarter 2
2017/18
Revenue
Budget
Monitoring -

The report sets out
the provisional
outturn financial
position for 2017/18
as at the end of
September 2017. It
sets out spend
against the
approved budget
and it excludes the
Housing Revenue
Account which is
subject to a
separate report.

5 December
2017

Open

Q2 2017/18
Revenue Budget
Monitoring

Deputy Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate
Resources
Comments by 05/11/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

25. Quarter 2
2017/18
Capital Budget
Monitoring -

The report sets out
the Capital
projected outturn for
2017/18 as at the
end of September
2017. It excludes
the Housing
Revenue Account
(HRA) which is
subject to a
separate report.

5 December
2017

Open

Q2 2017/18
Capital Budget
Monitoring

Deputy Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate
Resources
Comments by 05/11/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

P
age 33

A
genda item

 7



Ref
No.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive

Intended Decision Indicative
Meeting Date

Consultees and Date/Method Documents which
may be considered

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

26. Quarter 2
2017/18
Housing
Revenue
Account
Budget
Monitoring -

The report provides
information on the
2017/18 Housing
Revenue Account
(HRA) projected
outturn revenue and
capital position as at
September 2017.

5 December
2017

Open

Q2 2017/18
Housing
Revenue Account
Budget
Monitoring

Executive Member for Social
Care and Housing, Deputy
Leader and Executive Member
for Corporate Resources
Comments by 05/11/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

27. Draft Budget
2018/19 and
Medium Term
Financial Plan
-

The report proposes
the draft Budget for
2018/19 and
updates the Medium
Term Financial Plan
(MTFP) approved
by Council in
February 2017.

9 January
2018

Open

Draft Budget
2018/19 and
Medium Term
Financial Plan

Deputy Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate
Resources
Comments by 09/12/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

P
age 34

A
genda item

 7



Ref
No.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive

Intended Decision Indicative
Meeting Date

Consultees and Date/Method Documents which
may be considered

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

28. Draft Capital
Programme
2018/19 To
2021/22 -

The purpose of this
report is to seek
Member approval
for a draft Capital
Programme for the
Medium Term
Financial Plan
(MTFP) period
2018/19 to 2021/22
to facilitate effective
financial
management and
planning.

9 January
2018

Open

Draft Capital
Programme
2018/19 To
2021/22

Deputy Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate
Resources
Comments by 09/12/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

29. Draft Budget
for the
Housing
Revenue
Account
(Landlord
Business Plan)
2018/19 -

The report sets out
the Draft Housing
Revenue Account
(HRA) Landlord
Business Plan
Budget for 2018/19,
with proposals that
respond to
legislative changes;
make best use of
the investment
potential; account
for the rent
reduction; and align
to the debt strategy
in the context of
long term Business
Planning.

9 January
2018

Open

Draft Budget for
the Housing
Revenue Account
(Landlord
Business Plan)
2018/19

Deputy Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate
Resources, Executive Member
for Social Care and Housing
Comments by 09/12/2017 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

P
age 35

A
genda item

 7



Ref
No.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive

Intended Decision Indicative
Meeting Date

Consultees and Date/Method Documents which
may be considered

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

30. Treasury
Management
Strategy and
Treasury
Policy -

The report proposes
the Treasury
Management
Strategy and
Treasury Policy for
2018/19.

6 February
2018

Open

Treasury
Management
Strategy and
Treasury Policy

Deputy Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate
Resources
Comments by 06/01/2018 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

31. Traded
Services to
Schools &
Academies –
Proposed
Charges for
2018/19. -

The report proposes
the revised 2018/19
charges for Traded
Services to Schools
& Academies for
non statutory
services.

6 February
2018

Open

Traded Services
to Schools &
Academies –
Proposed
charges for
2018/19.

Executive Member for
Education and Skills, Deputy
Leader and Executive Member
for Corporate Resources
Comments by 06/01/2018 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

P
age 36

A
genda item

 7



Ref
No.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive

Intended Decision Indicative
Meeting Date

Consultees and Date/Method Documents which
may be considered

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

32. Fees and
Charges -
Social Care
Health &
Housing –
April 2018 -

The report proposes
the revised Fees
and Charges prices
for April 2018;
identifies new
services for which it
is proposed that
Fees or Charges
will be levied; and
identifies those
charges where
proposed increases
are significantly
different from the
advisory increase
as per the 2018/19
Budget Strategy.

6 February
2018

Open

Fees and
Charges - Social
Care Health &
Housing – April
2018

Executive Member for Social
Care and Housing, Deputy
Leader and Executive Member
for Corporate Resources
Comments by 06/01/2018 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

33. Final Budget
2018/19 and
Medium Term
Financial Plan
-

The report proposes
the Final Budget for
2018/19 and
updates the Medium
Term Financial Plan
(MTFP) approved
by Council in
February 2017.

6 February
2018

Open

Final Budget
2018/19 and
Medium Term
Financial Plan

Deputy Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate
Resources
Comments by 06/01/2018 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

P
age 37

A
genda item

 7



Ref
No.

Issue for Key
Decision by the
Executive

Intended Decision Indicative
Meeting Date

Consultees and Date/Method Documents which
may be considered

Portfolio Holder and Contact officer
(method of comment and closing
date)

34. Final Capital
Programme
2018/19 to
2021/22 -

The purpose of this
report is to seek
Member approval
for a Capital
Programme for the
Medium Term
Financial Plan
(MTFP) period
2018/19 to 2021/22
to facilitate effective
financial
management and
planning.

6 February
2018

Open

Final Capital
Programme
2018/19 TO
2021/22

Deputy Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate
Resources
Comments by 06/01/2018 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

35. Final Budget
for the
Housing
Revenue
Account
(Landlord
Business Plan)
2018/19 -

The report sets out
the Final Housing
Revenue Account
(HRA) Landlord
Business Plan
Budget for 2018/19,
with proposals that
respond to
legislative changes;
make best use of
the investment
potential; account
for the rent
reduction; and align
to the debt strategy
in the context of
long term Business
Planning.

6 February
2018

Open

Final Budget for
the Housing
Revenue Account
(Landlord
Business Plan)
2018/19

Deputy Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate
Resources, Executive Member
for Social Care and Housing
Comments by 06/01/2018 to
Contact Officer:
Denis Galvin, Head of Financial
Performance
Email:
denis.galvin@centralbedfordshir
e.gov.uk
Tel: 0300 300 6083

P ostalad d ress forC ontac tO ffic ers: C entralB ed ford shire C ou nc il, P riory H ou se, M onks W alk, C hic ksand s, S hefford S G17 5TQ

P
age 38

A
genda item

 7



C entralB ed ford shire C ou nc il
Forward P lan ofD ec isions on Key Issu es

For the Municipal Year 2017/18 the Forward Plan will be published on the following dates:

P eriod ofP lan D ate ofP u blic ation

1 May 2017 – 30 April 2018 4 April 2017

1 June 2017 – 31 May 2018 3 May 2017

1 July 2017 – 30 June 2018 25 May 2017

1 August 2017 – 31 July 2018 30 June 2017

1 September 2017 – 31 August 2018 20 July 2017

1 October 2017 – 30 September 2018 1 September 2017

1 November 2017 – 31 October 2018 28 September 2017

1 December 2017 – 30 November 2018 2 November 2017

1 January 2018 – 31 December 2018 23 November 2017

1 February 2018 – 31 January 2019 21 December 2017

1 March 2018 – 28 February 2019 25 January 2018

1 April 2018 – 31 March 2019 2 March 2018

1 May 2018 – 30 April 2019 22 March 2018

Page 39
Agenda item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Central Bedfordshire Council

Executive Tuesday, 04 April 2017

Council Responsiveness (Recommendations of Overview and
Scrutiny Enquiry)

Report of Cllr Paul Duckett, Chairman of the Corporate Resources Overview
and Scrutiny Committee (paul.duckett@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)

Advising Officers: Jonathon Partridge, Head of Governance,
jonathon.partridge@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

This report relates to a Key Issue

Purpose of this report

1. To provide Members with the outcomes of the scrutiny enquiry into
Council Responsiveness as reported to the Corporate Resources
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

RECOMMENDATIONS

That the Executive

1. consider the report and recommendations of the enquiry at
Appendix 1; and

2. respond to the report within two months indicating what action, if
any, it proposes to take and if it decides to take no action, the
reasons for that decision.

Overview and Scrutiny Comments/Recommendations

2. This report and its recommendation were ratified by the Corporate
Resources OSC on 24 January 2017 at which the Committee also
sought a further report setting out proposals for additional joint
committees at a future meeting.

Background

3. In February 2016 the Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny
Committee (CROSC) agreed to undertake an enquiry to support the
Council to deliver one element of the Five Year Plan relating to being a
“responsive Council”.

Page 41
Agenda item 8



4. The enquiry involved Cllrs Duckett (Chairman), Chatterley and Kane
and throughout the course of the review met with officers from a range
of services including Communications, Knowledge & Insight, Customer
Services and Partnerships & Community Engagement.

5. The review focused on two specific aspects of council responsiveness
as detailed in the attached report. Firstly a review of customer
experience when contacting the Council and secondly a review of the
extent to which residents could influence council decision-making for
which the enquiry commissioned some independent research to be
undertaken by Public Perspectives, the outcomes of which have
informed this report.

6. The detailed report attached contains a summary of the findings of the
enquiry and recommendations that are proposed to be provided to the
Executive to enhance performance with regard to council
responsiveness.

Council Priorities

7. The recommendations of the enquiry aimed to support the Council’s
approach to be a more efficient and responsive Council.

Corporate Implications

Legal Implications

8. The report contains recommendations to the Executive and as such on
one level it might be concluded that no legal implications are necessary
within this report on the basis that this could be included at a later
stage should the list of proposals receive the backing of Executive.
However, there is an alternative view which suggests that an early
engagement with and awareness of legal issues or their absence is a
good thing in helping to direct the project.

9. In the list of recommendations there is reference to expanding the
significance of the Joint Committees (JCs). JCs are governed by a
complex set of regulations and clarity around the proposed structure
will be necessary in any future paper.

10. Constitutional changes such as those to the JC’s is a Council function
and as such the Executive will need to make recommendations via
General Purposes Committee to amend the Constitution if these
recommendations are supported.

Financial and Risk Implications

11. Many of the recommendations of the enquiry, if implemented, can be
delivered within existing budgets.

Page 42
Agenda item 8



12. There are however some recommendations that propose additional
resources to support Members’ engagement with the local community
and giving further consideration for match funding Joint Committees to
stimulate local participation.

13. The exact financial implication of the recommendations would depend
upon the extent of their implementation but match funding the Joint
Committees would result in an additional cost to be determined.

Equalities Implications

14. Central Bedfordshire Council has a statutory duty to promote equality
of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and
victimisation and foster good relations in respect of nine protected
characteristics; age disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and
sexual orientation. This includes identifying opportunities to encourage
people with protected characteristics to participate in public life or in
other activities where their participation is low.

15. The recommendations of the enquiry aim to enhance the accessibility
of the Councils’ decision making process. If implemented it is
envisaged that the proposals would provide additional channels
through which residents of Central Bedfordshire could communicate
with the Council in both a formal and informal manner.

Conclusion and next Steps

16. The Executive are asked to consider these recommendations and
determine what action, if any, is necessary.

17. If the recommendations are agreed it is suggested that an update is
provided to the Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny
Committee within 2 months of their implementation.

Appendices

Appendix 1 Detailed report of the enquiry

Background Papers

None

Page 43
Agenda item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 10

Appendix 1

Central Bedfordshire Council
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Outcomes of the scrutiny
enquiry of Council
responsiveness (2016)

Page 45
Agenda item 8



1

Background
In February 2016 the Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee (CROSC) agreed to
undertake an enquiry to support the Council to deliver one element of the Five Year Plan relating
to “responsive Council”. This priority relates to improving perceptions of the Council and more
specifically the extent to which residents feel they can influence decisions affecting their local area
and the extent to which residents were satisfied with the way any enquiries to the Council were
handled and the outcomes that were achieved.

The enquiry involved Cllrs Duckett (Chairman), Chatterley and Kane and throughout the course of
the review met with officers from a range of services including Communications, Knowledge &
Insight, Customer Services and Partnerships & Community Engagement.

The review focused on two specific aspects of council responsiveness. Firstly a review of customer
experience when contacting the Council. This included an analysing repeat callers, understanding
where existing processes already worked well within the Council and site visits to the customer
service centre to develop a understanding of the current practice.

Secondly the review focused on the extent to which residents could influence council decision-
making for which the enquiry commissioned some independent research to be undertaken by
Public Perspectives, the outcomes of which have informed and are cited throughout this report.
Through the use of focus groups this research provided insight to understand resident experience
in Central Bedfordshire their expectations, areas for improvement and helped to identify
opportunities that have informed the enquiries recommendations.

National context and performance
Customer experience
Previous residents’ surveys tell us that about two-thirds of residents are satisfied with the way
their enquiries were handled and the final outcome; that good quality, responsive customer
services are important to influence perceptions of the Council; and that residents expect a quicker
and easier resolution to their query when making contact through via email.

Influencing decisions
The residents’ survey also tells us that approximately one in three residents in Central
Bedfordshire feels they are able to influence the Council’s decisions. This is likely to be influenced
by personal experience of a specific decision affecting their local community but there is also a
direct correlation the extent to which residents feel the Council is well run, the extent to which
residents feel informed and the extent to which residents feel the Council provides value for
money.

Sep-12 Sep-13 Sep-14 Apr-15 Apr-16

Acts on the concerns of residents 39% 47% 44% 45% 55%

Satisfaction with council contact 71% 67% 68% 69% 70%

Satisfaction with the outcome of
enquiries

60% 59% 62% 59% 63%

Page 46
Agenda item 8



2

Findings of enquiry

Customer experience

To better understand existing customer experience Members received a demonstration of the
existing Customer Portal and the functionality it provided to track complaints that had been
logged with the Council. There had been positive feedback from customers on the new online
reporting system but Members felt more work was necessary to ensure that the portal was used
for a range of services and that in particular it was used to provide localised updates to Members
on the key issues and complaints underway within their wards.

Members were encouraged to see that mechanisms were being implemented that would allow
tracking of customer complaints but were keen to see improvements in the timescales for rolling
out this mechanism and that this should provide customers with regular update on progress.
However in some services Members were concerned that auto-replies were provided to residents
that set an expectation a response might not be received for up to 90 days, which did not present
a very responsive approach to customers.

On meeting to discuss their conclusions Members discussed that several of these issues had now
been resolved and recommendations that might have been provided were no longer necessary.

RECOMMENDED that the council invest in a mechanism through which customer intelligence and
customer complaints can be recorded centrally and that this mechanism allows Members to follow
progress in dealing with complaints. Whilst is was noted that this mechanism was currently being
rolled out in some areas it was recommended that this needed to happen more quickly and in as
many Council services as possible.

RECOMMENDED that the Council fully embed a set of customer standards and a customer charter,
ensuring that customer contact is logged appropriately and that a consistent approach to call
backs and auto-replies was undertaken so as to embed a more responsive culture. This process
should enable the council to determine performance standards across the Council so as to address
areas that were less responsive.

RECOMMENDED that the Council continue to provide localised updates to Members on the key
matters and complaints underway within their wards and that this be rolled out for other council
services where appropriate.

Members also specifically discussed the number of Council Tax and Benefits forms, many of which
were made available online during 2016 as a result of engaging with partners to ensure a
streamlined and joined up service. The enquiry were informed of some concerns with the quality
of service that could be provided within customer services in relation to Council Tax and Benefits
as a specialist response was often required. Queries were often prioritised within customer

2009 2011 2014 2016 National
(2009)

% who feel they are able to influence decisions
affecting their local area

31% 34% 38% 39% 39%

Page 47
Agenda item 8



3

services according to officer judgement and there were no set response timescales other those
provided to respond to telephone queries.

RECOMMENDED that the Council ensure residents are made aware that they can get support to
complete online forms in hard copy if needed.

Members discussed the existing telephony system within customer services and agreed that this
was a positive, fiscally responsible, efficient method of managing call flow and that it was likely to
support an improved customer experience. Members were made aware that a call-back service
and online survey were to be introduced and welcomed this as a way of improving customer
perceptions around influencing change. Members did however query the levels of expertise
within contact centre and the ease with which residents could access specialist advice as there
was a perception that delays were caused when calls were passed to front-line teams and
responses were not provided.

RECOMMENDED that in the future the Council review the accessibility of experts in different
departmental areas to customer services, whether that be within the customer services team or in
the front-line teams.

Finally Members discussed engagement with the business community in light of concerns relating
to the extent which businesses were able to influence council decisions. Members were advised
that the Council liaised closely with businesses in order to improve engagement. A dedicated
account manager had been appointed to focus on business plans, business needs and
strengthening partnerships and the Regeneration & Business Directorate were promoting
consultation on the budget setting process.

Due to the nature of the account manager approach that was already being implemented the
enquiry did not feel any recommendations were necessary in this area.

Page 48
Agenda item 8



4

Influencing Council decision-making

To help Members understand the views of local residents and the factors that influence the extent
to which people feel they can engage in Council decision making the enquiry commissioned Public
Perspectives to undertake some detailed research into resident perceptions. The outcomes of this
research relate to a number of key themes that were discussed by Members as follows:-

Accessibility of the Council’s Governance
Residents said that they felt the Council needed to do more to make residents more aware of
opportunities to raise issues and get involved in consultations. Ultimately, participants said they
felt the Council could and should do more to promote opportunities to raise issues and get more
involved in decision making. There were also views that due to the formal nature of many of the
Council’s meetings there was a need to strike a better balance between the formal Committee
meetings at which decisions were taken and the informal opportunities to engage people in the
decision making process.

“Can they create some sort of ‘how to’ guide to help you know how to get in touch and make
things happen. That’s my main problem, I don’t really know where to start. They need to make that

easier and clearer.”
Central Beds resident

From the perspective of residents providing opportunities to engage was more to do with the
Council having a greater willingness to involve residents in decision making as oppose to the actual
methods employed, which they considered fairly straightforward. However, it was noted that
most participants said they did not want to see the Council spending a fortune on promoting
opportunities to get involved, they wanted to see it done in a proportional way and making best
use of existing resources.

“You get the feeling that they sometimes don’t want you to get involved, to know what’s going on
so that you can’t try and influence their decisions. It’s more about a lack of commitment to

engaging residents, not about poor communications in general.”
Central Beds resident

The enquiry reviewed several examples of best practice at a government and local authority level
of the ways that others make residents aware of the opportunities to engage in decision making in
determining the recommendations below.

RECOMMENDED that the Council develop and consult on a clear set of guides to the Council’s
decision making and governance structures that can ultimately be shared on the website and with
Town and Parish Councils and other existing local publications to promote the role of local
members as advocates on behalf of their communities.

RECOMMDENDED that a clearly referenced section titled “influencing council decisions” be added
to the website that draws together information on public engagement in the Council’s governance
arrangements.

RECOMMENDED that the Council lead a bottom-up approach to agenda-setting by making use of
annual surveys, community intelligence reports and MP/Councillor enquiries and that feedback be

Page 49
Agenda item 8



5

provided to those who propose items by updating them on the way in which they have informed
the agendas of Council committee.

RECOMMENDED that the use of online methods of communication and social media be enhanced
as an informal channel to more proactively engaging with local communities on agenda items and
matters of local concern.

RECOMMENDED that webcasts and social media be used more proactively as a means of engaging
with residents in a formal setting.

Community engagement
Several participants said they felt Central Bedfordshire Council was remote to them and their
communities, both in terms of representativeness and geography. Similarly residents said that
they felt their local Councillors should be more visible, accessible and do more for them.

“I think the Council, and Councillors, should be more pro-active. They need to get out in to the
communities and local villages. They could do roadshows, telling residents how to get involved and

what hot issues are happening for them to get involved in.”
Central Beds resident

Residents also felt the Council as a whole should be more pro-active and get out into the
community more, promoting current issues (including current consultations around major housing
developments, infrastructure projects, budget and spending priorities) and ways to get involved.

RECOMMENDED that the Council Support Members to be leaders of their community by providing
regular briefings that outline decisions to be taken and opportunities for residents to engage in
council decision making as a way of sharing this information with the local community.

RECOMMENDED that council resources be enhanced to support Members’ engagement with the
local community, including through the use of Joint/Partnership Committees, and to help
Members to use online channels (social media, blogs, online debates/forums) as a way of engaging
with the community.

RECOMMENDED that the use of social media and online channels be enhanced to encourage a
more transparent way of undertaking community engagement.

RECOMMENDED that a greater number of formal and informal meetings take place within local
communities as a way of engaging with residents on decisions that are important to their local
area.

RECOMMENDED that the Council proactively identify opportunities for local or devolved decision
making to stimulate community action and local resilience.

Creating a focal point with Parish/Town Councils
Building on the feedback that some residents felt they were remote from the Council and the
desire to increase the visibility of Councillors and the Council, some residents also said they felt
Parish/Town Councils could do more for them. Several residents also provided examples of where
their Parish/Town Council had acted very positively on their behalf and had been their voice in

Page 50
Agenda item 8



6

engaging with Central Bedfordshire Council. Consequently, some residents said that this could be
another way for local residents to engage with Central Bedfordshire Council.

“I think the Parish Council could be used more. They’re required to raise issues with Central Beds
Council and get a response. So I’d like to see the Parish Council engaging with local residents more

and local residents using them more to raise issues. . . Central Beds have a role in that too, they
could do more to build closer relationships with the Parish Councils and encourage and support

them to go out there and be the voice of local people.”
Central Beds resident

Specifically related to planning and housing development consultations, participants said they
wanted more involvement. In short they wanted planning and housing development to be
community led. This means involving the community at the outset in trying to address the
challenge of meeting housing need and placing community interests at the heart of the process.

RECCOMENDED that the remit of Joint Committees as a focal point for two-way information
sharing, sharing ownership of matters and consultation on issues that directly affect the town be
enhanced, rolling it out to other parts of Central Bedfordshire, encouraging parishes and smaller
towns to collaborate and work together in clusters with clear links to the Council’s existing
decision making committees and overview and scrutiny.

RECCOMENDED that further consideration be given to match funding for Joint Committees to
stimulate local participation.

RECOMMENDED to encourage the use of community planning with the Council supporting
Parish/Town Councils to use this as a vehicle to identify their aspirations for their local areas and
influence overarching policy (through the use of presentations and provision of officer support) at
a parish and a quadrant level.

Focusing on consultation and co-production
Most residents said they wanted to be consulted as early as possible in any given process. This was
mainly in relation to planning and housing development consultations, but the principle extended
to all forms of consultation. Participants said that it often felt like they were being consulted late
in the process, that decisions had already been made and that the consultation was a tick box
exercise to rubber stamp a decision.

“As a principle I’d like to be consulted at the start, when a decision hasn’t been made. It always
feels like you’re getting involved late on in the process and the consultation is not meaningful. It’s

like they don’t want you to get involved early on when the decisions are still to be made. They seem
more happy to get your view later on, just so they can say they consulted.”

Central Beds resident

Participants strongly said they wanted more feedback about the outcomes of consultations and
other forms of engagement with the Council. A lack of feedback both frustrated residents and
meant they were not able to see if their involvement had influenced decision making. They also
said that even if a decision went against them, that receiving feedback explaining the decision was
important to provide for transparency in decision making and help them understand why a
decision had been made.

Page 51
Agenda item 8



7

“Feedback is really important. It’s all well and good coming to an event like this [a discussion
group], but what happens next? How do you know if you’re able to influence decision making if you

don’t get feedback . . . I’ve been involved before in a consultation where they totally went against
what local residents wanted, but they didn’t explain their decision. If they’d explained it then

maybe we could have understood.”
Central Beds resident

Ultimately, most participants said they wanted to see the Council become more resident or
customer focussed. This is more of a cultural/attitudinal change as oppose to doing anything
specific. As mentioned, most residents said they currently feel the Council is not necessarily
listening to them or on their side, especially when it comes to major housing developments.
Consequently, they feel that consultations are not meaningful and that they are not able to
influence decisions easily.

RECOMMENDED to invest in forward planning to identify big change programmes to provide the
opportunity for co-production of change in a meaningful and timely way on the principles and
direction of change with local communities, including both residents and Parish/Town Councils

RECOMMENDED that consultations manage the expectations of residents and make it clear the
elements that residents can realistically influence.

RECOMMENDED the Council more proactively publish decisions and outcomes of its meetings
including providing feedback on the reasons for decisions where there is significant public interest.

Page 52
Agenda item 8



8

Getting involved
The residents of Central Bedfordshire are Overview and Scrutiny's most useful resource for finding
out what the key issues are. Residents, community groups, local businesses and others that live or
work in the area can make valuable contributions to much of the work Overview and Scrutiny
does.

The work programme of Overview and Scrutiny can be flexible, so if there is an issue that you
would like to see tackled or if you would just like to find out more about Overview and Scrutiny at
Central Bedfordshire Council please contact the Overview and Scrutiny team at the following
address:-

Overview and Scrutiny
Central Bedfordshire Council
Priory House
Monks Walk
Chicksands
Shefford
SG17 5TQ

0300 300 4634
scrutiny@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Alternatively you can suggest an item via the Council’s website at the following address:-
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/overview-scrutiny-survey.aspx

Details regarding forthcoming meetings, including copies of the reports and a list of future
meeting dates can be obtained from the Overview and Scrutiny website at the following link:
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/overview-scrutiny/overview.aspx

All OSC meetings are open to the public and a list of future meeting dates is available from the
Council’s website. Residents are also welcome to come and speak and provide their views at
meetings. If you would like to attend a meeting and speak please contact us in advance.

Page 53
Agenda item 8



A great place to live and work

Contact us…
by telephone: 0300 300 8301
by email: scrutiny@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
on the web: www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
Write to Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory House,
Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford, Bedfordshire SG17 5TQ

Page 54
Agenda item 8



Central Bedfordshire Council

Executive 4 A pril20 1 7

School Parking (recommendations of Overview and Scrutiny
enquiry)

ReportofC ou nc illorD M c Vic ar, C hairman ofthe S u s tainable C ommu nities
O verview and S c ru tiny C ommittee
(d avid . mc vic ar@ c entralbed ford s hire. gov. u k)

A d vis ingO ffic ers : Rebec c a P reen, S c ru tiny P olic y A d vis er
(rebec c a. preen@ c entralbed ford s hire. gov. u k)

This report relates to a Key Decision

Purpose of this report

1 . To provid e M embers withthe ou tc omes ofthe s c ru tiny enqu iry into
S c hoolP arkingas reported to the S u s tainable C ommu nities O verview
and S c ru tiny C ommittee.

RECOMMENDATIONS

That the Executive

1. consider the report and recommendations of the enquiry at
Appendix 1; and

2. respond to the report within two months indicating what action, if
any, it proposes to take and if it decides to take no action, the
reasons for that decision

Overview and Scrutiny Comments/Recommendations

2 . This reportand its rec ommend ations were ratified by the S u s tainable
C ommu nities O S C on 12 Janu ary 20 1 7 , s u gges tingthateac hagreed
rec ommend ation be as s igned to the appropriate d irec torate ford elivery
and thata c opy ofthe reportbe c irc u lated to alls c hools within the
region.

Background

3. A ttheirmeetingon 1 Ju ly 20 16 the S u s tainable C ommu nities O verview
and S c ru tiny C ommittee (S C O S C )req u es ted a review ofparking
is s u es ou ts id e ofs c hools in lightofc onc erns rais ed by M embers .

Page 55
Agenda item 9



4. A n enqu iry was formed ofC llrs K M atthews , C Gomm , A Graham , M
Vers allion and T S wain, who u nd ertookto review the s u bjec tand report
bac kto the S C O S C withtheirfind ings .

5. Throu ghou tthe enqu iry evid enc e was rec eived from offic ers in the
C ou nc il’ s H ighways , D evelopmentM anagement(D M ), S c hools
P lanning, TravelP lanningand P arkingEnforc ementTeams . Evid enc e
was als o rec eived from s c hools and parents .

6. The pu rpos e ofthe enqu iry was to d etermine the bes tpos s ible
s olu tions withregard s to c arparkingand vehic u larac c es s ats c hools to
ens u re the free movementoftraffic arou nd s c hools , partic u larly in light
ofthe implic ations ofs c hoolexpans ion.

7 . M embers were keen to d elivera c os t-neu tralpolic y whic hs etou tin an
open and trans parentmannerhow the C ou nc ilwou ld plan fortrans port
and ac c es s to s c hools when planningan extens ion to an exis ting
s c hool, ord evelopinga new s c hool.

8 . M embers ac knowled ged the need to ad d res s where pos s ible the
c u rrentc hallenges experienc ed ats ome s c hools .

9. M embers noted the importanc e ofens u ringthatany rec ommend ations
s hou ld s u pportthe objec tives d etailed within the C ou nc il’ s 5 yearplan
and the need to c ons id erthe mos tappropriate s olu tions to inves tin to
tac kle parkingproblems is olated to very s hortperiod s within the d ay.

1 0 . The d etailed reportattac hed c ontains a s u mmary ofthe find ings ofthe
enqu iry and rec ommend ations thatare propos ed to be provid ed to the
Exec u tive to s u pportimprovements withregard s to problems
experienc ed by parkingou ts id e ofs c hools .

Council Priorities

11 . The rec ommend ations of the enqu iry aimed to s u pportthe C ou nc il’ s
priority of Enhanc ing C entralB ed ford s hire and ens u ring itis a ‘ Great
P lac e’ .

Legal Implications

12 . The H ighway A u thority has a wid e d is c retion as to the c irc u ms tanc es in
whic hthey c an make Traffic Regu lation ord ers . W hetherany new
O rd ers willbe requ ired to preventvehic les waiting/parkingwilld epend
u pon the ind ivid u als ite c irc u ms tanc es . W here parkingtakes plac e
ou ts id e s c hools and c ontrols may alread y exis tthen enforc ementof
thos e c ontrols c an be prioritis ed . A s trengtheningofthe s taffengaged
c ou ld ac hieve this bu twillgive ris e to an ad d itionalc os t.

Page 56
Agenda item 9



13. The introd u c tion ofnew areas where c ontrolc an be enforc ed will
requ ire the makingand pu blis hingofO rd ers Und erthe Road Traffic
Regu lation A c t198 4 there is a requ irementto c ons u ltand take into
ac c ou ntobjec tions . The proc ed u res are pres c ribed by regu lation. The
pu blic ity requ irements and ord ermakingproc ed u re willgenerate a c os t
bu tonc e c onfirmed the ord ers c an be enforc ed . There willbe s ome
ad d itionalc os ts in res pec tofroad markingand s ignage thatexplain the
extentand natu re ofthe res tric tion whic hc ou ld be impos ed ats pec ific
times ratherthatthrou ghou tthe d ay.

14. The pos s ibility ofvaryingthe loc als peed limitfortraffic in the vic inity of
s c hools is als o available to the H ighway A u thority. The Road traffic
Regu lation A c t198 4 s pec ifies thatres tric ted road s , ones thathave
lamppos ts s pac ed no more than 20 0 yard s apartwou ld normally be
s u bjec tto a 30 mphs peed limit. The s tatu s ofthe road c an be varied
by the traffic au thority and by the makinga fu rtherregu lation ord era
s peed limitres tric tion c an be varied . Itwilld epend on loc al
c irc u ms tanc es bu tthes e s ites are likely to be loc ated in the u rban area
and within an exis ting30 mpharea.

15. The u s e ofplanningC ond itions to limitloc alc onges tion orred u c e
parkingmu s tmeetthe tes ts ofreas onablenes s , relate to the
d evelopment, be appropriate and be enforc eable. C ond itions thats eek
to limitthe u s e ofthe highway by partic u laru s ers are illegals o they
have to approac hthe is s u e by promotingc hange in behaviou rs and
good prac tic e forexample ad voc atingrou tingplans orpromoting
s haringofvehic les and the minimis ingofc aru s e in c onnec tion with
loc atingd evelopmentats u s tainable loc ations .

Financial and Risk Implications

16. There are fou rrec ommend ations thatmay inc u rad d itionalc os ts : 3, 5,
7 and 8 . D u ringthe c ou rs e ofthe review itwas c onfirmed thatany
c os ts wou ld be metwithin exis tingbu d gets and the remaining
rec ommend ations u s e exis tingres ou rc es and willtherefore notimpac t
bu d gets .

Equalities Implications

1 7 . C entralB ed ford s hire C ou nc ilhas a s tatu tory d u ty to promote equ ality
ofopportu nity, eliminate u nlawfu ld is c rimination, haras s mentand
vic timis ation and fos tergood relations in res pec tofnine protec ted
c harac teris tic s ; age d is ability, gend erreas s ignment, marriage and c ivil
partners hip, pregnanc y and maternity, rac e, religion orbelief, s ex and
s exu alorientation. Throu ghou tthe c ou rs e ofthe enqu iry, efforts have
been mad e to as c ertain and u nd ers tand the c omplexities relatingto the
d ifferingneed s ofparents /c arers , c hild ren ofd ifferentages and loc al
res id ents .

Page 57
Agenda item 9



A range ofbalanc ed and proportionate rec ommend ations have been
id entified whic hwills u pportthe d evelopmentofflexible and loc ally
foc u s ed s olu tions .

Conclusion and next Steps

1 8 . The Exec u tive is as ked to c ons id erthe rec ommend ations ofthe review
and d etermine whatac tion, ifany, is nec es s ary.

Appendices

A ppend ix 1 D etailed reportofthe enqu iry

Background Papers

N one

Page 58
Agenda item 9



Central Bedfordshire Council 

 

Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

12 January 2016 

 

 

TITLE OF REPORT:   Outcomes of the scrutiny enquiry of 

school’s parking 

 

Report of: Cllr Ken Matthews, Chairman of the Enquiry  

 

Advising Officers: Ann Rowland, Team Leader Highways Development 
Management (ann.rowland@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)  Paul Mason, 
Assistant Director, Highways (paul.mason@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)  
Victor Wan, Head of School Organisation, Admissions & Capital Planning 

(victor.wan@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)  and Rebecca Preen, Scrutiny 
Policy Adviser (rebecca.preen@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk) 

 

 

Purpose of this report  

1. To summarise the findings of the school’s parking enquiry and to 
provide recommendations in order to facilitate future improvements. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

The Committee is asked to consider and support the recommendations to 
be provided to the Executive resulting from the enquiry, as detailed in the 
body of the report, subject to any additional input as may be necessary. 

 

Background 

2. At their meeting on 01 July 2016 the Sustainable Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (SCOSC) requested a review of 
parking issues outside of schools in light of concerns raised by 
Members.  

 
3. An enquiry was formed of Cllr K Matthews, C Gomm, A Graham, M 

Versallion and T Swain, who undertook to review the subject and 
report back to the SCOSC with their findings. 

 

Page 59
Agenda item 9

mailto:ann.rowland@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.mason@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:victor.wan@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
PreenR02
Text Box
APPENDIX 1



4. Throughout the enquiry evidence was received from officers in the 
Council’s Highways, Development Management (DM), Schools 
Planning, Travel Planning and Parking Enforcement Teams. Evidence 
was also received from schools and parents.  

 
5. The purpose of the enquiry was to determine the best possible 

solutions with regard to car parking and vehicular access at schools to 
ensure the free movement of traffic around schools, particularly in 
light of the implications of school expansion.  

 
6. Members were keen to deliver a cost-neutral policy which set out in 

an open and transparent manner how the Council would plan for 
transport and access to schools when planning an extension to an 
existing school, or developing a new school. 

 
7. Members acknowledged the need to address where possible the 

current challenges experienced at some schools.  
 
8. Members noted the importance of ensuring that any recommendations 

should support the objectives detailed within the Council’s 5 year plan 
and the need to consider the most appropriate solutions to invest in to 
tackle parking problems isolated to very short periods within the day. 

 
National Context  

9. Central Government guidelines provide a framework to assist Local 
Authorities in shaping their policies with regards to school travel 
planning. In considering any possible changes to existing policies, the 
local authority should have regard to the Education Act 1996 which 
states:- 

 

“Section 508A of the Act places a general duty on local authorities to 
promote the use of sustainable travel and transport. The duty applies 
to children and young people of compulsory school age who travel to 
receive education or training in a local authority’s area.  

The Act defines sustainable modes of travel as those that the local 
authority considers may improve the physical well-being of those who 
use them, the environmental well-being of all or part of the local 
authority’s area, or a combination of the two.” 

 

10. Central Bedfordshire Council’s current policies in relation to travel and 
parking around schools are in line with Central Government directives 
and research supports that many other Local Authorities have similar 
policies in place. Central Bedfordshire's Excess Weight Partnership 
Strategy has been developed to support the national ambition to turn 
things around and achieve a downward trend in levels of excess 
weight in children and adults by 2020. It states:- 

 

Page 60
Agenda item 9



“We will encourage the development of positive environments which 
actively promote a healthy weight. This involves transport, the built 
environment, early years settings, schools…an increase in the 
number of families walking and cycling to work/school… all local 
planning and policy decisions have a focus on preserving and 
creating healthier environments which provide opportunities for 
physical activity…and an increase in the use of sustainable modes of 
travel including walking and cycling, both for leisure and commuting.”  

 

11. The remainder of this report sets out the findings of this review in light 
of which recommendations that are aimed at improving existing 
performance.  

 

Enquiry Findings and Recommendations 

 

School Travel Plans  

12.  School’s Travel Plans are the direct responsibility of schools and are 
actively encouraged and promoted by Council Officers.  However, the 
evidence received from the School’s Travel Plan Officer found that 
there is no longer a dedicated resource to carry out this function, 
instead it is absorbed as part of a wider workload. As a result some 
school travel plans are several years old, have not been updated nor 
actively promoted by the school. 

 
13. Every year a classroom ‘hands up’ survey is carried out to determine 

how each child usually travels to school.  Based on the return of the 
past 3 years data, figures of 20-37% were cited as ‘core drivers’ in any 
given area. Core drivers are the percentage of children who are 
usually driven to school on their own and not part of a car sharing 
scheme or any other method of car ‘pooling’, also termed ‘single 
occupancy vehicle’. During the review Members were keen to 
understand measures taken to address and reduce these numbers, 
whether travel plans were effective due to their ‘soft touch’ nature and 
whether schools implemented and promoted them effectively. It was 
also noted that public transport in a variety of locations, particularly 
rural, did not match school timetables, yet were cited as appropriate 
means of travel within travel plans. 

 
14. Working closely with schools had proved very effective in the past, 

with schools taking the initiative to minimize parking breaches outside 
of their premises. 

 

1. RECOMMENDED that officers work closely and proactively 

with schools, taking into account current resources and 

staffing levels to regularly promote school travel plans and 

Page 61
Agenda item 9



existing health programmes that encourage active and 

sustainable travel for children within catchment. 

2. RECOMMENDED that every school be encouraged to produce 

an active and regularly updated travel plan, maintaining the 

relationship with Council officers when providing travel data. 

 

Information sharing  

15. Members discussed the use of technology, social media, email and 
the inclusion of school’s parking information on the Council and 
school websites, with the possibility of drafting communications to be 
shared with all Head Teachers as frequently as necessary. This 
would encourage regular contact with schools and the promotion of 
sustainable solutions that would reinforce the importance of safety 
and responsible parking in the vicinity of schools.  

 
16. During the review Members were appraised of other local authority 

practices and solutions, one of which was an online leaflet, which 
members felt could be replicated by Central Bedfordshire Council. 
(See Appendix F)  

 

3. RECOMMENDED the production of a school’s parking leaflet 

similar to that of a neighbouring authority with distribution 

electronically where possible to schools, parents and via the 

Council’s website and social media outlets. 

4. RECOMMENDED regular (termly) communication between 

Council Officers and Head Teachers, reinforcing the 

promotion of school travel plans and sustainable travel 

solutions. 

 

Minimising risk and prioritising safety  

17. The numbers of accidents, incidents and collisions around schools, in 
Central Bedfordshire are relatively low at 25 incidents out of a total of 
18,765 pupils (see Appendices A and B). As a result the enquiry felt 
that the Council’s current policy was effective in minimising risks and 
prioritising the safety of school children. 

 
18. There is no current policy in place in Central Bedfordshire with 

regards to parking enforcement outside of schools but breaches are 
prioritized on a case by case basis. The future appointment of an 
additional enforcement officer would enable a focus specifically on 
this area. 

 

Page 62
Agenda item 9



19. ANPR vehicles can be used outside of schools but it had proved cost 
prohibitive to utilise them in isolation as the Council are bound by 
restrictions on their use. For example, the cost of camera 
maintenance per year is currently £9,820.00 with the cost recouped 
from Penalty Charge Notices (PCN’s) issued to drivers directly 
outside of schools during 2014-15 at approximately £5,075 resulting 
in the Council running at a loss.  

20. Data provided in relation to PCN’s included the following:- 

 That 40 PCN’s had been issued for school contraventions from April 
2015 to March 2016. 

 To date 21 PCN’s had been issues for school contraventions from 
April 2016 to September 2016. 

 

5. RECOMMENDED that the Council fully enforce inappropriate 

parking on yellow ‘zig zags’ which are placed along the entire 

frontage of all schools, ensuring they are always positioned 

to the maximum enforceable length. 

6. RECOMMENDED that where parking restrictions exist, current 

measures are robustly deployed and enforced, taking into 

account existing resources. 

7. RECOMMENDED that visible signage be displayed outside all 

schools where deemed necessary, prohibiting parking and 

waiting between the hours of approximately 8-9am and 3-4pm, 

acknowledging that individual schools may have differing 

opening times, taking into account the impact of any 

restrictions upon residents within the area and existing 

budget constraints.  

8. RECOMMENDED the introduction of 20mph zones outside of 

new schools and existing schools, assessing the most 

appropriate radius to place them in. 

 

Partnership working  

21. The evidence received from the Council’s Highways, DM and Schools 
Planning departments demonstrated that although they did work 
closely together when determining school expansions, Members felt 
more could be done to strengthen partnership working and ensure 
planning conditions were applied where necessary. 

 

22. Members acknowledged that each area had its own unique set of 
problems and that one solution would not fit all, with a need to 
consider whether existing Council policies went far enough in 
ensuring developers contributed to parking mitigations where 
necessary. 

Page 63
Agenda item 9



 
23. It is important to bear in mind that Council policy does not currently 

encourage or dictate that conditions should be applied to 
developments which allow for parking mitigations to be included 
within planning conditions. Members discussed whether policy could 
be amended to allow for this where appropriate, taking into account 
that this principle goes against the primary policy of promoting active 
and sustainable travel and that a built solution such as drop off zones 
may encourage parents to drive their children to school 
unnecessarily. 

 
24. Having researched the evidence in relation to statutory government 

guidelines it became clear that there were no national or other local 
authority benchmarking policies which supported a ‘built’ solution, for 
example drop off zones. However, Members were keen to ascertain 
whether the evidence gathered could mitigate a solution of providing 
more parking provision for parents. 

 
25. An example was provided of a recent development within Cranfield 

whereby conditions were successfully applied using current policy 
and officers suggested that it was likely this process could be 
replicated in future where necessary, without the need to amend 
policy (see Appendix C). 

 

9. RECOMMENDED that planning conditions already within the 
Council’s remit be applied when considering school 
expansions and new builds, without the need to amend 
current policy. 

 
26. The evidence identified some cases of good practice within other area 

schools, which could be promoted by the Council when reviewing 
current practices, particularly in relation to partnership working with 
schools and encouraging them to introduce or enhance measures to 
tackle parking problems outside of the school premises (see 
Appendix D). 

 
10. RECOMMENDED that lower and primary schools be 

encouraged to allocate a designated member of staff to 

manage collection and drop off of children at the start and 

end of the school day. 

 

Design principles  

27. Based on known reported problems in relation to schools parking, 
evidence suggested that many of the problems were located directly 
to the front of school gates or on the road immediately outside of the 
school (see Appendix E and Table 1, Head Teacher, parent and 
resident survey results). In response Members considered whether a 
design principle could be introduced whereby new school builds 

Page 64
Agenda item 9



precluded roads being built outside of the front of a school, with staff 
accessing a gated entrance to the rear of the site. It was agreed that 
safety and access to the school should be of paramount importance 
and that a design principle such as this may be difficult to implement, 
but that any design should include provision for school buses where 
necessary. 

 
11. RECOMMENDED that new schools and expansions include 

provision for school buses, access and turning wherever 

possible. 

 

Head Teacher, Parent and Resident Engagement  

28. To support the enquiry, Members discussed the importance of 
engaging with the local community to gain insight into the problems 
schools, parents and residents were experiencing. Four school areas 
were identified as having existing problems in relation to parking 
outside of schools and had been subject to or were in the process of 
applying for further expansion. Those schools were Arnold Academy in 
Barton-le-Clay, Cranfield Church of England Academy, Church End 
Lower School including the Forest End site in Marston Moretaine and 
the Potton Federation of schools, Lower and Middle. 

 
29. Officers contacted the Head Teachers of each school and carried out a 

telephone survey, securing agreement that the school would in turn 
consult with parents. A bespoke survey was then forwarded to Head 
Teachers with a similar version for parents. The evidence 
demonstrated that community facilities such as village hall car parks 
were often not made available to schools. Were they to be made 
available it could aid a ‘park and stride’ or walking bus solution. 

 
30. Residents living directly outside of the schools were contacted 

highlighting the problems experienced by those living within the vicinity 
of the school and the suggested solutions they would like to see 
introduced. 

 
A summary table of the resident’s survey results can be found below with 
the complete evidence from all 3 groups located in Appendix E (i-vii):- 
 

Table 1 – Resident survey results (Combined data) 

 

Page 65
Agenda item 9



 

31. Members carefully considered all the responses received from each of 
the three groups, weighing each problem and proposed solution against 
current Council policy, budget constraints and resources, acknowledging 
the impact of the problems faced by the public and the need to support 
improvement measures. Members were mindful of the fact that some 
parents drive their children to school due to a lack of public transport in 
particular areas. There is also more choice as to where parents are able 
to send their children to school, with many attending out of catchment 
schools. Working parents also often travelled to work immediately after 
having dropped children to school. 

 
32. In response to the survey results the School Planning Officer highlighted 

that any funds allocated to parking mitigations, although seemingly 
providing an immediate solution, would need to be sourced from the 
overall education budget which could impact the number of school 
places available. Planning Officers also detailed the difficulties in 
securing Section 106 and CIL contributions from developers to provide 
parking mitigations, due to the fact that the Council had a statutory duty 
to promote sustainable travel solutions in the first instance.  

 

12. RECOMMENDED that schools promote a staggered start and 

finish time where a number of schools are in close proximity 

to one another in order to alleviate the pressure on parents 

needing to drop off children of differing ages to different 

schools.  

13. RECOMMENDED that schools promote walking buses where 

practical, further strengthening schemes to encourage 

walking, cycling, scooting and other means of sustainable 

travel.  

14. RECOMMENDED that middle and upper schools be 

encouraged to work with local transport providers to facilitate 

Problem faced Percentage of residents who cited this as an issue 

Blocked resident driveways at school drop off and pick 
up times 

70% 

Safety issues connected with parking 62% 

Poor parking 49% 

Narrow roads or pathways outside of the school 38% 

Page 66
Agenda item 9



subsidised travel for out of catchment children, where 

practical.  

15. RECOMMENDED that schools work closely with catchment 

area children and parents to minimise as much as possible 

any unnecessary short distance car journeys, taking into 

account the time constraints faced by working parents.  

16. RECOMMENDED that schools be encouraged to work closely 

with the local community in order to maximise shared 

resources including utilising village hall car parks, local 

supermarkets, park and stride solutions and liaison with 

parish councils in order to support improvements and closer 

partnership working. 

 

 

Reason/s for recommendations  

33. The evidence considered by this enquiry highlighted the need to review 
whether the Council’s existing policies went far enough in mitigating 
parking issues in known problem areas. Due to concerns raised by 
Members, residents, parents and schools it is important that the Council 
supports the community in relation to schools parking where possible. 
The recommendations detailed in this report will support improved 
conditions, consideration given to expanding and new schools with 
parking mitigations for the future. 

 
34. The majority of Members agreed that existing powers within current 

policies in relation to the application of planning conditions went far 
enough in allowing parking mitigations to be included where necessary, 
as long as they were consistently and robustly applied. It was therefore 
deemed unnecessary to recommend amending policy, instead 
strengthening current measures and ensuring a close working 
relationship between Council officers and schools in order to address 
the current issues faced and minimise their occurrence when building 
new schools or agreeing the expansion of existing schools.  

 
Council Priorities 

35. The improvement of parking problems outside of schools directly 
addresses the Council’s priority of Enhancing Central Bedfordshire and 
ensuring it is a ‘Great Place’. 

 
Legal Implications 

36. The Highway Authority has a wide discretion as to the circumstances in 
which they can make Traffic Regulation orders. Whether any new 
Orders will be required to prevent vehicles waiting/parking will depend 
upon the individual site circumstances. Where parking takes place 

Page 67
Agenda item 9



outside schools and controls may already exist then enforcement of 
those controls can be prioritised. A strengthening of the staff engaged 
could achieve thus but will give rise to an additional cost. 

37. The introduction of new areas where control can be enforced will require 
the making and publishing of Orders Under the Road Traffic Regulation 
Act 1984 there is a requirement to consult and take into account 
objections. The procedures are prescribed by regulation. The publicity 
requirements and order making procedure will generate a cost but once 
confirmed the orders can be enforced. There will be some additional 
costs in respect of road marking and signage that explain the extent and 
nature of the restriction which could be imposed at specific times rather 
that throughout the day.  

38. The possibility of varying the local speed limit for traffic in the vicinity of 
schools is also available to the Highway Authority. The Road traffic 
Regulation Act 1984 specifies that restricted roads, ones that have lamp 
posts spaced no more than 200 yards apart would normally be subject 
to a 30 mph speed limit. The status of the road can be varied by the 
traffic authority and by the making a further regulation order a speed 
limit restriction can be varied. It will depend on local circumstances but 
these sites are likely to be located in the urban area and within an 
existing 30mph area. 

39. The use of planning Conditions to limit local congestion or reduce 
parking must meet the tests of reasonableness, relate to the 
development, be appropriate and be enforceable. Conditions that seek 
to limit the use of the highway by particular users are illegal so they 
have to approach the issue by promoting change in behaviours and 
good practice for example advocating routing plans or promoting sharing 
of vehicles and the minimising of car use in connection with locating 
development at sustainable locations. 

Financial Implications 

40. There are four recommendations that may incur additional costs: 3, 5, 7 
and 8. During the course of the review it was confirmed that any costs 
would be met within existing budgets and the remaining 
recommendations use existing resources and will therefore not impact 
budgets. 

Equalities Implications 

41. Central Bedfordshire Council has a statutory duty to promote equality of 
opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation and foster good relations in respect of nine protected 
characteristics; age disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil 
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and 
sexual orientation. Throughout the course of the enquiry, efforts have 
been made to ascertain and understand the complexities relating to the 
differing needs of parents / carers, children of different ages and local 

Page 68
Agenda item 9



residents. A range of balanced and proportionate recommendations 
have been identified which will support the development of flexible and 
locally focused solutions. 

 

Conclusion and next Steps 

42. The Committee are asked to review the recommendations detailed in the 
report and support that they be presented to the Executive and 
implemented.  

 

Appendices 

Appendix A – Incident and accident statistics 

Appendix B – All Saints Academy Accident Model 

Appendix C – Example - Cranfield Planning conditions, application 
number CB/15/02292  Link:- 

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/portal/searchresult.asp?appnumbe
r=CB/15/02292 

Appendix D – Best practice examples – school drop off zones 

Appendix E (i-vii) – Public surveys and results 

Appendix F – School Gate Parking Leaflet 

 

Background Papers 

A – Government Paper, Home to School Travel and Transport statutory 
Guidance  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/home-to-
school-travel-and-transport-guidance 

 

B – National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) Guidelines 
on Walking and Cycling https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph41 

 

C – Government Paper – Active Travel Briefing for Local Authorities  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/active-travel-a-briefing-
for-local-authorities 

 

D – Central Bedfordshire Council’s Transport Strategy 
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/transport/strategy/overview.asp
x 

 

Page 69
Agenda item 9

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/portal/searchresult.asp?appnumber=CB/15/02292
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/portal/searchresult.asp?appnumber=CB/15/02292
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/home-to-school-travel-and-transport-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/home-to-school-travel-and-transport-guidance
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph41
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/active-travel-a-briefing-for-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/active-travel-a-briefing-for-local-authorities
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/transport/strategy/overview.aspx
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/transport/strategy/overview.aspx


Vandyke Upper School and Community College 

Leighton Buzzard 925 0 

Central Bedfordshire College  Dunstable 90 0 

Harlington Upper School Harlington 1355 0 

Arnold Acadamy Barton-le-Clay 600 0 

Holywell CofE VA Middle School Cranfield 540 1 SL 

Robert Bloomfield Academy Shefford 920 0 

Samuel Whitbread Academy Shefford 1665 0 

Stratton Upper School Biggleswade 1180 0 

Biggleswade Acadamy inc.  Biggleswade 805 1 SL 

Caddington Village School Caddington     

The Vale Acadamy  Dunstable      

UTC Central Bedfordshire Houghton Regis     

  

  

  Total incidents = 25, SL =24, SR 
= 1, FT = 0 

    Total NOR 18765 

Percentage of incidents across 
18765 pupils = 0.1% 

    

    NOTES: 
   NOR = Pupil numbers on role 
   Safety: Slight (SL), Serious (SR) , and Fatal (FT) . 

  

     

P
age 70

A
genda item

 9

https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Vandyke+Upper+School/@51.9274482,-0.6452099,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x487651433db6f2f1:0x53e6a35d37a6b407
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Central+Bedfordshire+College+-+Dunstable+Campus/@51.8911004,-0.5180661,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x48764f03d1ab3ad7:0x5ad239e4e08889a1
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Harlington+Upper+School/@51.9678274,-0.4878193,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x48764c706f787b8b:0x4f26cb552232c435
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Arnold+Middle+School/@51.9650749,-0.4084026,17z/data=!4m2!3m1!1s0x48764a4e9963627f:0x8c81b2b4eac6b06e
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Holywell+Middle+School/@52.0706005,-0.6042373,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x4877ada302891297:0xdbaaed400334e6e5!5m1!1e1
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Robert+Bloomfield+Middle+School/@52.035438,-0.3413951,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x4877cad94fe64e61:0x545081a808295e65!5m1!1e1
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Samuel+Whitbread+Academy/@52.0366071,-0.3177119,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x4877cb3ea70bac35:0x84ae9f25a29a4ac
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Stratton+Upper+School/@52.08665,-0.25015,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x4877cc37f0fa5d6b:0x65c044b57cf92392
http://www.biggleswadeacademy.org/page/?title=Admissions+%26+Attendance&pid=6
PreenR02_1
Text Box
Appendix A



Establishment Name Town NOR - Summer 2015 Child personal injury accidents 
within 400 m; based on nos & 
severity 1.04.2012-31.3.2015 

Priory Academy Dunstable 535 3 SL 

All Saints Academy Dunstable  Dunstable 820 2 SL 

Leighton Middle School Leighton Buzzard 475 4 SL 

Brooklands Middle School Leighton Buzzard 345 1 SL 

Etonbury Academy Arlesey 535 0 

Queensbury Academy Dunstable 640 2 SL 

Streetfield Middle School Caddington, Luton 190 1 SL 

Ashton CofE VA Middle School Dunstable 270 0 

Manshead School Caddington, Luton 1185 1 SL 

Houghton Regis Academy Houghton Regis 240 1 SR 

Brewers Hill Middle School Dunstable 135 0 

Gilbert Inglefield Academy Leighton Buzzard 450 0 

Henlow Church of England Academy Henlow 490 0 

Linslade Academy Trust Leighton Linslade 585 2 SL 

Sandye Place Academy Sandy 485 1 SL 

Cedars Upper School Leighton Buzzard 1155 2 SL 

Fulbrook Middle School Woburn Sands MK 415 0 

Woodland Middle School Flitwick 570 0 

Edward Peake CofE VC Middle School Biggleswade 385 2 SL 

Alameda Middle School Ampthill 620 0 

Burgoyne Middle School Potton 175 0 

Parkfields Middle School Toddington 465 0 

Redborne Upper School and Community College 

Ampthill 1490 1 SL 

Sandy Upper School Sandy 550 0 P
age 71

A
genda item

 9

https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Priory+Academy/@51.8840711,-0.515095,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x48764f0540f15407:0xeceaad5bf9cb1dd6!5m1!1e1
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/All+Saints+Academy/@51.8970321,-0.5317019,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x48764e5457b3c215:0x69c20aa10f2e72ea
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Leighton+Middle+School/@51.9156069,-0.6658827,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x4876514a1f35bc0f:0xa8bda31ee13b2397!5m1!1e1
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Brooklands+Middle+School/@51.9158135,-0.6461994,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x487651402db1b65d:0xcaca7638b5a6d866!5m1!1e1
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Etonbury+Academy/@52.0196918,-0.2467685,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x4877cccb7867999b:0xd9a53f936c2045f3!5m1!1e1
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Queensbury+Academy/@51.8782247,-0.524801,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x48764f096f81dfb7:0xcd8f3dce7ab4706f
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Streetfield+Middle+School/@51.8733422,-0.4976353,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x48764f38aad8a1c3:0x5d4d0543a6bb62d5!5m1!1e1
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Ashton+Middle+School/@51.8862635,-0.5296095,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x48764faa70ed8a69:0x4108152c2af8179a
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Manshead+C+of+E+School,+Dunstable+Rd,+Caddington,+Luton,+Central+Bedfordshire+LU1+4BB/@51.8740037,-0.4966814,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x48764f3f3eab24bf:0x9874da57e9ecb562
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Houghton+Regis+Academy/@51.911216,-0.506834,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x48764eeb367949a7:0xbfafbad9e7faca7f
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Brewers+Hill+Middle+School/@51.890414,-0.541209,17z/data=!4m2!3m1!1s0x48764fb28ccf47fb:0xc39d3dfc1f30adc8!5m1!1e1
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Gilbert+Inglefield+Academy/@51.926155,-0.646868,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x487651433db6f2f1:0xbbe6cd2d80a6aa89!5m1!1e1
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Henlow+Church+Of+England+Academy/@52.0342598,-0.2839398,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x4877cca658213fe9:0xcf716ea143211ca8!5m1!1e1
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Linslade+Middle+School/@51.9080074,-0.6761007,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x487656cc0f2f397d:0x819658e2bd73b640!5m1!1e1
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Sandye+Place+Academy/@52.1269088,-0.2889536,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x4877cecab7e90c01:0xbdf2eab9fa9ad659!5m1!1e1
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Cedars+Upper+School/@51.907763,-0.673577,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x487656cc5e0a56bd:0xc28561b64debdc91
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Fulbrook+Middle+School/@52.015047,-0.6474274,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x48765336c7e76b5b:0x28229a0f57397802!5m1!1e1
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Woodland+Middle+School/@52.0040075,-0.5015635,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x48764cbec8b76bed:0x6d981c1bf4adc7d4!5m1!1e1
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Edward+Peake+Middle+School/@52.0958478,-0.2487889,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x4877cc2fc098b915:0x4f09727da97460ef!5m1!1e1
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Alameda+Middle+School/@52.0287016,-0.4995776,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x4877b3492e2ba1b1:0x6ae16db39bd03e0b
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Burgoyne+Middle+School/@52.130391,-0.2208242,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x4877ce43c2df1855:0x109f3fae20f9a57b!5m1!1e1
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Parkfields+Middle+School/@51.9508066,-0.5358155,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x48764dc934a6e8cd:0x541f271f843fa25a!5m1!1e1
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Redborne+Upper+School+%26+Community+College/@52.0197325,-0.4977172,16z/data=!4m2!3m1!1s0x4877b34ca1e50679:0x60cd6ca0dee5daa1
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/place/Samuel+Whitbread+Academy/@52.0366071,-0.3177119,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x4877cb3ea70bac35:0x84ae9f25a29a4ac


Fatal

Slight

 Serious

=    Pedestrian

P

Personal Injury Collision Information

All Saints Academy,

Mon to Fri -  0800 to 0900 & 1500 to 1600

01/04/2012 to 31/03/2015

P
age 72

A
genda item

 9

PreenR02_2
Text Box
Appendix B



Page 73
Agenda item 9

PreenR02_3
Text Box

PreenR02_4
Text Box

PreenR02_5
Text Box
Appendix C



Page 74
Agenda item 9



Page 75
Agenda item 9



Page 76
Agenda item 9



Drop off zone – Valley End C of E Infant School, 

Surrey 

• The Drop Off Zone operates from 8.40 – 8.55 a.m. managed by volunteer 
parents – Friends of Valley End (FOVE) – who are committed to providing a 
good start for you and your children. 

• Volunteers receive safety training in procedures and you’ll know who they are 
as they’ll be wearing high visibility jackets, operating in pairs at the Drop off 
Zone. 

• Pull up in your vehicle – with your passenger side to the pavement outside the 
Drop off Zone – with your child ready with belongings. 

• As you stop at the Drop off Zone you’ll be greeted by a FOVE volunteer who 
will help your child out of your vehicle. 

• Each child is given a flag to hold as soon as soon as they are handed over 
into FOVE responsibility. 

• Once a group of up to 6 children are gathered with flags, one FOVE volunteer 
will lead those children to the school entrance where they will be handed over 
to a member of staff one by one – the flags are counted in and checked by 
both staff member and volunteer. 

• This valuable service has won the school a safety award but can only 
continue with the support of volunteers. Please feel free to use the service but 
also consider volunteering to help – contact the school office for more 
information. 

 

Drop off zone – Athelstan Primary School, Kingston 

Upon Thames 

 Historically, the area outside our school had been used illegally as a drop off 
and pick up zone, where some parents and carers continued to ignore road 
markings, signage and even the involvement of Parking Attendants.   

 The lives of our pupils were endangered every day by illegal parking outside 
of school at both the beginning and end of the day.  Not only was this 
damaging the local environment and causing ill feeling with the local residents 
but more importantly, it posed a significant safeguarding issue which we 
wanted to eradicate.   

 In an ideal world, we would have had Parking Attendants and PCSOs outside 
the school every morning, but this was obviously not possible and even with 
this intervention, we were still not able to stop parents parking on the double 
yellow lines.  The resulting build-up of traffic that this caused in the local area 
was a health and safety risk for everyone and so we decided to do something 
about it! 

 A couple of years ago, we worked together with parents, the local authority 
and our Safer Neighbourhood Team to run a trial of a drop off zone.  It was 
incredibly successful and as a result, we now offer this service every 
morning.    

Page 77
Agenda item 9

PreenR02_6
Text Box
Appendix D



 Each morning, between 8.15 and 8.45 am, there is a dedicated area for drop 
off.  This is on the outer edge of the turning circle, in front of the bus stop. The 
area is large enough to accommodate 3-4 vehicles. Before and after these 
times, the drop off is not in operation and there are no staff to supervise the 
children. 

 Parents drive up to the area and stop. The children get out of the car on the 
side of the pavement, helped by our staff or parent helpers.  We encourage 
them not to get out of the car on the side of the road and the idea is that 
parents remain in the car at this time.   

 The children wait on the pavement with our staff/volunteers and the parent 
then leaves.   Once we have approximately 5-10 pupils waiting, a member of 
staff escort the children onto the school grounds via the Junior Playground.  

 We have members of staff waiting in the playground to supervise them until 
the bell rings.  Children in Reception, Year 1 and Year 2 are kept under close 
supervision by staff in a specific section, whereas  KS2 pupils may play 
elsewhere in the playground.   

 When the bell rings, pupils in Reception, Y1 and Y2 are escorted to their 
classrooms by staff. 

 NOTE:- Very few problems are experienced at the end of the school day due 
to after school clubs and a staggered release of pupils, hence no drop off 
zone solution at circa 3.30pm.  

 

 

Page 78
Agenda item 9



Central Bedfordshire Council’s Sustainable Communities Overview and
Scrutiny Committee have recently commissioned a Member and Officer Task
Force to undertake a review of parking outside of schools in order to
understand and tackle problems schools, parents and the wider community
may experience.

At this stage we are undertaking an evidence gathering exercise and to
support the collation of data we’re asking Head Teachers to provide us with as
much information as possible, using the framework below. Please could we
ask that you fill out the document and submit the details no later than Tuesday
25 October, after which we will analyse the detail and use it to help shape
recommendations going forward.

Q1 Name:

Q2 School:

Q3 Does your school have a School Travel Plan (STP)?

Yes

No

Q4 Who has been consulted on the development of the STP? (Tick all that apply)

Parents

Governing Body

Pupils

Teachers

Local residents

Other

No one

If Other, please state:

Page 79
Agenda item 9

PreenR02_7
Text Box
Appendix E(i)



Q5 Have you undertaken a Pupil Travel Survey?

Yes

No

Q6 Who is the School Travel Plan co-ordinator for your school?

Q7 How often do you update your STP?

Weekly

Monthly

Termly

Yearly

Other

If Other, please state:

Q8 Please indicate how regularly your STP (if you have one) is publicised to parents:

Weekly

Monthly

Termly

Yearly

Other

If Other, please state:

Q9 In your opinion, how successful is your STP about ensuring road safety?

Very successful

Successful

Average

Unsuccessful

Very unsuccessful

Please provide details as to why you feel this way:

Q10 Please provide details of any problems the school experiences with regards to parking
outside or in the vicinity of the school.

Page 80
Agenda item 9



Q11 What measures does the school take to tackle parking issues outside of the premises?

Q12 Please tell us what other measures or support the school would benefit from or anything
else you feel is relevant.

Thank you.

Please click submit.

Data Protection Act 1998

Please note that your personal details supplied on this form will be held and/or computerised by Central Bedfordshire Council for the purpose of the Overview
and Scrutiny Priorities 2016/17 survey. The information collected may be disclosed to officers and members of the Council and its’ partners involved in this
consultation. Summarised information from the forms may be published, but no individual details will be disclosed under these circumstances.
Your personal details will be safeguarded and will not be divulged to any other individuals or organisations for any other purposes.

Page 81
Agenda item 9



Listed below is a table relating to Head Teachers who responded to the survey, detailing current problems experienced in relation 
to parking outside of schools and the action they would like to see taken to remedy the situation. 
 

 

Question Answer - Arnold Academy, Barton-le-Clay Answer – Church End Lower School, Marston 
Moretaine 

Does your school have a School Travel 
Plan (STP)? 

Yes Yes 

Who has been consulted on the 
development of the STP? 

Governing Body 
Pupils 

Teachers 

Governing Body 
Parents 
Pupils 

Teachers 

Have you undertaken a Pupil Travel 
Survey? 

Yes Yes 

Who is the School Travel Plan co-
ordinator for your school? 

Deputy Head Teacher Staff Member 

How often do you update your STP? Yearly Other – Last updated 2013 

Please indicate how regularly your STP 
(if you have one) is publicised to 
parents 

Not published to parents but reminders about specifics are 
sent home every other week in the newsletter 

In some aspects, for example parking reminders or safety 
strap line, every half-term 

In your opinion, how successful is your 
STP about ensuring road safety? 

Unsuccessful - There is limited flexibility in modes of travel 
for my school as we take from a wide catchment. An 

increasing number of pupils from out of catchment has 
significantly impacted safe travel to and from school. 

Average - Some aspects have worked brilliantly such as 
adopting a 15 minute staggered start to the school day.  
This allows parents to drop their child and leave rather 
than everyone arriving at the same time. This is much 

safer and has reduced parking problems and congestion 
in the morning. The end of the school day is still 

problematic as the overwhelming number of children go 
home at 3.30 p.m.  This is despite the school providing 

an after school care facility and various after school 
enrichment activities on most days. P

age 82
A

genda item
 9

PreenR02_8
Text Box
Appendix E(ii)



Please provide details of any problems 
the school experiences with regards to 
parking 
outside or in the vicinity of the school. 

There are daily issues with parking, particularly at the end of 
the day. The car park is blocked and access in and out is 

often dangerously restricted too. In addition to the safety 
elements, this results in school buses not being able to get 

into the school and delays for other road users as the single 
carriage highway outside the school is very congested. 

A minority of drivers park inconsiderately; double 
parking, blocking school gates and residents driveways. 
Some drive dangerously, too fast and without due care. 

We have had a number of near misses and minor bumps. 
This is reflected at both school sites. At Forest End the 

roads are yet to be adopted by the LA which means 
accessing the school is extremely difficult especially for 
parents with disabled children or toddlers, the elderly 

and parents with push chairs. As the housing is still being 
built, the dangers are exacerbated still further by the 

large number of contractor vehicles including specialist 
building vehicles, diggers etc, large lorries and numerous 

white vans most of which consider the 20 mph speed 
limit not to apply to them! 

What measures does the school take 
to tackle parking issues outside of the 
premises? 

Regular reminders and requests for considerate driving and 
parking by parents. Promotion of other means of getting to 
school (walking, car share, cycling etc) We have tried to put 
our own traffic management systems in place by coning off 
the worst affected areas. We have also posted members of 

staff outside at the end of the school day. 

At both school sites we have developed our policy to 
promote a staggered early morning start, numerous 

after school activities which take place every evening all 
year round, the creation of designated scooter and bike 

areas, the school encourages all Y4 children to 
participate in the bikability scheme, the use of road 

safety directional banners, road safety through PSHE 
lessons and special assemblies and police involvement 

when necessary. In addition at Church End we use traffic 
cones to separate the road from the designated safe 
route to school and at Forest End we have asked the 

Marston Safety Group to monitor our traffic problems 
and advise parents. 

 
 

Please tell us what other measures or 
support the school would benefit from 
or anything 
else you feel is relevant. 

Some parents whose children could use school transport 
choose not to because of safety/reliability concerns. We 

have been working alongside CBC and the bus company to 
address this recently. Enforcement officers being present at 

the end of the day would be a good deterrent. Better 

At both sites Yellow Zig Zags and lines to be installed and 
reinstated, a village wide 20 mph speed limit, further 
traffic calming measures, identified cycle and scooter 

routes and improved signage. 

P
age 83

A
genda item

 9



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Note: No responses were received from Cranfield Lower School or the Potton Federation but information was provided when 
Officers spoke with Head Teachers directly. Much of the information captured above was reinforced by these other schools, with 
concerns raised regarding the safety of children, the difficulties in encouraging catchment parents to walk their children to school 
and the lack of enforcement with regards to parking contraventions.  
 

 

 

signage might help  Ultimately, our current access and car 
park facilities are inadequate and are insufficient for the 
volume of traffic. Increasing the car parking facilities and 

improving flow for buses would help. Traffic control 
measures on Hexton Road would also help, but I am not sure 

what they might be. 

P
age 84

A
genda item

 9



Central Bedfordshire Coucil's Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny
Committee have recently comissioned a Member and Officer Task Force to
undertake a review of parking outside of schools in order to understand and
tackle problems schools, parents and the wider community may experience.

At this stage we are undertaking an evidence gathering exercise and to
support the collection of data we're asking PTA's to help us gather as much
information as possible on behalf of parents, using the framework below.
Please could we ask that the survey is completed and the details submitted
back to your head teacher no later than 25th October, after which we will
analyse the detail and use it to help shape recommendations going forward.

Our current focus is on shaping future policy for school expansions and new
builds which we hope mitigate future problems currently faced at some
schools.

Q1 What year group is your child in?

Q2 School:

Q3 How does your child usually travel to school?

Walk

Car

School bus

Public bus

Taxi

Other

If Other, please state:

Q4 Do you live within the catchment area?

Yes

No

Don't know

Page 85
Agenda item 9

PreenR02_9
Text Box

PreenR02_10
Text Box
Appendix E(iii)



Q5 What is your approximate distance from the school?

Less than 1/2 mile (approx 800m)

A mile

More than 1 mile

More than 2 miles

More than 5 miles

More than 10 miles

Q6 Are you aware if the school has a School Travel Plan (STP)?

Yes

No

Q7 How regularly does the school promote their STP to parents?

Weekly

Monthly

Termly

Other

Don't know

If Other please provide details:

Q8 To what extent do you agree or disagree that parents are substantially involved in the
development of the STP?

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Q9 Please provide details of any problems the school experiences with regards to parking
outside or in the vicinity of the school.

Page 86
Agenda item 9



Q10 Does the school regularly promote sustainable methods of school travel? e.g.
walking/cycling, car share etc.

Q11 Please tell us what other measures or support parents would benefit from or anything else
you feel is relevant.

Q12 If you regularly drive your child to school, please tell us in your own words why this is often
your preferred option.

Thank you.

Please return your completed form to:
FREEPOST RSJS GBBZ SRZT (you do not need a stamp)

Central Bedfordshire Council
Priory House, Monks Walk

Chicksands, Shefford
SG17 5TQ

Data Protection Act 1998

Please note that your personal details supplied on this form will be held and/or computerised by Central Bedfordshire Council for the purpose of the Overview
and Scrutiny Priorities 2016/17 survey. The information collected may be disclosed to officers and members of the Council and its’ partners involved in this
consultation. Summarised information from the forms may be published, but no individual details will be disclosed under these circumstances.
Your personal details will be safeguarded and will not be divulged to any other individuals or organisations for any other purposes.

Page 87
Agenda item 9



Listed below is a table relating to parents who responded to the survey, detailing current problems experienced in relation to 
parking outside of schools and the action they would like to see taken to remedy the situation. 
 

 

Question Answer – Church End Lower School, Marston 
Moretaine 

Answer - Arnold Academy, Barton-le-Clay 

What year group is your child in? Parent 1:Y4 
Parent 2: Y1 
Parent 3: Y2 
Parent 4: YR 

Parent 1:Y8 
Parent 2: Y6 
Parent 3: Y6 

How does your child usually travel to 
school? 

Parent 1: Walk 
Parent 2: Walk 
Parent 3: Car 
Parent 4: Walk 

Parent 1: School bus 
Parent 2: School bus 
Parent 3: School bus 

Do you live within the catchment 
area? 

Parent 1:Yes 
Parent 2: Yes 
Parent 3: Yes 
Parent 4: Yes 

Parent 1: Yes 
Parent 2: Yes 
Parent 3: Yes 

What is your approximate distance 
from the school? 

Parent 1:A mile 
Parent 2: Less than half a mile 
Parent 3: More than 5 miles 
Parent 4: Less than half a mile 

Parent 1:More than 2 miles 
Parent 2: More than 2 miles 
Parent 3: More than 2 miles 

Are you aware if the school has a 
School Travel Plan (STP)? 

Parent 1: No 
Parent 2: No 
Parent 3: No 
Parent 4: No 

Parent 1: No 
Parent 2: No 
Parent 3: No 

How regularly does the school 
promote their STP to parents? 

Parent 1: Don’t know 
Parent 2: Don’t know 
Parent 3: Don’t know 
Parent 4: Don’t know 

Parent 1: Don’t know 
Parent 2: Don’t know 
Parent 3: Don’t know 

P
age 88

A
genda item

 9

PreenR02_11
Text Box
Appendix E(iv)



To what extent do you agree or 
disagree that parents are 
substantially involved in the 
development of the STP? 

Parent 1:Agree 
Parent 2: Neither agree nor disagree 
Parent 3: Neither agree nor disagree 
Parent 4:  Neither agree nor disagree 

Parent 1: Strongly disagree 
Parent 2: Strongly disagree 
Parent 3: Strongly agree 

Please provide details of any 
problems the school experiences 
with regards to parking outside or in 
the vicinity of the school. 

Parent 1: Too many cars - families could walk more. 
Parents arriving very late to drop off at school in a car as 
they can then drive closer but as late they are speeding. 
Parking - people could park and walk a short distance but 
instead park dangerously 
 
Parent 2:  Congestion and difficulty crossing road near 
school. 
 
Parent 3: No designated parking spaces. School is on a 
building site with trucks and digger regularly passing 
through. In the middle of a busy residential estate. 
 
Parent 4: Sometimes parents park on the junction near the 
school which can cause problems for other drivers and 
crossing the road.  

Parent 1: The road outside the school is busy and if parents 
park there it becomes congested.  The car park is too small 
for the number of parents that park there/school staff.  The 
bus lanes can sometimes become congested too! 
 
Parent 2: The car park is too small for the number of 
children attending/parents who drop off/pick up.  The bus 
lane can also get congested. 
 
Parent 3:  The parking at Arnold is horrendous. My children 
use the school bus to help with the already heavily 
congested dropping off/picking up. I don't like them getting 
the school bus and neither do they as there is often name 
calling and teasing and generally bad behaviour which both 
my girls dislike as they are both quite sensitive and just liked 
to be left alone. However as the parking is so terrible at 
Arnold, they have to go by bus as I couldn't cope with the 
stress of parking there. Parents block anywhere and are 
often abusive when asked to move their cars (i.e. bus lane 
parked) If Arnold was to expand, it would need more 
parking for the new teachers which would leave even less 
places for parking. Trying to drive along Hexton Road is a 
nightmare already as the road is blocked one way with the 
cars which already adds ten extra minutes just to reach the 
school. 

Does the school regularly promote 
sustainable methods of school 
travel? e.g. walking/cycling, car share 
etc. 

Parent 1: Yes 
Parent 2:  Posters on school gates - Cars + children don't 
mix. 
Parent 3: NA 
Parent 4: NA 

Parent 1: Yes - not that people follow their suggestions 
 
Parent 2: Yes, but parents don't follow!! 
Parent 3:  It wouldn't be practical as most children are out of 
catchment and can't reach the village unless they drive so to 

P
age 89

A
genda item

 9



    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Note – No responses were received from parents at the Potton Federation of Schools or Cranfield CofE Academy. 

be fair it would be a pointless exercise to do it.  

Please tell us what other measures 
or support parents would benefit 
from or anything else you feel is 
relevant. 

Parent 1: Parents need to take responsibility for 
themselves. The school is very good at making parents 
aware of the dangers. 
 
Parent 2: NA 
 
Parent 3: Designated parking. A crossing near school with a 
lollipop lady. 
Parent 4: NA 

Parent 1:NA 
 
Parent 2: NA 
 
Parent 3:  More school transport available would be good. 
Harlington offer a (payable) bus service from Luton but as its 
pricey, parents still drive but a free service like we have in 
the villages would help, however there should be 
chaperones on all buses, villages and any others. The 
children get hyped up, especially on the journey home. Last 
year a child was throwing full water bottles at the other kids. 
If that had hit the driver, there could've been a serious 
accident. So more free buses for out of catchment children 
and chaperones please. 

If you regularly drive your child to 
school, please tell us in your own 
words why this is often your 
preferred option. 

Parent 1: NA 
Parent 2: NA 
 
Parent 3: No other timely or affordable option. School is 10 
minutes away from home and I’m currently on my way to 
work. Age of daughter. No bus routes available to my 
knowledge and no other car sharing options.  
Parent 4: NA 

Parent 1: NA 
Parent 2: NA 
Parent 3: NA  

P
age 90

A
genda item

 9



 

Dear resident, 

Central Bedfordshire Council’s Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee have 

commissioned a task force to review issues regarding car parking outside of schools and any 

problems residents may be experiencing within your area.  

In light of this we would like to obtain your views and would very much appreciate your input into 

the attached resident survey, in order to help us determine the content of our recommendations.  

At this stage the task force are gathering information rather than proposing immediate remedies but 

we hope the information will assist in providing long term solutions for new schools and potential 

expansions on existing school sites in particular. 

Your Ward Members, Cllr Ken Matthews, Cllr Sue Clark and Cllr Robert Morris are fully aware of this 

evidence gathering exercise and would be more than happy to answer any questions you may have 

for them directly. They can be contacted at ken.matthews@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk  

Sue.clark@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk or robert.morris@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk  

Please return your survey to the freepost address below by the 14th December 2016 to:- 

FREEPOST RSJS GBBZ SRZT, Consultations, Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory House, Monks Walk, 

Shefford, Bedfordshire, SG17 5TQ. Alternatively if you wish to scan and email your response, 

please do so to:- rebecca.preen@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk 

The final report and task force recommendations will be submitted to the Sustainable Communities 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the 12th January 2017, to be held in the Council Chamber at 

Priory House and will also be accessible via the Council’s website at www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk  

If you have any further queries regarding the survey or the content of this letter please contact 

Rebecca Preen on 0300 300 4193 or rebecca.preen@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk 

The evidence we receive from you will be vital in helping the Council shape future policies and will 

add value to the recommendations the task force make in relation to this issue, so we thank you in 

advance for your time in assisting us with this exercise and very much look forward to hearing 

from you by the 14th December.  

Yours faithfully 

Cllr Ken Matthews 

 

Chairman of the Task Force  

Central Bedfordshire Council 

Priory House 

Monks Walk 

Page 91
Agenda item 9

mailto:ken.matthews@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:Sue.clark@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:rebecca.preen@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:rebecca.preen@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
PreenR02_12
Text Box
Appendix E(v)



Shefford 

Bedfordshire 

SG17 5TQ 

 

 

Page 92
Agenda item 9



Central Bedfordshire Council’s Sustainable Communities Overview and
Scrutiny Committee have recently commissioned a Member and Officer Task
Force to undertake a review of parking outside of schools in order to
understand and tackle problems schools, parents and the wider community
may experience.

At this stage we are undertaking an evidence gathering exercise and to
support the collation of data we're asking residents to provide information,
using the framework below. Please could we ask that the survey is completed
and the details submitted back to the Council no later than 14th December
2016, after which we will analyse the detail and use it to help shape
recommendations going forward.

Our current focus is on shaping future policy for school expansions and new
builds which we hope will minimise future problems residents may currently
experience.

Name:

Street:

Q1 Are you aware of any ongoing problems with parking in the vicinity of the school in your
area?

Yes

No

Q2 What is the name of the school in your area?

Q3 What is your approximate distance to the school?

Page 93
Agenda item 9

PreenR02_13
Text Box
Appendix E(vi)



Q4 Are you aware of any of the following parking problems outside or in the vicinity of the
school? (Tick all applicable)

Blocked resident driveways at school drop off and pick up times

Safety issues connected with parking (please provide further details)

Narrow roads or pathways outside of the school

Other

If other, please state:

Q5 Have you approached any of the following with concerns you may have?

School

Parish Council

Local Ward Member

Central Bedfordshire Council

Police

Other

If other, please state:

Q6 Do you feel there are any measures that have or could be taken by the school, parents,
residents or other public bodies to help minimise current problems you may be
experiencing?

Please return your completed form to:
FREEPOST RSJS GBBZ SRZT (you do not need a stamp)

Consultations
Central Bedfordshire Council

Priory House, Monks Walk
Chicksands, Shefford

SG17 5TQ

Data Protection Act 1998

Please note that your personal details supplied on this form will be held and/or computerised by Central Bedfordshire Council for the purpose of this this. The
information collected may be disclosed to officers and members of the Council and its’ partners involved in this consultation. Summarised information from
the forms may be published, but no individual details will be disclosed under these circumstances.
Your personal details will be safeguarded and will not be divulged to any other individuals or organisations for any other purposes.

Page 94
Agenda item 9



Listed below is a table relating to residents who responded to the survey, detailing current problems experienced in relation to 
parking outside of schools and the action they would like to see taken to remedy the situation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 

P
age 95

A
genda item

 9

PreenR02_14
Text Box
Appendix E (vii)



Issue  Percentage of residents who 
cited this as a problem 

(Church End Lower School, 
Marston Moretaine) 

Percentage of residents who 
cited this as a problem 

(Cranfield CofE Academy) 

Percentage of residents who cited 
this as a problem 

(Arnold Academy, Barton-le-Clay ) 

Percentage of residents who cited 
this as a problem 

(The Potton Federation) 

Blocked resident driveways at school 
drop off and pick up times 

75% 100% 54% 72% 

Safety issues connected with parking 67% 100% 63% 45% 

Poor parking 58% 100% 27% 27% 

Narrow roads or pathways outside of 
the school 

50% 50% 45% 27% 

Speeding 17% NA 18% 9% 

Damage to property 8% NA NA NA 

Concerns regarding impact of parking 
restrictions on residents 

NA NA 9% NA 

Action: Percentage of residents who 

requested action detailed 

below (Church End Lower 

School, Marston Moretaine) 

Percentage of residents who 

requested action detailed 

below 
(Cranfield CofE Academy) 

Percentage of residents who 

requested action detailed below 
(Arnold Academy, Barton-le-Clay ) 

Percentage of residents who 

requested action detailed below 
(The Potton Federation) 

Increased enforcement measures and 
action 

33% 50% 9% 54% 

To increase designated school parking 
places 

33% NA 9% 9% 

To encourage walking to school 17% 50% 9% 63% 

To introduce signage (parking 
restrictions) 

8% NA NA NA 

P
age 96

A
genda item

 9



 

To encourage the use of community 
parking facilities (ie village hall car 
park) 

8% NA NA NA 

Regular reminders sent to parents 
regarding responsible parking 

8% NA NA 9% 

Designated school staff monitoring 
parking outside of schools 

8% NA NA NA 

To introduce parking zones NA NA 36% NA 

To introduce park and stride/more 
school buses 

NA NA 9% NA 

To introduce traffic calming measures NA 50% 9% NA 

To design schools with rear access 
only, preventing parking at the front 

NA NA NA 9% 

To introduce safety measures NA NA NA 9% 

P
age 97

A
genda item

 9



Finding Out More

Road Safety Team 
Bedford Borough Council 
Borough Hall 
Bedford MK42 9AP

01234 228336

road.safety@bedford.gov.uk

www.bedford.gov.uk

@

How ever you take your  
child to school it can 
sometimes be a stressful 
and chaotic journey.

This leaflet provides advice on how 
you can help to reduce the stress 
and in turn make the area around 
schools a safer place at drop off 
and pick up times.

Parking dangerously or 
inconsiderately around schools 
at drop off and pick up times, not 
only endangers other road users 
(particularly pedestrians crossing 
the road), it can create stress for  
all concerned.

What can you do to help  
keep everyone safe around  
the school gates?

Dont create a problem... 
   ...be part of the solution!

Safer Parking
at the School Gate

ENV064_12 design@bedford.gov.uk www.bedford.gov.uk

P
age 98

A
genda item

 9

PreenR02_15
Text Box
Appendix F



You can help by...
 Keeping your speed low

 Always letting your child out of your 
vehicle on to the pavement - never  
on to the road

 Checking for pedestrians and cyclists 
before you or your child open the  
car door

 Always stopping for the school  
crossing patrol

 Setting a good example to your child

 Parking further away from the school  
to reduce the congestion

How you can do your bit to make it safer outside school?

Please don’t...
 Block the road - emergency vehicles and 

other traffic may need access

 Park on yellow lines, zig-zags or block the 
school entrance

 Park on the pavement, across dropped 
kerbs or residents’ driveways

 Park opposite or within 10 metres of a 
junction

 Park where you will cause inconvenience 
to other road users

 Leave your vehicle with the engine still 
running

  Stop in the middle of the road to drop your 
child off, even for a few seconds.

All the above can result in a penalty charge 
notice being issued

Have you thought about...
 The health benefits of walking or cycling 

one (or more) days a week?

 Setting up a walking bus with other  
parents and the school?

 Car sharing?

 Using public transport?

 Parking nearby and then walking  
the rest of the way?

These changes make a real difference to the congestion 
around schools, making the school run less stressful 
and far safer for everyone. Not only that but they will 
help your child’s education. Research has shown 
that children who walk or cycle to school are more 
receptive to learning at the start of the school  
day than those who travel to school by car.

www.bedford.gov.uk/roadsafety

P
age 99

A
genda item

 9



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Central Bedfordshire Council

EXECUTIVE 4 A pril20 1 7

Neighbourhood Planning

ReportofC llrN igelYou ng, Exec u tive M emberforRegeneration and B u s ines s
(N igel. you ng@ c entralbed ford s hire. gov. u k)

A d vis ingO ffic ers : Jas on L onghu rs t, D irec torofRegeneration and B u s ines s
(Jas on. longhu rs t@ c entralbed ford s hire. gov. u k

S ally C hapman, D evelopmentP lan P roc es s M anager
(s ally. c hapman@ c entralbed ford s hire. gov. u k)

This report relates to a non-Key Decision

Purpose of this report

1 . To u pd ate M embers on the lates ts itu ation forN eighbou rhood P lanning
in C entralB ed ford s hire and s etou tthe s tatu tory proc es s es involved . .

2 . To s eekd elegated au thority to proc es s N eighbou rhood P lans throu gh
Examination and Referend u m and to make them atthe end ofthe
proc es s .

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Executive is asked to delegate authority to the Director of
Regeneration and Business in consultation with the Executive Member
for Regeneration and Business to:

1. publishing submitted Neighbourhood Plans and
Neighbourhood Development Orders for comment;

2. appointing an Examiner in conjunction with the relevant body;

3. submitting the documentation for Examination;

4. following Successful Examination, proceeding to carry out a
referendum; and

5. to ‘Make’ the Plan or Order.

Page 101
Agenda item 10



Overview and Scrutiny Comments/Recommendations

3. This item has notbeen c ons id ered by O verview and S c ru tiny as itd oes
notreferto propos als orpolic ies .

Issues

4. N eighbou rhood P lanningwas introd u c ed by the L oc alis m A c tin 20 11 .
A N eighbou rhood P lan is a d oc u mentwhic hwills etou tloc alpolic ies
and alloc ations , and a N eighbou rhood D evelopmentO rd erd eals witha
s pec ific planningpropos alon a s pec ific s ite, orgrants planning
permis s ion fora type ofd evelopments u c has c hange ofu s e. O rd ers
have been rarely u s ed nation-wid e and itis notenvis aged thatany will
be forthc omingin C entralB ed ford s hire.

5. N eighbou rhood P lans c an es tablis ha vis ion foran area alongwith
generalplanningpolic ies relatingto the d evelopmentand u s e ofland in
a neighbou rhood . They s hou ld be abou tloc alis s u es and s hou ld foc u s
on gu id ingd evelopmentratherthan s toppingit. If‘ mad e’ a
N eighbou rhood P lan willbec ome a s tatu tory plan and be u s ed in
makingd ec is ions on planningapplic ations .

6. Town and P aris h C ou nc ils are the ‘ q u alifyingbod ies ’ who c an prod u c e
the N eighbou rhood P lan. The plans c an c overthe whole town or
paris h, oreven ju s tpartofit, and two ormore paris hes c an work
togetherto prod u c e a jointplan ifthey wis hto d o s o. A N eighbou rhood
A rea has to be d es ignated by the C ou nc ilto allow N eighbou rhood
P lans to be d rawn u pby the Town orP aris h C ou nc il.

7 . The s tatu tory proc es s es forad vanc ementofN eighbou rhood P lans are
s etou tin the N eighbou rhood P lanning(General)Regu lations 2 0 12 .
The s tatu tory s tages are as follows

a. A N eighbou rhood A rea is formally d es ignated .

b. The D raftP lan is pu blic is ed by the Q u alifyingB od y who then
take into ac c ou ntany c omments rec eived and c hange the P lan
ac c ord ingly.

c . The P lan and ac c ompanyingd oc u ments are s u bmitted to the
C ou nc ilforc hec kingagains tthe d evelopmentplan, N ational
P lanningP olic y and Eu ropean D irec tive requ irements .

d . The P lan is pu blic is ed fora 6 weekperiod to enable any
c omments to be mad e forthe Examinerto c ons id er.

e . A n ind epend entExamineris appointed and examination c arried
ou t.

Page 102
Agenda item 10



f. Ifthe Examinerrec ommend s s o, the N eighbou rhood P lan is
s u bjec tto Referend u m within the N eighbou rhood A rea.

g. Ifthe referend u m is s u c c es s fu lthe N eighbou rhood P lan is
‘ mad e’ by the C ou nc il.

8 . Twenty one N eighbou rhood A reas have been d es ignated s o farand at
leas ts ix paris hes are wellad vanc ed in the initials tages . Three d raft
plans have been pu blis hed by P aris h C ou nc ils in the las tfew months
and two have been s u bmitted formally forthe C ou nc ilto take throu gh
examination and referend u m (A rles ey and Fairfield ). W ard M embers
willgenerally be involved in the proc es s by the P aris hand Town
C ou nc ils and als o have two opportu nities to c ommentformally on the
c ontentofN eighbou rhood P lans .

Reason for decision

9. O nc e a P lan has been s u pported by a majority ofthos e votingfollowing
a referend u m , the C ou nc ilhas no otheroption than to ‘ make’ the P lan
u nd ers ec tion 38 A (A )(4)ofthe P lanningand C ompu ls ory P u rc has e
A c t20 0 4. The C ou nc ilis nots u bjec tto this d u ty if(and only if)the
makingofthe plan wou ld breac h, orotherwis e be inc ompatible with,
any EU obligation orany ofthe C onvention rights (within the meaning
ofthe H u man Rights A c t1998 ). H owever, itis extremely u nlikely thata
non-c ompliantplan wou ld have progres s ed to this s tage. There are
therefore no options open to the C ou nc ilotherthan to ‘ make’ the plan
s o thatitwillform partofthe D evelopmentP lan.

Council Priorities

1 0 . The relevantP riority is "Enhanc ingYou rloc alC ommu nity -c reating
jobs , managinggrowth, protec tingou rc ou ntrys id e and enabling
bu s ines s es to grow”. N eighbou rhood P lans willbe able to alloc ate land
forpartic u larland u s es and ad d res s loc ally s pec ific planningis s u es .

Corporate Implications

11 . The L oc alis m A c t20 11 and the N eighbou rhood P lanning(General)
Regu lations 20 12 plac e new d u ties on loc alplanningau thorities in
relation to N eighbou rhood P lanning. Thes e new d u ties have
c ons id erable implic ations fors taffres ou rc es and inc lu d e taking
d ec is ions atkey s tages in the proc es s ; beingproac tive in provid ing
ad vic e to c ommu nities abou tneighbou rhood planning; provid ingad vic e
oras s is tanc e to a paris hortown c ou nc il, neighbou rhood foru m or
c ommu nity organis ation thatis u nd ertakingneighbou rhood planning.

Page 103
Agenda item 10



12 . The C ou nc ilis als o requ ired to res ou rc e the Examination and
Referend u m bothin terms ofpers onneland financ e

13. The ‘ makingof’ the plan willnotrequ ire any s ignific ants taffing
implic ations in ad d ition to thos e alread y employed by the C ou nc il.
O ffic ers in D evelopmentM anagementwillbe requ ired to u s e the plan
in d ec is ion makingforplanningpropos als , bu tthis willnotad d any
s ignific antres ou rc e pres s u res .

14. The ris ks are the C ou nc ilfailingto d is c harge its s tatu tory
res pons ibilities and failingto d eliverthe C ou nc il’ s priorities .

Legal Implications

15. O nc e the N eighbou rhood P lan is ad opted , itwillbec ome partofthe
D evelopmentP lan and willc ons titu te a materialplanningc ons id eration
to be taken into ac c ou ntwhen d eterminingapplic ations mad e in
res pec tofthe N eighbou rhood A rea.

Financial Implications

16. In rec ognition ofthe ad d itionalbu rd ens thatthes e d u ties plac e on loc al
planningau thorities , D C L G has mad e available grants to loc alplanning
au thorities of£ 20 , 0 0 0 foreac hneighbou rhood plan.

1 7 . Grantinc ome of£ 5, 0 0 0 previou s ly rec eived throu ghthe d es ignation of
neighbou rhood areas willc ontribu te toward s the firs tneighbou rhood
plans thatare pu tthrou ghexamination and referend u m . The grant
inc ome is notc onfined to eac hs pec ific plan therefore expend itu re c an
be s pread ac ros s s everalplans . The balanc e ofthe grantinc ome
c u rrently s tand s at£ 65, 0 0 0 .

1 8 . N eighbou rhood P lans willvary in c os tfrom a s imple plan from £ 6, 0 0 0
to £ 2 0 , 0 0 0 fora more c omplex plan c overinga largerarea. The formal
c os ts inc lu d e Examination and Referend u m c os ts . Thes e formalc os ts
exc lu d e s tafftime, s u pportfortec hnic alworkand mapping, trainingfor
grou ps and pu blic ity/printingc os ts . There is no pay bac krequ irementif
the formalc os ts are u nd er£ 20 , 0 0 0 , bu tthere is no opportu nity to c laim
ad d itionalgrants forformalc os ts exc eed ing£ 20 , 0 0 0 .

Equalities Implications

19. C entralB ed ford s hire C ou nc ilhas a s tatu tory d u ty to promote equ ality
ofopportu nity, eliminate u nlawfu ld is c rimination, haras s mentand
vic timis ation and fos tergood relations in res pec tofnine protec ted
c harac teris tic s ; age d is ability, gend erreas s ignment, marriage and c ivil
partners hip, pregnanc y and maternity, rac e, religion orbelief, s ex and
s exu alorientation.

Page 104
Agenda item 10



2 0 . N eighbou rhood P lans are requ ired to c onform to the requ irements of
the H u man Rights A c t1998 . This inc lu d es protec tion from
d is c rimination. Information c an be provid ed to Town and P aris h
C ou nc ils s ettingou tthe equ ality is s u es thatneed to be c ons id ered as
partofthe planningproc es s .

Sustainability

21 . N eighbou rhood P lans are requ ired to s u pports u s tainable d evelopment
as s etou tin the N ationalP lanningP olic y Framework. P lans inc lu d ing
majord evelopments orin very s ens itive areas willbe as s es s ed u nd er
the Eu ropean S trategic EnvironmentalA s s es s mentrequ irements .
N eighbou rhood plans pres entloc alc ommu nities withthe opportu nity to
s hape and s teers u s tainable d evelopmentthatbenefits theirarea.

Conclusion and Next Steps

22 . Itis likely thatan inc reas ingnu mberofN eighbou rhood P lans willbe
formally s u bmitted in 20 16/1 7 and thatthe nu mberwills teeply ris e over
time. Givingd elegated powers to the D irec torofRegeneration and
B u s ines s in c ons u ltation withthe Exec u tive M emberforRegeneration
and B u s ines s to s ign offthe formals tages withou thavingto take a
reportto Exec u tive foreac hP lan ateac hs tage willenable offic ers to
bringthes e plans into plac e as s oon as pos s ible therefore s avingtime
and res ou rc es .

Appendices

N one

Background Papers

N one

Page 105
Agenda item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



C entralB ed ford shire C ou nc il

EXEC UTIVE 4 April 2017

C C TV Review

Report of Cllr Ian Dalgarno, Executive Member for Community Services
(ian.dalgarno@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)

Advising Officer: Marcel Coiffait, Director of Community Services
(marcel.coiffait@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)

This reportrelates to aKey D ec ision

P u rpose ofthis report

1. The report sets out proposals and recommendations for the future of
Central Bedfordshire Councils public space CCTV system.

REC O M M END A TIO NS

The Exec u tive is asked to:

1 . agree thatthe C ou nc ilinvests in anew m u lti-fu nc tionalC C TV
c ontrolroom atP riory H ou se, proc u res new H D c am eras
u tilising wireless tec hnology to im prove im age qu ality and
red u c e signaltransm ission c osts, whilstalso offering other
c om plim entary servic es to generate whole C ou nc ileffic ienc ies
and inc rease inc om e.

O verview and S c ru tiny C om m ents/Rec om m end ations

2. The CCTV review was considered by the Sustainable Communities
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 16 March 2017. The Committee
recommended:

That the Council invests in a new multi-functional CCTV control room
at Priory House, procures new HD cameras utilising wireless
technology to improve image quality and reduce signal transmission
costs, whilst also offering other complimentary services to generate
whole Council efficiencies and increase income.

Page 107
Agenda item 11



Reasons forD ec ision

3. The Council’s Public Space Surveillance CCTV provision includes 129
cameras operating and monitored from the control room based at
Watling House, Dunstable.

4. The 129 cameras (both fixed and re-deployable) include those
operated and monitored on behalf of town councils and other third
parties and there are also 10 cameras monitored around the Watling
House offices.

5. A further 19 cameras are recorded locally at the Leighton Buzzard
Multi-Storey car park. In addition 12 cameras are monitored by the
Hertfordshire CCTV Partnership in Stevenage on behalf of Central
Bedfordshire Council (CBC) for CBC and for Biggleswade, Sandy and
Shefford Town Councils.

6. The CCTV system has developed in stages since 1995. The last
significant investment in the system was prior to the formation of
Central Bedfordshire Council in 2009, with some spend on camera
replacements, including re-deployable cameras, and essential
replacements in more recent years.

7. CCTV is monitored by 4 CCTV Operators but not on a 24/7 basis. The
system does record on a 24/7 basis and live CCTV images can be
forwarded by an operator to Bedfordshire Police HQ to assist the police
in responding to an on-going incident.

8. The system is now at full capacity and key elements of the system are
nearing the end of their useful life, with manufacturers indicating they
will be withdrawing technical support from some in the near future.

9. CCTV technology has advanced considerably in recent years and
these advances offer opportunities to develop the existing system to
maintain the current provision and support future opportunities to
develop services offered by CCTV.

10. Advances in technology also give the Council the potential to reduce its
reliance on third party transmission supplied by BT/Virgin Media and
migrate suitable cameras, where there is Line of Sight (LOS), to the
use of wireless equipment to transmit images to the CCTV control
room. Cameras that do not meet LOS criteria would remain on the BT
or Virgin Media fibre optic network.

11. Discussions about the longer term future of Watling House continue
and decisions about its future may well impact on the location of the
CCTV control room. But in view of the end of life challenges, the
decisions abut the CCTV systems future need to be made outside of
any timescales for decisions about Watling House.

Page 108
Agenda item 11



12. CCTV acts as a ‘capable guardian’ both in terms of identifying disorder
and criminality as well as providing evidence to support prosecution. It
also supports the Council’s response to safeguarding, general public
safety and emergency incidents in the locations where it operates.

13. CCTV works with colleagues across the Council providing advice and a
camera monitoring service. Recent collaborations include the provision
in the last 18 months of CCTV for the Priory View independent living
development in Dunstable and the refurbished Household Waste Re-
cycling Centres (HWRC) at Leighton Buzzard, Ampthill and
Biggleswade.

14. Due to system capacity being at maximum and not compatible with
High Definition (HD) technology, recent collaborations have utilised
separate stand-alone systems (computer processors and monitors)
located around the CCTV control room.

15. In May 2017 plans are in place to accept new cameras from the Thorn
Turn HWRC and depot, and when built from the Council’s new
independent living development in Houghton Regis.

16. CCTV is fully funded by the Council and receives income from CCTV
monitoring from third parties.

C onsu ltantReview

17. In 2016 Global MSC Security was commissioned to examine and
report on the options available to the Council to migrate the CCTV
system from hard wired system using BT and Virgin fibre optic circuitry
to a system:

 using wireless connectivity to link cameras together within each
of the towns and for the wireless backhaul of data to the control
room

 using wireless connectivity to link cameras together within each
of the towns and either wireless back haul of data or use of the
corporate Wireless Area Network

 consider the removal of the complete CCTV camera and control
system and the associated costs.

18. The consultants approach was to:

 Review the as-is state, including core functions and services,
staff operations, spatial requirements and relationships, and
technology

 Define a broad operational vision for the Council service delivery
with a view to “future proofing” affected systems and services

Page 109
Agenda item 11



 Develop an architectural and technological concept for the
facility whether it is retained at Watling House or moved to
Priory House.

19. The full set of review recommendations are set out in Appendix A with
the key development recommendations being:

 Migrate existing CCTV cameras to wireless transmission
where this is feasible in preference to existing fibre optic
cabling and reduce annual revenue costs

 Where it is possible, the CBC IT network is used for the
transmission of CCTV images

 Purchase of new CCTV Command and Control
software/hardware and Network Video Recorders

 Enhance the CCTV control room to provide additional
services

O ptions forc onsid eration

20. Having considered the detail of the review, current status of the CCTV
system and potential changes at Watling House three options have
been identified for consideration:

a. Investin anew m u lti-fu nc tionalC C TV c ontrolroom at
P riory H ou se, proc u ring new H D c am eras u tilising wireless
tec hnology to im prove im age qu ality and red u c e signal
transm ission c osts, whilstalso offering other
c om plim entary servic es to generate whole C ou nc il
effic ienc ies and inc rease inc om e

This option proposes investing in wireless and digital
transmission of CCTV images for a fully digital system. Linking
cameras wirelessly using LOS technology (instead of fibre optic
cable) significantly reduces signal transmission costs as there is
little on-going cost in ownership e.g. the typical rental of a fibre
cable for one camera per year is £1000. Wireless transmissions
can be fully encrypted for network security, do not need
expensive civil works i.e. digging trenches for cables, and allow
for system extension quickly and with little disruption. A
feasibility study by a specialist wireless network installer
confirms that a majority of current camera locations would
support wireless technology.

Page 110
Agenda item 11



A wireless system links cameras to a hub points locally where
images are stored. Potential hub locations – mostly existing
Council buildings - have been identified in all the major towns
where cameras are currently located.

Storing information locally allows for only data actually needed
at a particular moment to be transmitted back to the control
room, thereby reducing costs. Where data from the hub location
cannot be sent wirelessly a single fibre optic cable with may be
utilised. Alternatively, with agreement of the ICT department and
where the bandwidth demands are minimal, use could be made
of the Council’s own data network.

HD cameras capture significantly more detail than standard
analogue cameras. Images can be magnified up to four times
which has benefits when trying to confirm vehicle index numbers
or identify a suspect.

New control room hardware and software creates the
opportunity for a 24/7 Council CCTV Operations Centre,
providing benefits and new services for a range of other users,
both internal and external:

 It would allow for all of the Council’s public space
cameras to be centralised and monitored in one place –
Council cameras in Sandy and Biggleswade are currently
monitored by Hertfordshire CCTV Partnership in
Stevenage

 The opportunity to consolidate and centralise other
remote Council CCTV systems across the area into one
control room e.g. libraries, Priory House, and some
Housing facilities

 Out-of-hours call handling

 School CCTV and alarm monitoring

 Care Line vulnerable persons alarm monitoring –
currently outsourced to Wealden and Eastbourne Lifeline

 Streaming of HD evidential images to police custody
suites removing the need to produce DVDs and the time
taken for police officers to travel to collect

 Monitoring of Council staff using Body Worn Video (BWV)

Page 111
Agenda item 11



b. C ontinu e operating the C C TV c ontrolroom withou t
ad d itionalinvestm entu ntilthe system reac hes the end of
its life and c annotbe tec hnologic ally su pported

The existing CCTV control room software and hardware is over
8 years old and nearing the end of its useful life.

The software is no longer supported by the manufacturer as it
has been superseded by newer versions, and the recording
equipment is now deemed ‘End of Life’ and should it fail spare
parts may be difficult to source although our current
maintenance contactor has assured us that he would expect to
be able to locate any required for the next 2 years.

The ability to grow the system by monitoring additional cameras
or offering additional services is severely restricted by the age,
size and inflexibility of the hardware and software. It is an
analogue based system set in the context of new products and
solutions that are fully digital.

Where system growth has occurred in the last 2 years it has
been through the use of stand alone technology working
completely independently from the main system. This lack of
technological integration is very inefficient from a monitoring
perspective for the CCTV operator i.e. having to view different
monitors located around the control room, as well as being more
costly.

c. C ease pu blic spac e C C TV m onitoring, d ec om m ission the
C C TV c ontrolroom and rem ove the c am erainfrastru c tu re

The provision of public space CCTV supports the following
statutory requirements:

 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 requires local authorities
to do all they can to reduce crime and disorder and
promote community safety

 Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014
provides local authorities alongside the police with
new tools and powers to tackle anti-social behaviour

 Environmental Protection Act 1990 creates offences in
relation to waste management e.g. fly-tipping,
householder duty of care for disposal of waste, and
littering, for which the local authority are the
enforcement body not the police

Page 112
Agenda item 11



Although the removal of the Council’s CCTV capability would
provide a significant saving, the service commands wide public
support and withdrawal of it would be detrimental to our
communities’ sense of safety and security.

In the last two years the service has developed its in-house
camera monitoring capability e.g. Priory View and HWRCs. If
the Council was not able to offer camera monitoring internally,
there would be significant extra cost in finding an alternative
commercial solution.

Bedfordshire Police’s Chief Superintendent for Crime and
Community strongly supports the continuation of CCTV as both
a deterrent for potential criminals and a valuable investigative
tool. The police would be opposed to the Council removing
CCTV in Central Bedfordshire.

Removing the system would involve decommissioning the CCTV
Control Room, removing each camera and camera column,
disconnecting power supplies and fibre connections, and civil
works to restore the ground to its original condition. The cost to
do so is significant and once removed would be prohibitive to
restore.

C osts

Estim ated C apitalC osts
O ption C apitalc ost 10%

c ontingenc y
Total
inc lu d ing
c ontingenc y

1
Design and build a new
CCTV Control Room at
Priory House with new HD
cameras utilising a mainly
wireless transmission
system

£640,090 £64,009 £704,099

2.
Continue operating the
current CCTV facility at
Watling House with
existing camera
infrastructure

Unknown and
dependent on
the cost of a
particular
replacement
part

N/A Unknown

3.
Decommission the CCTV
Control Room and
remove the camera
infrastructure

£208,000 £20,800 £228,800

Page 113
Agenda item 11



Revenu e c osts

O ption 2016/17
C C TV net
revenu e
bu d get
(inc lu d ing
salaries)

Estim ated
Revised net
C C TV B u d get
(inc lu d ing
salaries)

P otential
Revenu e
S aving per
annu m

1.
Fitted new Control Room at
Priory House, CCTV
operating hardware &
software, new H D c am eras,
with wireless & BT
transmission £251k £171k £80k

2.
Continue operating the
current CCTV facility at
Watling House with existing
camera infrastructure £251k £251k Nil

3.
Decommission the CCTV
Control Room and remove
the camera infrastructure £251k £0 £251k

Rec om m end ation

21. The Councils infrastructure is now at the end of its useful life and
needs to be replaced. Trying to maintain the current system poses a
significant risk of an unexpected catastrophic failure that we cannot
make any realistic contingency plans for.

22. If replacing the system is not approved the only other possible option is
for the Council to stop providing CCTV in Central Bedfordshire and
begin plans for decommissioning the entire system within the next 12
to 18 months.

23. Terminating the Councils CCTV provision poses unknown risks in
terms of the impact on crime and disorder, safeguarding and general
community safety.

Page 114
Agenda item 11



24. Investing in CCTV will deliver revenue savings, utilise more flexible
technology allowing for a CCTV service to be delivered in any area
across Central Bedfordshire where there is a pressing need, and open
up the opportunity to develop new services leading to additional
income streams which may, over time, enable the service to become
self funding.

25. As such it is recommended that:

The C ou nc ilinvests in anew m u lti-fu nc tionalC C TV c ontrolroom
atP riory H ou se, proc u ring new H D c am eras u tilising wireless
tec hnology to im prove im age qu ality and red u c e signal
transm ission c osts, whilstalso offering otherc om plim entary
servic es to generate whole C ou nc ileffic ienc ies and inc rease
inc om e.

C ou nc ilP riorities

26. The proposed action will support the following Council priorities:

 Enhancing Central Bedfordshire
 Great resident services
 Protecting the vulnerable; improving wellbeing
 Creating stronger communities
 A more efficient and responsive Council

L egalIm plic ations

27. The Surveillance Camera Commissioner has issued a Surveillance
Camera Code of Practice under the Freedoms Act 2012. It provides
guidance on the appropriate and effective use of surveillance camera
systems by relevant authorities. The Council is defined as a relevant
authority by Section 33 of the Act, and as such must have regard to the
code when exercising any functions to which the code relates.

28. The stated purpose of the Surveillance Camera Code of Practice is to
ensure that individuals and wider communities have confidence that
surveillance cameras are deployed to protect and support them, and
ensure there is no misuse or abuse. That wherever overt surveillance
cameras are in a public place, the cameras are placed in pursuit of a
legitimate aim, necessary to meet a pressing need, and compliant with
legislation.

29. The code of practice sets out 12 guiding principles, creating a
framework to ensure operators and users of surveillance camera
systems do so in a proportionate and transparent manner, and systems
are, whilst capable of providing good quality images and other
information which is fit for purpose, consistent with a legitimate aim and
pressing need. Any system should achieve the most appropriate
balance between public protection and individual privacy.

Page 115
Agenda item 11



Adherence to the code significantly supports legal obligations under the
Protection of Freedoms Act 2012, to protect personal data under the
Data Protection Act 1998 and to adherence of Article 8 of the Human
Rights Act 1998– right to respect for private and family life.

30. Upgrading the CCTV control room, systems and equipment can offer
the opportunity for greater security and more flexibility, both in terms of
accessibility for e.g. the police and in terms of cameras being only
deployed where necessary (and so can be easily withdrawn where
there is no longer a necessity). However, to comply with the Code and
the legislation, consideration must be given to:

 The effect any new technology has on individuals and their privacy.

 Expanding the use of a new camera system must always be for a
specified purpose which is in pursuit of a legitimate aim and necessary
to meet an identified pressing need.

 For the Council to retain operational, technical and competency
standards, consideration should be given to updating:

o security systems (particularly for storage of data) as any
security must be accredited to a level of at least
'RESTRICTED' under the Government Protective Marking
Scheme (GPMS) (which CBC currently use) as well as in
accordance with guidance from the Association of Chief
Police Officers;

o protocols particularly regarding accessibility, data protection,
and ensuring accuracy of systems in cross referencing data;

o procedures (and to take account of contingencies if the new
system has a problem e.g. atmospheric conditions on wireless
connections can slow download speeds);

o and training operators and officers.

It is also recommended that a Privacy Impact Assessment is completed
as part of assessing what upgrades are appropriate under the Data
Protection Act 1998.

31. One of the 12 principles of the Code concerns the effectiveness of the
system i.e. “it should then be used in the most effective way to support
public safety and law enforcement with the aim of processing images
and information of evidential value”. Keeping an ageing system which
is going to result in equipment no longer being maintained to
manufacturer standards puts the Council at risk of no longer operating
at a capacity to capture, process, and store images and information at
a quality which is suitable for its intended purpose.

Page 116
Agenda item 11



If the purpose of a system includes crime prevention, detection and
investigation, keeping an ineffective system also puts at risk any action
taken by the police or other enforcement authorities (including the
Council) because any captured images may no longer meet criminal
evidence standards.

32. Although there is no specific law requiring a Council to have CCTV, it
supports the Councils statutory duty under Section 17 of the Crime and
Disorder Act 1998 to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and
disorder in its area. CCTV is particularly useful for prevention of crime
and disorder and removing CCTV may make it difficult to demonstrate
the Council is doing all it reasonably can. It may also impact on the
ability of the police or other enforcing bodies (including the Council) to
investigate crime and, as CCTV will be seen to be withdrawn, there
would be a risk that removal causes an increase in crime in the area. If
it was considered by the Committee that the Council should remove all
CCTV, it is recommended that consultation is undertaken with those
people affected by it, particularly members of the public, but also
residents, business owners, and employees which CCTV currently
covers. It would also be recommended to consult partners such as the
police and housing associations. Such consultation may need to
identify whether other measures can be put in place where there is a
pressing need to be addressed to support prevention of crime and
disorder e.g. part removal of CCTV.

Financ ialand RiskIm plic ations

33. There is a capital budget of £200k in 2016/17 capital budget for CCTV
development. £15k of this funding was used for the feasibility study. It
was also agreed that £48k of the slippage for the CCTV development
would be used for purchasing new car park payment machines for the
Council. The remaining £137k has been flagged for slippage into
2017/18 for CCTV development.

34. A further £560k, £360k in 2017/18 and £200k in 2018/19 are included
in the capital MTFP which is due to be approved subject to budget
approval. An Outline Business Case has been submitted for this
additional capital funding which is for further feasibility work.

35. The revenue MTFP includes an efficiency saving for CCTV which starts
in 2018/19 at £100k increasing to £140k in 2020/21. The proposed
development generates revenue saving estimated at £80k per year and
the remaining saving will be generated through additional income
streams from using it to deliver other services. Services that could
potentially offer income streams:
 CareLine/Social/Community Alarms
 Sheltered Housing response
 Coordinating first responders
 Floodline/Snowline
 Car parks – barrier monitoring

Page 117
Agenda item 11



 Lone worker monitoring
 Control of rising bollards
 Intruder/fire alarm response
 Out of hours call handling
 School CCTV/Alarm monitoring
 Environmental monitoring stations

36. Any new development would, as far as possible, be ‘future proofed’ to
ensure that capital investment of £697k is maximised and it is
anticipated that the system would not need any further significant
investment for approximately 10 years if well maintained. The revenue
expenditure savings made over a 10 year period are estimated at
£800k without the addition of alternative income streams.

37. CCTV cameras with ANPR (Automatic Number Plate Recognition)
capability may be utilised to support public safety and law enforcement.
Potential exists for the Council, where it can be reasonably justified and
subject to legal advice, use ANPR cameras to enforce decriminalised
road traffic offences e.g. bus lane enforcement, HGV weight restriction,
and stopping within school keep clear areas.

38. The proposal mitigates the risks of:
 Catastrophic failiure of the current system, resulting in
 Failure to deliver the Council’s priorities, and
 Failure to discharge statutory responsibilities.

Equ alities Im plic ations

39. The Council has a statutory duty to promote equality of opportunity,
eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and
foster good relations in respect of nine protected characteristics; age,
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership,
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual
orientation.

40. CCTV monitoring provides evidential support to potential or actual
victims of hate crime in public areas, where crimes or incidents are
motivated by prejudice, hostility or hatred based upon a protected
characteristic. It can also provide important evidential support relating
to the night time economy where there may be incidences of violent
crime (a greater risk for young men) and rape and sexual assault (a
greater risk for women)

41. Young people and vulnerable adults can be subject to more anti-social
behaviour and crime than other members of the community. National
evidence highlights that there is also an under reporting of anti-social
behaviour, domestic abuse and serious acquisitive crime by vulnerable
members of the community. Changes to camera numbers, and the
levels of pro-active monitoring and recording, are likely to have an
impact on the experience of crime.

Page 118
Agenda item 11



Priorities for pro-active monitoring need to take into account the safety
of vulnerable groups and those at greatest risk such as taxi drivers.

42. Changes affecting Council staff including changes to shift patterns and
work location, should be made in accordance with legal requirements
and HR policy and procedure.

Im plic ations forW orkP rogram m ing

43. None noted.

C onc lu sion and nextS teps

44. The Councils infrastructure is now at the end of its useful life and
needs to be replaced. Trying to maintain the current system poses a
significant risk of catastrophic failure that we cannot make any
contingency plans for.

45. If replacing the system is not approved the only other possible option is
for the Council to stop providing CCTV in Central Bedfordshire and
begin plans for decommissioning the entire system within the next 12
to 18 months.

46. It is recommended that the Committee supports the recommendation to
invest in a new CCTV system for Central Bedfordshire Council.

47. The Committee’s recommendations will be included in the CCTV report
going to Executive in April 2017.

A ppend ic es

Appendix A – Key and supplementary recommendations from Global MSC
CCTV consultants

Appendix B – CCTV revenue budget 2016/17

Appendix C – Supporting information for consultants’ recommendations

B ac kgrou nd P apers

None

Page 119
Agenda item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Key recommendations from Global MSC consultants

1 M igrate exis tingC C TV c ameras to wireles s trans mis s ion where this is
feas ible in preferenc e to exis tingfibre optic c ablingand red u c e annu al
revenu e c os ts

2 W here itis pos s ible, the C B C IT networkis u s ed forthe trans mis s ion
ofC C TV images

3 P u rc has e ofnew C C TV C ommand and C ontrols oftware/hard ware
and N etworkVid eo Rec ord ers

4 Enhanc e the C C TV C ontrolRoom to provid e ad d itionals ervic es

Supplementary recommendations from Global MSC consultants

5 O ne D irec toris res pons ible forallC C TV matters forthe C ou nc il

6 A d opta s tand ard rec ord ingpolic y forallC C TV s ys tems

7 O btain W ayleave A greements for‘ H u b’ points

8 P rovis ion ofremote C C TV viewingfac ility atL u ton P olic e S tation and
Kemps ton P olic e H Q

9 M emorand u m ofUnd ers tand ingbetween the C ou nc iland
B ed ford s hire P olic e

10 Third party monitoringc os ts ofC B C and town c ou nc ilalarms are
inves tigated

11 Traffic enforc ementu s ingC C TV is c ons id ered

12 C B C d es c ribes ac c u rately in its D P A regis tration the u s e ofthe C C TV
s ys tems in the C ou nc ilarea

13 C B C u nd ertakes to c arry ou tC C TV O perationalRequ irements and
P res s ingN eed s togetherwitha P rivac y Impac tA s s es s ment

14 C B C ad d s u ffic ients igns to its c amera es tate

Page 121
Agenda item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B

C C TV Revenu e B u d get20 16/1 7

S tafftraining £ 10 40
Elec tric ity £ 250 0
Telephones £ 1 0 0 0
Generalexpens es £ 3990
P rivate C ontrac tors £ 1 7 8 , 8 60

Expend itu re £ 1 8 7 , 390

Inc ome (£ 98 , 57 0 )

Net Operating Budget £88,820

C C TV S taffS alaries * £ 162 , 1 2 8

Total CCTV revenue costs £250,948

* C C TV s taffs alary c os ts are bu d geted from the C ommu nity S afety S ervic e
s alary bu d get. There is an ongoingres tru c tu re in the C ommu nity S afety
S ervic e, whic hinc lu d es C C TV , and itis antic ipated thats alary c os ts will
red u c e by an es timated £ 15k.

Page 123
Agenda item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



A ppend ix C

Supporting information for consultant’s recommendations:

Rec om m end ation 1 : M igrate existing C C TV c am eras to wireless
transm ission where this is feasible in preferenc e to existing fibre
optic c abling and red u c e annu alrevenu e c osts

Where there is LOS and it is cost effective and feasible, it is recommend
that the Council adopts the alternative wireless transmission option in
preference to existing fibre optic cabling and reduce its annual revenue
costs.

MSC in conjunction with a specialist wireless provider UK Broadband
has carried out an initial Wireless CCTV survey to determine budgetary
prices for switching the cameras using BT and Virgin fibre to wireless
transmission solution. Once a wireless transmission system is in place
all images arriving in the Control Room will be digital/IP even if it is
reliant on the use of fibre optic cabling for the long ‘back-haul’. It should
be noted that where there is no ‘Line of Sight’ (LOS) for wireless links, it
would be necessary if the cameras were to continue to be transmitted
and monitored, for these cameras to remain on BT or Virgin Media and
revenue charges to continue to be paid.

Advantages and Disadvantages of Wireless Transmission

Wireless CCTV systems have a number of advantages and
disadvantages compared to the current fibre optic transmission service
from BT and Virgin Media, which are based on direct point-to-point links.
It is important to understand these benefits and risks associated with the
use of wireless for the transmission of CCTV images.

Advantages of Wireless

There are a number of key benefits: -

a) Reduced cost of deployment and removal of annual rental costs
from BT and Virgin Media

b) Ability to install an IP network enabling High Definition (HD) and
IP cameras

c) Able to easily relocate whole/part system when/if requirement at
that location ceases (linking into the wireless network)

d) Extend CCTV system at various locations with fast lead times and
little disruption

e) Provide additional camera locations on existing network with little
or no extra transmission costs

f) No expensive Civil Works/duct installation which can later become
redundant

g) Little on-going cost of ownership

Page 125
Agenda item 11



h) Able to relocate Control Room and its receiving equipment
‘relatively’ easily without major disruption

In addition other benefits include: -

a) Ability to offer a segregated Wi-Fi service to residents and public
in camera ‘hot-spots’ and combine capital contributions with
various departments

b) Ability to add other "IP" connected devices such as alarm
systems, PA systems, Radio Link extensions (shop/pub watch,
wardens)

c) Ability to share service and offer capacity to IT Dept.
d) Ability to charge third parties for the provision of this transmission

service

Disadvantages of Wireless

There are some issues with wireless that need to be considered when
choosing to reduce transmission revenue costs: -

a) With wireless systems cameras are linked to each other in clusters
(often ‘daisy-chained’) where Camera 1 is linked to Cameras 2,
which is linked to Cameras 3, etc. If Camera 3 has a power failure
or an equipment failure, images from Camera 1 and 2 will also be
lost.

The problem can be reduced by: -

a. Building wireless ‘resilient rings’ (especially on the ‘main
trunk routes) so that one break in the wireless network does
not cause loss of any camera

b. Ensuring engineers have spare parts and are on a
responsive call-out maintenance package to restore failing
services reduces this risk

b) The cost effective wireless links operate on unlicensed radio
frequencies. This means that another user of wireless could, by
accident or intentionally, cause interference on the camera images
by using their own wireless equipment in the same area.

The problem can be reduced by: -

a. Using directional antennas and equipment that can select
between a wide-range of available frequencies reduces this
risk. It can also be reduced through remote access from
engineers who can login and re-tune equipment remotely if
needed

Page 126
Agenda item 11



b. For critical, major trunk ‘back-haul’ routes, the wireless units
used are generally licensed frequencies (with an annual
cost) to avoid interference

c) Latency of control can be a further disadvantage (time between
move of joystick to actual movement of the camera) without careful
engineering consideration

d) Initial deployment expensive

e) More ‘in line’ equipment to go wrong

f) Line of sight (LOS) generally required

g) Trees/foliage and scaffolding require managing and keeping under
control

Wireless Security

Of course the security of any network that could be eavesdropped is very
important and the Council needs to be convinced that the data in its systems
will be secure and not be susceptible to cyber crime and hacking. The
wireless network security is therefore of paramount importance in the
selection of radio equipment and the network design.

The primary considerations are summarised below, all of which contribute to
ensure the highest level of security: -

 All radio’s deployed will have encryption capability that satisfy the
requirements of the COAD document for Civil Traffic Enforcement,
understood to be AES128 or higher

 The radios use their unique custom protocol (as distinct to a
universal Wi-Fi 802.11 standard) and therefore it would require a
radio of the same type to be able to eavesdrop. There are then
additional levels of security within the product such as password
protection and encryption to ensure those with the same units
cannot access the radios.

 For radio propagation directional antenna is used and installed at
rooftop level; this has the added security benefit of making it much
less possible for anyone to even detect the radio signals

 If anyone were to attempt to eavesdrop the radio signal they
would have to position another radio within the path – this would
have the effect of causing the radio link to stop working (and
therefore preventing any transmission from being detected)

 Typical product security features include:

o AES encryption
o Storm / flood protection
o Password protection
o Secure command-line access via SSH protocol

Page 127
Agenda item 11



Rec om m end ation 2 : W here itis possible, the C B C IT network is u sed for
the transm ission ofC C TV im ages

Coupled with the use of wireless transmission, the council will need to use
hub points at various locations where recording of camera images will take
place; these will need to be linked either to an IP circuit using the council LAN
or the BT RS1000d service to enable a ‘trunk’ route to the control room
location to enable viewing and copying.

The Councils IT Team are not confident there will be sufficient bandwidth
between the routes/towns that we may require. Although we have shown the
use of the Council IP network on the schematics, we have also sought prices
from BT for the provision of up to 100 Mbs of bandwidth. Of course, if the
Council IP network already exists and CCTV data/traffic can share the ‘pipe’,
this will be much more cost effective than having to install new links supplied
by BT which will incur on-going annual costs.

In our estimation, if we use the council’s IT networks, we will need the
maximum following bandwidths (if we stream all cameras and don’t record
locally. The actual requirement will be less than this if as intended, NVR’s are
situated close to the cameras and data only ‘requested’ and transmitted when
viewing or downloading takes place.

 Houghton Regis Public Library – 70Mbps
 Leighton Buzzard Public Library (if we can establish LOS between

that and the MSCP) – 30Mbps
 Sandy Public Library – 30Mbps
 Shefford Public Library – 10Mbps

The BT 100 Mbs service costs to link the hub sites will be circa £52,000
capital and £8,000 p.a. revenue costs, but does include the £17,000 capital
and £2,000 revenue to link to the two police stations to enable the
downloading of images by officers investigating offences. These costs are in
addition to those already paid for an analogue service but which we hope to
replace the majority with wireless where there is LOS. Where this LOS is not
possible, even with ‘hops’, we will need to retain the existing fibre optic circuits
which will need to be upgraded to an IP circuit if the council wishes to
embrace HD camera technology.

If the Councils network cannot be used for whatever reason, the BT fibre optic
service of RS1000d (100Mbps) will be used and be connected at the following
sites: -

 Dunstable – Grove Theatre
 Leighton Buzzard – Multi-Storey Car Park
 Houghton Regis – Public Library
 Biggleswade – Street cabinet close to lamppost camera number

526
 Sandy – Public Library

Page 128
Agenda item 11



 Shefford – Public Library

Clearly, if the Council network can be used where this is available close to the
CCTV recording and ‘hub’ points, it will support and complement the use of
the cameras without duplicating transmission paths and capital and revenue
costs.

It is recommended that the Council investigates its network bandwidth
capacity and where, with an agreed Quality of Service (QoS) it is possible to
transmit CCTV images, this network is adopted in preference to purchasing
third party data circuits.

Rec om m end ation 3: P u rc hase of new C C TV C om m and and C ontrol
software/hard ware and NetworkVid eo Rec ord ers

The existing CCTV control software solution is a 7-year old Synectics Control
and Digital Recording Systems installed at Dunstable. The mixture of
Analogue Matrix Switching Digital Recording and Synergy Pro graphical user
‘front end’ (controller interface/GUI) provide the main technical ‘building
blocks’ to the integrated CCTV solution. The systems’ hardware and software
are nearing the end of life; some of the functionality aspects of the Synectics
equipment is no longer supported, such as with some Microsoft products.
The existing Synectics Synergy Pro software is version is no longer produced
and has been superseded by Synergy 3, which continues to be developed
with additional, functionality. It is also important to understand that this
Synectics recording equipment is now End of Life and should it fail, spare
parts may not be available to repair the system.

The Council does not necessarily need to adopt the Synectics software and
recording option with the future upgrade of system. It will be up to the
shortlisted integrators/installers to propose a solution based on the councils’
operational requirements and to propose a software and recording platform
that meets the council’s needs.

We are proposing that the recording of CCTV data from each of the cameras
is carried out remotely in order that images are not sent to the control room if
they are not to be viewed or copied. There will be restrictions due to the
bandwidth capacity on how many simultaneous camera streams can be
transmitted to the control room but in our experience, not all cameras need to
be viewed at the same time; some are used more during daylight hours for
dealing with incidents such as following shoplifting offenders and others
during the hours of darkness which generally might be dealing with public
disorder incidents.

We are also be proposing that where possible, the control room will be fitted
with display wall drivers, which will make it easier for one operator to control
what is displayed on the video wall in front of them and this can be changed
by just one click of the mouse on the Graphic User Interface (GUI).

Page 129
Agenda item 11



We are also proposing to record images for all cameras in ‘real-time’ of 25
images per second (ips). Although the current recording of the PSS CCTV
images on the Council system is retained for 21 days before being
overwritten, due to the guidelines issued in the National CCTV Strategy this
recommends a minimum of 31 days retention. This of course is subject to the
council’s justification that images will be kept no longer than necessary.

Rec om m end ation 4: Enhanc e the C C TV C ontrol Room to provid e
ad d itionalservic es

The upgrade of the PSS CCTV hardware/software, the migration of
transmission from fibre optic cabling to wireless (with the potential ‘add-on’
benefit of public Wi-Fi) and the relocation of the Council CCTV control room
will enable the Council to: -

 Act on better and faster management information
o The proposed upgraded Control Centre managing many

council and stakeholder CCTV systems and coordinating
various responses on behalf of the Council would provide it
with the opportunity to make better, quicker and faster
strategic and tactical decisions by: -

 Creating a more holistic, integrated and simplified view
of the service delivery picture within the Council

 Improving situational awareness leading to actionable
insights and co-ordinated approach

 Placing a range of information at the fingertips of
decision-makers

 Being better able to share knowledge across the
councils’ departments

 Reducing costs for the installation of public Wi-Fi

 Provision and management of a coherent and efficient
organisational and operational unit

o The upgrade of systems and the management of all CCTV
systems will facilitate the co-ordination of resources
(including staff and hard assets)

o Interoperability will increase efficiency
 Peaks in operations (if CareLine is introduced),

complement rather than conflict with each other
enabling resources and systems to be used more
efficiently

 Foster collaboration amongst stakeholders/partners, including the
Bedfordshire Police and neighbouring local authorities

The co-location of other council services to any control room would create the
following opportunities to improve efficiency and effectiveness for the
following categories: -

Page 130
Agenda item 11



Resou rc es Effic ienc y/Effec tiveness

P roperty
 Rationalisation of the property portfolio/space by

consolidating and co-locating operational entities

Tec hnology

Opportunity to:-
 Drive open data standards
 Consolidating corporate and operational technology
 Collaboration through virtual integration
 Efficiency gains by leveraging emerging technology
 Achieve service resilience
 Install ‘FOC’ public Wi-Fi at a fraction of the cost

P eople
 Opportunity to optimally utilise and up-skill the staff

complement

A compilation of the type of service benefit and opportunities the new,
enhanced control room could offer are suggested below.

S ervic e O pportu nities

C ontrol/C C TV
C entre

 Able to obtain geographic Central Bedfordshire Council-
wide Public Space Surveillance CCTV images to make
informed decisions from across the council area;
Dunstable, Leighton Buzzard (& MSCP), Houghton
Regis, Sandy, Biggleswade, Shefford, etc.

 Opportunities for technology development for internal and
external clients, potential income from offender tagging,
GPS tracking and CareLine, 24/7 co-ordination centre,

 Reduced costs for other local authority services (alarm
monitoring)

Traffic
 Opportunity to consider the use of CCTV for Traffic

Enforcement purposes
 Provide traffic information for the end users via various

platforms (RTPI, web, mobile, SMS)
C u stom er
S ervic e

 An enhanced “out of hours” customer service

Environm ent
and L eisu re

 Potential to monitor ‘other’ CBC CCTV systems; Traffic
Depots, Waste Recycling Centres, Leisure Centres,
Libraries

B od y W orn
Vid eo (B W V)

 Potential to monitor live BWV from personnel at Waste
Recycling Centres, Civil Enforcement Officers (CEO’s),
gypsy/traveller enforcement officers, etc.

We believe irrespective of the final choice of CCTV control room,
consideration is made to enhance the provision of services with a 24/7/365
service to maximise potential benefits.

ShopWatch/PubWatch radio system is operated to enable CCTV operators to
be alerted to activities that other radio users think they should focus their
cameras on to surveille. Should it be decided to relocate the CCTV control
room to Priory House, it will be essential to ensure any radio signals currently
used at the Dunstable and Leighton Buzzard can be operated without the loss
of this vital aspect that maximises the use and benefit of PSS CCTV. The

Page 131
Agenda item 11



Council may wish s to adopt a more advanced ShopWatch IP digital radio
system, the costs of about £3,500 are applicable. There will be minor costs
associated with the relocation of the police Airwave radio system.

The Biggleswade ShopWatch system is currently monitored at Stevenage and
this system would need to be integrated into the CBC control system
wherever this is located.

Page 132
Agenda item 11



Central Bedfordshire Council

EXECUTIVE 4 April 2017

Superfast Broadband Extension Project

Report of Cllr Richard Wenham, Deputy Leader and Executive Member for
Corporate Resources, Richard.wenham@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Advising Officers: Jason Longhurst, Director of Regeneration and Business
Jason.longhurst@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

James Cushing, Head of Investment
James.cushing@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

This report relates to a Key Decision

Purpose of this report

1. To support the award of contracts for £3.48m of externally secured
funding and additional funding as secured, to extend superfast
broadband infrastructure across Central Bedfordshire as part of the
Council’s goal to maximise superfast broadband coverage by 2020.

2. To support the Council’s continued engaged with the Central Superfast
Broadband partnership.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Executive is asked to:

1. approve the award of contracts for £3.48m of externally
funded resources, with scope to extend this by up to an
additional £3m, if additional external funding is secured to
extend Superfast broadband coverage as part of the Central
Superfast Partnership covering Central Bedfordshire, Bedford,
Luton and Milton Keynes;

2. approve that the Council continues with the existing priorities
set out through the previous BDUK procurement, through the
procurement process:

 Maximising overall superfast broadband coverage
 Subject to maximising superfast, seek a balance between

residential and business premise coverage and
 Subject to maximising superfast coverage, achieve a

reasonable geographic spread across Central
Bedfordshire

Page 133
Agenda item 12



3. approve a delegation to the Director of Regeneration and
Business, in consultation with the Executive Member for
Corporate Resources to select contractors to deliver superfast
broadband infrastructure based on the Council’s priorities
and the successful completion of the procurement process
and BDUK state aid approval. Furthermore that the Director of
Regeneration and Business, in consultation with the Executive
Member for Corporate Resources may vary the contract/
delivery programme as required during the lifetime of the
contract, including reinvesting savings and efficiencies and
additional external funding secured through the project; and

4. approve the Council’s continued participation with the
existing Central Superfast Broadband Partnership
arrangements, updating the collaboration agreement as
required. Furthermore, that the Executive Member for
Corporate Resources, in consultation with the Director of
Regeneration and Business, approves any proposed changes
to the membership and terms of reference to the partnership.

Overview and Scrutiny Comments/Recommendations

3. The Broadband project has been considered previously by the
Sustainable Communities overview and Scrutiny board on the 27.10.15
and 13.11.14. The Chairman of the Sustainable Communities OSC
was consulted and did consider it necessary to consider the report at
this stage, given previous scrutiny and extension nature of this activity.
Furthermore, the broadband project will report back to the committee
on progress at a later stage.

Issues

4. The Government has a target of 95% of all premises to receive
superfast broadband, defined as speeds of at least 24 megabits per
second (Mbps), by 2017. As part of this the Government set up
Broadband Delivery UK (BDUK) as its delivery arm.

5. BDUK required the Council to form a partnership with other local
authorities to deliver the broadband project. As such, the Council
entered into a formal collaboration agreement with Bedford Borough
and Milton Keynes Councils and Luton Borough Council, and formed a
joint Broadband Partnership, Central Superfast. The Council is the lead
body in the Central Superfast partnership and the accountable body for
the projects. Given that the funding has been awarded by South East
Midlands Local Enterprise Partnership (SEMLEP) and BDUK across
the partnership it is recommended that the Council continues to
engage with the partnership and again is the accountable body for the
project.

Page 134
Agenda item 12



6. The partnership has already contracted with BT to deliver two
broadband projects, which will have supported over 25,000 premises in
Central Bedfordshire and mean that over 97% of premises will have
access to infrastructure enabling them to receive superfast services by
March 2019.

7. The Council has contributed £3.1m over the previous two broadband
projects, securing £3.775m from BDUK as match funding, and
significant further private sector investment from BT.

8. The Council has successfully secured an additional £1.732m for the
Central Superfast Partnership from the South East Midlands Local
Enterprise Partnership Local Growth Fund to extend superfast
broadband coverage and realise the economic benefits (additional
business productivity, access to markets, new business start ups,
employment opportunities and better access to services and
information for residents) such infrastructure enables. Further to this
an additional £1.75m of match funding against the SEMLEP funding
has been secured from BDUK. Of the total of £3.48m external funding
secured, funding Central Bedfordshire can expect £1.39m.

9. In line with BDUK guidance and the new National broadband State Aid
notification 2016, the Council has undertaken an Open Market Review
and State Aid public Consultation. The new State Aid notification now
utilises a minimum speed criteria of 30 Mbps. These processes test
commercial infrastructure providers plans over the next three years to
identify eligible investment areas for public funds, based on the
principle that private networks that provide superfast coverage should
not be overbuilt. These processes have identified a total eligible
intervention area in Central Bedfordshire of 17,802 premises. However,
within this 3,856 premises have been verified as not being able to
access infrastructure than could deliver services of 30 mbps. The
remainder are under review by commercial providers and or providers
do not have records for the premises. These premises could be
brought into scope for public funding in the future if it becomes clear
they will not receive services and if funding is available.

10. The Council will undertake a competitive Official Journal of The
European Union procurement process to award a contract to a private
supplier. As with previous projects this will utilise a ‘Gap Funded model’
to invest the available funds to extend coverage to the identified 3,856
premises in Central Bedfordshire (11,853 across the wider Central
Superfast partnership) that will not be covered by commercial
investment. This will mean that the minimum public subsidy required
will be awarded to the maximum number of available premises and that
the private sector will also invest their funds. This contract will be inline
with BDUK guidance, and will include clauses for ‘gainshare’ such that
high levels of take up of services will result to funding back into the
council to reinvest and extend coverage further where possible.

Page 135
Agenda item 12



Likewise the contract will be project managed to seek delivery
efficiencies, to ensure maximum value for money and possible
reinvestment of such savings to maximise coverage, where practical
and value for money. The state aid process and procurement process
allow for up to an additional £3m to be reinvested through the contract,
subject to securing additional funds, and at no net budget impact to the
Council.

11. In line with previous procurements the Council can set local priorities
within the procurement. It is recommended that the Council continues
with the principles and priorities set out through the previous BDUK
procurement, through the procurement process:

 Maximising overall superfast broadband coverage
 Subject to maximising superfast, seek a balance between

residential and business premise coverage and
 Subject to maximising superfast coverage, achieve a reasonable

geographic spread across central Bedfordshire.

12. This is based on aligning with the Council’s corporate priorities,
supporting the maximum number of residents and businesses with
available resources ensuring that the tender is attractive to private
sector investors.

13. Inline with BDUK guidance, it is currently envisioned that a ‘lot process’
will be undertaken within the procurement process. Subject to the
procurement process, this may result in two separate contracts
covering the Central Superfast area. This is to ensure that the tender
achieves a balance of attractiveness to the market, stimulates
competition, realises best value and is also deliverable and
manageable.

14. In order to comply with BDUK timescales and focus on accelerated
delivery, it is recommended that a delegation is sought to the Director
of Regeneration and Business, in consultation with the Executive
Member for Corporate Resources , to select contractors to deliver the
additional superfast broadband infrastructure based on the above
priorities and the successful completion of the BDUK procurement
process, and vary the contract/ delivery programme as required during
the lifetime of the contract.

Reason/s for decision

15. Extending Superfast Broadband coverage is a priority for the Council,
with significant ongoing resident and business demands for services.
Evidence highlights the considerable economic benefit and return on
investment in high speed digital infrastructure can have on the local
economy in terms of job creation and business growth, in addition to
opportunities for residents.

Page 136
Agenda item 12



16. The new external funding secured, combined with previous projects
and efficiencies secured through these constitute the Council’s
approach to achieving the Local broadband Goal of 100% coverage by
2020.

Council Priorities

17. The rollout of superfast broadband is a priority in the Council’s Medium
Term Plan. The delivery of superfast broadband directly addresses the
Council’s priority of Better Infrastructure – improved roads, broadband
reach and transport and the delivery of the Council’s Joint Broadband
Plan. Additionally, the provision of superfast broadband also
contributes to a range of wider Council objectives including Enhancing
Central Bedfordshire – particularly creating jobs and enabling
businesses to grow. The provision of superfast broadband services will
also support the Council’s priority of Delivering Great Services and
Value for Money, through enabling residents and businesses improved
access to online services.

Corporate Implications

Legal Implications

18. The Council has the power to support broadband deployment under
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011. There are no statutory
requirements for the Council to undertake improved broadband works.
The Council is able to secure a private sector partner and undertake
delivery activities utilising a competitive procurement route complying
with Official Journal of the European Union requirements and a national
BDUK State Aid notification. Council legal, financial and procurement
rules will also be adhered to throughout delivery of the plan. The
Council’s Audit team have been an active partner in the project to
ensure compliance from a Council perspective.

19. A binding collaboration agreement between the Council and other
Local Authorities has been developed to ensure that funding is directed
according to each local authority’s requirements and in line with BDUK
contractual requirements, ensuring a proportionate bearing of risk. This
has been updated inline with project requirements and will continue to
be reviewed over the lifetime of the project.

Financial Implications

20. While no additional funding is being sought for the new contract, and
the full value of the external funding is already considered in the
Medium Term Financial Plan, it is likely there will be the need to
reprofile the existing Council funding allocated to the BDUK 2 project
due to the requirement to utilise SEMELP funding in 2016/17 and any
new revised deployment plans emerging from the procurement.

Page 137
Agenda item 12



The total project value for the broadband project over the three phases
will be £17,943m. Central Bedfordshire funding over the phases is laid
out below.

Table 1: Total Central Bedfordshire Area contracted spend

21. The Approved Capital Programme outlines the profiled future spend on
the Broadband project (covering all Central Superfast partner
authorities, with central Bedfordshire as the Accountable body) totalling
£11.029 gross expenditure and £8.663m of external funding( including
the additional £3.48m of external funding), with total net expenditure of
£2.366m. As noted it is likely that this profile will need to be updated
depending on the outcome of the procurement exercise. Additionally,
through efficiency savings and ‘gainshare’ mechanisms there is likely
to be additional resources arising within the project. The tender and
state aid process include the capacity for an additional £3m of
investment from such sources and external funding if secured, to be
reinvested in extending coverage where this is practical and delivers
value for money.

Table 2: Approved Capital Plan

22. The model utilised is a GAP funding solution, meaning the Council will
not own the asset, but ‘gainshare’ conditions will be included within the
contract to ensure that there is the potential for the Council to benefit
for high levels of take up of services.

23. While no additional Council funds are sought for this project, the
possible letting of two contracts may increase project management
costs. The joint collaboration agreement has in place a requirement to
share such costs and this will be reviewed to minimise the need for
additional resources from the Council. However, depending on this and
the timescales for delivery, following selection of a provider, there may
be a need for ongoing project management support, beyond the £250k
already committed by the Council.

Gross
Expenditure

External
Funding

Net
Expenditure

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000
BDUK phase 1 2,485 1,485 1,000
BDUK Phase 2 4,140 2,290 2,100
BDUK Phase 3 1,386 1,386 0
Total scheme 8,011 5,161 3,100

2017/18 Capital Budget 2018/19 Capital Budget 2019/20 Capital Budget
Gross

Expenditure
£000

External
Funding
£000

Net
Expenditure
£000

Gross
Expenditure
£000

External
Funding
£000

Net
Expenditure
£000

Gross
Expenditure
£000

External
Funding
£000

Net
Expenditure
£000

4,579 (4,491) 88 5,407 (3,519) 1,888 1,043 (653) 390

Page 138
Agenda item 12



Risk Implications

24. The project is subject to procurement and state aid risks. The
compliance with and use of BDUK State Aid framework mitigates
these, with BDUK acting as a national competency centre and
undertaking assurance/checkpoint assessments of the project. The
Council will follow internal procurement procedures to ensure
compliance with legislation and is also utilising BDUK guidance on the
procurement, in line with BDUK assurance processes. Likewise, the
currently envisaged two lot/ contract procurement may increase
contractual complexity and risk. This will be regularly reviewed at the
joint programme board and the joint collaboration agreement will be
updated to reflect any increased risks.

Equalities Implications

25. Central Bedfordshire Council has a statutory duty to promote equality
of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and
victimisation and foster good relations in respect of nine protected
characteristics; age disability, gender reassignment, marriage and
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex
and sexual orientation.

26. No potential beneficiaries from the broadband rollout programme are
excluded on the grounds of their protected characteristics.

27. In developing the Local Broadband Plan consideration of the need to
improve access for all has been a core principle. Analysis of options
for intervention, while meeting state aid guidelines, has included
mapping access to areas of deprivation and found very little
correlations. Likewise through the deployment process the Council
will work with suppliers to ensure that broadband services are
available to the maximum number of people and that access is not
discriminated against in anyway.

Sustainability

28. Delivery of the extended coverage of superfast broadband will
positively impact on a number of sustainability considerations,
including reducing the need to travel (by increasing access to online
services and opportunities for home working) and resulting emission
reductions. Further to this, the provision of superfast broadband will
support economic growth through enabling new business and access
to markets and delivery of jobs growth aspirations for the area, by
supporting growth in existing businesses productivity and ensuring
the area remains attractive to new inward investment.

Page 139
Agenda item 12



Implications for Work Programming

29. The Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny committee will
continue to review the progress of the Broadband projects and are
likely to consider this at a future meeting.

Conclusion and next Steps

30. The Council has already supported over 17,500 premises to receive
superfast broadband services and has an agreed plan in place to take
this figure up to 25,000 by March 2019, enabling 97% coverage.

31. Following securing £3.48m external funding for the Central Superfast
Partnership (of which the Council can expect £1.39m), it is
recommended to award a new contract to a private sector
infrastructure provider to focus on delivering infrastructure to those
premises not able to receive services will allow the Council to continue
to make progress as part of its goal to provide superfast access for all
by 2020 and to realise the significate economic benefits that this will
enable for residents and businesses.

Appendices

32. None

Background Papers

33. The following background papers, not previously available to the
public, were taken into account and are available on the Council’s
website:
None

34. Reports previously considered

Joint Local broadband Plan:
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/Images/Joint%20Local%20Broadband
%20Plan_tcm6-41719.pdf#False

Current BDUK project and rollout plans:
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/broadband

Page 140
Agenda item 12



C entralB ed ford shire C ou nc il

Exec u tive 04 A pril2017

C hild ren's S ervic es Transform ation P rogram m e

Report of Cllr Carole Hegley, Executive Member Social Care and
Housing (carole.hegley@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)

Advising Officer: Sue Harrison, Director of Children’s Services
(sue.harrison@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

This reportrelates to anon Key D ec ision

P u rpose ofthis report

1. To provide an update on the current Children’s Transformation
Programme including key timelines for proposed implementation.

2. To provide Members with an overview of key implications for the broader
council directorates in supporting and implementing the changes
proposed.

REC O M M END A TIO NS :

The Exec u tive is asked to:

1 . c onsid erthe inform ation c ontained in the report; and

2 . c ham pion the C hild ren’ s Transform ation program m e.

O verview and S c ru tiny C om m ents/Rec om m end ations

3. An overview of the Transformation Programme was presented to
Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 15 March 2016.
At the request of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, a further briefing
was arranged for members on 8 July 2016.

B ac kgrou nd

4. Central Bedfordshire is a high performing council and aspires to be
‘outstanding’ across all areas for services to children.

Page 141
Agenda item 13



5. To achieve this goal, the Director of Children’s Services (DCS) has
launched an ambitious Transformation Programme with a focus on
responding to needs earlier in the lives of children and families, reducing
demand on statutory specialist services, getting families back to work,
improving longer term outcomes and raising standards and aspirations for
our children.

6. The Transformation Programme is following an evidence based approach,
using data and system analysis to inform the actions required to achieve the
programmes vision. A variety of analysis was completed in the first phase of
the programme last summer, with the findings and evidence from this
demonstrating the need for a more integrated and targeted approach to
early intervention in Central Bedfordshire (key findings included in Appendix
A).

7. The Transformation Programme is designed to support the Council and
partners to help children and families realise their full potential whilst also
enabling services to be redesigned and recommissioned in the most
effective and efficient way.

The C ase forC hange

8. Through detailed analysis, we have found that the key causal factors
leading to children’s needs escalating come from their parents, particularly
parental drug and alcohol misuse, domestic abuse, parental criminality and
parental mental ill health.

9. We also recognise that children in Central Bedfordshire are not achieving
as well academically as their peers in other similar areas, both at Key Stage
2 and Key Stage 4.

10. Although 89% of our schools are graded as Good or Outstanding by
OFSTED, only 29% (186 children) of our disadvantaged children achieved
the expected standard in Key Stage 2 in Reading Writing and mathematics
last year. This is compared with 57% of all other children in Central
Bedfordshire. This performance is in the lower quartile of performance of all
Councils nationally (142/150).

11. A similar pattern follows at Key Stage 4 where disadvantaged children
under perform compared to their peers by 1.5 grades per GCSE exam. This
performance also places Central Bedfordshire in the lower quartile
nationally (131/149).

12. Traditionally our services and the skills of our workforce have concentrated
on tackling and responding to the issues of children. The findings outlined in
Appendix A demonstrate that a radical re-think of the skill set of our staff,
the interventions that we use to support parental behaviour change and
deeper integration of adult focused services (such as specialist drug and
alcohol services, adult mental health support, housing and police) are
critical changes being pursued as part of the programme.

Page 142
Agenda item 13



13. We are also rethinking how services can be targeted and delivered with a
more local focus to reflect the specific needs that are presented in each
area of the Council.

14. Our Transformation Programme cannot be delivered by the council alone.
The factors driving demand for our services are the same as those for our
partner agencies; these are mainly adult centric.

15. Our ambition is that this becomes a Children’s Transformation Programme
in its broadest sense – to improve the outcomes for children by changing
the whole system; not just Children’s Services.

16. We are committed to delivering a family centric ‘one family, one worker, one
plan’ approach. This approach will empower our staff to be professionally
curious and innovative with their work with children and families.

17. We embrace a strengths based approach to working with families. We will
continue working with families for as long as it takes to overcome the key
challenges in their lives and to build their capacity to effect lasting change.

S ystem Governanc e

18. We have established the Children’s Leadership Board (CLB) to lead this
programme and have council and partner agency system leaders working
alongside us to re-design our locality model. Appendix B includes the
governance structure for the programme.

19. We are working with children and families to test and refine the emerging
thinking from the workstreams.

20. We have worked with key partners to develop the plans for the
Transformation Programme; there has been positive feedback and great
commitment from partners so far.

The Transformation P rogram me

21. We will be integrating our current children’s services offer into five locality teams
from June 2017. This will see the Council’s early help and social care teams
working differently and more embedded in the localities. The five localities are:

 Dunstable
 Houghton Regis
 Leighton Buzzard
 West Mid Beds
 Ivel Valley

In addition, the ambition of the programme is to integrate (at the first opportunity)
more of the council’s broader ‘early help’ services, including strengthening links
with services such as libraries and housing.

Page 143
Agenda item 13



22. The model we will implement will have a ‘one family, one worker, one plan’
approach; with families having a key contact who can provide or coordinate
most of their support. Our support will be focused on building family and
community resilience and capacity, adopting a strengths-based approach and
this includes teams proactively reaching out to develop 3rd sector provision and
building social capital.

23. Workers in these teams will be trained in the core areas that lead to family
breakdown, including domestic abuse and parental mental health with specialist
support increasingly based in these locality teams over time.

P rototype M u ltiA genc y L oc ality M od el

24. The Children’s Services teams will ‘go-live’ in all five areas from June 2017.
The Dunstable locality will be a multi-agency prototype. In practice this will
mean that we will no longer have multiple teams delivering ‘parts’ of early help
across Central Bedfordshire with our teams will be integrated and based in
local areas – this could be in council buildings, or in schools, or with the police.
Further detail about this model is shown in Appendix C.

25. The prototype model in Dunstable has a specific focus on Domestic
Abuse. The demand for support from families affected by Domestic Abuse
remains high and we know that Central Bedfordshire has higher levels of
repeat offenders than Luton and Bedford.

26. Our prototype Dunstable model work over the summer of 2017 includes
two different approaches; a preventative approach and targeted input. The
preventative approach will be multi-agency work with schools to develop
the offer of Personal Social Health Education (PSHE) focusing on
Domestic Abuse. Our targeted approach will be to identify 10-15 families
within the local area where there are concerns about the risk of Domestic
Abuse. Our multi-agency ‘one family, one worker, one plan’ strategy will
provide intensive support to the children, families and perpetrators.

27. Both the approaches within the prototype model will be thoroughly evaluated to
inform how our developing model could be rolled out across other localities and
sustained within the Transformation Programme.

Reasons forD ec ision

28. Members of the Executive are asked to fully support the
Transformation programme to deliver whole system, whole Council
approach to improving outcomes for children and families.

Page 144
Agenda item 13



C ou nc ilP riorities

29. The Transformation Programme will contribute to all the Councils key
priorities:

 Enhancing Central Bedfordshire
 Great Resident Services
 Improving Education and Skills
 Protecting the Vulnerable; Improving Wellbeing
 Creating Stronger Communities
 A More Efficient and Responsive Council

L egalIm plic ations

30. The Transformation Programme will support the Council to provide its
statutory duties relating to safeguarding children.

Financ ialand RiskIm plic ations

31. The Transformation Programme is the vehicle by which Children’s
Services efficiencies, as detailed in the medium term Financial Plan
will be delivered. Should the plan not be successful, there is a risk
that the efficiencies will not be met.

32. The detailed service models that will be needed to fully implement the
programme are being costed based on the multi-agency footprints across
the Central Bedfordshire Council area.

Equ alities Im plic ations

33. An Equality Impact Assessment is being developed with the Corporate
Policy Advisor (Equality & Diversity) to consider the impact of the
Transformation Programme on all children and families. The EIA will be
presented to the CLB.

RiskM anagem ent

34. The CLB are leading the implementation of the programme and consider all
risks.

35. The demand management approach for services to children and families will
be carefully monitored to ensure that we continue to keep children safe.

C onc lu sion and NextS teps

36. The transformation programme is on track to deliver the integration of
our internal Childrens Services early help and social care teams from
June 2017.

Page 145
Agenda item 13



To make the progress necessary to meet the ambitions of the
programme, including raising school standards, improving outcomes
for our vulnerable groups and meeting the challenges of our MTFP will
require a step change in the make-up and scale of the integrated
teams.

37. Securing partner commitment to providing staff and resources is vital
to the longer term sustainability of our model. The positive
commitment from partner agencies to co-construct the model to date
has demonstrated that this is achievable

38. Further updates will be provided to Children’s Services Overview and
Scrutiny Committee and the Executive about the programme at
appropriate key milestones.

A ppend ic es
The following appendices are attached:-

A ppend ix A –key find ings from initialresearc h/analysis

A ppend ix B –Governanc e stru c tu re forthe Transform ation P rogram m e

A ppend ix C -P roposed m od elofL oc ality based working

Page 146
Agenda item 13



A ppend ix A –Key find ings from phase 1 ofTransform ation

1. The first stage of the Transformation Programme was to fully understand
the current demand for services, and the current system wide approach to
supporting children and families. Below are some of the key findings from
this analysis:
a. The Council has consistently reduced demand for Children in Need

(12% reduction) and Child Protection (44% reduction) plans over the
last 4 years despite an under 18 population growth of 3%

b. Reduced the number of Looked After Children (LAC) by 6% despite a
12% national increase and a 5% under 18 population growth (2010-
2015)

c. Our overall prevention spend across the wider council is still strong
but it lacks a common aim and purpose and needs re-focusing

d. We are not utilising our spend appropriately on the core issues in
families – for example the % of Council budget spent on tackling
domestic abuse

e. Domestic abuse, criminality, substance misuse and parental
engagement are key issues we need to tackle in more targeted ways

f. There are key cohorts that are driving demand and we need to target
these more – particularly 0-1 and 14+ young people

g. Our reviews of 25% of LAC cases demonstrate there are opportunities
to prevent children becoming looked after. However, to do so requires
deeper integration and targeting of our offer

h. A relatively high number of our social work assessments aren’t
necessary and we need to improve feedback across the system

i. Our new Early Help approach is having an impact (as evidenced
through our overall demand reductions) but partners are still confused
about pathways

j. There is evidence this is leading to inappropriate demand, some of
which we can tackle

k. Our analysis has shown there remains confusion at times about the
early help offer in localities and that there can still be multiple services
involved around families experiencing some kind of crisis – with families
telling us they cannot engage with so many services all at once.

Page 147
Agenda item 13



A ppend ix B –Transform ation program m e governanc e

Children’s Leadership Board

CSMT
Partnership
Vision for
Education

Board

Support and
Aspiration

Board

P rojec t1 Integrated L oc ality W orking

Team Lead Gerard Jones and Celia Shohet

Oversees the
Work Stream Leads Group

&
Work Stream Officers Group

Workforce
Development

Service Development &
Design

Commissioning and
Performance

Infrastructure and
Systems

Service
Development &
Design

Nine School
Clusters

Children’s Services
Staff Board

Heads of
Service

Children’s Services
Key Officer Group

Activity and Engagement

Page 148
Agenda item 13



A ppend ix C -P roposed m od elofL oc ality based working

2. An overview of the proposed locality based model is shown below. This demonstrates the core teams based in localities
that will be further complemented by statutory services and partners as the model develops.

P
age 149

A
genda item

 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Central Bedfordshire Council

EXECUTIVE 4 April 2017

Commissioning of New School Places in Barton-Le-Clay and
Marston Moretaine for September 2018

Report of: Cllr Steve Dixon, Executive Member for Education and Skills
(steven.dixon@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)

Advising Officer: Sue Harrison, Director of Children’s Services
(sue.harrison@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)

This report relates to a Key Decision

Purpose of this report

1. To provide the Executive with the outcome of the consultation
undertaken by the Governors of Arnold Academy Trust, Barton Le Clay
and the outcome of the official Council proposal published for Church
End Lower School (Forest End campus), Marston Moretaine, regarding
the proposal to expand each school by 1 form of entry (30 places in
each school year group) by September 2018.

2. To seek the Executive’s approval of each proposal to expand, subject
in respect of Arnold Academy Trust to approval also by the Department
for Education (DfE), and for the Council’s commitment to required
capital expenditure.

3. The schools referred to within the report serve the Wards of Marston
Moretaine and Barton Le Clay.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Executive is asked to:

1. note the responses received to the consultation by the
Governors of Arnold Academy Trust, Barton Le Clay and the
Council’s official proposal published for Church End Lower
School, Marston Moretaine, each to expand by 1 form of
entry (30 places in each school year group) by September
2018; and

Page 151
Agenda item 14



2. approve the commencement of capital expenditure as set
out in the report, subject in respect of Arnold Academy Trust
to the approval of the proposal by the Department of
Education, and subject to the granting of planning
permissions under Part 3 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990.

Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny

4. A report was presented to Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny
Committee at its meeting on 22 November 2016 and the Committee
indicated its support for the proposals outlined in this report and for the
commencement of the recommended consultations, the outcomes of
which are set out within this report.

Pupil Place Planning for Lower and Middle School places in Marston
Moretaine and Barton Le Clay

5. On 6 December 2016 the Council’s Executive approved the
recommendation of the report to support a consultation by the
Governors of Arnold Academy Trust, Barton Le Clay and the
publication of an official proposal (statutory notice) for Church End
Lower School, Marston Moretaine, each to expand by one 1 form of
entry (30 places in each school year group) by September 2018.

The December report can be viewed as Agenda Item 10 at:

http://centralbeds.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=577&M
Id=5134&Ver=4

6. The proposals were made with the support of the Council and its need
to commission new school places as a result of the 2016/17
demographic forecasts for the Council’s School Place Planning
pyramid area covering Barton Le Clay and Marston Moretaine and the
surrounding area. The forecasts confirmed up to a sustained 1 form
entry (30 places per year group) deficit in Middle School provision in
Barton Le Clay by 2017/18 and a forecast deficit of up to 1 form of
entry (30 places per year group) lower school places in Marston
Moretaine in 2018/19 with pressure building again for school places in
September 2020.

7. With the support of the Council the consultation for Arnold Academy
commenced on 4 January and closed on 1 February. The official
proposal (statutory notice) for Church End Lower School was published
on 5 January and closed on 2 February. The consultations included a
public meeting at Arnold Academy on the 19 January 2017 and a
public meeting at Church End Lower (Forest End) on the 18 January
2017. The consultations were undertaken to comply with DfE guidance
published for making prescribed alterations to LA Maintained Schools
and for Academies wishing to make significant changes.

Page 152
Agenda item 14



8. A summary of the consultation responses received by Arnold Academy
Trust and support from the governing body for the expansion are
attached in Appendix A to this report.

9. Issues arising through the consultation have been reflected upon in the
summary provided by Arnold Academy Trust within Appendix A. A total
of 86 responses were received to the consultation with 67 responders
in support of the expansion.

10. Arnold Academy has agreed through the request of the authority to
temporarily admit pupils over its planned admission number in 2017 in
Year 5 to meet a local demographic need. The school has supported
the council’s principles to provide additional school places at a local
popular and successful school.

11. The consultation materials and a summary of responses received by
the Council for Church End Lower School are attached in Appendix B
to this report.

12. Issues arising through the consultation have been reflected upon in the
summary report within Appendix B. A total of 28 responses were
received to the consultation with nearly 68% in support of the proposal.

13. Where concerns were raised in response to each proposal these
related to the potential highways implications, size of the school,
consideration for additional places at Middle and Upper schools and
lower school places available at other local schools. Concerns were
also raised by the Parish Council on parking and congestion and
places available in neighbouring schools.

14. Each proposal has been subject of feasibility studies and early
engagement with the Council’s planning and highways officers to
inform further design work to ensure that the required expansion on
each site can be implemented following the necessary submission and
approval of planning applications with mitigating measures agreed
where necessary.

15. The planning applications will be subject of separate consultations with
the local community and will be informed by reviews of each school’s
travel plans to reflect the increased intake to each site and the need to
ensure a continued focus on the promotion of the use of sustainable
modes of transport to school, recognising the potential for increased
traffic movement at peak times around school sites.

16. The Forest End site of Church End Lower School is currently a 1 form
entry school and has been future proofed to enable it to expand to be a
2 form entry school.

Page 153
Agenda item 14



Additional land has been secured through s106 for the expansion and
will be secured as part of this proposed expansion. A 2 form entry
school will enable the school to provide a broader curriculum, offer staff
opportunities for development and is financially more sustainable.

17. Church End Lower School (Forest End) is in the greatest area of need
and the proposed expansion supports the Councils policy principle of
local schools for local children. The forecast need exceeds the forecast
available places and where other schools currently have places it is not
forecast to be sufficient to meet all the projected need.

18. The Council’s School Organisation Plan is reviewed and updated on an
annual basis and provides a five year projection. The need for further
expansion of lower and middle school places to be provided from
September 2018/19 is the result of significant further demographic
growth in Barton Le Clay and its surrounding areas and Marston
Moretaine that was not evident in the forecasts that justified the
Council’s 2016 commissions but has now been confirmed by the latest
demographic forecasts and school admission data.

19. It is highly likely that further significant new housing developments in
the school planning areas, planned or proposed beyond the current five
year forecast period, will increase the likely need for further new school
places to be provided. The Council will continue to ensure that all
opportunities are taken to seek sites for new build and expansions of
existing school buildings within such developments.

20. In order to support expansions commissioned by the Council, the
senior leadership teams of Schools and Academies can apply for
additional revenue support for related costs funded through the
Dedicated School Grant Growth Fund established by the Schools
Forum.

21. The business case that Arnold Academy Trust has prepared is
attached at Appendix C and articulates how the proposal is aligned
with the Council’s Policy Principles on Pupil Place Planning in Schools.

22. Arnold Academy Trust has considered the outcome of its consultation
and has agreed that it wishes to proceed with the proposal. As a result,
a significant change application will be submitted by the Trust to the
Department for Education’s Education Funding Agency to secure
approval for the expansion of the Academy. The Trust has also
continued to work with the Council in developing the design proposals
for the new facilities required if the expansion is approved.

23. The business case for Church End Lower School has also been
prepared by the school and is attached at Appendix D and articulates
how the proposal is aligned with the Council’s Policy Principles on
Pupil Place Planning in Schools.

Page 154
Agenda item 14



Design and Procurement of the New Provision

24. Working with their appointed education capital consultant and with
support from the Council, Arnold Academy Trust has commissioned
design studies for the school’s expansion. These have referenced
Building Bulletin 103 which provides area guidelines for mainstream
schools.

25. The resulting cost estimates have indicated that the project is
affordable within the total capital budget established by the Council.
The Academy intend with the support of the Council, to directly procure
the project. This will follow a procurement exercise which will be
undertaken when planning approval has been secured, if the Executive
approves the recommendations contained within this report.

26. The governance of the project will be provided through a board that will
include Council officers from the School Organisation & Capital
Planning Team who will control the release of capital funding aligned
with the achievement of key project milestones.

27. The Council’s Asset Team will procure the capital works required for
the expansion of Church End Lower School and will utilise the full
procurement options to enable the delivery of a new school facility.

Reasons for Decision

28. The consultation undertaken by the Governors on the proposal to
expand Arnold Academy Trust has complied with DfE Guidance for
making significant changes to an existing Academy, published in March
2016.

29. The consultation undertaken by the Council on the proposal to expand
Church End Lower School has complied with the April 2016 DfE
Guidance for making prescribed alterations to LA maintained Schools.

30. The proposals support the Council’s Policy Principle of investment in
successful schools. Church End Lower School (November 2016) and
Arnold Academy (December 2013) are both rated Good by Ofsted.

31. As set out in detail in the December report to the Council’s Executive,
the completion of the proposed projects outlined within this report will
ensure that the Council continues to meet its statutory obligations to
secure sufficient school places for children in the surrounding areas of
Barton Le Clay and Marston Moretaine.

32. Each school has submitted a business case which has been evaluated
by Council officers and is provided at Appendices C and D attached to
this report. The proposals comply with the Council’s Policy Principles
for Pupil Place Planning in Schools.

Page 155
Agenda item 14



33. Ward Councillors have received briefings on the Council’s forecasts of
demographic growth and the need to plan for additional school places
in both the school planning areas and are supportive of both proposals.

Council Priorities

34. The report supports Central Bedfordshire’s Five Year Plan 2015- 2020
and the specific priority of Improving Education and Skills.

Legal Implications

35. Section 14 of the Education Act 1996 places a duty on Councils to
secure sufficient primary and secondary school places to provide
appropriate education for pupils in its area. S14A of the Education Act
1996 imposes a duty to consider representations about the exercise by
local authorities of their functions from the parents of qualifying children
in relation to the provision of primary and secondary education.
Qualifying children include all those of compulsory school age or under.

36. The Education and Inspections Act 2006 gives Councils a strategic role
as commissioners, of school places and includes duties to consider
parental representation, diversity and choice, duties in relation to high
standards and the fulfilment of every child’s educational potential and
fair access to educational opportunity.

37. The main legislation governing school organisation is found in sections
6A-32 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006, The School
Organisation (Establishment and Discontinuance of Schools)
Regulations 2013 and the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations
to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2013.

38. Department for Education Guidance for proposers and decision makers
regarding school organisation in maintained schools was published in
April 2016 to support the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations
to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2013.

39. This guidance can be viewed at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-organisation-
maintained-schools

40. The guidance for prescribed alterations, published by the Department
for Education (DfE) in April 2016, requires local authorities to undertake
a statutory process for proposed expansions of maintained schools that
meet a specified threshold. Although the requirement for a 2 stage
consultation process has been removed (ie both pre statutory and
statutory) the DfE expects that the local authority will consult interested
parties to develop the statutory proposal prior to publication.

Page 156
Agenda item 14



41. The local authority is expected to ensure that there is effective
consultation with parents and other interested parties to gauge demand
for the proposed change, and provide consultees with sufficient
opportunity to give their views.

42. The Council will need to ensure that the new accommodation is
suitable and the necessary capital funding and planning permission
have been secured before the expansion can be implemented.

43. Department for Education (DFE) Guidance for Academies wishing to
make significant changes, including enlargement of their premises, was
published in March 2016.

44. The Guidance can be viewed at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/making-significant-
changes-to-an-existing-academy

45. Academy Trusts are required to exercise their own judgments in
deciding whether a change is significant, although it is anticipated that
the proposals set out in this report for Arnold Academy would come
within the definition of ‘fast track significant change’ as set out by 2016
DfE Guidance.

46. The process is overseen by the Education Funding Agency on behalf
of the DfE and requires an academy to undertake consultation, to
obtain consent of the Secretary of State and to secure any capital
required by the proposal before implementation.

47. The business case submitted to the Education Funding Agency by an
academy must be rigorous enough for a decision to be made on
whether the change is necessary. Details of minimum content are set
out in the 2016 DfE Guidance.

48. In both cases there are statutory and processes for consultation and
applications which, if the proposals are agreed, must be followed to
ensure the proposals can be implemented when required.

Financial and Risk Implications

49. The New School Places Programme is funded by developer
contributions and Basic Need grant income from the Department for
Education (DfE) and on current planning assumptions the programme
2016/17 to 2019/20 is gross expenditure of £18.2M (£4.0M net) in
16/17, £25M (net nil) in 2017/18, £17.2M (net nil) in 2018/19 and £15M
(£3.4M net) in 2019/20.

50. At the time of writing this report the DfE have not announced the
allocation of Basic Need grant for 2019/20. The announcement is
expected in spring 2017 at the earliest so the forecast net contribution
in that year could be revised significantly.

Page 157
Agenda item 14



51. The additional middle school places at Arnold Academy will receive a
total of £451,530 from s106 developer contributions. The expansion at
Church End has already received all the allocated developer
contributions from phase 1 of the expansion. The combined
expenditure envisaged in the report is £4m and this is contained within
the current approved NSP capital allocation.

52. The Council’s rolling five year new school places programme is
dynamic with perpetual changes in forecasts of income and
expenditure across financial years including those arising from
variances in S106 totals and trigger points and in the timing and
therefore cost profile of many projects.

53. Given the volatility in forecasts of S106 income the School
Organisation and Capital Planning Team meet each quarter with the
S106 Monitoring Officer and the outcome of these reviews and the
impact on established forecasts within the MTFP will be reported
through the Council’s capital monitoring report.

54. All new school and expansion projects are briefed to provide buildings
that are designed in line with DfE area guidelines for mainstream
schools but are subjected to value engineering with resulting final
construction costs at or below the national benchmarked average for
new school places.

55. The Council will continue to ensure that all opportunities are taken to
increase income and to seek alternative funding sources for new build
and expansions of existing school buildings.

56. The day to day running costs of school provision is met through
revenue funding which is made available to each school as part of the
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) and is based primarily on the numbers
of pupils attending and will increase accordingly in an expanded
school.

57. Where necessary and where Schools and Academies are undertaking
significant expansion on commission from the Council additional
revenue support for relevant costs can be accessed on application
through the DSG funded Growth Fund established by the Schools
Forum.

58. Capital expenditure within the New School Places Programme is
subject to the Council’s Code of Financial Governance. Expenditure to
commission feasibility studies and design work required for projects
within this rolling programme has been approved by the Executive
Member for Education and Skills, in consultation with the Director of
Children’s Services as required by the Council’s Constitution.

Page 158
Agenda item 14



Equalities Implications

59. The consultation and decision making process set out in regulation
for proposals to maintained schools and academies requires an
evaluation on a project by project basis of any equalities and human
rights issues that might arise.

60. Central Bedfordshire Council has a statutory duty to promote equality
of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and
victimisation and foster good relations in respect of nine protected
characteristics; age disability, gender reassignment, marriage and
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex
and sexual orientation.

61. This statutory duty includes requirements to:-

I. Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by people due to
their protected characteristics.

II. Take steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups
where these are different from the needs of other people.

III. Encourage people from protected groups to participate in
public life or in other activities where their participation is
disproportionately low.

62. The proposed consultations are not envisaged to have an adverse
impact on any of the listed groups below:-

I. Sex N/A
II. Gender Reassignment N/A

III. Age Lower and Middle aged pupils will
have access to sufficient school
places

IV. Disability N/A
V. Race & Ethnicity N/A

VI. Sexual Orientation N/A
VII. Religion or Belief (or No Belief) N/A

VIII. Pregnancy & Maternity N/A
IX. Human Rights N/A
X. Other Groups (rural isolation etc) N/A

Risk Management

63. The proposal set out in this report has been developed and evaluated
against the key criteria for decision makers that are outlined in
guidance. Likewise the proposal has followed the procedures set out
in regulation. This mitigates the risk on the Council of failing to
comply with the relevant statutory requirements.

Page 159
Agenda item 14



64. The key risks mitigated by the process that has been followed
include:

I. Failure to discharge legal and statutory duties/guidance.
II. Failure to deliver the Council's strategic priorities.

III. Reputational risks associated with the non delivery of required
school places.

65. If approved, the Council and the Governing Body and Trustees of the
schools will develop and implement change management plans that
will include risk assessment and management criteria to ensure the
effective delivery of the objectives set out in the proposal document.

Conclusion and Next Steps

66. Subject to approval by the Council’s Executive, Arnold Academy will
expand by 1 form of entry for September 2018. The expansion is also
subject to the approval by the Department of Education and to the
granting of planning permission under Part 3 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990. There will be a further town and country planning
public consultation.

67. Church End Lower if approved will also be subject to the granting of
planning permission under Part 3 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990.

Appendices

The following appendices are attached:

Appendix A –Summary of responses - Arnold Academy Trust

Appendix B – Consultation materials and summary of responses - Church
End Lower School

Appendix C – Business Case - Arnold Academy Trust

Appendix D – Business Case – Church End Lower School

Page 160
Agenda item 14



ARNOLD ACADEMY
Hexton Road, Barton-le-Clay, Bedford, MK45 4JZ Tel: 01582 616400 Fax: 01582 616400

Email: admin@arnoldacademy.org.uk Website: www.arnoldacademy.org.uk

Headteacher: Steve Kelly

A company limited by guarantee. Registered in England and Wales No. 7670723

‘The best we can be in all that we do’

Appendix A

24th February 2017

Sue Barrow
Information Officer
School Organisation, Admissions and Capital Planning, Children's Services
Central Bedfordshire Council
Watling House
High Street North
Dunstable
Bedfordshire
LU6 1LF

Dear Sue

I am writing to inform you that Arnold Academy’s governing body has completed the consultation
process for the proposed expansion of the Academy. The governing body consulted parents and
staff between 4th January and 1st February 2017 and held a drop-in evening for interested parties on
19th January 2017.

A total number of 86 responses were received, 67 were in favour. The main concerns raised were
around traffic congestion, parking and road safety and also the possible disruption to the pupils during
the school day whilst building work is taking place. The governing body will address these by working
with the local authority with regards to traffic flow and new road safety measures; creating additional
parking provision as part of the overall development plan and by minimising the amount of building
work scheduled during term time.

After consideration of the responses received the governing body considered the proposal at their
meeting on 6th February 2017 and unanimously agreed to support the expansion

Yours sincerely

Owen Flack
Chair of Governors

Page 161
Agenda item 14



This page is intentionally left blank



Frequency Percent Valid Percent

5 17.9 17.9

7 25.0 25.0

2 7.1 7.1

10 35.7 35.7

4 14.3 14.3

28 100.0 100.0

Other

Total

Church End Lower School - responses to statutory proposal for expansion
Statutory notice published 05/01/17 to 02/02/17

Q1 Are you a:

Parent or carer of child at a Church End Lower School

School employee of Church End Lower School

School governor of Church End Lower School

Resident of Marston Moretaine

0.0 10.020.0 30.0 40.0 50.060.0 70.0 80.0 90.0100.0

Parent or carer of child at a Church End

Lower School

School employee of Church End Lower School

School governor of Church End Lower School

Resident of Marston Moretaine

Other

Valid %

Q1 Are you a:

P
age 163

A
genda item

 14



Frequency Percent Valid Percent

19 67.9 70.4

8 28.6 29.6

27 96.4 100.0

Missing 1 3.6

Total 28 100.0

No. of responses Percent Valid Percent

7 25.0 31.8

6 21.4 27.3

4 14.3 18.2

3 10.7 13.6

2 7.1 9.1

4 14.3 18.2

22 78.6 100.0

Missing 6 21.4

Total 28 100.0

Beneficial to the education

Keen to remain at Church End Lower

Other or unclassified responses

Total No. of respondents

Q4 Are there any comments you would like to make about this proposal?  Analysis of 

repeat themes

Support

Do not support

Total

Local parking/road concerns

Fill existing schools first

Expansion is needed for  a growing village 

Q3 Do you support the proposal to expand Church End Lower School in order to 

provide the additional lower school places required in Marston Moretaine?

0.0 10.0 20.0 30.0 40.0 50.0 60.0 70.0 80.0 90.0 100.0

Support

Do not support

Valid %

Q3 Do you support the proposal to expand Church End 

Lower School...?

P
age 164

A
genda item

 14



Frequency Percent Valid Percent

6 21.4 24.0

19 67.9 76.0

25 89.3 100.0

3 10.7

28 100.0

Q5 Are you male or female?

Male

Female

Total

Missing

Total

0.0 10.0 20.0 30.0 40.0 50.0 60.0 70.0 80.0 90.0 100.0

Local parking/road concerns

Expansion is needed for  a growing village

Fill existing schools first

Beneficial to the education

 of the children

Keen to remain at Church End Lower

Other or unclassified responses

Valid %

Q4 Are there any comments you would like to make 

about this proposal?

P
age 165

A
genda item

 14



Frequency Percent Valid Percent

0 0.0 0.0

0 0.0 0.0

4 14.3 16.0

10 35.7 40.0

8 28.6 32.0

0 0.0 0.0

3 10.7 12.0

0 0.0 0.0

25 89.3 100.0

3 10.7

28 100.0

Total

Missing

Total

30 - 44 yrs

45 - 59 yrs

60-65 yrs

65- 74 yrs

75+

Q6 What is your age?

Under 16 years

16-19 years

20 - 29 yrs

0.0 10.0 20.0 30.0 40.0 50.0 60.0 70.0 80.0 90.0 100.0

Male

Female

Valid %

Q5 Are you male or female?

P
age 166

A
genda item

 14



Frequency Percent Valid Percent

1 3.6 4.2

23 82.1 95.8

24 85.7 100.0

4 14.3

28 100.0

No

Total

Missing

Total

Q7 Do you consider yourself to be disabled? Under the Equality Act 2010 a person is 

considered to have a disability if he/she has a physical or mental impairment which has 

a sustained and long-term adverse effect on his/her ability to carry out normal day to 

day activities.

Yes

0.0 10.0 20.0 30.0 40.0 50.0 60.0 70.0 80.0 90.0 100.0

Under 16 years

16-19 years

20 - 29 yrs

30 - 44 yrs

45 - 59 yrs

60-65 yrs

65- 74 yrs

75+

Valid %

Q6 What is your age?

P
age 167

A
genda item

 14



Frequency Percent Valid Percent

22 78.6 88.0

1 3.6 4.0

1 3.6 4.0

0 0.0 0.0

1 3.6 4.0

25 89.3 100.0

3 10.7

28 100.0

Total

Missing

Total

White British

Black or Black British

Asian or Asian British

Mixed

Other ethnic group

Q8 To which of these ethnic groups do you consider you belong?

0.0 10.0 20.0 30.0 40.0 50.0 60.0 70.0 80.0 90.0 100.0

Yes

No

Valid %

Q7 Do you consider yourself to be disabled?

P
age 168

A
genda item

 14



0.0 10.0 20.0 30.0 40.0 50.0 60.0 70.0 80.0 90.0 100.0

White British

Black or Black British

Asian or Asian British

Mixed

Other ethnic group

Valid %

Q8 To which of these ethnic groups do you consider 

you belong?

P
age 169

A
genda item

 14



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C:

Business Case for proposed school and academy expansion for September
2018 implementation.

ARNOLD ACADEMY

1 The need to provide local schools for local children, ensuring a sense of
community belonging and also promoting sustainable modes of travel.

A school serving the local community has existed on the Academy site since
1958. Arnold Middle School became Arnold Academy in July 2011. Since then
its pupil numbers have risen year on year and now stand at 596, just 4 places
below the current published admission number of 600. Arnold Academy provides
education for children aged 9-13, breakfast club and numerous after school
activities. The pupils transfer from the feeder lower schools in Barton and the
surrounding villages. Central Bedfordshire Council contract with the local bus
companies to provide the transport service from and back to the surrounding
villages. Arnold Academy regularly reviews its Travel Plan Policy in conjunction
with this. In addition, as part of this project, the Academy has committed to
working closely with CBC Highways in order to refresh and renew a number of
traffic calming and parking relief measures. Local children are encouraged to
walk to school. A bus escort, at the expense of the Academy is provided in order
to ensure that fewer pupils feel the need to come to school by car.

Arnold Academy has already agreed to admit up to a further 30 Year 5 children in
September 2017, without increasing its PAN. On completion of the building
expansion, a further 30 children per year will be admitted, rising to a maximum of
720 by 2020, to meet the needs of the local demographic. The Academy site
currently provides a venue for a wide range of extra-curricular clubs, activities
and events both after school and during school holidays. Arnold supports and
participates in the local events such as the Christmas Tree Festival, Carol
Service, Parish Council Activity Days, Summer Festival, encouraging community
belonging. It also supports and participates in events organised for the children
and parents of the other 12 schools within the pyramid. The proposed expansion
is an exciting opportunity to develop community cohesion and foster a coherent
community identity.

2 The need to create schools that are of sufficient size to be financially and
educationally viable.

The financial viability of the academy has been confirmed by Central
Bedfordshire Council Finance Department.

Independently audited accounts are submitted to the Education Funding Agency
annually, which include a statement from the trustees and assurance from the
Auditor that Arnold Academy continues to be a viable going concern. Budget
forecasts are submitted in July each year, establishing that the Academy has
considered its income and expenditure and can continue to operate in surplus.
The effects of increased pupil numbers, income and expenditure were examined
on the longer term budget forecast before the Trust agreed to proceed with the
proposed expansion. More detailed evidence of this will be submitted to the
E.F.A. when permission is sought to proceed.

Page 171
Agenda item 14



Arnold Academy has seen significant financial and educational benefits as it has
evolved from a maintained school to a fully funded foundation school and then
successfully navigating the conversion to Academy Trust status. Pupil numbers
have consistently increased during this period of change. Strong, experienced
leadership, committed Governors and staff have created a successful and
efficient organisation that is well placed to take advantage of further expansion
for the benefit of its current and future pupils.

Providing the ideal 6 forms of entry (720 pupils) in terms of recommended middle
school size, enhances the Academy’s ability to achieve further economies of
scale, particularly when negotiating contracts based on roll numbers. The
Academy is committed to its broad curricular offer whilst maintaining the ethos
and values appropriate for KS2 and KS3. It actively seeks to employ and retain
sufficiently qualified staff to deliver this. Staff and Governors are attracted by the
success, ambition and resolute determination of the Academy to improve the
quality of education and whole school experience of the children and further the
benefits of collaborative arrangements with the other schools in the HAST
pyramid.

3 The ability to support the expansion of local popular and successful schools or to
link expanding schools with popular and successful schools.

Arnold Academy, a single academy trust is also a member of the Harlington Area
Schools Trust (HAST), consisting of one upper school, two middle schools and
ten lower schools. All the schools in the pyramid have ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’
Ofsted ratings. The pyramid has been working collaboratively for a number of
years at all levels.

Arnold Academy’s most recent KS2 results were amongst the highest in the
County. Pupils leave Arnold in Year 8 at a consistently higher than expected level
and go on to achieve better GCSE levels than their peers. Arnold will continue to
strive to improve standards and results in value added achievement, at primary
and secondary key stages, based on its already proven sound educational plan
and vision.

A full breakdown of data is available on request.

4 The potential to further promote and support robust partnerships and learning
communities

As one of 13 schools in HAST, the Academy is aware that the education ‘offer’ is
significantly superior due to inter-school effective collaboration. Arnold’s capacity
for self-improvement, recruitment, training and retention of highly effective staff
has been enhanced by the support systems in place. It provides for a seamless
education with common goals throughout the pyramid to age 18.

Arnold is fully committed to maintaining the partnership, its staff meeting regularly
at a variety of levels from Trust Directors to Subject Liaison. Currently the HAST
Board is investigating formalising the relationship by becoming a Multi Academy
Trust. There is an excellent track record of supporting schools in the pyramid
through the sharing of both support and teaching staff to fill temporary gaps,
through shared training, collaboration of ideas and shared future planning by
attending the HAST conference. Our headteacher has been nominated as the
cluster representative on the local authority Partnership Vision Board.

Page 172
Agenda item 14



From a financial, business and administrative perspective, the Business
Managers from each of the schools meet termly to collaborate, share best
practice, resources, benchmark costs, identify savings and economies of scale,
thereby contributing to efficiency and increasing the money available for the
learning community.

5 The ambition to achieve a single phase of education 0 -19 and reduce school
transfer points

Arnold Academy commences its transition planning early in the school year. The
KS2 Leader works in collaboration with all the feeder lower schools to establish
visits and pre-transfer days for children to visit Arnold and for Arnold staff and
children to visit the pupils who will be moving to the Academy. Early information
evenings and visits for Year 8 pupils moving to Harlington Upper School are also
embedded in the HAST diary. SENCo's meet and take children to their
destination schools to spend time and familiarise themselves with their new
environments and teaching staff. Similar arrangement are in place for the ASD
Provision at Arnold.
Arnold Academy has received outstanding feedback from parental surveys in
regard to the transition arrangements. The alignment of curriculum, policies,
assessment, values and ethos through the pyramid eases the path of change for
all pupils in the transition process. This will be further enhanced as the pyramid
moves toward forming a multi academy trust.

6 The need to support the Raising of the Participation Age (RPA).

Arnold Academy aims to provide all children with a lifelong love of learning. Staff
have very high expectations and children are encouraged to achieve their very
best. Outcomes are very good at all key points, KS2 and Year 8.

The Academy believes that achieving at a consistently high level will have a
positive impact on the aspirations of children for their future learning. An exciting
rich curriculum provides many opportunities for this. The Options curriculum
offers a variety of additional subjects for the children to try outside of the normal
lessons studied, providing a broader and enhanced experience, giving them the
confidence to explore other subjects in the future.

A number of foreign, team building and residential trips arranged by Arnold and
other cross-phase events in sport, music, maths and drama strive to ensure the
children have an exceptional experience to take with them to the next stage of
their education and beyond.

7 To seek opportunities to create inspirational learning environments for the school
and to maximise community use.

Arnold Academy has a range of buildings and works hard to maximise the
benefits of them, irrespective of their age and design. The Academy employs its
own Site Manager, Caretaker and cleaning team and has a preventative
programme of maintenance and development to ensure the best value for money
is gained from the facilities available. There are dedicated facilities for art, design
& technology, drama, science, music and physical education, used by pupils and
wherever possible, the community.

Expansion will enable the Academy to maximise its current facility use for sports,
extra-curricular activities and local events. The aim is to improve and provide
additional inspirational learning environments, for example the relocation of the
library with inside and outside learning space.

Page 173
Agenda item 14



To promote physical and mental wellbeing and healthy lifestyles by providing a
sports facility to meet the needs of 720 children that will also be available for
community use. To provide more dedicated facilities for science and creative arts
together with flexible learning spaces that are adaptable for a variety of subject
learning, optimising the opportunities available.

8 To promote the diversity of provision offered in Central Bedfordshire to increase
opportunities for parental choice

Arnold Academy supports this objective and it is reflected through an intake
which is becoming ever more diverse as the local communities change. The
school has also become a popular choice for parents.

The Academy is committed to developing its education provision in innovative
ways to meet need, provide opportunity and support the CBC principle.

9 To support vulnerable learners in Area Special Schools and integrate appropriate
Special Educational Needs provision within mainstream schools

Arnold Academy has a dedicated ASD Provision which currently provides six
places, is fully subscribed and has been consistently rated as Outstanding.

Comprehensive support is offered to other vulnerable groups by a qualified SEN
department, a dedicated Pastoral Team and Hub, Learning Mentors. The
Academy provides full access for disabled learners, all upper floors accessible
via designated lifts.

Arnold has a successful track record for providing SEN support within the
mainstream.

10 Capacity to Deliver the proposed expansion.
The Academy has practical experience in delivering building projects within
scope and budget. As a middle school, the learning space was significantly
expanded with a two storey extension. As an Academy, disabled access was
provided to the upper floors of the original building, incorporating additional
administrative space.

Arnold most recently completed a Safeguarding Project, improving its CCTV,
Alarm System, emergency lights and replacement internal doors to meet fire
safety standards, using funds successfully bid from the Condition Improvement
Fund.

Following the recommendation by C.B.C., that various feasibility studies should
be completed, AMR Consult Ltd was appointed to act on the Academy’s behalf
to explore how the school could address the key issues relevant to the
expansion and organisational arrangement. They have proposed that a design
build approach would be beneficial and that this has been the preferred method
with a number of other CB projects. Assuming the project were to proceed
professional project management services would be employed to administer any
building works.

AMR are engaged to assist with EFA applications in addition.

School Governors and Trustees include persons with significant experience in
property construction, project management and finance and a sub committee
engaging those skills is established to support the Academy Senior Leadership
Team.

Page 174
Agenda item 14



Appendix D

Business Case for proposed school and academy expansion for September 2018
implementation.

Church End Lower School: Forest End Campus, Marston Moretaine

1 The need to provide local schools for local children, ensuring a sense of community belonging
and also promoting sustainable modes of travel.

Section 76 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 places a duty on local education authorities to
promote the use of sustainable modes of travel to meet the school travel needs of their area. Ensuring
the sufficiency of provision local to the areas of demographic demand supports this duty by reducing
the need for car journeys and also limits potential growth in the cost of providing school transport on
distance criteria to qualifying pupils to meet the Council’s statutory responsibilities.

Section 38 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 also places a duty on governing bodies of
maintained schools in England to promote community cohesion. Promoting local schools enables
children living in the same local community to attend the same school fostering a coherent community
identity and enabling community ownership to build around a range of extracurricular activities.

The expansion of Church End to a second school site, Forest End, has been managed extremely well
as noted in the school’s recent inspection report (November 2016). The school is committed to
meeting local needs and is highly inclusive. As such, the school is in a strong position to ensure that
the proposed second phase expansion at Forest End is equally successful.

As the Marston Park housing development concludes, Forest End has grown to near capacity. In
September 2017 it will be fully operational catering for the needs of over 170 pupils aged between 3
and 9. The larger Church End site having a capacity of 300 pupils, will be required to accommodate
any additional pupils moving into the village until it also reaches capacity. It is anticipated that Church
End will reach capacity in most Year Groups during the next academic year; 2017/18.

If this situation becomes reality then the school will once again be declining admission applications
from catchment children. The proposed expansion at Forest End would prevent this from happening.

2 The need to create schools that are of sufficient size to be financially and educationally viable.

The financial viability of the school/academy has been confirmed by Central Bedfordshire Council
Finance Department.

Church End has grown considerably over the past four years. This growth has included absorbing an
‘inadequate’ independently managed pre-school and, in October 2015, the opening of the Forest End
campus. Pupil numbers have grown from approximately 275 to 466, as recorded in the January 2017
School Census. This growth was noted by Ofsted as being managed ‘extremely well’! This was
because of the experience of the team involved in implementing the expansion. The same team is still
in place to ensure that this second phase of expansion will be implemented equally as smoothly.

The school is committed to providing the best possible service to its local community. The recent
growth in pupil numbers has enabled the school to provide enhanced services to our community which
has included employing a Play Therapist, an ICT Technician and Speech and Language Therapist. In
particular, this has enabled the school to develop interventions to support our most vulnerable families.

Having a growing staff has empowered the school in developing innovative approaches to school
organisation and curriculum development which are efficient and highly cost effective. This, alongside
working with a range of partners, has made the school an attractive place to work; helping to
overcome the national difficulty in teacher recruitment and retention.

Page 175
Agenda item 14



The Governing Body is established and demonstrates the range of skills and attributes necessary to
ensure that the school as a whole continues to thrive! Given the national agenda, it is the intention of
the Governing Body to convert to Academy Status within the next academic year, 2017/18. They
recognise that there are potential benefits and economies of scale by working closely with other local
schools and so the longer term plan will be to join a Church of England Multi-Academy Trust.

Once the expansion is complete the school will operate four forms of admission, two forms at both
school sites, providing a whole school capacity of 600 places – 300 at each site. In addition we will
continue to provide pre-school provision of approximately 72 FTE places, although this will probably
equate to 100+ part-time places.

Being such a large school will require the Headteacher and senior staff to spend much of their time
developing key issues known to promote school improvement in driving the ethos of the school
towards raising attainment and promoting high standards.

3 The ability to support the expansion of local popular and successful schools or to link
expanding schools with popular and successful schools.

Church End has been at the heart of the village of Marston Moretaine since 1847. As the village has
grown so too has the school. Our ethos is grounded in inclusion and access for all. We provide a
traditional, yet innovative and creative curriculum, based on core values and high academic standards.
Our focus on community and on providing each child the opportunity to experience a childhood
centred in responsibility, curiosity, wonder and memorable experiences has helped the school to be
remarkably popular. This was again demonstrated in our recent Ofsted inspection where an
overwhelming number of parents recommended the school. This was endorsed further by a wholly
positive response to the staff questionnaire.

The expansion of the Forest End campus will be allowing a successful and popular school to expand.
This success is demonstrated in pupil outcomes at the end of Key Stage 1 and at the end Year 4. In
both areas outcomes exceed both the CBC and National average for 2016.

4 The potential to further promote and support robust partnerships and learning communities

The school is committed to working alongside other local schools. This has included supporting the
induction programme of Newly Qualified Teachers, sharing expertise and developing CPD
opportunities and mentoring and supporting newly appointed Headteachers.

As previously stated, it is the school’s intention to convert to Academy School status by the end of the
next academic year (2017/18). The process for this conversion has been initiated and a consultant
appointed. Initially, this will be as a ‘stand-alone’ academy but it is highly likely that we will join a Multi-
Academy Trust within the next few years and this is likely to be a Church of England MAT.

The school has always worked in close partnership with all aspects of CBC’s Children’s Services. This
includes, the Headteacher currently representing Education on the CBC LSCB, the Deputy
Headteacher taking a major role on the Voice of the Child Sub-Group, supporting the work of Relay,
The Intake and Assessment Team, The Family Support Team, The Access and Inclusion Team,
releasing staff to support other CBC schools as LA Moderators, Acting Headteacher, Headteacher
Mentors etc.

In addition the school is committed to working in partnership with all other agencies, service providers
and charities – such as, the CBC LSCB, Jigsaw, The School Nursing Team, the NSPCC, The
Ormiston Trust, CHUMS, and Aquarius (formally CAMH).

The rapid expansion of the school over the last few years has brought with it significant opportunity to
develop innovative management structures which have proved to be highly effective and efficient.

The school’s willingness to adapt and embrace technology has helped to transform curriculum
delivery. The fibre optic connectivity between the two school sites has enabled the school to access
technologies which have supported cost efficiencies in communication, printing and accounting.
Having a larger staff has provided the opportunity to develop effective leadership of the curriculum and
the teams required to deliver it. Robust accountability has ensured the high standards are maintained

Page 176
Agenda item 14



and any areas of identified weakness are supported and rectified quickly.

Working closely with the University of Bedfordshire and other Initial Teacher Training providers has
helped the school to develop quality first teaching approaches to all that we do. This has ensured that
as the school has grown we have been able to attract and retain a high quality teaching staff. Through
close working with the Central Bedfordshire Teaching School we supported the development of our
existing team as they assume inspirational leadership roles within the school.

5 The ambition to achieve a single phase of education 0 - 19 and reduce school transfer points

The geographical location of Marston Moretaine brings with it ‘cross border complications’. Church
End Lower School is part of the Wootton Upper School Community and as such, the majority of our
pupils move on to the Marston Vale Academy, which is located in Bedford Borough and part of the
Multi Academy Trust operated by the Chiltern Learning Trust. Upon leaving Marston Vale Academy
the majority of former Church End pupils move on to Wootton Upper School which is proposing to join
The Sharnbrook Academy Federation.

Added to this geographical complication is the political decision by Bedford Borough to support
schools in moving form a three tier structure to a two tier structure. Although both Marston Vale and
Wootton Upper School have no short term plans to amend their current admission arrangements to
reflect Bedford Borough policy, it seems likely, not least because of the growing demographic
pressures within the Wootton Pyramid catchment area, that a clear educational journey is certain.

Population growth within the Vale of Marston will inevitably require viable answers to be found to some
very difficult educational questions.

As demonstrated in previous responses Church End has a strong sense of community and a desire to
work in close professional partnership. These long established values are reflected in our working
relationships with the two schools almost all of our children attend when leaving us at the end of Year
4; Marston Vale Academy, in Stewartby (80%) and Holywell Academy in Cranfield (16%).

In line with Central Bedfordshire policy the school will need to continue to develop integrated early
years provision. Currently we have sufficient preschool provision to support the equivalent of 72
places; 48 at the Church End site and 24 at Forest End. It is important to ensure that sufficient
provision is made available for Forest End to increase capacity from the current 24 places to match
the 48 places that are provided at Church End. This would enable the school to offer parents more
flexibility and the potential to offer the Government aim of 30 hour entitlement per week.

‘Wrap around’ before, after and holiday childcare is provided at both Church End and Forest End for
children aged 4 – 11 ensuring that all parents, requiring it, have access to an extended and flexible
early years offer so that they can access training or work.

The ambition to create one 0 -19 phase is incredibly challenging. Our motivation in bringing a failing
pre-school under the management of the school was borne out of a desire to make the transition to
school as smooth as possible. Having one policy, management, administration and curriculum has
brought considerable benefits and improvements. Our desire to ensure that all schools benefit from
working together can be demonstrated through a number of successful initiatives and projects
covering areas as diverse as multi-cultural celebration to the development of pyramid wide approach
to assessment.
The transition to middle school is challenging for most children. To assist with this we have benefitted
from numerous approaches with both Middle Schools to support the transfer process.

This includes …
 Middle School staff visits to our Year 4 provision
 Numerous Middle School based Sports Festivals and Inter School Competitions – starting

from Year 1
 Bespoke transitional arrangements for vulnerable pupils
 1:1 staff liaison between SEND and Safeguarding Staff
 Year 5 staff attending termly Year 4 Curriculum Liaison meetings
 Shared CPD opportunities

Page 177
Agenda item 14



This promotion of close collaboration amongst schools impacts on such issues as continuity of
pedagogy, curriculum, expectations, progress, behaviour and ethos. Ultimately, it will have a positive
impact on outcome and standards!

6 The need to support the Raising of the Participation Age (RPA).

The school works closely with colleges and upper schools in ensuring that a significant number of
older pupils are offered work experience and work based placements. Feedback suggests that
Church End provides such students with a valuable and worthwhile experience. It helps to prepare
young people for work places challenges such as taking responsibility and being accountable.

7 To seek opportunities to create inspirational learning environments for the school and to
maximise community use.

It is encouraging to know that Central Bedfordshire will adopt a high standard of design and
community engagement as part of its evaluation of the proposals for major new and expanding school
provision.

Through close collaboration with Central Bedfordshire colleagues we hope to create a spacious and
flexible learning environment which will complement the exemplary accommodation currently provided.
It is anticipated that the new provision will enable teachers to provide children with learning
experiences which maximise the potential of new technologies and latest research in how children
learn.

Through the application of the same principles which shaped the concept of the original building, the
school will continue to maximise the potential to be fully inclusive in meeting individual learning needs;
whether they be Physical and Sensory, Communication and Interaction, Behavioural, Social and
Emotional or Cognitive!
By working very closely with other educational professionals, staff have acquired numerous skills in
supporting children with a range of additional needs. This offers parents of SEND children with a
genuine choice of what best meets the needs of their children.

As stated previously, the school is at the heart of, and committed to, the local and wider community.
The existing school currently hosts the Marston Gymnastics Club, The Marston Park Residents Group,
The Parish Council, a Community Choir and Vale Community Church. All of these organisations are
inclusive and help to make the Vale of Marston an even better place to live.

The school’s commitment to supporting our wider community extends to organising training to the
benefit of numerous schools which covers areas as diverse as Safeguarding Children, Inference and
Understanding, Forest Schools and The Cornerstone Curriculum.

8 To promote the diversity of provision offered in Central Bedfordshire to increase opportunities
for parental choice

Church End Lower School is committed to providing educational opportunities for all its pupils and
recognises, supports and encourages the principle of parental choice.

The school was inspected by Ofsted in November 2016. The report states that the leadership team
and Governing Body ‘managed this rapid expansion extremely well’ when referring to the Forest End
expansion. Having a ‘split site’ school brings huge advantages as well as challenges. Some of these
advantages have included considerable economies of scale meaning that the school is able to …

 provide enhanced learning opportunities – considerable investment in ICT provision for
example

 retain and recruit high calibre staff to key positions
 develop innovative forms of communication – such as the extensive use of cloud based

technologies
 promote the school as being truly community focussed – hosting a growing and vibrant church

community
 become even more inclusive offering more specialist interventions for our more vulnerable

pupils

Page 178
Agenda item 14



 offer a more intimate feel to a child’s education whilst providing the service that only a larger
school can offer.

It is the desire of the Church End Governing Body to recommend that the school becomes a Church of
England Academy within the diocese of St Albans. A consultant has been assigned to support the
transition process and it is anticipated that formal consultation will begin in the Spring of 2017. It is
anticipated that the school will ultimately join a Multi-Academy Trust with other local schools with the
aim of finding innovative and viable solutions to accommodating the expected pupil growth in our local
area.

It is our aim and ambition to continue to provide an excellent and fully inclusive education for every
child in our care.

9 To support vulnerable learners in Area Special Schools and integrate appropriate Special
Educational Needs provision within mainstream schools

Church End is a friendly and welcoming school. We invite all to share in our educational vision and
journey. We have established strong professional partnerships which support our inclusive ethos. Our
staff have the skills, and personal attributes, necessary to support children with a variety of needs.
Partnerships with services such as Jigsaw are seen as vital in supporting some of our most vulnerable
pupils.

Seeking advice and adopting creative solutions has enabled pupils with challenging behaviour to
experience success and improve their chances of continuing that success as they transfer to their
respective middle schools. Working closely with the Access and Inclusion Team has ensured that
children at risk of missing education have experienced a more fulfilling childhood which will lead to
improved ‘life chances’.

Services supporting children most at risk such as Relay, The Intake and Assessment Team and
Family Support Team have developed a wholly positive relationship with the school’s designated
safeguarding leads. The school is empathetic to those experiencing complex situations but is insistent
that each child has the right to attend and access a good education.

Brian Storey
Headteacher,
Church End Lower School,
Marston Moretaine, Bedford

21st February 2017

Page 179
Agenda item 14



This page is intentionally left blank



Central Bedfordshire Council

EXECUTIVE 4 A pril20 1 7

Commissioning of New School Places in the Ward of
Cranfield and Marston Moretaine for September 2018

ReportofC llrS teven D ixon, Exec u tive M emberforEd u c ation and S kills ,
(s teven. d ixon@ c entralbed ford s hire. gov. u k)

A d vis ingO ffic ers : S u e H arris on, D irec torofC hild ren's S ervic es ,
(s u e. harris on@ c entralbed ford s hire. gov. u k)

This report relates to a key decision

Purpose of this report

1 . This reports eeks s u pportforthe propos ed c ons u ltation by H olywell
M id d le S c hool(ac ad emy), C ranfield , to expand by 1 form ofentry (30
plac es in eac hmid d le s c hoolyeargrou p)by S eptember20 1 8 .

2 . The s c hoolreferred to within the reports erves the W ard ofC ranfield
and M ars ton M oretaine.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Executive is asked to:

1. support the proposed commencement of consultation by
Holywell Middle School (academy), Cranfield, to expand by 1
form of entry (30 places in each year group) by September
2018. This is phase 2 of the expansion of the school, taking
the school from a 5 form entry school to a 6 form entry school;
and

2. if supported, consider the results of the consultation and
determine the proposal at the Executive in August 2017.

Overview and Scrutiny Comments/Recommendations

3. This reportwas pres ented to C hild ren’ s S ervic es O verview and
S c ru tiny C ommittee atits meetingon the 14 M arc h20 1 7 and the
C ommittee was as ked to ind ic ate its s u pportforthe rec ommend ations
s etou twithin the report. The C ommittee rec ommend ed thatthe they
s u pportthe propos ed c hanges and end ors e the reportto the Exec u tive.

Page 181
Agenda item 15



Pupil Place Planning for Middle School Places in Cranfield from
September 2018

4. In Ju ly 20 16 the d emographic forec as ts forthe C ou nc il’ s S c hoolP lac e
P lanningpyramid area c overingC ranfield and the s u rrou nd ingarea
were revis ed withrefres hed d ata as partofthe annu alreview ofthe
C ou nc il’ s S c hoolO rganis ation P lan.

5. The C ou nc ils revis ed S c hoolO rganis ation P lan was pu blis hed in
S eptember20 16 and c an be fou nd at,
http: //www. c entralbed ford s hire. gov. u k/s c hool/organis ation/plan. as px

6. The ou tc ome ofthe revis ion is a forec as td efic itin mid d le s c hool
provis ion in the village from 20 1 7 /1 8 . This is a s u s tained d efic itofu pto
1 form entry (30 plac es peryeargrou p).

7 . The forec as td efic itforC ranfield from the C ou nc ils S c hoolO rganis ation
P lan forthe next5 years is as follows : -

Forec as t
Total
P A N ,
S ept
16

Total
year

5, Jan
16 20 16-17 2 0 1 7 -1 8 2 0 1 8 -19 20 19-20 2 0 2 0 -21

P A N /forec as tyear5 150 157 160 161 1 7 2 1 7 9 1 8 7
Balance of places at
YR 5 -10 -11 -22 -29 -37

8 . There is u pto a forec as td efic itof0 . 5 forms ofentry in 20 1 7 -1 8 . The
d efic itinc reas e to nearly an ad d itional1 form ofentry between 20 1 8 -
20 20 . The need forad d itionals c hoolplac es is s u s tained beyond 2 0 2 0 .

9. In D ec ember20 13 Exec u tive approved phas e 1ofthe expans ion of
H olywellS c hoolfrom its c apac ity of544 plac es to its c u rrentc apac ity
of60 0 plac es withan implementation d ate ofS eptember20 15.

1 0 . A s a res u ltofd elayed hou s ingd evelopmentatH ome Farm in C ranfield
the originalpropos ed expans ion ofthe s c hoolwas notrequ ired .
A lthou ghthe s c ale ofexpans ion to a 6 form entry s c hoolby S eptember
20 15 was notnec es s ary, ad d itionalplac es were requ ired to
ac c ommod ate the forec as tgrowthin pu pilnu mbers in the mid d le
s c hoolage range in the loc alarea. P has e 1 ofthe expans ion ofthe
s c hoolfrom its c apac ity of544 plac es , to provid e 60 0 plac es from
S eptember20 15 was therefore d etermined by Exec u tive in D ec ember
20 13.

1 1 . Exec u tive were als o informed in D ec ember20 13 thata fu rtherphas ed
expans ion wou ld be requ ired atH olywellS c hooland this wou ld be
s u bjec tto the rate ofhou s e bu ild ing.

Page 182
Agenda item 15



The ad d itionalpropos ed expans ion wou ld be pres ented to Exec u tive to
s eeks u pportfora c ons u ltation and d etermination. This reportforms
partofthe nextphas e, s eekings u pportfrom the Exec u tive forthe
s c hoolto proc eed withits c ons u ltation.

1 2 . There is only 1 mid d le s c hoolin C ranfield (A ppend ix A : M ap)and in
O c tober20 14, H olywellS c hoolwas rated by O FS TED as a “Good ”
s c hoolin allareas .

13. There is c u rrently no new mid d le s c hools ite s ec u red throu ghthe S 1 0 6
in the village. The s olu tion to manage the fu rthergrowthin the d emand
fors c hoolplac es is therefore throu ghthe propos ed expans ion of
H olywellS c hool.

14. The governors ofthe s c hooland head teac herare in princ iple
s u pportive ofthe permanentpropos ed expans ion by 1 form ofentry,
takingthe s c hoolto a planned ad mis s ion nu mberof1 8 0 pu pils per
year(6 form entry s c hool).

15. H olywellS c hoolis a popu lars c hooland c onverted to an ac ad emy in
O c tober20 12 . The C ou nc ilhas a d u ty to ens u re ad eq u ate s c hool
plac es are provid ed to everyone thatwants a plac e and c an
c ommis s ion thes e ad d itionalplac es atac ad emies and maintained
s c hools as longas they meetthe C ou nc il’ s polic y princ iples forpu pil
plac e planning.

16. The C ou nc ilc an only invite and notd irec tA c ad emies to expand and
propos als are s u bjec tto the S ec retary ofS tate’ s orRegionalS c hools
C ommis s ioners approvaland may requ ire amend ments to fu nd ing
agreements and otherofthe A c ad emy’ s legald oc u ments . This d iffers
to C ou nc ilmaintained s c hools where the C ou nc ilis d ec is ion makerfor
propos als to expand maintained s c hools .

1 7 . P ropos als to enlarge A c ad emies by a s ignific antproportion requ ire a
c ons u ltation to be u nd ertaken, as s etou tin the Gu id anc e for‘ M aking
S ignific antC hanges to an O pen A c ad emy’ . A c ad emies are als o
requ ired to s u bmita d etailed reportto the Ed u c ation Fu nd ingA genc y
as partoftheirapprovalproc es s forthe S ec retary ofS tate.

1 8 . Eac hpropos alin the N ew S c hoolP lac es P rogramme is req u ired by the
C ou nc il’ s P olic y P rinc iples forP u pilP lac e P lanningin S c hools to be
s u pported by a bu s ines s c as e in a formats etby the C ou nc ilthat
es tablis hes a meas u re ofthe qu ality ofthe new plac es beingad d ed to
the s ys tem . Eac hbu s ines s c as e is s u bjec tto evalu ation agains tthes e
P rinc iples and the res u lts are c ons id ered as partofthe finalExec u tive
approvalofany propos aland before approvalto c ommenc e
expend itu re are given.

Page 183
Agenda item 15



19. In allins tanc es where new s c hoolplac es are requ ired and propos als
are approved the C ou nc ilis res pons ible forc ommittingthe relevant
c apitalfu nd ingto implementrequ ired expans ions and new bu ild .

Guidance for Making Significant Changes to an Open Academy

2 0 . The gu id anc e forac ad emies d iffers to the gu id anc e forpres c ribed
alteration to a maintained s c hool. A c ad emy tru s ts need to c onfirm that
a fairand open loc alc ons u ltation has been u nd ertaken, withallthos e
who c ou ld be affec ted by the propos ed c hange, and thatthe propos al
takes ac c ou ntofallres pons es rec eived .

2 1 . ForA c ad emies there is no requ irementto pu blis ha s tatu tory notic e. A n
as s es s mentofthe propos alwillbe mad e before the RegionalS c hools
C ommis s ioner(RS C )orS ec retary ofS tate, as appropriate.

Conclusion

22 . The propos ed expans ion ofH olywellS c hoolis s u pported in princ iple by
the governors and head teac her. The ad d itionals c hoolplac es willmeet
a d emand in the areas ofgreates tbas ic need .

23. A s an ac ad emy, H olywellS c hoolc an propos e an enlargementoftheir
premis es . Itis a requ irementofthe D epartmentforEd u c ation thatthey
mu s tc ons u ltwiths takehold ers and pres c ribed organis ations and
pers ons on theirpropos al.

24. The c ons u ltees forthe propos alwillinc lu d e s taffatthe s c hooland their
feed ers c hools , the head teac herand governingbod ies ofallother
C entralB ed ford s hire s c hools , allmembers ofC entralB ed ford s hire
C ou nc il, loc ald ioc es e, loc altown and paris hc ou nc ils and loc al
res id ents and allotherpres c ribed c ons u ltees .

25. The ou tc ome ofthe c ons u ltations , alongwitha bu s ines s c as e
s u bmitted by the s c hoolto illu s trate the alignmentoftheirpropos alwith
the C ou nc il’ s P olic y P rinc iples forP u pilP lac e P lanningin S c hools , will
be reported to the C ou nc il’ s Exec u tive forfinalapproval.

26. The Exec u tive willbe as ked to d etermine the ou tc ome ofthe propos als
and the ac c ompanyingbu s ines s c as e in A u gu s t20 1 7 .

2 7 . Exec u tive approval, in A u gu s t20 1 7 , willenable the s c hoolto c ontinu e
to workin partners hipwithC ou nc iloffic ers to influ enc e the d es ign and
d elivery ofthe new provis ion, fu nd ed throu ghd eveloperc ontribu tions
and D epartmentforEd u c ation bas ic need grant, within the C ou nc il’ s
N ew S c hoolP lac es P rogramme.

Page 184
Agenda item 15



Legal Implications

2 8 . S ec tion 14 ofthe Ed u c ation A c t1996 plac es a d u ty on C ou nc ils to
s ec u re s u ffic ientprimary and s ec ond ary s c hoolplac es to provid e
appropriate ed u c ation forpu pils in its area. S 14A ofthe Ed u c ation A c t
1996 impos es a d u ty to c ons id errepres entations abou tthe exerc is e by
loc alau thorities oftheirfu nc tions from the parents ofq u alifyingc hild ren
in relation to the provis ion ofprimary and s ec ond ary ed u c ation.
Q u alifyingc hild ren inc lu d e allthos e ofc ompu ls ory s c hoolage oru nd er.

29. The Ed u c ation and Ins pec tions A c t20 0 6 gives C ou nc ils a s trategic role
as c ommis s ioners , ofs c hoolplac es and inc lu d es d u ties to c ons id er
parentalrepres entation, d ivers ity and c hoic e, d u ties in relation to high
s tand ard s and the fu lfilmentofevery c hild ’ s ed u c ationalpotentialand
fairac c es s to ed u c ationalopportu nity.

30 . The main legis lation governings c hoolorganis ation is fou nd in s ec tions
6A -32 ofthe Ed u c ation and Ins pec tions A c t20 0 6, The S c hool
O rganis ation (Es tablis hmentand D is c ontinu anc e ofS c hools )
Regu lations 20 13 and the S c hoolO rganis ation (P res c ribed A lterations
to M aintained S c hools )(England )Regu lations 2 0 13.

31 . The loc alau thority is expec ted to ens u re thatthere is effec tive
c ons u ltation withparents and otherinteres ted parties to gau ge d emand
forthe propos ed c hange, and provid e c ons u ltees withs u ffic ient
opportu nity to give theirviews .

32 . The C ou nc ilwillneed to ens u re thatthe new ac c ommod ation is
s u itable and the nec es s ary c apitalfu nd ingand planningpermis s ion
have been s ec u red before the expans ion c an be implemented .

33. D epartmentforEd u c ation (D FE)Gu id anc e forA c ad emies wis hingto
make s ignific antc hanges , inc lu d ingenlargementoftheirpremis es , was
pu blis hed in M arc h20 16.

34. The Gu id anc e c an be viewed at:
https : //www. gov. u k/government/pu blic ations /making-s ignific ant-
c hanges -to-an-exis ting-ac ad emy

35. A c ad emy Tru s ts are requ ired to exerc is e theirown ju d gments in
d ec id ingwhethera c hange is s ignific ant, althou ghitis antic ipated that
the propos als s etou tin this reportforH olywellS c hoolwou ld c ome
within the d efinition of‘ fas ttrac ks ignific antc hange’ as s etou tby 20 16
D fE Gu id anc e.

36. The proc es s is overs een by the Ed u c ation Fu nd ingA genc y on behalf
ofthe D fE and req u ires an ac ad emy to u nd ertake c ons u ltation, to
obtain c ons entofthe S ec retary ofS tate and to s ec u re any c apital
requ ired by the propos albefore implementation.

Page 185
Agenda item 15



37 . The bu s ines s c as e s u bmitted to the Ed u c ation Fu nd ingA genc y by an
ac ad emy mu s tbe rigorou s enou ghfora d ec is ion to be mad e on
whetherthe c hange is nec es s ary. D etails ofminimu m c ontentare s et
ou tin the 20 16 D fE Gu id anc e

Council Priorities

38 . The s u pportto lau nc hthe propos ed c ons u ltations fornew s c hool
plac es within the ward ofC ranfield and M ars ton M oretaine meets the
C ou nc ilpriorities to ‘ Improvinged u c ation and s kills in C entral
B ed ford s hire’ . This is in ad d ition to the c ou nc il’ s s tatu tory obligations to
provid e ad eq u ate s c hoolplac es and the C ou nc il’ s 9 P olic y P rinc iples
forP u pilP lac e P lanning.

Financial and Risk Implications

39. The N ew S c hoolP lac es P rogramme is fu nd ed by d eveloper
c ontribu tions and B as ic N eed grantinc ome from the D epartmentfor
Ed u c ation (D fE)and on c u rrentplanningas s u mptions the programme
is forec as tinga gros s expend itu re of£ 1 8 . 3M (£ 4. 1M net)in 16/1 7 ,
£ 1 0 M (netnil)in 20 1 7 /1 8 , £ 1 2 . 6M (netnil)20 1 8 /19 and £ 37 . 5M
(£ 15. 2M net)in 20 19/20 .

40 . The C ou nc ilwillc ontinu e to ens u re thatallopportu nities are taken to
inc reas e inc ome and to s eekalternative fu nd ings ou rc es fornew bu ild
and expans ions ofexis tings c hoolbu ild ings .

41 . The d ay to d ay ru nningc os ts ofs c hoolprovis ion is metthrou gh
revenu e fu nd ingwhic his mad e available to eac hs c hoolas partofthe
D ed ic ated S c hools Grant(D S G)and is bas ed primarily on the nu mbers
ofpu pils attend ingand willinc reas e ac c ord ingly in an expand ed
s c hool.

42 . W here nec es s ary and where S c hools and A c ad emies are u nd ertaking
s ignific antexpans ion on c ommis s ion from the C ou nc ilad d itional
revenu e s u pportforrelevantc os ts c an be ac c es s ed on applic ation
throu ghthe D S G fu nd ed GrowthFu nd es tablis hed by the S c hools
Foru m .

43. C apitalexpend itu re within the N ew S c hoolP lac es P rogramme is
s u bjec tto the C ou nc il’ s C od e ofFinanc ialGovernanc e.

44. There are no financ ialimplic ations aris ingou tofa d ec is ion to s u pport
the c ommenc ementofc ons u ltations as ou tlined in this report.

45. The new s c hoolplac es ifapproved willbe fu nd ed throu gha
c ombination ofs 10 6 c ontribu tions from loc ald evelopments and the
B as ic N eed grantrec eived from the D fE . The expend itu re willbe
reported to Exec u tive in A u gu s t20 1 7 .

Page 186
Agenda item 15



Equalities Implications

46. The c ons u ltation and d ec is ion makingproc es s s etou tin regu lation
forpropos als to maintained s c hools and ac ad emies req u ires an
evalu ation on a projec tby projec tbas is ofany equ alities and hu man
rights is s u es thatmightaris e.

47 . C entralB ed ford s hire C ou nc ilhas a s tatu tory d u ty to promote equ ality
ofopportu nity, eliminate u nlawfu ld is c rimination, haras s mentand
vic timis ation and fos tergood relations in res pec tofnine protec ted
c harac teris tic s ; age d is ability, gend erreas s ignment, marriage and
c ivilpartners hip, pregnanc y and maternity, rac e, religion orbelief, s ex
and s exu alorientation.

48 . This s tatu tory d u ty inc lu d es req u irements to: -

I. Remove orminimis e d is ad vantages s u ffered by people d u e to
theirprotec ted c harac teris tic s .

II. Take s teps to meetthe need s ofpeople from protec ted grou ps
where thes e are d ifferentfrom the need s ofotherpeople.

III. Enc ou rage people from protec ted grou ps to partic ipate in
pu blic life orin otherac tivities where theirpartic ipation is
d is proportionately low.

49. The propos ed c ons u ltations are notenvis aged to have an ad vers e
impac ton any ofthe lis ted grou ps below and are likely to have a
pos itive impac ton you ngpeople: -

I. S ex N /A
II. Gend erReas s ignment N /A

III. A ge M id d le s c hoolaged pu pils willhave
ac c es s to s u ffic ients c hoolplac es

IV . D is ability N /A
V . Rac e & Ethnic ity N /A

VI. S exu alO rientation N /A
VII. Religion orB elief(orN o B elief) N /A

VIII. P regnanc y & M aternity N /A
IX . H u man Rights N /A
X . O therGrou ps (ru ralis olation etc ) N /A

Risk Management

50 . The propos als etou tin this reporthas been d eveloped and evalu ated
agains tthe key c riteria ford ec is ion makers thatare ou tlined in
gu id anc e. L ikewis e the propos alhas followed the proc ed u res s etou t
in regu lation. This mitigates the ris kon the C ou nc iloffailingto
c omply withthe relevants tatu tory requ irements .

Page 187
Agenda item 15



51 . The key ris ks mitigated by the proc es s thathas been followed
inc lu d e:

I. Failu re to d is c harge legaland s tatu tory d u ties /gu id anc e.
II. Failu re to d eliverthe C ou nc il's s trategic priorities .

III. Repu tationalris ks as s oc iated withthe non d elivery ofrequ ired
s c hoolplac es .

IV . Financ ialris ks , no c apitalinves tmentfrom the c ou nc iland all
c ons eq u entialad d itionalru nningc os ts willbe borne by the
s c hool

52 . Ifapproved , the C ou nc iland the GoverningB od y ofthe s c hoolwill
d evelopand implementc hange managementplans thatwillinc lu d e
ris kas s es s mentand managementc riteria to ens u re the effec tive
d elivery ofthe objec tives s etou tin the propos ald oc u ment.

Conclusion and Next Steps

53. Ifapproved , H olywellS c hoolwilllau nc hthe propos ed c ons u ltation and
d rafta bu s ines s c as e forthe expans ion. The ac ad emy willals o s eek
the D fE approvalto expand .

54. The res pons es to the c ons u ltations willbe pres ented atExec u tive in
A u gu s t20 1 7 ford etermination and approvalforc apitalexpend itu re.

Appendixes

55. The followingappend ic es are attac hed :

A ppend ix A : M apind ic atingthe loc ation ofthe H olywellS c hool.

Page 188
Agenda item 15



Appendix A: Map of Holywell School

Page 189
Agenda item 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Central Bedfordshire Council

Executive 4 April 2017

Determination of a Prescribed Alteration to Robert Peel
Foundation Lower School, Sandy, St Swithuns VC Lower
School, Sandy and John Donne C of E Lower School,
Blunham

Report of Cllr Steve Dixon, Executive Member for Education and Skills
(steven.dixon@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)

Advising Officers: Sue Harrison, Director of Children’s Services
(sue.harrison@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

This report relates to a non Key Decision

Purpose of this report

1. To seek Executive approval for prescribed alterations for Robert Peel
Foundation Lower School, St Swithuns VC Lower School and John
Donne C of E Lower School. This proposal was the subject of a
statutory notice procedure which is now complete.

2. The schools referred to within the report serve the Ward of Sandy.

RECOMMENDATION

The Executive is asked to:

approve the proposed prescribed alterations for Robert Peel Foundation
Lower School, Sandy, St Swithuns VC Lower School, Sandy and John
Donne C of E Lower School, Blunham, as set out in Appendices A-C.

Overview and Scrutiny Comments/Recommendations

3. This report was presented to the Children’s Services Overview and
Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on the 17 January 2017 and the
Committee was asked to indicate its support for the recommendation
set out within the report.

4. The Committee recommended that they support the proposed changes
and endorse the report to the Executive, recognising the need to
ensure a coordinated approach led by the Authority in order to
effectively communicate with all partners and address parental
concerns.

Page 191
Agenda item 16



5. A comprehensive communication strategy was implemented, following
recommendation from Overview and Scrutiny where parents and
schools were written to and kept informed of the changes proposed in
all the schools in Sandy.

Background

6. Executive considered a report on the 11 October 2016 for the proposed
change of age range at Everton Lower School in the ward of Potton. In
the report the Executive were also informed that the following three
schools in the same school planning area were also considering a
change to their age range, Robert Peel Foundation Lower School, St
Swithuns VC Lower School and John Donne C of E Lower School.
These three schools have consulted on their proposal and determined
their change of age range, from lower to primary and as a result were
required to make a prescribed alteration by following a statutory
consultation, which is the subject of this report.

7. The report to the Executive on the 11 October 2016 also highlighted
that Moggerhanger Lower School and Sandy Upper School were
considering a change of age range but with no significant additional
accommodation required on each school site. These two schools are
therefore not proceeding with a statutory consultation process for a
prescribed alteration.

8. Prior to April 2016 as a consequence of changes introduced by the
2013 Regulations and Statutory Guidance, Governing Bodies were
able to propose a range of changes to their schools without following a
formal statutory process.

9. In April 2016, the Department of Education (DfE) revised the guidance.
This can be viewed at:-www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-
organisationmaintained-schools

10. The new guidance states that governing bodies of foundation and
voluntary schools can still propose, consult upon and determine a
change of age range of up to 2 years (except for adding or removing a
sixth-form) by following the non-statutory process. A change in age
range of 1 year or more for a community school would require a
statutory process.

11. In light of the revised guidance, the governing bodies of Robert Peel
Foundation Lower School, St Swithuns VC Lower School and John
Donne C of E Lower School consulted on a proposed change of age
range for each school from 3-9 years to 3-11 years, to be implemented
from September 2017.

Page 192
Agenda item 16



12. The three schools proposed and determined their own consultations
which ran from October 2016 to November 2016 and included
meetings for parents and stakeholders.

13. Following the close of the three consultations, the majority of the
responses received were in favour of the proposals. The governing
bodies of Robert Peel Foundation Lower School, St Swithuns VC
Lower School and John Donne C of E Lower School determined to
proceed with the change of age range for their school.

14. As a result of this determination, Robert Peel Foundation Lower
School, St Swithuns VC Lower School and John Donne C of E Lower
School will become primary schools with effect from September 2017,
enabling their current Year 4 children to remain at the school and move
into Year 5 and later to Year 6.

Proposal

15. The proposed enlargement as a result of the increased capacity means
that Robert Peel Foundation Lower School, St Swithuns VC Lower
School and John Donne C of E Lower meet the DfE’s threshold which
requires the local authority to carry out a statutory consultation for the
‘prescribed alteration to the school premises’’.

16. All three schools will be able to accommodate the additional children
that choose to stay on to Year 5 from September 2017. However, the
schools will not have the required long term accommodation for the
children who stay on to Year 6. Additional accommodation will be
required to provide for Year 6 children from September 2018. The
schools will manage the building and risks associated with the
construction of the additional accommodation.

17. The revised guidance published by the DfE in April 2016 requires the
local authority to carry out a statutory consultation for those schools
that are required to physically enlarge their premises due to an
increase in capacity beyond a threshold as determined by the DfE.

18. Moggerhanger Lower School and Sandy Upper School who also
consulted on a proposed change of age range during the same period
have determined to proceed but will not require additional
accommodation to trigger a prescribed alteration. These schools will
not be required to carry out a statutory consultation for the ‘prescribed
alteration to the school premises’’.

19. The statutory consultations for the prescribed enlargements of Robert
Peel Foundation Lower School, St Swithuns VC Lower School and
John Donne C of E Lower were launched on 9 February 2017 and ran
until 16 March 2017.

Page 193
Agenda item 16



20. The responses to the consultation are as follows:-
Robert Peel Lower – 63% in favour of the proposal
St Swithuns Lower – 85% in favour of the proposal
John Donne Lower –100% in favour of the proposal

21. Robert Peel received 9 objections and St Swithuns received 2
objections to the proposals siting concerns around traffic and
congestion in the school vicinity, lack of clarity of fund available for the
building of the additional accommodation and concerns on the change
to a 3 tier education system.

22. If the determination is to approve the enlargement of each school, the
governing bodies will manage the building project and be required to
apply for planning permission for their proposed development, where
necessary and also consider whether DfE approval is required for the
change of use for school land. The three schools will manage the
building programme and all related risks.

Reasons for decision

23. Under the School Organisation (Prescribed alternations to Maintained
Schools) (England) Regulations 2013 it is a requirement of the local
authority to act in accordance with the relevant legislations. The
prescribed enlargements of Robert Peel Foundation Lower School, St
Swithuns VC Lower School and John Donne C of E Lower meet the
DfE thresholds and require a statutory consultation.

24. The governing bodies of Robert Peel Foundation Lower School, St
Swithuns VC Lower School and John Donne C of E Lower have
determined to change their age range, from lower to primary, from
September 2017. The prescribed enlargements are required to
accommodate Year 6 children from September 2018. Without the
additional accommodation the schools would not be able to adequately
house the additional cohorts.

25. The three schools have consulted on the change of age range and
provided evidence of the support for the proposal. The requirement to
consult interested parties ahead of the publication of the statutory
consultation for the prescribed alteration of each school has therefore
been met.

26. The statutory consultations will ensure that the Council continues to
meet its statutory obligation to ensure that there are adequate school
places and also to meet all of the legal requirements placed on the
Council by the Education and Inspections Act 2006.

Page 194
Agenda item 16



Council Priorities

27. The proposal supports the following Council priority:

 Improving Education and Skills.

Legal Implications

28. The main legislation governing school organisation is found in sections
7 -32 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006, The School
Organisation (Establishment and Discontinuance of Schools) (England
Regulations 2013 and the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations
to Mainstream Schools) (England) Regulations 2013.

29. DfE regulations and guidance outline the requirements and process for
proposals to enlarge premises which meet the DfE threshold at Council
maintained schools and these include full public consultation, the
publication of statutory proposals and the decision making process.
The Council is the decision maker for proposals relating to maintained
schools, which are set out in this report.

30. As decision maker the Council must be satisfied that the proposals
have followed due process and must also have regards to statutory
guidance. Members must determine whether to

 Reject the proposal
 Approve the proposal
 Approve the proposal with a modification (e.g. the implementation

date)
 Approve the proposal subject to them meeting a certain condition.

31. In any case the proposal must be determined within 2 months of the
close of the determination period, otherwise the proposal will be
referred to the schools adjudicator.

Financial and Risk Implications

32. There are no capital implications for the Council arising as a result of
the proposals set out in this report. Each school has undertaken to fund
the additional accommodation required from their own school budget
and cover the lagged revenue funding.

33. The day to day running costs of the school are met through revenue
funding which is made available to each school as part of the dedicated
schools grant, calculated on a per pupil basis. Nationally, school and
academy revenue budgets are set in line with the School and Early
Years Finance Regulations 2013 which uses October school census
data of pupil numbers accommodated at that moment in time to
calculate the budget for the following financial year, for Council
maintained schools, and the following academic year for Academies.

Page 195
Agenda item 16



34. Following determination by the governing bodies to change the age
range of the schools, additional teaching staff will be required. The
schools will recruit and advertise for new class teachers.

35. There will be a lag in funding provision to the schools for September
2017. This funding ‘lag’ can have a significant impact on those schools
and academies that are implementing changes in age range and
retaining or admitting pupils into new year groups in the following
September without the corresponding revenue funding that should
ordinarily follow the child which only begins to flow into the schools
budget in the following April.

36. Additional funding will not be due to the schools until 2018/19 and will
result in an inevitable shortfall in revenue during the transition period
which the schools will have to manage.

Equalities Implications

37. The consultation and decision making process set out in regulation for
proposals to maintained schools requires an evaluation on a project by
project basis of any equalities and human rights issues that might
arise.

38. Central Bedfordshire Council has a statutory duty to promote equality
of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and
victimisation and foster good relations in respect of nine protected
characteristics; age disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and
sexual orientation.

39. This statutory duty includes requirements to:

 Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by people due to their
protected characteristics.

 Take steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups
where these are different from the needs of other people.

 Encourage people from protected groups to participate in public life
or in other activities where their participation is disproportionately
low.

40. The proposed prescribed enlargements of the three schools are not
envisaged to have an adverse impact on any of the listed groups
below:-

a) Sex N/A
b) Gender Reassignment N/A
c) Age Primary aged pupils will have access

to sufficient school places
d) Disability N/A

Page 196
Agenda item 16



e) Race & Ethnicity N/A
f) Sexual Orientation N/A
g) Religion or Belief (or No Belief) N/A
h) Pregnancy & Maternity N/A
i) Human Rights N/A
j) Other Groups (Rural isolation - John Donne is a

rural designated school which
provides school places in a village.

Risk Management

41. The proposal set out in this report has been developed and evaluated
against the key criteria for decision makers that are outlined in
guidance. Likewise the proposal has followed the procedures set out in
regulation. This mitigates the risk on the Council of failing to comply
with the relevant statutory requirements.

42. The key risks mitigated by the process that has been followed include:

a) Failure to discharge legal and statutory duties/guidance.
b) Failure to deliver the Council's strategic priorities.
c) Reputational risks associated with the non delivery of required

school places.
d) Financial risks, no capital investment from the council and all

consequential additional running costs will be borne by the school.

Conclusion and Next Steps

43. The recommendation is for the Executive to approve prescribed
alterations for Robert Peel Foundation Lower School, St Swithuns VC
Lower School and John Donne C of E Lower School to enlarge the
premises. The additional construction of the accommodation is likely to
require further consultations through the town planning process which
will be managed by the schools.

Appendices

The following appendices are attached:-

Appendix A: Statutory Notice for St Swithuns Lower School
Appendix B: Statutory Notice for Robert Peel Lower School
Appendix C: Statutory Notice for John Donne Lower School

Page 197
Agenda item 16



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

Proposal to enlarge the premises of  St 
Swithun’s Voluntary Controlled Lower School, 
Sandy  to provide additional accommodation  

 
       

Notice is given in accordance with section 19(1) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 
and the statutory guidance for proposers and decision makers ‘Making prescribed 
alterations to maintained schools, April 2016’ that Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory 
House, Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford, Beds SG17 5TQ intends to make a prescribed 
alteration to the St Swithun’s Voluntary Controlled Lower School, Ivel Road, Sandy, Beds 
SG19 1AX from 1 September 2018. 

The proposal is to enlarge the premises of St Swithuns Voluntary Controlled Lower School 
by building a new learning area to help accommodate year 6 children. 

The school is to convert from a lower school, for ages 3 (nursery) to 9 (year 4), to a primary 
school, for ages 3 (nursery) to 11 (year 6) from 1 September 2017. 

The current admission number for St Swithuns Voluntary Controlled Lower School is 30.  
The admission number will remain at 30 following the school’s conversion to primary status 
and enlargement. 

The current capacity of the school is 150 plus nursery aged children. Following conversion 
to primary status the capacity of the school will be 210 plus nursery aged children. The 
current number of pupils registered at the school is 180. 

This Notice is an extract from the complete proposal. Copies of the complete proposal 
can be obtained from: The Information Manager, Central Bedfordshire Council, Room 
DC2, Watling House, High Street North, Dunstable, Beds LU6 1LF. It can also be 
viewed on the Council's website at 
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/overview.aspx 
 
Within 4 weeks from the date of publication of these proposals, any person may object to or 
make comments on the proposal by using the on-line response facility available on the 
website http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/overview.aspx or by 
sending them to the Director of Children's Services, Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory 
House, Chicksands, Shefford, Beds SG17 5TQ. 

Signed: Sue Harrison 

Director of Children’s Services, Central Bedfordshire Council  

Publication Date: 9 February 2017 

 
Explanatory notes: 
 
In December 2016 the Governing Body of St Swithun’s Voluntary Controlled Lower School 
agreed to extend the age range of the school from 3 to 9 years (nursery to year 4) to 3 to 
11 years (nursery to year 6) with effect from September 2017.  
This is to be implemented in 2 stages: year 4 children will have the opportunity to move up 
into year 5 in September 2017 and then into year 6 in September 2018.  
The school requires additional accommodation from September 2018 for the children 
moving up into year 6. 

Page 199
Agenda item 16



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

Proposal to enlarge the premises of  Robert 
Peel Foundation Lower School, Sandy  to 
provide additional accommodation  

 
       

Notice is given in accordance with section 19(1) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 
and the statutory guidance for proposers and decision makers ‘Making prescribed 
alterations to maintained schools, April 2016’ that Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory 
House, Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford, Beds SG17 5TQ intends to make a prescribed 
alteration to the Robert Peel Foundation Lower School, Dapifer Drive, Sandy, Beds SG19 
1QJ from 1 September 2018. 

The proposal is to enlarge the premises of Robert Peel Foundation Lower School by 2 
classrooms to help to accommodate year 6 children. 

The school is to convert from a lower school, for ages 3 (nursery) to 9 (year 4), to a primary 
school, for ages 3 (nursery) to 11 (year 6) from 1 September 2017. 

The current admission number for Robert Peel Foundation Lower School is 60.  The 
admission number will remain at 60 following the school’s conversion to primary status. 

The current capacity of the school is 300 plus nursery aged children. Following conversion 
to primary status the capacity of the school will be 420 plus nursery aged children. The 
current number of pupils registered at the school is 240 children plus 58 Nursery age 
children. 

This Notice is an extract from the complete statutory proposal. A copy of the complete 
statutory proposal can be obtained from: The Information Manager, Central Bedfordshire 
Council, Room DC2, Watling House, High Street North, Dunstable, Beds, LU6 1LF. It can 
also be accessed online at  

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/overview.aspx  

Within four weeks from the date of publication of these proposals, any person may object to 
or make comments on the proposal by using the on-line response facility available on the 
website or by sending them to the Director of Children's Services, Central Bedfordshire 
Council, Priory House, Chicksands, Shefford, Beds, SG17 5TQ. 

 

Signed: Sue Harrison 

Director of Children’s Services, Central Bedfordshire Council  

Publication Date: 9 February 2017 

 
Explanatory notes: 
 
In December 2016 the Governing Body of Robert Peel Foundation Lower School agreed to 
extend the age range of the school from 3 to 9 years (nursery to year 4) to 3 to 11 years 
(nursery to year 6) with effect from September 2017.  
This is to be implemented in 2 stages: year 4 children will have the opportunity to move up 
into year 5 in September 2017 and then into year 6 in September 2018.  
The school needs to enlarge its premises to help accommodate the additional children from 
September 2018. 

Page 201
Agenda item 16



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

Proposal to enlarge the premises of  John 
Donne Church of England Voluntary Aided 
Lower School, Blunham to provide additional 
accommodation  

        

Notice is given in accordance with section 19(1) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 
and the statutory guidance for proposers and decision makers ‘Making prescribed 
alterations to maintained schools, April 2016’ that Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory 
House, Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford, Beds SG17 5TQ intends to make a prescribed 
alteration to the John Donne Church of England Voluntary Aided Lower School, High 
Street, Blunham, Beds MK44 3NL from 1 September 2018. 

The proposal is to enlarge the premises of John Donne Church of England Voluntary Aided 
Lower School by 1 classroom plus additional toilets to help accommodate year 6 children. 

The school is to convert from a lower school, for ages 3 (nursery) to 9 (year 4), to a primary 
school, for ages 3 (nursery) to 11 (year 6) from 1 September 2017. 

The current admission number for John Donne Church of England Voluntary Aided Lower 
School is 24.  The admission number will remain at 24 following the school’s conversion to 
primary status. 

The current capacity of the school is 120 plus nursery aged children. Following conversion 
to primary status the capacity of the school will be 168 plus nursery aged children. The 
current number of pupils registered at the school is 62 plus 20 nursery children. 

This Notice is an extract from the complete proposal. Copies of the complete proposal 
can be obtained from: The Information Manager, Central Bedfordshire Council, Room 
DC2, Watling House, High Street North, Dunstable, Beds LU6 1LF. It can also be 
viewed on the Council's website at 
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/overview.aspx 
 
Within 4 weeks from the date of publication of these proposals, any person may object to or 
make comments on the proposal by using the on-line response facility available on the 
website or by sending them to the Director of Children's Services, Central Bedfordshire 
Council, Priory House, Chicksands, Shefford, Beds SG17 5TQ. 

Signed: Sue Harrison 

Director of Children’s Services, Central Bedfordshire Council  

Publication Date: 9 February 2017 

 
Explanatory notes: 
 
In December 2016 the Governing Body of John Donne Church of England Voluntary Aided 
Lower School agreed to extend the age range of the school from 3 to 9 years (nursery to 
year 4) to 3 to 11 years (nursery to year 6) with effect from September 2017.  
This is to be implemented in 2 stages: year 4 children will have the opportunity to move up 
into year 5 in September 2017 and then into year 6 in September 2018.  
The school needs to enlarge its premises to help accommodate the additional children from 
September 2018.  

Page 203
Agenda item 16



This page is intentionally left blank



Central Bedfordshire Council

EXECUTIVE 4 April 2017

Determination of a statutory notice for a change of age range
at Shillington Lower School from 4-9 to 2-9 years of age

Report of Cllr Steve Dixon, Executive Member for Education and Skills
(steven.dixon@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)

Advising Officers: Sue Harrison, Director of Children’s Services
(sue.harrison@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

This report relates to a non Key Decision

Purpose of this report

1. To seek Executive approval to a change in age range at Shillington
Lower School (SLS) from 4-9 to 2-9 years of age, to integrate a pre
school provision. This proposal was the subject of a statutory notice
procedure which is now complete.

2. If approved the proposal would be implemented from 1 September
2017.

3. The school referred to within the report serves the Wards of Silsoe and
Shillington.

RECOMMENDATION

That the Executive approves a change in age range for Shillington
Lower School from 4-9 to 2-9 with effect from 1 September 2017 as set
out in the statutory notice attached as Appendix A.

Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny

1. This report was presented to Children’s Services Overview and
Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on the 17 January 2017 and the
Committee supported the recommendations set out within the report.

Background

2. On the 7 February the Councils Executive approved the
commencement of a statutory consultation for the proposal to change
the age range of Shillington Lower School, to integrate a pre-school
provision following the closure of the previous pre-school.

Page 205
Agenda item 17



3. The pre-school previously provided by a registered charity, ‘Shillington
under Fives’, out of premises on the same site as the school, closed on
the last day of the autumn school term 2016. Joint efforts were made
by the pre school and the governing body of Shillington Lower School
to enable the pre school to continue but the lack of staff made this
untenable and the pre school was forced to close.

4. The Council was first approached by Shillington Lower School on 21
April 2016, following a meeting of the Governing Body at which the
proposal was discussed. The proposal is for the school to incorporate
the running and management of the nursery provision by the school
itself, whilst continuing to fulfil the statutory education obligations of
both nursery and lower phases.

5. The DfE published revised guidance on 8 April 2016 which removed
the ability for governing bodies of maintained community schools to
propose, consult and determine a change of age range for their school
without the local authority’s approval.

6. The revised guidance requires the Council to undertake a statutory
process for a proposed change of age range for a community school:-

i. Approve publication of the statutory notice
ii. Commence formal consultation of at least four weeks
iii. Determination, following the representation period of the
statutory notice

7. Whilst there is no longer a statutory ‘pre-publication’ consultation
period for prescribed alteration changes, there is a strong expectation
that schools and local authorities will consult interested parties, in
developing their proposal prior to publication, as part of their duty under
public law to act rationally and take into account all relevant
considerations. The Council therefore advises all schools to carry out a
preliminary consultation in order to gauge the level of support for their
proposal before submitting it for consideration.

Preliminary Consultation Responses

8. SLS submitted a draft proposal for the initial preliminary consultation to
the Council on 16 May 2016 for comments. Suggested amendments to
the proposal were supplied to SLS by return.

9. SLS launched the preliminary consultation on 19 May 2016. The
Central Bedfordshire Council (CBC) Ward Member, CBC officers and
all CBC schools were advised of the consultation and invited to
respond. The preliminary consultation ran for 5 weeks (including half
term) until 23 June 2016. SLS provided the responses to this
consultation on the 16 October 2016 to the Council.

Page 206
Agenda item 17



10. The preliminary consultation responses were reported to Executive on
the 7 February 2017. A total of 52 responses to the preliminary
consultation were received by the school. All the responses were in
favour of the proposed change of age range.

Statutory Notice Responses

11. On 8 February 2017 a statutory notice was published on the Councils
web site (Appendix A) setting out the proposal to change the age range
from 4-9 to 2-9 years of age from 1 September 2017. This was
displayed as required on the school gates and circulated to all
interested parties, the same as those consulted at the preliminary
consultation stage. The statutory notice period ended on the 15 March
2017.

12. A total of 45 responses to the notice were received before the closing
date. 43 of the responders’ were in support of the proposal, with 2
objecting to the change of age range. An objection was recorded on
the basis that schools should not be seen as operating pre schools.

Reasons for Decision

13. The Council’s Early Years Team confirms that Shillington continues to
need its own pre-school provision and being part of the school would
make it sustainable for the future. There is no other formal provision in
the village, other than local childminders who have little capacity to
take on extra children.

14. Without the school taking on the pre-school, the village will be without
an early years facility. There would potentially be a sufficiency issue,
especially with the new 30 hours programme due to roll out in
September 2017.

15. The proposal does not remove the requirement for parents to apply for
a Reception place and as such, it does not remove the transition point
of nursery to lower. However, for those children who apply and are
successful in achieving a Reception place at Shillington, it improves the
child’s learning journey, in line with Central Bedfordshire Council’s
ambition to “reduce school transfer points”. This should have a positive
impact on educational standards and allow a more seamless transition
from the nursery unit to school.

16. The next nearest pre-school is in Gravenhurst and is currently almost
at capacity and with the potential increase in funded hours for working
parents (the 30 hour offer). There is likely to be an increased demand
for pre-school hours in the area.

Page 207
Agenda item 17



17. Shillington under Fives closed at the end of the autumn term 2016
leaving the village and parents without a local formal provision. Subject
to a favourable response to the statutory consultation SLS propose to
launch the pre school provision in September 2017.

Council Priorities

18. The proposal supports the following Council priority:

 Improving Education and Skills

Legal Implications

19. The Childcare Act 2006 places duties on English local authorities, as
far as reasonably practical, to secure sufficient childcare for working
parents (Section 6) and early years provision (Section 7, a substituted
by section 1 of the Education Act 2011).

20. The main legislation governing school organisation is found in sections
6A-32 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006, The School
Organisation (Establishment and Discontinuance of Schools)
Regulations 2013 and the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations
to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2013.

21. Department for Education Guidance for proposers and decision makers
regarding school organisation in maintained schools was published in
January 2014 to support the School Organisation (Prescribed
Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2013.

22. This guidance can be viewed at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-organisation-
maintained-schools

23. The DfE revised guidance published on 8 April 2016 removes the
ability for governing bodies of Community schools to propose, consult
and determine a change of age range for their school without the local
authority’s approval.

Financial Implications

24. There are no capital implications for the Council arising as a result of
the proposal set out in the report.

25. The day to day running costs of early years and childcare provision is
met through revenue funding which is made available to each setting
as part of the Dedicated Schools Grant and Central Bedfordshire’s
Nursery Education funding.

Page 208
Agenda item 17



26. The accommodation previously used by Shillington under Fives was
funded through Sure Start. The Councils Early Years team will seek the
accommodation to be transferred to the school. The governing body of
SLS propose to ring fence residual funds for the nursery unit. The
governing body plan to invest to improve the condition of the building
from the schools current surplus funds.

27. The governing body of the school have forecast that once the numbers
of pre-school children have built up, a small operating profit from the
nursery unit is anticipated. SLS have been cautious with the
projections and the school will promote the nursery unit to strive to
bring the break-even point forward.

28. The school will use school funds to refurbish the pre-school building
(and to create a group room in the pre-school building, which will also
be used by the school). The anticipated increase in the number of local
pupils coming through nursery unit in future will result in a stronger
financial base for the school. The project will also deliver a secure and
sustainable future for pre-school provision in Shillington.

29. The Council has received a revised budget for the proposal which
shows an improved financial position for the school going forward and
is satisfied that the proposed age range change appears to be
financially viable.

30. If the Councils Executive determines the proposal to a change of age
range at the school there will be financial implications for the school
and the governing body.

Equalities Implications

31. The consultation and decision making process set out in regulation for
proposals to expand Academies and Council maintained schools
requires an evaluation on a project by project basis of any equalities
and human rights issues that might arise.

32. Public authorities have a statutory duty to promote equality of
opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and
victimisation and to foster good relations in respect of the following
protected characteristics: age, disability, gender re-assignment,
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion
or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

Page 209
Agenda item 17



33. This statutory duty includes requirements to:

i. Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by people due to
their protected characteristics.

ii. Take steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups
where these are different from the needs of other people.

iii. Encourage people from protected groups to participate in public
life or in other activities where their participation is
disproportionately low.

34. The proposal is not envisaged to have an adverse impact on any of the
listed groups below:-

I. Sex N/A
II. Gender Reassignment N/A

III. Age Pre school children will have
access to sufficient pre school
places

IV. Disability N/A
V. Race & Ethnicity N/A

VI. Sexual Orientation N/A
VII. Religion or Belief (or No Belief) N/A

VIII. Pregnancy & Maternity N/A
IX. Human Rights N/A
X. Other Groups (rural isolation etc) N/A

35. As commissioner of pre-school and nursery provision that will be
provided through the proposal set out in this report the Council has
considered that there are no specific discrimination issues that arise
from the change being proposed.

Risk Management

36. The proposal to change the age range of Shillington Lower School set
out in this report mitigates the risk on the Council of failing in its
statutory duty to secure sufficient childcare for working parents and
early years provision.

37. Key risks include:

 Failure to discharge legal and statutory duties/guidance.
 Failure to deliver the Council's strategic priorities
 Reputational risks associated with the non delivery of required

childcare and early year’s places.
 Risk of not achieving forecast numbers of pre school children

impacting the financial viability of the main school budget.

Appendices
The following appendices are attached:
Appendix A – Statutory Notice

Page 210
Agenda item 17



 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Proposal to change the age range  

of Shillington Community Lower School  

from 4 – 9 years to 2 – 9 years 

 
        

 

 

Notice is given in accordance with section 19(1) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 
and the statutory guidance for proposers and decision makers ‘Making prescribed 
alterations to maintained schools, April 2016’ that Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory 
House, Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford, Beds SG17 5TQ intends to make a prescribed 
alteration to Shillington Community Lower School, Greenfields, Shillington, Bedfordshire 
SG5 3NX from 1 September 2017. 

The proposal is to change the age range of Shillington Community Lower School from 4 – 9 
years to 2 – 9 years. 

The admission number for the school is 30 for each year group and the admission number 
is to remain at 30 for each year group. 

The current capacity of the school for statutory school aged children is 150. Following 
implementation the capacity for statutory school aged children will remain at 150. The 
current number of pupils registered at the school is 131. 

This Notice is an extract from the complete statutory proposal. A copy of the complete 
statutory proposal can be obtained from: The Information Manager, Central Bedfordshire 
Council, Room DC2, Watling House, High Street North, Dunstable, Beds, LU6 1LF. It can 
also be accessed online at  

http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/consultations/overview.aspx  

Within four weeks from the date of publication of these proposals, any person may object to 
or make comments on the proposal by using the on-line response facility available on the 
website or by sending them to the Director of Children's Services, Central Bedfordshire 
Council, Priory House, Chicksands, Shefford, Beds, SG17 5TQ. 

 

Signed: Sue Harrison 

Director of Children’s Services, Central Bedfordshire Council  

 

Publication Date: 8 February 2017 

 
Explanatory notes: 
The preschool provision ‘Shillington Under 5’s’ closed in December 2016. This was a 
registered charity that operated out of premises within the grounds of Shillington Community 
Lower School.  

The proposed change of age range is to enable Shillington Community Lower School to open 
a preschool provision within the former premises of ‘Shillington Under 5’s’. 

 

Page 211
Agenda item 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Central Bedfordshire Council

EXECUTIVE 4 A pril20 1 7

The Day Offer for Older People and Adults with Disabilities

ReportofC llrC arole H egley, Exec u tive M emberforS oc ialC are and H ou s ing,
c arole. hegley@ c entralbed ford s hire. gov. u k.

A d vis ingO ffic ers : Ju lie O gley, D irec torofS oc ialC are, H ealthand H ou s ing,
ju lie. ogley@ c entralbed ford s hire. gov. u k, Tim H oyle, M A N O P H ead ofS ervic e,
tim . hoyle@ c entralbed ford s hire. gov. u kand John King, S ys tem Red es ign
O ffic er, john. king@ c entralbed ford s hire. gov. u k.

This report relates to a Key Issue

Purpose of this report

This reports ets ou tthe ou tc ome ofthe c ons u ltation on the fu tu re D ay O ffer
forvu lnerable ad u lts and old erpeople, req u es ts thatthe D ay O fferis ad opted
and propos es the nexts teps .

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Executive is asked to:

1. note the outcome of the public consultation on the Day Offer
as set out in paragraphs 4 to 20 and Appendix 1 of this report;

2. adopt the revised Day Offer set out in Appendix 2 of this
report as the Council’s approach to the delivery of day
services in the future; and

3. agree the timescale and approach to the delivery of the new
Day Offer as set out in paragraphs 21 to 25 of this report.

Overview and Scrutiny Recommendations

1 . This matterwas c ons id ered by S oc ialC are, H ealthand H ou s ing
O verview and S c ru tiny C ommittee atits meetingon 23 Janu ary 20 1 7
and mad e the followingrec ommend ations :

2 . The C ommittee:

2 . 1 . Rec ognis es the need to bringou rd ay offer, inc lu d ingou rbu ild ings ,
u pto d ate.

Page 213
Agenda item 18



2 . 2 . W elc omes the pos itive move toward s a pers onalis ed s ervic e
promotingthe ind epend enc e and otherneed s ofou rres id ents .

2 . 3. P artic u larly welc omes the propos alto amend the d ay offerwith
referenc e to d ementia c lients .

2 . 4. Rec ognis es the need to ens u re thattrans portneed s c an be metto
getc lients to the rightplac e atthe righttime.

2 . 5. Expec ts the C ou nc ilto s eize any opportu nities to workwithother
bod ies to c reate an integrated pathway forou rc lients .

2 . 6. L ooks to s ee thatou rc lients varied need s c an be metin a realis tic
manner.

Background

3. A tits meetingon 7 Ju ne 20 16 the Exec u tive approved rec ommend ations
s etou tin a reporton the D ay O fferforO ld erP eople and A d u lts with
D is abilities . The reportd es c ribed the c u rrentofferprovid ed , c hallenges
and opportu nities fac ingthis s ervic e area whils tac knowled gingthe
importantc ontribu tion thatd ay s ervic es make in s u pportingvu lnerable
ad u lts and theirc arers . Itpropos ed a two-s tage approac hto the
d evelopmentofa new d ay offerforthes e grou ps ofpeople.

4. A tits meetingon 11 O c tober20 16 the Exec u tive approved the
c ommenc ementofa pu blic c ons u ltation on a new D ay O fferand
req u es ted thatthe ou tc ome ofthe c ons u ltation was reported to a fu tu re
meeting.

5. A c ons u ltation proc es s was u nd ertaken from 24 O c tober20 16 to
23 Janu ary 20 16 and this reports ets ou tthe ou tc ome ofthat
c ons u ltation and propos es the nexts teps .

6. D u ringthe engagementwithc u s tomers , family c arers and c entre s taff
thathad taken plac e priorto the c ons u ltation, a c o-prod u c tion approac h
had been ad opted and repres entatives ofallofthes e had taken partin a
grou pthats teered the ac tions ofoffic ers . This grou pc ontinu ed to meet
d u ringthe c ons u ltation phas e and mad e valu able c ontribu tions to the
proc es s .

7 . W hils tthe foc u s ofthe this ac tivity was the d ay s ervic e d elivered d irec tly
by the C ou nc ilitwas ac knowled ged thatthe D ay O ffers hou ld apply
equ ally to any d ay s ervic es thatare c ommis s ioned by the C ou nc il.

Consultation Process

8 . The c ons u ltation was pos ted on the c ou nc ilwebs ite on 24 O c tober. A ll
c u s tomers and theirfamilies rec eived a c ons u ltation pac kwhic hinc lu d ed
the ‘ H ave You rS ay’ d oc u mentwhic hprovid es an overview ofthe Fu tu re
D ay O fferand botha paperand online s u rvey were prod u c ed . A n eas ier
read vers ion ofthe papers u rvey and ‘ H ave You rS ay’ d oc u mentwas
als o d eveloped .

Page 214
Agenda item 18



9. C ons u ltation meetings were held forfamily members /c arers ateac hof
the d ay c entres to provid e them withthe opportu nity forfac e-to-fac e
c onvers ation to provid e feed bac kon the c ons u ltation. M eetings were
open forfamily members ac ros s the s ervic e; they d id nothave to attend
the c entre theirrelative attend s . The meetings forrelatives were
attend ed by 32 relatives and family c arers , s ome ofwhom had been
u nable to attend meetings thatwere arranges d u ringthe engagement
s tage.

1 0 . D ay c entre s taffals o d is c u s s ed the c ons u ltation withind ivid u al
c u s tomers u s ingthe eas ierread vers ion, helpings ome to res pond and
als o provid ingreas s u ranc e when need ed .

1 1 . W id ermeetings withc u s tomers ofc entres forad u lts withlearning
d is abilities were als o organis ed and s u pported by RightTrac kand
P ohwerA d voc ac y s ervic es . The generalc ons ens u s was thatthe fu tu re
offers hou ld inc lu d e greaterc hoic e ofac tivities and more well-trained
s taffthathave experienc e. C u s tomers als o s aid they valu e c ontinu ity of
s taffmembers and thatthey wou ld like to s tay withthe friend s they had
mad e atc entres .

1 2 . A d d itionals takehold ers and organis ations were als o c ontac ted d irec tly
and invited to res pond to the c ons u ltation. This inc lu d ed ind epend ent
provid ers ofd ay s ervic es c ommis s ioned by the C ou nc il.

Consultation Outcome

13. The C ou nc ilrec eived 10 2 res pons es (inc lu d ing1 res pond entwho has
c ompleted the s u rvey on 2 oc c as ions and 1 res pons e c ompleted jointly
by 2 people). S ome 34% ofres pond ents were d ay c entre c u s tomers ,
38 % were relatives ofc arers u s ingd ay s ervic es , and 2 7 % were other
res pond ents inc lu d ingprovid erorganis ations ors taff.

14. In s u mmary, the majority ofthe 10 2 res pond ents s u pportthe key
princ iples and c omponents propos ed as partofthe fu tu re d ay offer.
P romotingind epend enc e, inc lu d inggainingemploymentand s u pporting
more ac c es s to c ommu nity fac ilities have been id entified importantareas
to res pond ents . H oweverc onc erns arou nd a ‘ one s ize fits all’ approac h
were rais ed , withrequ es ts forreas s u ranc e thatc u s tomerneed willbe
c entralto any fu tu re d evelopments . Fu rtherinves tigation into s ervic es for
people affec ted by d ementia was als o s u gges ted .

15. O therc omments rec eived inc lu d ed the requ es tforongoing
c ommu nic ation between the C ou nc iland effec ted s takehold ers as well
as c larific ation and reas s u ranc e overpos s ible impac ton c u s tomers , the
c os timplic ations and the fu tu re ofthe s ites ofthe c u rrentc entres .

16. There was als o feed bac kabou ts ome ofthe langu age u s ed in boththe
offerand the c ons u ltation d oc u ments whic hs u gges ted thatin fu tu re
c ons u ltations ‘ plain langu age’ s hou ld be u s ed more and , ifthis is not
pos s ible, then any terms u s ed whic hmay notbe u nd ers tood by all
s hou ld be d efined and explained .

Page 215
Agenda item 18



1 7 . The fu llres u lts ofthe c ons u ltation alongwiththe C ou nc il’ s res pons e to
the is s u es rais ed in itappears in A ppend ix 1 to this report. This has been
c ons id ered and reviewed by the c o-prod u c tion grou p.

1 8 . In res pons e the matters rais ed by the c ons u ltation the propos ed d ay
offerhas been amend ed as follows :

1 8 . 1 . The offernow plac es ad d itionalemphas is on s u itable provis ion for
people withd ementia provis ion inc lu d ings tafftrainingand
s u itable fac ilities .

1 8 . 2 . The offernow plac es ad d itionalemphas is on provid ing
opportu nities forpeople ofworkingage to learn life s kills inc lu d ing
rou tes to employment.

19. In ad d ition itwas noted by the c o-prod u c tion grou pthatthe s tatements in
relation to family c arers thatappeared in the ‘ C omponents ’ s ec tion were
betterloc ated in the ‘ P rinc iples ’ s ec tion. M ovingthem allowed the
nu mberofc omponents to be red u c ed from five to fou r, s implifyingthe
offerwithou tlos ingany as pec ts .

2 0 . The u pd ated D ay O fferappears in A ppend ix 2 .

Phase 2 – Delivery of changes to existing services

21 . The c hallenges fac ingthe C ou nc il’ s exis tingc entres were artic u lated
priorto the engagementand thes e were reiterated d u ringthe
c ons u ltation period . The intention in d evelopingand ad optingthe D ay
O fferis to u s e itto s hape c u rrentand fu tu re s ervic es .

2 2 . Ithas been obs erved thatthis is the firs ttime in a generation thatall
s ervic es have been reviewed in this way and thatthis is therefore an
importantopportu nity. From this pers pec tive itis als o feltto be important
thatwhateverreplac es the exis tings ervic es is more flexible and pers on-
c entred than the c u rrentones and thatthe ability forthe new s ervic es to
c ons tantly ad aptis d es igned into them .

23. From the c o-prod u c tion proc es s has emerged a s etofprinc iples whic h
c an be u s ed to provid e a frameworkforreviews ofthe exis tingc entres .
Thes e are:

23. 1 . The need to keepu pthe momentu m thatthe engagementand
c ons u ltation proc es s has engend ered . The fu tu re ofthe
C ou nc il’ s c entres has been the s u bjec tofd ebate formany years
and c u s tomers and family c arers have experienc ed a nu mberof
‘ fals e s tarts ’ es pec ially in the L earningD is ability c entres . Itis
therefore feltto be importantthatonc e the D ay O fferhave been
ad opted then fu rtherworkis planned to s etou ta c learproc es s
and times c ale to d eliverc hange.

Page 216
Agenda item 18



23. 2 . The need to be able to make u s e ofnew fac ilities thatofferthe
opportu nity to d elivers ervic es in an integrated way. The C ou nc il
(and others )are planningto d evelopfac ilities s u c has new c are
homes , ind epend entlivings c hemes , healthand c are hu bs and
leis u re c entres . Itwillbe importantto ens u re thatreviews ofand
d ec is ions abou tthe fu tu re ofc entres matc hes u pwithwiththe
times c ales fors pec ific ation and d elivery ofpotentialreplac ement
fac ilities otherwis e opportu nities may be mis s ed .

23. 3. The need to have a pac e to c hange thatis realis tic . W hils tthe
pac e ofc hange need s to be managed to ens u re thatc u s tomers
and family c arers feelable to partic ipate and c ontribu te
meaningfu lly this need s to be c ons id ered alongs id e the other
princ iples .

23. 4. The need to c ontinu e the open engagementwithand
partic ipation ofc u s tomers and family c arers . Itis c ons id ered
importantthatthe open engagementand trans parentd ebate that
has been the featu re of‘ P has e 1 ’ s hou ld c ontinu e. Itis feltthat
many c u s tomers and family c arers willbe keen to partic ipate in
the reviews ofc entres .

23. 5. The need to c ontinu e withthe c o-prod u c tion approac h. Itis felt
thatthe c o-prod u c tion proc es s has been helpfu land is likely to
be even more importantd u ringP has e 2 . Itis likely thats ervic e-
levelorc entre-bas ed c o-prod u c tion arrangements willbe s etu p,
overs een by the exis tingc o-prod u c tion grou p.

23. 6. The need to c ond u c treviews ofs ome c entres in parallel. Itis felt
thatthere are benefits ofreviewingc entres atthe s ame time.
This was feltmos tkeenly in relation to the c entres forad u lts with
learningd is abilities as (a)s ome c u s tomers attend more than one
c entre and (b)there are potentiald epend enc ies between the
s ervic es offered by the three c entres . Thes e is s u es are les s
s ignific antforold erpeople’ s s ervic es where a more pragmatic
and res ou rc e-d riven approac hmay be requ ired .

23. 7 . The need to be able to tes tou talternative s ervic e arrangements
withou tjeopard is ingthe exis tingones . The workd one s o farhas
s tarted to prod u c e a wid e range ofid eas abou tthe s hape of
fu tu re d ay s ervic e and there willbe a need to experimentwith
and pilotid eas and initiatives . There willals o be a need to c o-
ord inate thes e and to c aptu re and s hare learningfrom s u c h
ac tivities . Itis envis aged thatwhils tu s e c an be mad e ofexis ting
res ou rc es within c entres and els ewhere in the C ou nc ilthere is
likely to be a need forres ou rc es in ad d ition to this .

Page 217
Agenda item 18



23. 8 . The need to u nd ertake fu rtherc ons u ltation before making
irrevoc able c hanges to the exis tingc entres . Itwas
ac knowled ged thatthere are legal, governanc e and good
prac tic e req u irements thatd ic tate thatthe C ou nc ilwillneed to go
thou gha formalc ons u ltation and d ec is ion-makingproc es s
before any s ignific antand irrevoc able c hanges are mad e to any
c entre (s u c has c los u re).

24. W hils ta d etailed timetable forac tivities willbe d eveloped as partof
P has e 2 , itis reas onable to s eta targettimes c ale forthe c ompletion of
the programme ofc hange. Given the C ou nc il’ s c u rrentplans for
alternative provis ion a targetofthe end of20 2 0 is realis tic , althou ghitis
expec ted thatmu c h c an be ac c omplis hed wellbefore this d ate.

25. D u ringP has e 2 itis als o envis aged thatopportu nities willbe taken to
review c ommis s ioned d ay s ervic es and this willbe integrated withthe
princ iples and proc es s es s etou tabove.

Council Priorities

26. The propos ed ac tion s u pports allthe C ou nc il’ s priorities , lis ted below:

 Greatres id ents ervic es
 P rotec tingthe vu lnerable; improvingwellbeing
 C reatings trongerc ommu nities
 A more effic ientand res pons ive C ou nc il.

Corporate Implications

2 7 . W hils tthe s taffwho d eliverthe C ou nc il’ s d ay s ervic es are managed
throu ghthe S oc ialC are, H ealthand H ou s ingd irec torate there is
c ons id erable involvementofs tafffrom otherd irec torates s u c has
C ommu nity S ervic es whic hmanages the trans portarrangements and
the repairand maintenanc e ofthe bu ild ings . C hanges to s ervic es may
wellhave impac ts on thes e areas .

2 8 . S teps have been taken to involve s taffand managers from thes e areas
in workthu s farand this willc ontinu e in P has e 2 .

Legal Implications

29. The C are A c t20 14 c onfers on the C ou nc ilthe d u ty to meetthe c are and
s u pportneed s ofeligible people eitherby c ommis s ionings ervic es from
ind epend entorganis ation orby provid ingthe s ervic e d irec tly. The
C ou nc il’ s d ay s ervic es form partofthis provis ion. The C are A c tals o
plac es d u ties on the C ou nc ilto c arry ou tan as s es s mentofany c arer’ s
need s , whic hmay inc lu d e takingpartin ed u c ation, trainingand
rec reation.

30 . W here a C ou nc ilis c ontemplatingc hanges to c are and s u pports ervic es
ithas a pu blic law d u ty to c ons u ltwiththos e who wou ld be affec ted and
there is c leargu id anc e and prec ed entabou thow c ons u ltation s hou ld be
c ond u c ted and the partthey wou ld play in fu tu re d ec is ion-making.

Page 218
Agenda item 18



31 . C entralB ed ford s hire C ou nc ilhas a d u ty u nd erthe H u man Rights A c t
1998 to ens u re thatits ac tions are notinc ompatible withthe Rights
u nd erthe Eu ropean C onvention on H u man Rights , ‘ The C onvention’ .
The C ou nc ilwilltherefore need to c ons id erwhetherthe propos ed D ay
O fferis likely to breac hany ofthe s ervic e u s er’ s rights u nd erA rtic les 8 ,
3, and 2 . Ifthe d ec is ion is likely to breac hthe C onvention, the C ou nc il
willneed to explore any partic u larfac ts and d etermine ifs u c ha breac his
proportionate and ju s tified .

Financial and Risk Implications

32 . A s s tated in paragraph23. 7 there may be a requ irementforad d itional
revenu e expend itu re d u ringP has e 2 . Itis propos ed thatthis wou ld be
fu nd ed from expend itu re from the res erve id entified forS oc ialC are
Trans formation. This expend itu re wou ld be c ontrolled and managed
throu ghthe arrangements thatare pu tin plac e forthis res erve.

33. N o s ignific antu nmanaged ris ks have been id entified . A projec t
managementapproac hwillbe taken to the proc es s and this willinc lu d e
the id entific ation, as s es s ment, mitigation and managementofris ks
as s oc iated withthe ac tivities .

Equalities Implications

34. C entralB ed ford s hire C ou nc ilhas a s tatu tory d u ty to promote equ ality of
opportu nity and have d u e regard to the need to eliminate u nlawfu l
d is c rimination, haras s mentand vic timis ation and fos tergood relations in
res pec tofnine protec ted c harac teris tic s ; age d is ability, gend er
reas s ignment, marriage and c ivilpartners hip, pregnanc y and maternity,
rac e, religion orbelief, s ex and s exu alorientation.

35. A n Eq u ality Impac tA s s es s ment(EIA )has been c ompleted as partofthe
d evelopmentproc es s , and itis available as a bac kgrou nd d oc u ment.
M embers s hou ld read and c ons id erthe EIA before c omingto a d ec is ion
on the rec ommend ations in this report.

36. The EIA has id entified thatthe main protec ted c harac teris tic s thatd efine
u s ers ofd ay opportu nities are age and d is ability. A c hange to exis ting
d ay c entres and d ay opportu nities c ou ld therefore have the potentialto
have a d is proportionate effec ton thes e grou ps , es pec ially people that
are old er, have a phys ic ald is ability, have a learningd is ability, d ementia,
au tis m and thos e s u fferingfrom anxiety ord epres s ion.

37 . H owever, itis als o rec ognis ed thatthe d ay offer’ s key c omponents and
princ iples provid e a good bas is forthe d evelopmentofpers onalis ed
s ervic es thatmeetbothc arer’ s and c lients ’ need s . A s partofthis
proc es s the EIA has highlighted thatthou ghtwillneed to given to ways
ofd es ignings ervic es that:

Page 219
Agenda item 18



37 . 1 . Reflec tind ivid u alpreferenc es as to how c are and s u pportneed s
c an be met.

37 . 2 . M aximis e s tability and familiarity where appropriate to helpthos e
withthe trans ition to new s ervic es .

37 . 3. M aintain friend s hipgrou ps .
37 . 4. Ens u re there is a s pec ific c arer’ s offerforeac hs ervic e.

38 . D u ringP has e 2 the EIA willbe regu larly reviewed and itwillbe u pd ated
priorto any fu tu re d ec is ions ofthe Exec u tive abou tc hanges to s ervic es
orind ivid u alc entres .

Implications for Work Programming

39. A s s etou tin paragraph23. 2 there is a need to ens u re thatreviews of
c entres and any agreed c hanges are timetabled to take ac c ou ntofother
d evelopmentplans .

Next Steps

40 . Ifthe rec ommend ations in this reportare agreed offic ers (gu id ed by the
c o-prod u c tion grou p)wills tartto plan the review proc es s in line withthe
princ iples s etou tin paragraph23.

Background Documents

Equ ality Impac tA s s es s ment

Page 220
Agenda item 18



1

Appendix 1

Central Bedfordshire Council

Future Day Offer for Older People
and Adults with Disabilities

Response to Formal Consultation

Consultation closed 23 January 2017

Page 221
Agenda item 18



2

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Central Bedfordshire Council wants the best possible quality of life for all
its residents and is committed to developing the services it provides.
The Council operates eight day centres for adults, the majority of which
were built in the 1970’s and 1980’s. Five are primarily for older people,
and three for people with learning disabilities. A smaller service for
people with dementia has recently opened in Dunstable, located in Priory
View, and this has been excluded from this consultation.

1.2 The Council recognises that the provision of day opportunities to all client
groups needs to be modernised. This has been part of the core strategy
set in terms of improving outcomes for vulnerable people and moving
from institutional to personal solutions.

1.3 Around 300 older residents attend four larger day centres throughout the
area, and 350 access day opportunities at three centres for adults with
learning disabilities. These centres are under-utilised, with the older
people’s centres achieving around 70% in 2014/15 and the learning
disability centres around 30%, and numbers declining steadily year-on-
year.

1.4 In addition, the buildings themselves are outdated, costly to maintain and
no longer fit for purpose to meet the needs of customers who are
increasingly frail (in the case of older people) or increasingly favour
community-based provision (in the case of people with learning
disabilities).

1.5 This project is proposing exciting opportunity for customers and their
carers, the Council and its partners to improve this service to deliver “the
right offer, in the right place, at the right time using the right model” – it
aims to involve residents and key stakeholders in developing a
personalised service that focuses on the outcomes customers want to
achieve and meets their needs in a way that is right for them.

1.6 Pre-consultation engagement activities commenced in May 2016, this
included meeting with current customers, their families and carers to gain
an understanding of what is important to them and how they would like to
see day services provided in the future. We have also engaged with
wider stakeholders, including potential future users to get their views.
Over 800 responses were received from a wide range of people include
over 300 customers and over 60 carers (full report is available on
request).

1.7 The future day offer is based on the key components and principles
(identified below) that have been developed following the engagement
activities by a coproduction group.

Page 222
Agenda item 18



3

Key Components:

 Meet customer outcomes for social interaction, physical activity and
mental stimulation.

 Meet carer outcomes for respite and peace of mind.
 Meet customers’ care and support needs.

Principles:

 Promote and maintain independence in a way which is personalised,
flexible and responsive

 Promote learning in a stimulating and supportive environment
 Aim for integration and local community cohesion
 Maximise and support existing community capacity
 Maximise the use of community facilities that can be accessed by older

people and adults with disabilities

1.8 A formal consultation on the Future Day Offer for Older People and
Adults with a disability began on 24th October 2016 and lasted 13 weeks,
ending on 23rd January 2017.

1.9 To ensure all customers and their families are offered the opportunity to
respond to the consultation, a consultation pack which included the ‘Have
Your Say’ document which provides an overview of the Future Day Offer
and both a paper and online survey were produced. An easier read
version of the paper survey and ‘Have Your Say’ document was also
developed.

1.10 Additional consultation meetings took place with relatives and carers. A
summary of feedback from these meetings is provided within this report.
More detailed information is in appendix 4.

1.11 Full details of dissemination of the consultation pack is included in
appendix 6 of this report.

2. RESPONSE RECEIVED

2.1 The formal consultation was designed to capture both quantitative and
qualitative data from respondents, with results summarised as follows
(percentages are rounded up or down as appropriate).

2.2 The Council has received 102 responses (including 1 respondent who
has completed the survey on 2 occasions and 1 response completed
jointly by 2 people).

2.3 34% of respondents are customers of Central Bedfordshire Council day
services, 38% are relatives of carers using day services, and 27% are
other respondents including provider organisations or staff.

Page 223
Agenda item 18



4

2.4 37 (36%) respondents were male, 58 (57%) were female, 7 (7%)
respondents did not answer or are joint responses.

2.5 Respondents in age groups

16 – 24 1 (1%)
25 – 44 12 (12%)
45 – 64 33 (32%)
65+ 52 (51%)

Did not answer 4 (4%)

2.6 Appendix 1 provides a full demographic statistical profile of respondents

3. RESULTS OF CONSULTATION: QUESTION RESPONSES

3.1 Key Components:
Three key components have been identified which are important to the
day offer. These are:

a. Meet customer outcomes for social interaction, physical activity and
mental stimulation.

b. Meet carer outcomes for respite and peace of mind.
c. Meet customers’ care and support needs.

3.2 Q1. To what extent do you think that the key components in the
document incorporate what the day offer should be achieving?

Fully 72% 73
Partially 25% 25
Hardly at all 0 0
Not at all 1% 1
Did not answer 3% 3

97% of respondents felt that the key components at least partially covered
what a day offer should achieve. Further qualitative information was not
asked as part of this question.

3.3 Q2. Are there any additional key components that you think should
be added?

50 respondents provided feedback to this question. This is summarised
below:

Page 224
Agenda item 18



5

4 respondents referred to use of local services and support to access
other services
5 respondents felt that education and employment support should be
available within the offer/at day centres, one respondent identified they
work at Silsoe.
3 carers referred to additional support for family carers including travel and
respite.
2 respondents felt that there needed to more focus on dementia and
support for people affected by dementia.
4 respondents suggested access to alternative activities within the day
centre.
3 respondents felt that there needed to be a focus on staffing including
availability and communications.
5 respondents said that the customer’s needs should be considered in the
offer.
4 respondents raised concerns of sustainability of services and wanted
reassurance that consideration of peoples opinions are considered in any
future policy change.
19 respondents stated they had nothing to add and/or the document
covered ‘it all’

3.4 Q3. Are there any aspects of the key components section that you
think should be amended?

37 respondents provided feedback to this question. This is summarised
below:

2 respondents made reference to more access to local communities.
4 respondents said the key components should focus on customer need
and ability and that the building/facilities should meet those needs.
1 respondent said that dementia support needs to be improved in day
centres.
1 respondent stated employment support should be key for people of a
working age.
1 respondent referenced financial implications
1 respondent suggested improving the facilities for staff
1 respondent said that the key components could be expanded but did not
provide further detail
1 respondent commented on the level information provided in the
consultation documents
1 respondent included a more detailed response on additional sheets
24 respondents stated they had nothing to add and/or the document
covered ‘the important points’

Page 225
Agenda item 18



6

3.5 Principles:
Five principles have been identified which are important to the day offer

3.6 Q4. Principle 1: Promote and maintain independence in a way which
is personalised, flexible and responsive.

How important is it to you that the future day offer should achieve the
points in Principle 1 in the document?

Very important 89% 91
Quite important 9% 9
Not very important 2% 2
Not important at all 0 0
Did not answer 0 0

98% of people responding felt that promoting impendence flexibly and in a
personalised way an important principle for the future day offer.
Further qualitative feedback was not asked as part of this question.

3.7 Q5. Principle 2: Promote learning in a stimulating and supportive
environment.

How important is it to you that the future day offer should achieve the
points in Principle 2 in the document?

Very important 71% 72
Quite important 21% 21
Not very important 5% 5
Not important at all 2% 2
Did not answer 2% 2

92% of respondents felt that promoting learning in a stimulating
environment was an important principle in the future day offer.
Further qualitative information was not asked as part of this question.

3.8 Q6. Principle 3: Aim for integration and local community cohesion.

How important is it to you that the future day offer should achieve the
points in Principle 3 in the document?

Very important 65% 66
Quite important 24% 25
Not very important 4% 4
Not important at all 3% 3
Did not answer 4% 4

89% of respondents felt that integration and community cohesion is an
important principle in the future day offer.

Page 226
Agenda item 18



7

Further qualitative information was not asked as part of this question.

3.9 Q7. Principle 4: Maximise and support existing community capacity.

How important is it to you that the future day offer should achieve the
points in Principle 4 in the document?

Very important 70% 70
Quite important 24% 24
Not very important 6% 6
Not important at all 0 0
Did not answer 2% 2

94% of respondents stated that maximising and supporting community
capacity is an important principle in the future day offer.
Further qualitative information was not asked as part of this question.

3.10 Q8. Principle 5: Maximise the use of community facilities that can
be accessed by older people and adults with disabilities

How important is it to you that the future day offer should achieve the
points in Principle 5 in the document?

Very important 74% 75
Quite important 18% 18
Not very important 3% 3
Not important at all 1% 1
Did not answer 5% 5

92% of respondents said that accessing community facilities is an
important principle within the future day offer.
Further qualitative information was not asked as part of this question.

3.11 Q9. Are there any additional principles that you think should be
added?

40 respondents provided feedback to this question. This has been
summarised below:

2 respondent stated education activities to support life skills should be
included.
3 respondents referred to different types of activities and transport to be
included in the future offer
6 respondents questioned how the changes will be initiated and offered
solutions of engagement
2 respondents suggested alternative approached to gaining customer
feedback

Page 227
Agenda item 18



8

2 responses stated that the day centres work well as they are
1 respondent said that day opportunities support carers and services
1 respondent made reference to financial implications
23 respondents stated they had nothing to add and/or the ‘everything is
fully covered’

3.12 Q.10 Are there any aspects of the principles section that you think
should be amended?

32 respondents provided feedback to this question. This has been
summarised below:

1 respondent stated staff training would be required to achieve the
principles
1 person suggested outreach for customer unable to attend day services
i.e. home visits
1 respondent suggested employment support should be key for people
with learning disabilities
2 respondents referred to additional activities including daily life skills such
as finances, cooking etc.
1 respondent said they agreed in principle but felt dementia support
needed to be included
1 respondent’s feedback is detailed in the addendum below
1 respondent suggested re-allocating funding to support disabled people
24 respondents stated they had nothing further to add.

3.13 Q.11 Do you have any further comments on the proposal?

48 respondents provided feedback to this question. This has been
summarised below:

3 respondents raised concerns over sustainability of the new proposal and
if they were ‘realistic’.
5 people said that they liked the day centres as they are or suggested
improvements and access to community facilities
3 respondents stated more training and support is needed for people
affected by dementia
1 person has suggested the use of alternative services/supported
accommodation.
2 respondents offered suggestions around coproduction and
commissioning approaches.
1 person questioned the term ‘day centre’
3 respondents said they didn’t understand the paperwork or needed more
space – additional feedback on the addendum below.
3 respondents highlighted the need for transport to access day
opportunities
2 respondents stated that reassurance through and change is services is
important for customers

Page 228
Agenda item 18



9

1 respondent said that more day opportunities are needed
1 respondent suggested raising the profile of adults with learning
disabilities and access to mentors.
1 response was made on behalf of the customer that more information is
needed to provide thoughts of future options
23 respondents stated they had no further comment or they were very
happy with what has been proposed

3.14 Details of the qualitative information can be seen in appendix 2 & 3 of
this report.

4. SUMMARY

4.1 In summary, the majority of the 102 respondents support the key
principles and components proposed as part of the future day offer.
Promoting independence, including gaining employment and supporting
more access to community facilities have been identified important areas
to people responding to the consultation. However concerns around a
‘one size fits all’ approach have been raised, with requests for
reassurance that customer need will be central to any future
developments. Further investigation into services for people affected by
Dementia has also been suggested.

4.2 Other comments received included the request for ongoing communication
between the Council and affected stakeholders as well as clarification and
reassurance over possible impact on residents, cost implications and the
redevelopment of existing sites.

4.3 In addition, to enable effected people to contribute feedback to the
consultation further consideration should be made in relation to the
audience when developing consultation materials. This should include the
methods and channels used.

5. Central Bedfordshire Council Response:

5.1 The Council is grateful for all of the comments received and is pleased
with the level of engagement of current customers and their relatives and
will continue to dialogue closely with them as the future of each centre is
considered.

5.2 The Council notes the amount of feedback that states that services are
really valued by customers and play a vital role in supporting carers.

5.3 The Council acknowledges that for some respondents the documents
were too corporate in their language and the questions were hard to

Page 229
Agenda item 18



10

grasp. An easier to read version of the day offer was produced and
customers were helped to respond by staff who went through the offer and
the questions with them. The Council will ensure that a wide range of
methods are used to help everyone to participate, and that future
documents are written as simply as possible.

5.4 Some common themes emerged around dementia, training in life skills
including employment, and increasing the range of activities on offer. The
Council will ensure that the Day Offer is revised to more clearly include
these elements.

5.5 The Council agrees that staff working with older people should be trained
to deal with dementia, and that the physical environment needs to be
designed appropriately with activities suitable for customers and will revise
the Day Offer accordingly.

5.6 The Council agrees that for working age adults, learning and developing
new skills that may open up wider opportunities is very important and we
will revise the Day Offer accordingly.

5.7 Customers highly value activities, along with the social aspects,
irrespective of age or disability. Any future offer needs to consider how to
expand the range of activities on offer along with associated support and
transport arrangements.

5.8 Although they were purpose-built the Council does not agree that current
buildings are suitable to meet the needs of current and future customers
as the needs and aspirations of the customers as a group have changed.

5.9 The Council does not agree that because change might be more difficult
for some customers and carers that this is a reason to avoid change. What
is clear from the response of many customers is that they want the
opportunity to develop and try new things. The Council does recognise
that future changes need to be managed carefully and sensitively and be
mindful of the needs of customers both individually and as a group.

5.10 The Council does not intend to impose a ‘one size fits all’ solution and
recognises the wide spectrum of customers using current day services. It
believed that the principles of personalisation should apply to each
customer.

5.11 A number of other comments have been made as part of the consultation
that relate to the detail of how the Day Offer may be implemented once it
has been agreed. These comments will be borne in mind and will provide
a starting point to the reviews of individual centres or services.

Appendix 1:

Page 230
Agenda item 18



11

Results of Consultation: Demographic Profile of Respondents

No. Percentage
Q12: Are you a: (please select one option)

Customer using Central Bedfordshire Council
day services 34 34%
Carer/Relative (provide unpaid support to someone
With an illness or disability) 39 39%
I am a customer using other day services 1 1%
I am a relative of someone who uses day services
(not carer) 5 5%
Staff (Central Bedfordshire Council) 3 3%
Provider Organisation 2 2%
Other* 14 14%
No Response 2 2%

* Other respondents include resident of Central Bedfordshire, potential user of day
services in the future, college representatives

Q13: Are you male or female? (please select one option)

Male 37 36%

Female 58 57%

No response/Joint response 7 7%

Q14: What is your age? (please select one option)

Under 16 0 0%
16-24 1 1%
25-44 12 12%
45-64 33 32%
65+ 52 51%
Preferred not to say or did not answer 4 4%

Q15: Do you have any longstanding illness, disability or informality (long
standing means anything that has troubled you over a period of time or that is
likely to affect you over a period of time)?

Yes 54 53%
No 40 39%
Preferred not to say or did not answer 8 8%

Appendix 2 - Results of Consultation: Full Qualitative Feedback

Page 231
Agenda item 18



12

Q2. Are there any additional key components that you think should be
added?

 No
 Yes. When staff are on holiday staff should be able to cover so that the

service is not short-staffed
 None
 No
 Offering activities such as art or pottery and a daily quiz to keep one's

mind active

 I think we must talk to one another more and also to the staff
 No, I think the document covers it fully
 No
 I like work at Silsoe
 No
 I think the day centre my Mother attends in LB is certainly helping her. It

would be good to encourage guests to bring pictures etc. She opens up
when she visits the past and enjoys other peoples stories

 Form sub-committee
 No
 Have open days (6 monthly) to enable carers to meet staff and receive

briefings. How about a day out for those able? Discuss costing
 No
 No
 For customers to have and be supported to gain paid sustainable

employment
 Use this consultation as a platform to bring attention to the fact that there

is very little respite accommodation available

 No
 No
 No
 No
 Basic education may be established in day centres such as time, day of

week, money and its worth, interaction with others in society

 No
 Support for independent advice and accessing services
 Sustainability
 No
 No
 Local services being used.
 Improve quality of care
 No
 Support with travel and support for carers
 Ensure those providing the care have the capacity to do so and continue

to
 No doing all right

Page 232
Agenda item 18



13

 It would be nice if there was something on helping older people on trips
e.g. garden centres and places of interest. My husband cannot walk very
well so cannot go on public transport so other than the day centre he
doesn't go out.

 Less money for older people as they voted for Brexit even though they
are the biggest drain on the public finances

 More staffing
 Dementia sufferers are not mentioned. To date day care for people with

dementia is to say the least poor. Due to lack of trained staff and staffing
levels in general.

 Ability to deliver this consistently- no good setting the sky and then not
being able to maintain it

 Get outside organisations like the W.I. members to give ladies a helping
hand with sewing, knitting and helping by contributing to their charity as
well

 Any health or physical disabilities would be determined when planning
any new activity.

 As an older person with physical disabilities, I don't want to socialise with
people with mental disabilities or dementia. I'm very uncomfortable with
them. I would be very happy to meet carers to get their feelings on how
people like myself can help to improve their*

 Guarantee from the council that any change of policy's are fully discussed
with all party’s, as day centres for adults who are mentally or physically
handicapped are an absolute life line for carers.

 I feel it is important for training in the understanding of dementia in places
where dementia customers are cared for. Very difficult condition to
understand.

 I think for some people the need for a routine and familiar place and the
provision of nutrition is important

 I think that day centres are boring because there are no activities there
 Links with adult education groups.
 Provide services that are easily understood by their customers including

taster sessions
 Some sort of simple scoring system that identifies progress or regress per

individual. That would help to give the right sort of required care

* data/information missing from response

Q3. Are there any aspects of the key components section that you think
should be amended?

 No
 No
 Considering community and individual assets, how can people service

users and carers connect with their local communities.
 How about links with local businesses, cafe's etc.
 No
 We must get to meet the customers and get more care and support

when needed

Page 233
Agenda item 18



14

 Again, I think the document covers the important information
 No
 No
 Nothing comes to mine
 Yes
 No
 No
 No
 Employment should be a key component, whilst we accept this is not

necessarily a key component for older people it is for those of working
age

 No, I agree with everything that it states should happen
 No
 No
 Some customers like to talk quietly to their friends and find this worse in

large rooms and/or continuous music difficult. It is also difficult to engage
with some of the more challenging customers and they may feel they
don't get the best value for their money

 No
 No
 No
 No
 No
 It would be easier if the Q numbers on the questionnaire corresponded

to those in the Have Your Say document
 No
 No
 None.
 The key component section should be positioned/make emphasis to the

needs of an individual (e.g. based on nature of disability) and not just a
'one size fits all' approach

 No
 No
 See previous
 Small building
 You can't meet carer peace of mind if your centres can't take proper

care of people with dementia.
 Yes, by engaging more staff and improving their wages. To get better

results by ladies to come into the centres. Better results all round for
everyone.

Q9. Are there any additional principles that you think should be added?

 No
 No
 No
 No

Page 234
Agenda item 18



15

 Everything is fully covered and I feel it is doing well
 No
 No. If these principles are achieved then progress can be made
 I don't feel qualified to add to what is being done. There are so many

variables in guests that the staff have very challenging work which they do
very well

 Flower arranging
 No
 No
 No
 That a strategic approach should be utilised to identify and shape services

for customers with LD using their EHEP which should state what they
would like from real services

 No
 No
 Ref. principle 2 - it may be better to have quizzes in smaller groups rather

than all customers together

 No
 Life skills education and relationships with others in the community
 No
 Aids to help improve communication between carers and the services
 Fairness and transparency are very important. It is obvious that major

changes are envisaged so developing trust is essential at each step of the
way as this consultation is the first building block in a long process.

 For us, transport to and from day care is very important
 No
 No
 Due to insufficient space on this form and a 'word limit' online an

addendum has been attached
 Education and more activities
 No
 No
 None.
 Less money for the older generation as they voted for Brexit
 More different things to do
 These are all fine statements which mean nothing. Setting targets is one

thing; actually doing something to achieve a result is not so easy.
 Try to get people to look forward to what is on offer for them on same days

every week. I am sure you will get a better response if they concentrate on
the same day every week.

 No
 This could be discussed at meetings rather than on these forms, which,

although the intention is excellent, they are very tiring for old eyes and tired
brains. Good ideas come about by discussion and chat.

 That the services should be tested for their appropriateness to their
customers before they are commissioned and frequently(at least annually)
thereafter

Page 235
Agenda item 18



16

 Not at present
 No
 Day centres in their current form should continue to exist - they are a

proven benefit to communities (x2 – duplicate response)

Q.10 Are there any aspects of the principles section that you think should
be amended?

 No
 No
 No
 No
 No
 As above
 No
 Pottery clay making
 No
 No
 No
 Employment and shaping through EHEP for customers with LD
 I agree with all the principles set out
 No
 No
 Principle 5 - visits in the past were much appreciated, especially by

customers who do not get out much but I understand that risk assessments
are difficult

 No
 No
 No
 Not especially.
 None
 No
 Due to insufficient space on this form and a 'word limit' online an addendum

has been attached
 No its fine
 No
 None
 Give the money saved on the older generation to the disabled exclusively
 First of all you need competent staff in the day centres and enough suitably

trained staff before making far reaching principles.
 No
 I agree in principal with 2.2 A, but the dementia customers need different

care as making decisions is usually the most difficult thing for them and are
actually not usually able to make a decision that is good for them.

 Not at present
 Promote learning - add 'reinforce existing life skills'. Encourage clients to

Page 236
Agenda item 18



17

improve reading, number, money and cooking skills. Adult 'life skills' college
courses are very difficult to access.

Q.11 Do you have any further comments on the proposal?

 Excellent in principle, wish you all the very best and success in its
implementation

 I would like to keep it as a day centre to still be able to meet friends and be
part of a group

 Ensuring the understanding and importance of an asset based approach to
enable people to recognise their contribution of their own care and support.

 A step in the right direction
 The proposals are comprehensive and well thought out providing a matrix

for ongoing action.
 In 'c' and 'vi' day centre in Leighton Buzzard is only offered Monday to Friday

10-3, not 9-4 as stated. Why can't clients in Leighton Buzzard have day care
from 9-4?

 No
 I am very happy with the proposals and excited to hear more about them
 No
 As above
 No
 Trips to Dunstable downs and Woburn park
 No
 My concern is with dementia, if the person writing this has never

encountered dementia they have no idea of the problem. But I applaud you
all for trying, many never bother

 I can't help but think this will have higher cost implications. However I am in
favour of improvements if possible

 No
 I am pleased that CBC are doing this, I think it may have been worth asking

people for perhaps more radical ideas whilst being clear about financial
constraints

 Has consideration been given to the "name" of a future day care service?
 It is important for them to feel valued and promote reassurance and support

them when facing new experiences

 No
 No
 No
 More day centres are required in the area with possible interaction between

them for the clients to interact with skills
 R uses Potton buses to the centre and his part time voluntary job and the

council is going to cut this service so he will be really depressed if he cannot
get to and from Biggleswade

 Transport is a key issue, particularly for people with a physical disability. The
venues next to take into consideration the areas for supporting people
(adults) with personal hygiene to ensure there is enough space if someone

Page 237
Agenda item 18



18

is physically disabled.

 No
 The quality of the new day offer is paramount. The co-production in

designing the method of evaluation of both the commissioning process and
the delivery of the services forming the new day offer would assist this.

 This is a difficult questionnaire to fill in! There are aspects of each principle
that are relevant and most that aren't

 No
 No
 Due to insufficient space on this form and a 'word limit' online an addendum

has been attached
 Services should be sustainable not offered and withdrawn when budgets are

cut
 Very good
 I do not fully understand the paperwork
 None
 Making activities different and fun for users. Not having extremely repetitive

activities every time
 No
 It sounds like pie in the sky. Central Bedfordshire is out of touch with the

reality of what goes on at their day centres.
 Aim to raise the profile of adults with learning disabilities by using not only

local facilities but also business and general workplaces where suitable
mentors might be sought.

 The day centres with the right staff,, could make a huge difference to adults
with learning an physically disability, help the ones that are able move in to
shared supported living or a house with 24/7 staff, all houses should have no
more than 5/6 bedrooms.

 The proposals seem very good to me. Mixing the customers with different
needs seems to be what many people think is good but if that happens then
the spread of staff with all the relevant training is important.

 No
 No
 Yes. For older people 65+ and those with dementia, integration into

universal services is not an acceptable solution. Particularly for those with
dementia the current thinking is that specialist services must be provided
with specialist staff and environment (x2 – duplicate response)

 There is scope to build the capacity of the local voluntary sector to provide a
wider range of day activities for people. This includes making more use of
community assets such as Village Halls; and providing small grants to seed
fund activities and grow the market

 Note from Carer: please note that after due consideration and having chatter
to P about "Day Care Services", we have not completed questions 6 - 11
inclusive. Although P thoroughly enjoys sometimes accessing the
community from the centre at Biggleswade and Silsoe, your definition and
degree of 'care in the community' at present does not seem clear. It would
be more appropriate for him to make these choices when we know exactly
what the options are.

Page 238
Agenda item 18



19

 Accessing the community will probably involve more staff and transport to
get them there. Will the funds be there to meet this?

Page 239
Agenda item 18



20

Appendix 3 – Individual Customer/Carer Feedback (surveys)

Addendum information provided by Mr V received via email on 13 January 2017
– feedback above stated insufficient space on the survey to provide full
feedback:

This addendum accompanies my response form for the consultation – Day
Offer for Older People and Adults with Disabilities.

This addendum has been used as the response form does not [allow] sufficient
space to reply and the on-line form has a character limit.

General Comments:

The requirements of older individuals and those with severe learning difficulties
are in some cases extremely different – therefore I would suggest that two be
viewed under separate lenses and not attempt to find a ‘one size fits all’
solution. With this in mind, the key components section of this consultation
should make greater emphasis of the ‘needs of an individual (i.e. based on the
level of disability).

Q9: See comments below.

Q10: Comments should be requested separately for each of the subprinciples
as it is difficult to provide a generic response where there may e some of the
sub-principles that a respondent strongly disagrees with. The key with these
principles is based on ‘how’ as the ‘what’ largely makes sense. Families and
carers will be extremely interested in the ‘how’ as should the ‘how’ not be
effective then it’s the individual users of the services and their family and carers
that will suffer and the quality of care may be jeopardised.

Further comments on each of the sections of this consultation paper are
provided below:

Section 2.1A (ii) – ‘wanting to make new friends’. This may be the case for
individuals with less severe learning difficulties but it does not apply to all
individuals especially those that are more restricted. Increasing friendships can
be achieved using day trips into the community (i.e. leisure facilities and other
services) and not by solely relocation.

Section 2.1A (v) – not for all individuals as it depends on the nature of the
disability.

Section 2.1A (iii) – and Section 2.1A (vii) – both recognise that change (i.e.
location/environment) may not be beneficial and in some cases extremely
disruptive for users that need routine and structure.

Section 2.1A (viii) – this is generalising statement, misleading and misinformed.
As an individual that has ‘difficulty communicating and/or taking part in activities’

Page 240
Agenda item 18



21

the crucial point is the type of activities that this statement alludes to. For
example, it has been suggested that it may be appropriate to relocate to the
leisure centre and participate in activities on site. With the exception of
swimming which is beneficial and physically therapeutic and can be achieved by
an excursion from the current day centre, the other activities in which
participation/benefits are available (e.g. sports, boiling [sic] bowling, theatre) are
very limited.

Section 2.1B (ii) – this is essential. However, the proposed location of the
leisure centre does not service or improve the purposed built day care building.
Such public locations with high traffic of users may create an unsafe
environment and may not serve the needs of the individual.

Section 2.1B (iii) and Section 2.1B (iv) – agree entirely. More focus should be
placed on attracting and employing such staff that go above and beyond and
are not entrenched in their ways. Consistency of staff is important to ensure
that a better understanding of individual needs and likes/dislikes. Staff should
always communicate effectively and take the lead from families / primary carers
whose knowledge of individuals is undisputed and unquestionable. This is an
area which needs much more improvement. Perhaps families/primary carers
should be involved in choosing/selecting ‘key workers’.

Section 2.1B (v) – concur. Perhaps the council should assist in setting up a
regular forum so that families/primary carers can continue to interact and feel
they have a voice. This would be of great support to families/primary carers
who often feel isolated and unheard regarding any concerns that they must
have. It is important that appropriate action is taken when concerns are raise,

Section 2.1C (i) – see comments for Section 2.1B (iii) and Section 2.1B (iv). In
addition, training and qualifications is essential but a deep understanding of an
individual and compassion is not something that training courses can provide.

Section 2.1C (ii) and Section 2.1C (iv) – agree and therefore would suggest that
the leisure centre proposal would not facilitate this.

Section 2.2(A-C) – agree. However, these sub-principles are generic and
should be based on individual capabilities.

Section 2.2D (1 and iii) – see comments above for Section 2.1B (iii), Section
2.1B (iv) and Section 2.1C (i).

Section 2.2D (ii) – providing that this does not replace staff made in reference to
feedback in relation to Section 2.1B (iii) and Section 2.1B (iv).

Section 2.2D (iv) – yes but within reason as it is also acknowledged in these
principles that families/ primary carers require respite.

Section2.2E – the fulfilment of this principle should be undertaken first
considering how to better use pre-existing facilities (e.g. Townsends centre) that
where constructed it a ‘fit for purpose’ manner. Capacity could be expanded so

Page 241
Agenda item 18



22

long as there are appropriate staffing levels. This facility has a canteen/kitchen
which is unused and large spaces for which individuals to participate in many
activities. In addition, excursions could be organisation to use other ‘council-
owned’ facilities such as the leisure centre for those individuals that could
benefit from the activities offered.

Should an alternative site be proposed, then this must meet the needs of all
individuals without the exclusion of a few. Continuity is important for all
individuals with learning difficulties and a ‘base’ which is fit for purpose, is safe,
does not have excessive human traffic and provides activities beyond that of the
leisure centre is vital. For some individuals who are less able to participate in
some of the activities prescribed during our meeting, consideration should be
afforded to ensure that their needs are met.

Q11: The ‘principle and drivers’ prescribed in the section ‘What is behind this
consultation?’ are broadly fine. However, the sub-principle under ‘We want to
deliver better value for money’ states that some of the facilities are ‘old-
fashioned, institutional buildings that are increasingly not right for the people
who use them’. Although this may be the case for some services it is important
to note that this does not apply to all. Some buildings are purpose built and
provide the space needed to ensure a safe environment for its users. This is
particularly true of the Townsend centre, which although not used to its fullest
potential, it does have the space in which users can move freely and undertake
a number of activities (when offered). This level of continuity is very important
for some of its users.

Another sub-principle in this same section states that the aim is to ‘focus
resources more on providing good care and support’. This statement is by
virtue be aligned with the preceding paragraph and more focus should be
applied to providing more personalised care in purpose built surroundings that
can accommodate the needs of its users.

In addition, ‘good care and support’ can be improved by the staff employed –
those that are enthusiastic and view caring as a vocation. Many times staff are
entrenched in their views and so not free to receive or use feedback of
concerns from users and their families. Although day care centres are not
regulated by the QCA, formal reviews/inspections with the participation of users
and their families should be applied. This will ensure that the use of council
proceeds is maximised to crease a service of a higher standard.

Given the comments and made above in relation to this consultation
being very broad in terms of the individual’s effected (i.e. the
requirements of older individuals and those with severe learning
difficulties are in some cases extremely different) therefore I would
suggest that two be viewed under separate lenses and not attempt to find
a ‘one-size fits all’ solution. It is therefore important for families and users
to be involved in the formulation of any Executive decision (well in
advance of any decision) so that more detailed proposals can be tested
based on the requirements of the abilities of the users concerned.

Page 242
Agenda item 18



23

Addendum information provided by Mr & Mrs B received on 19 January 2017

We do appreciate the consideration which has been given to cover all aspects
of this project; however we do have some concerns which we hope you will be
able to allay.

Q7, Principle 4:
We all hope that our relatives will integrate as well as they are able into society,
but still believe that they need a permanent purpose built or adapted building as
a base. By ticking the box and thus agreeing with ‘maximising and supporting
community capacity’ we are concerned that we would be going away from
having a base building.
It would seem that engaging more in the community would require more staff
and extra transport to get them to and from these community activities.

(ii) VOLUNTEERS – volunteers would provide a welcome addition to existing
staff where appropriate, but with work or family commitments in today’s society,
securing the people on a regular basis may be difficult.

(iv) ENCOURAGE CARERS TO PARTICIPATE IN SERVICES – it is unclear as
to what this means. You have already mentioned in point (iii) about
communication links with carers and relative so are you asking them to be more
active in this day care support as well – they may not be in a position to do this.

For these reason we have not completed questions 7 and 8.

GATEWAY CLUB
Biggleswade Gateway provides evening activities every Thursday for many
clients with learning difficulties. For them to lose this facility would be
detrimental to their well-being.

We do hope that you will give consideration to the points in which we have
raised, and alleviate the concerns which her have about our relatives future.

Page 243
Agenda item 18



24

Appendix 4 - Customer and Relatives meetings:

Meetings were held for family members/carers at each of the day centres to
provide them with the opportunity for face to face conversation provide
feedback on the consultation.
Meetings were open for family members across the service; they did not have to
attend the centre their relative attends.

Details of meetings are available on request

Venue Date
No of

Attendees

Silsoe Horticultural Centre
Friday 2nd December 2016
2:00pm – 3:30pm

4

Leighton Buzzard Centre
Wednesday 7th December
10:00am – 12:00pm

9

Houghton Regis Centre
Friday 9th December
10:30am – 12:30pm

4

Biggleswade Older Peoples
Centre

Tuesday 13th December
10:00am -12:00pm

0

Biggleswade Learning
Disability Centre

Wednesday 14th December
10:00am – 12:00pm

8

Ampthill Day Centre
Thursday 15th December
2:00pm – 4:00pm

0

Townsend Centre
Friday 16th December
10:00am – 12:00pm

7

Silsoe Horticultural Centre - summary of the points raised include:
 Having routine is very important; having to go somewhere different would

disrupt customer’s routine and not help their development.
 The day centre encourages our relative to be more independent and staff

at the centre are excellent at supporting this.
 What do customers in other day centres do?
 Silsoe Horticultural Centre provides an important service, without it the

family would struggle.

Houghton Regis Day Centre - summary of the points raised include:
 There needs to be consideration of the impact of change on people with

dementia
 We need for ‘weekend support’, that is something that is not available at

the moment
 What are the alternative venues/activities?
 The future offer needs to include more joined up services, at the moment

everything is fragmented

Page 244
Agenda item 18



25

 Has there been any thought on refurbishing current centres?

Townsend Day Centre - summary of the points raised include:
 Would transport still be provided if the location of the centre changes?
 It is important to recognise that not everyone can participate in the

activities available at leisure centres, so what benefit would they get from
being based at this kind of place?

 Will other venues have appropriate (changing) facilities?
 Keeping things the same will keep customers happy, changing this could

disrupt them and cause upset.
 Will the same staff move to where the new day services are based?
 Where would all the customers go if Townsend closed down?
 Why would you want to get rid of this building? Why not keep it as it is?
 Are these changes because of budget cuts?

Biggleswade LD Day Centre - summary of the points raised include:
 Some expressed that they liked things as they were, and were worried

that any change will be disruptive both to their relatives and to them.
 For people with mild dementia it is important for them to be integrated

with other older people to retain skills, but for people with advanced
dementia it may not be.

 Discussion around various options if building had to close, ranging from
repurposing some of building to rebuilding totally and where it would be.

Leighton Buzzard OP Day Centre - summary of the points raised include:
 Some people were worried that any change will be disruptive both to their

relatives and to them.
 One person said her son had just started at Silsoe this summer and he

really loves it, he spends 2-3 days at college and 2 at Silsoe, hopes it will
continue.

 Concern was raised if centres close there would be nothing in its place.
 One relative was concerned that the family were not involved or

consulted when a review was carried out at the centre. The relative had
dementia so they did not get a true picture of their capabilities.

 Concern was raised that if centres became too small there wouldn’t be
enough stimulation for those with lower levels of dementia.

NB. Ampthill and Biggleswade OP Day Centres – no attendance

Page 245
Agenda item 18



26

Additional meetings were held between day centre staff and customers to
discuss the consultation:

Staff have been discussing the consultation and providing reassurance when
needed.

There has been minimal feedback from customers accessing the older people’s
day centres via these meetings. It is possible that family members are taking
the lead on commenting on the consultation via the survey or attendance at
Carer meetings.

Meetings have also been held at centres for adults with learning disabilities.
These meetings have been supported by Right Track and Pohwer Advocacy
services. The general consensus is that the future offer should include more
choice and more well trained staff that have experience. Customers also said
they want the same staff and stay with their friends.

In additional to this, customer found the easy read version of the questionnaire
a bit easier to understand but still needed the staff to explain it to them.

Page 246
Agenda item 18



27

Appendix 5 – Response from Representative Group(s)

The consultation was discussed at the Learning Disabilities Delivery Partnership
Board – 22 December 2016

Voice Group Feedback – Sandra Pearce (Pohwer) gave feedback:

Sandra at Pohwer told us about the feedback from groups on the Future Day
Offer for Older People and Adults with Learning Disabilities:

 Everyone agreed with the Council’s idea to do this
 People wanted more sports/community centre activities rather than being

in a day centre all day
 Housing – everyone wants different things. Some people would prefer a

flat or bungalow. Some people like a garden and some do not. Everyone
agreed, though, on things like being independent, having good transport
links or being near a town/village and having a comfortable home.

Page 247
Agenda item 18



28

Questions and Answers asked by received from Ruth Featherstone, Co-
Chair of the Older Peoples Network, Central Bedfordshire and responded
to by the Future Day Offer Project Group - 24 August 2016

1. Why offer day opportunities at all? Is it a statutory duty?

Day services as such are not a statutory service. However, the provision of
necessary care and support following an assessment is a duty. The way
some local authorities meet this need is through the offer of day
opportunities, or day services. These can be run by local authorities or by
other providers including voluntary groups. Some people may be offered a
personal budget or direct payment and use this to access a more
personalised or individual opportunity.

2. Who will have the opportunity of a day opportunity?

Currently this is an assessed service so people need to be referred by a
social worker following a care and support assessment. It may be that part
of a future day offer is to open up this provision to people with lower levels of
need that don’t meet current eligibility criteria. If we did this we would need
to work out how the costs of providing such a service would be met.

3. Who can refer people to day opportunities:

 Self-referral?

 G.P?

 Social worker?

 Carer?

 Falls service?

 O.Ts?

 Emergency services: police, fire, ambulance?

 Advocate?

 Age UK?

 Faith group leader?

 Community Nurse?

 Community Agent?

 Chiropodist?

 Food bank?

Anyone can refer but all are dealt with through an assessment of need
conducted by adult social care.

Page 248
Agenda item 18



29

4. Will the day opportunities be local so I can get there easily without a

tiring journey?

We would like future services to be as local as possible to minimise travel
time.

5. Who pays?

As with all assessed care and support services, day services are
chargeable, with a means-tested client contribution. This process is called
Fairer Charging. Depending on their means some people pay the full cost,
some a proportion and some nothing at all.

6. How will I get there?

Currently most people use transport provided by the council, but some make
their own arrangements using family or friends or taxis.

7. How often can I go there?

As part of the social care assessment and the planning of services to meet
your needs there would be a care and support plan agreed with you. This
would include the number of days that you would be attending a centre.

8. Will I still have to pay if I can’t attend because I am ill or have other

appointments or family events?

No. People are currently only charged for days they attend.

9. Will the day opportunities be tailored to my needs?

We are in the process of collating responses from current day centre
customers and their relatives. This feedback and similar future feedback will
be used to create a more varied programme of activities for the day centre
and pin-point any extra care people believe should be available at the
centres so we can help tailor opportunities to individual needs.

10.May I be part of suggesting the array of day opportunities offered, now

and over time?

Yes customers are consulted about what is offered and we would encourage
this. We would like this to be at the core of what we offer in the future.

11.Will the providers know about me and keep me safe?

Yes they are given information about you through the care and support plan,
and safety and safeguarding is a priority.

Page 249
Agenda item 18



30

12.I live alone and can feel lonely; will I be eligible as there is nothing

physically wrong with me?

Social isolation is one of the criteria we use to assess care and support
needs so this would be taken into account.

13.If there is something troubling me can someone at a day opportunity

help signpost me to other services that may be able to help?

Yes the staff are a valuable source of information.

14.Will I have to pay for refreshments at the day opportunities and miss

out if I don’t have money on me?

Meals and snacks are available and charged over and above any charge for
attendance. Many people pay these through a regular invoice, others prefer
to pay at the centre; the choice is yours.

15.I am not good at making friends; will you help me make a few friends at

the day opportunity?

We want to encourage friendships and the meeting of new people at the day
centres. In recent feedback we have received the idea of the day centre
being successful at giving people opportunities for company and to make
new friends was widely praised. Staff can help introduce customers to each
other and during activity times individuals can meet and chat with others on
their table easily.

16.Will my carer be able to attend sometimes or every time or if they

don’t/can’t attend can they be involved in discussions about my

preferences, medical care etc.?

Yes carers are welcome to visit. When your needs are discussed it is up to
you whether you want a carer or friend there as well.

17.Sometimes my disability or frailty makes it awkward for me to do

things, will you preserve my dignity and encourage me to try?

In the day centres we want to encourage people to maintain their
independence however this will be done in a safe environment and where
appropriate. At the day centre staff are on hand to offer the care and support
which people may not otherwise get in their own home.

18.Can I do taster sessions before deciding which day opportunity is for

me?

Yes. People usually attend or visit on a trial basis to see if the service is for

them.

Page 250
Agenda item 18



31

19.If I try a day opportunity but don’t like it is the system flexible enough

for me to change to another seamlessly?

New customers often take while to settle in as it can be a daunting
experience. If a service is not right for somebody we will look at the
alternatives available.

20.What happens around holiday times? Do the day opportunities still

happen? (E.g. around Christmas, New Year, Easter etc.)

Most services are closed on public bank holidays but are open for the rest of
the year.

21.Will staff, helpers and volunteers have badges like the Kate Grainger

(e.g. ‘Hello my name is…’) so I know their names and role?

This is a good idea.

22.Who will make sure the quality is good and sustained?

Services carry out their own quality checks, and they are also checked out
by the managers and our contracts team. This should involve finding out
from attendees directly what they think.

23.Can I do activities that give back to a community some way so I feel

useful?

Yes there are usually opportunities to help out during the day

24.Will staff, helpers and volunteers have demonstrated a ‘values based

approach’? (I.e. will they have shown they ‘have a heart’ for the

work/helping/volunteering?)

Staff are appointed following an interview process which checks out why
they want to work in this setting.

25.How much informality is acceptable in a day opportunity offering? For

example, if I belonged to a walking group but I can’t walk far now and

can’t join in as I used to, would you support an ex-walkers group to

meet to maintain the friendships we have made in the walking group-

maybe meeting for a coffee at the starting/finishing point the walkers

use at the same time as they are there?

There is nothing to stop this happening either informally or by arrangement.
Many of our centres are used by community groups outside the normal day
centre hours.

Page 251
Agenda item 18



32

26.What is the safety net for people who drop off the grid and stop going

to a day opportunity? Would anyone check with the person directly

why this is?

Yes the staff will always try to make contact with the person and notify the
social work team if someone stops attending unexpectedly.

27.Will the format of the day opportunity have a good balance of

familiarity and novelty i.e. not the same old, same old each time?

We are looking to gain feedback from customers in order to see what they

like doing at the day centre and what activities they would like made

available. This feedback will help us shape future day centre use and help

provide a varied programme to cater for different needs.

28.Can charities (including local charities), businesses, groups of fund

raisers, events (such as O.P. Festival), ‘sponsor’ a place/places even if

they are not the provider of the day opportunity? (n.b. sponsor a place

not a named person)

As part of the review we are happy to look at how other organisations can be
involved to enhance the service offered. The sponsorship of places may be
the difficult to deliver on a long term basis but there are other opportunities
such as private organisations offering space from which to deliver day
services or by providing specialist staff, equipment or outings.

29.Will day opportunities include a choice of activities aimed at enhancing

my fitness, resilience, strength and balance, independence, security,

sociability and confidence in a reasonably fun way?

We want day centres to offer a range of activities to meet different needs
and appreciate feedback and activity suggestions. Typical activities include
bingo, dominoes, arts and crafts and musical games. There is also the
opportunity to go for walks and participate in fitness sessions. Staff will
support the customer in choosing their activities and support them
appropriately.

30.Could you consider some day opportunities coming to me instead of

me going there? (E.g. museum at home, reminiscence, book clubs etc.)

Yes. We would normally achieve this via a budget or direct payment.

Page 252
Agenda item 18



33

31.Can you work towards removing the stigma of ‘I am going to a day

centre’ compared with the reaction “I am going to Pilates and having

lunch with friends afterwards”?

Yes, we think this is important and we think the best way to do this is to
delivery day services in the future integrated with and alongside other
services that everyone uses. We want to provide activities that stimulate
people and encourage customers to do things that they may not otherwise
do.

32.If I go to a day opportunity what steps will be taken to protect me from

catching infections?

Staff are trained in hygiene procedures and will wear protective clothing
when needed to minimise the risk of infections including cross
contamination. Customers are encouraged to practice personal hygiene
such as washing hands correctly.

33.If I have transport to a day opportunity will you ensure I am safely in

my home before you drive away?

The Council-provided transport uses escorts as well as a driver to ensure
that people are escorted safely to and from their home to the bus.

34.What have you done to accommodate the needs of people (including

younger people) with early onset dementia-an often forgotten group?

There are people attending our centres with early onset dementia and this
number has been growing.

Page 253
Agenda item 18



34

APPENDIX 6 – Consultation Communication & Engagement Activities:

Consultation Communications and engagement Activities

Stakeholder: Type How? When? Responsible

Customers Communication Letters / Consultation Pack 21/10/2016 Project team

Customers Engagement Day Centre meetings November/December
2016

Project team/ Day Centre
Staff

Carers Communication Letters / Consultation Pack 21/10/2016 Project team

Carers Engagement Day Centre meetings 02/12/16 - 16/12/16 Project team

ASC Staff Communication Staff Briefing via managers 25/10/2016 Project team

ASC Managers Communication ASC Managers meeting 11/11/2016 Project team

Customer Services Communication Staff Briefing 25/10/2016 Project team

Day Centre Staff Communication Letters / Consultation Pack 26/10/2016 Project team

Transport Communication Letters / Consultation Pack 25/10/2016 Project team

Members Communication MIB 21/10/2016 Project team

Commissioning Teams Communication Staff Briefing 25/10/2016 Project team

Private Day Care Communication Letters / Consultation Pack / Email 17/11/2016 & 13/01/17 Project team

Supported Living Providers Communication Letters / Consultation Pack / Email 17/11/2016 & 13/01/17 Project team

Residential Care Providers Communication Letters / Consultation Pack / Email 17/11/2016 & 13/01/17 Project team

Service Providers Engagement Letters / Consultation Pack / Email 06/12/2016 & 13/01/17 Project team

Learning Disability Provider Forum Engagement Provider Forum 22/11/2016 Project team

P
age 254

A
genda item

 18



35

Transitions Coordinators - SEND Communication Letters / Consultation Pack 17/11/2016 Project team

Schools Communication Article - Central Essentials 01/12/2016 Project team

Wider SCHH Communication Article - Connect 27/10/2016 Project team

Health/CCG Communication Letters / Consultation Pack / Email 17/11/2016 Project team

STAG Communication Consultation Pack 24/11/2016 Project team

Carers in Bedfordshire Communication Consultation Pack 24/11/2016 Project team

Wider CBC Communication Article - Staff Central October 16 - January 17 Project team

Wider Community Communication Social Media Activiti October 16 - January 17 Project team

OPN Engagement Meeting 30/11/2016 & 13/01/2017 Project team

Passenger Transport Board Engagement Board 30/11/2016 & 13/01/2017 Project team

Disability Resource Centre Communication Email 30/11/2016 & 13/01/2017 Project team

Carers in Beds Communication Email 30/11/2016 & 13/01/2017 Project team

Healthwatch Central Bedfordshire Communication Email 30/11/2016 & 13/01/2017 Project team

Voluntary Community Action Communication Email 30/11/2016 & 13/01/2017 Project team

Autism Bedfordshire Communication Email 30/11/2016 & 13/01/2017 Project team

Age UK Communication Email 30/11/2016 & 13/01/2017 Project team

SNAP Communication Email 30/11/2016 & 13/01/2017 Project team

Kids in Action Communication Email 30/11/2016 & 13/01/2017 Project team

BRCC Communication Email 30/11/2016 & 13/01/2017 Project team

Beds and District Cerebral Palsy
Society (BDCPS)

Communication Email 30/11/2016 & 13/01/2017 Project team

Beecroft Club Communication Email 30/11/2016 & 13/01/2017 Project team

P
age 255

A
genda item

 18



36

Dega Club Communication Email 30/11/2016 & 13/01/2017 Project team

Toddington Lunch Club Communication Email 30/11/2016 & 13/01/2017 Project team

Biggleswade Lunch Club Communication Email 30/11/2016 & 13/01/2017 Project team

Headway Bedford Communication Email 30/11/2016 & 13/01/2017 Project team

P
age 256

A
genda item

 18



37

Contact us…

by telephone: 0300 300 8000

by email: customer.services@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

on the web: www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Write to Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory House,
Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford, Bedfordshire SG17 5TQ

Page 257
Agenda item 18



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

Central Bedfordshire Council

The Day Offer for Older People and
Adults with Disabilities in Central
Bedfordshire

Page 259
Agenda item 18



2

1. Scope of the Day Offer

Central Bedfordshire Council is committed to offering a wide ranging day offer to older
people and adults with disabilities focussing on those who are assessed as having
eligible care and support needs. The overall aim is to secure better outcomes for current
and future customers within Central Bedfordshire, encompassing older people and
adults with disabilities, which includes people from the age of 18 with a physical and/or
learning disability.

Typically day opportunities and day services are terms used to describe a range of
activities and support services. Day Services are delivered outside people’s own homes
and are generally building-based, and include day Centres. Central Bedfordshire
Council directly provides eight day centres. Five of these are for older people and adults
with physical disabilities and three for people with learning disabilities. The term ‘day
opportunities’ is generally used to describe other day activities which may or may not be
building-based, and although commissioned by Central Bedfordshire are delivered by
other providers. Customers may access such services through personal budgets or
direct payments. The day offer encompasses all of these.

2. New Day Offer:

The new day offer is based on the key components and principles outlined below. They
have been developed following a period of engagement and formal consultation with
current day centre customers, carers and wider stakeholders. These key components
and principles will be used as a basis on which to commission and deliver services in
the future. This will include the councils’ own services. The offer takes into account best
practice examples from other areas. Implicit in the transition from the current to the new
day offer is the need to effectively manage council resources and deliver improved
value for money whilst achieving the transformation objectives.

2.1 Key Components

These have been identified as important outcomes that should be achieved through a
future day offer both for customers and their carers.

A. Meet customer outcomes for social interaction and physical and mental
stimulation.

i. The importance of the social aspects and maintaining social interactions
with others in counteracting isolation is the major component for most
customers.

ii. For the adults with learning disabilities, it was clear that many had attended
centres for a long time and had formed friendships that were important to
them. However, some commented that they would also like to make new
friends. Older people also developed friendships and enjoyed meeting the
same people through regular attendance.

iii. The routine was seen to be important for some people with dementia, and
adults with autism, enabling them to maintain existing skills and abilities.

iv. Meals were an important element in the current day especially for older
people who live alone or for people with dementia. Carers felt this was a
vital part of the day ensuring that people’s needs for hydration and food
were met.

Page 260
Agenda item 18



3

v. For adults with learning disability, the meals had a wider value in terms of
attendees preparing basic snacks which gave them skills as well as a role
to play.

vi. The activities provided featured highly for both groups of attendees and
carers, and was an area where it was felt more could be provided.

vii. It was recognised that for some people anything new was daunting, so the
chance to learn new skills needed to include the encouragement to try
something new, promoting learning and enabling environments and positive
risk enablement.

viii. For adults with learning disabilities it was felt important to be able to learn
new skills that could lead to wider opportunities including employment.

ix. The belief that even those who have the most difficulty communicating
and/or taking part in activities, or with behaviours that may challenge, still
derive benefit from interacting with others in an environment where activity
is taking place.

B. Meet carer outcomes for respite and peace of mind.

i. Nearly every carer described the important respite role that services play in
providing a vital chance to catch up with tasks or allow for personal space
without the worry of caring.

ii. Additionally, the importance for carers that services provide a safe
environment where customers’ care needs are being met.

iii. Staff who were consistent and knew their loved one was also valued,
especially where people had dementia, profound needs or lacked cognitive
skills.

iv. Carers expressed the need to improve communication between themselves
and the service in the future, and some would be keen in taking part in
activities in the centres alongside their loved ones.

v. They also valued meeting other carers and interacting with staff at the
centres as part of this process, being listened to and said they would like
regular opportunities to continue meeting.

C. Meet care and support needs.

i. It was recognised that care and support needs are increasing over time,
necessitating well trained staff to deliver the care and support needed. For
services for older people this includes training in dementia.

ii. This included the provision of suitable facilities to cater for those with
profound physical care needs and those with dementia.

iii. The staff play a vital role in creating and maintaining a happy, friendly
atmosphere.

iv. The offer should be flexible and person-centred, recognising the wide
spectrum of customers and carers needs, including their capacity.

v. For frailer people, a local service to minimise time on transport was
important. For others, transport didn’t seem to be a problem as it enabled
them to maintain ongoing friendships.

vi. Widening the current Monday to Friday 9 to 4 offer should be considered,
as we plan for future needs and aspirations.

Page 261
Agenda item 18



4

vii. The centres provide the opportunity to promote health and wellbeing and
positive lifestyle choices, linking to wider health services.

2.2 Key Principles:

These have been developed based on the outcomes identified within the key
components and provide an overarching set of principles through which the day offer
should be delivered.

A. Promote and maintain independence in a way which is personalised,
flexible and responsive.

i. Encourage people to have choice, make decisions, feel involved and valued
and able to make a meaningful contribution where able.

ii. Have an individual focus with identified and agreed goals.

iii. Recognise and respond to current and changing care and support needs.

B. Promote learning in a stimulating and supportive environment

i. Create an ethos of continuous learning and improvement, by encouraging
people to try new things and develop new skills, including life and
employment skills.

ii. Use a wide range of sensory stimuli.

iii. Access a wide range of expertise to provide learning, including experts by
experience (potentially customers) and external partners where required.

iv. Pioneer the use of emerging technologies

C. Deliver greater integration and partnership with local communities

i. Deliver opportunities as close to peoples homes as possible.

ii. Utilise existing local services and support the development of new services.

iii. Encourage involvement of a wider range of people including across
generations and the community.

iv. Develop opportunities that bring people together with a variety of needs and
interests where possible and desirable.

v. Deliver services in ways that integrate with NHS services.

vi. Develop stronger links with voluntary sector and other partners in the local
community.

vii. Actively promote volunteering.

D. Maximise the use of community facilities that can be accessed by older
people and adults with disabilities

i. Where possible create dedicated space in facilities such as leisure centres,
libraries, care homes and other community spaces.

ii. Where possible day services should facilitate customers to access
universal, non-specialist services.

iii. Aim to use more local facilities.

iv. Proactively work with planners and developers to ensure new developments
are future proofed, integrated and can provide accessible and flexible
community use.

Page 262
Agenda item 18



Central Bedfordshire Council

EXECUTIVE 4 A pril20 1 7

Flitwick Station Site and Car Park

ReportofC llrN igelYou ng, Exec u tive M emberforRegeneration
(nigel. you ng@ c entralbed ford s hire. gov. u k)

A d vis ingO ffic ers :
Jas on L onghu rs t, D irec torofRegeneration and B u s ines s
(jas on. longhu rs t@ c entralbed ford s hire. gov. u k)

This report does not relate to a Key Decision

Purpose of this report

1 . To s eekExec u tive agreementto fu rtherprogres s workon a mixed -u s e
d evelopments c heme forthe Flitwic ks tation area s ite forthe pu rpos e of
s ec u rings trongc ommerc ialinteres tin the s c heme and enablingits d elivery.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Executive is asked:

1. to note the specific place making objectives identified for Flitwick, the

options appraisal undertaken for the Flitwick Station site and the

identification of a mixed-use development option as the preferred

option at this stage;

2. to note progress in work to date with interested parties, including

securing confirmed interest in anchoring a mixed-use scheme from a

major national retailer. Recognising that this time limited interest may

help to unlock investment from potential scheme partners, the Homes

and Communities Agency and private sector investors and

developers;

3. to ask officers to continue to develop a mixed-use development option

and specifically to:

 negotiate provisional heads of terms with the potential retail

anchor in order to urgently secure their participation in the

scheme;

Page 263
Agenda item 20



Background

2 . The bac kgrou nd information provid ed in this reportis s tru c tu red into the
followingparts :

 Part 1: Flitwick today and in the future –this firs tparts ets ou tthe

c orporate s trategy d rivingc ons id eration ofthe Flitwic ks tation s ite,

togetherwitha s u mmary ofkey s oc io-ec onomic and geographic d ata.

 Part 2: Station site options appraisal –this s ec ond partas s es s es fou r

potentialoptions forthe s ite, and provid es a c omparative options

apprais alas s es s ingthe s oc io ec onomic benefits , ris ks , d elivery

times c ales and a financ ialapprais alforeac hoption. O n the bas is ofthis

apprais al, the mixed -u s e d evelopmentoption is id entified as the

preferred option, s u bjec tto fu rtherd etailed apprais alwork.

 negotiate provisional heads of terms as required with the Homes

and Communities Agency (subject to due diligence) in order to

secure time limited investment funding;

 undertake a local consultation on the proposal and the mix of

uses;

 prepare an outline development brief;

 undertake an options appraisal of the delivery options available to

the Council, and take appropriate market soundings to assess

market interest in the options;

 further refine the financial appraisal, including specific

consideration of the implications for the Council in terms of

income generated from the interim car parking on the site;

 review, consider and cost any further remedial works required to

ensure safe operation of the temporary car park in the period up to

construction commencing; and

 undertake a lessons learned exercise of other similar mixed-use

schemes which have been successfully implemented.

4. To support a business case for £60,000 from the balance of the

existing 2016/17 capital budget (allocated to this site) of £1.057M to

fund this further work.

5. To ask officers to provide a further report in Autumn 2017, to enable

Executive’s further consideration of the mixed-use development

option.

Page 264
Agenda item 20



 Part 3: Mixed-use development –the third parts ets ou ts ome fu rther

apprais alworkthathas been d one, and c onfirms thatkey partners have

now formally regis tered theirinteres tin workingwiththe C ou nc ilto

progres s s u c ha s c heme, s u bjec tto the s c heme beingprogres s ed in a

reas onable times c ale.

 Part 4: Recommended next steps –the fou rthparts ets ou tthe

rec ommend ed nexts teps to fu rtherd evelopthe mixed -u s e option, s u c h

thatExec u tive is able to fu lly c ons id erthis option in A u tu mn 20 1 7 .

 Part 5: Interim car parking review –the fifth, and finalpart, s ets ou ta

rec ommend ation thata review be u nd ertaken to c ons id erwhetherornot

remed ialworks willbe req u ired to the temporary c arparkon the s tation

s ite, s u c hthatitc an c ontinu e to operate s afely priorto the

c ommenc ementofc ons tru c tion ofa mixed -u s e s c heme, s hou ld thatbe

the s c heme thatthe C ou nc ild ec id es to pu rs u e.

Part 1: Flitwick today and in the future

Flitwick today

3. The town ofFlitwic ktod ay has a popu lation of13, 1 8 0 , makingitthe fifth
larges ttown in C entralB ed ford s hire. Flitwic kis s itu ated immed iately ad jac ent
to A mpthill. W hen c ons id ered together, the A mpthill/Flitwic kc onu rbation is the
third larges ts ettlementin C entralB ed ford s hire witha popu lation ofover
20 , 0 0 0 res id ents .

4. A ppend ix 1 provid es a mapofFlitwic kid entifyingeac hofthe key loc ations in
this reportinc lu d ingbroad erprojec ts and hou s inggrowth.

5. The key s oc io-ec onomic and geographic featu res ofFlitwic kare as follows :

a. There is no c lears ingle ‘ town c entre’ , ratherthe town has three main

axis ofac tivity –the s tation area; the Tes c o s u pers tore area withthe

library area; and the originalH ighS treet.

b. The town ac ts as a majortrans portgateway to C entralB ed ford s hire, with

1 . 5m pas s engerjou rneys to and from the s tation d u ring20 15, an

inc reas e of250 , 0 0 0 jou rneys on 20 11 . This repres ents 114 jou rneys per

c apita, whic his highc ompared withL u ton, L eagrave and L u ton P arkway

S tations whic hc ombined generated 36 jou rneys perc apita d u ring

20 15/16.

Page 265
Agenda item 20



c . Train travellers c ommu te from a wid e area arou nd Flitwic ktakingin a

c ons id erable nu mberoftowns and s atellite villages . The s tation als o

provid es the key trans porthu b fors ome ofC entralB ed ford s hire’ s mos t

s ignific antand wellknown employers inc lu d ingL oc kheed M artin,

M illbrookP rovingGrou nd and C enterP arc s W obu rn.

d . Us ers ofFlitwic kRailS tation are primarily (8 0 %)c ommu ters and aged

between 46 and 64, and c u rrently travelto the s tation mos tly by c aror

walking. There has been a notable rec entinc reas e in thos e c yc lingto the

s tation followinginves tmentby the C ou nc iland Govia Thames linkRailin

new c yc le s torage fac ilities . C u rrently, bu s s ervic es are notc ons id ered to

be freq u entenou ghors u ffic iently c onnec ted to the railtimetable to

enc ou rage s ignific antu s age to and from the s tation.

e. A trans portas s es s mentofthe area c arried ou tin relation to s c heme

d evelopmentind ic ates thatthere is available c apac ity within key

trans portju nc tions s ervingc entralareas ofthe town c entre. Traffic

ju nc tions , nearorin the vic inity ofthe Tes c o S u permarketand Flitwic k

S tation inc lu d ingS teppingley Road , C onis ton Road and the A 5120 are,

however, perc eived to be c onges ted atpeakhou rs by s ome loc al

res id ents . C ons eq u ently, the effic ientoperation ofthes e ju nc tions will

need to be c arefu lly c ons id ered as partofa more d etailed s c heme

as s es s mentand d evelopment.

f. The Tes c o s u pers tore ac ts as a ‘ pu ll’ fors hoppers beyond the town,

however, the overallnu mberofretailors ervic e ou tlets is low as a

proportion ofthe popu lation as othertowns in C entralB ed ford s hire. For

every 1 , 0 0 0 res id ents there are 3 retailors ervic e u nits in Flitwic k. B y

c omparis on, in B iggles wad e there are 8 retail/s ervic e u nits per10 0 0

res id ents . In A mpthill, there are 7 retail/s ervic e u nits per10 0 0 res id ents .

g. The loc allibrary benefits from the s tation traffic and Tes c o s hoppers and

is the third bu s ies tlibrary in C entralB ed ford s hire afterL eighton B u zzard

and D u ns table. D u ring20 15/16 there were 116, 98 6 vis itors to Flitwic k

L ibrary, whic hwas an inc reas e of23, 30 1 vis its or20 % on the previou s

year. Flitwic kL ibrary attrac ts a s ignific antnu mberofu s ers from a wid e

geographic alarea takingin notonly Flitwic kand s u rrou nd ings ettlements

bu tas fareas tas C lophill, to L id lington in the north, wes tto P ots grove

and to H arlington fu rthers ou th.

Page 266
Agenda item 20



h. The loc alretailers are pred ominantly ind epend ents hops , as oppos ed to

nationalc hains , withs ome exc eptions , mos tnotably Tes c o and C os ta

(whic hhas rec ently opened ). There are a s ignific antnu mberofes tate

agents in primary s hoppingareas whic hs erves to limitthe range and

c hoic e ofretail. There are c u rrently zero retailu nitvac anc ies .

i. H ou s e pric es are s lightly below the UK average at£ 2 8 0 , 0 0 0 as oppos ed

to £ 290 , 0 0 0 . There is a highproportion ofyou ngc ou ple orfamily

hou s ehold s and fewerlow inc ome families . D eprivation is notc ons id ered

a generalis s u e withthe exc eption ofone area in the eas tofthe town

whic hhas highlevels ofc hild ren and old erpeople livingin inc ome

d eprived hou s ehold s .

j. Flitwic khas 3, 8 0 0 jobs , 4% ofthe C entralB ed ford s hire total(20 12 d ata).

1 0 0 bu s ines s bankac c ou nts open c ons is tently annu ally. The overall

u nemploymentrate is lowerin Flitwic kthan England and C entral

B ed ford s hire levels . M ajoremployers in the Flitwic karea inc lu d e

M as s mou ld , C enterP arc s W obu rn and Tes c o. L oc ated c los e by is the

M illbrookTec hnology P arkwhic hhas permis s ions in plac e forgrowthin

R& D and offic e floors pac e of25, 0 0 0 s qm . Flitwic kis als o home to a

s ignific antInd u s trialP arkatM au ld en Road , forwhic ha major1 8 hec tare

expans ion is propos ed (s u bjec tto alloc ation within the emergingL oc al

P lan).

k. In the mos trec entres id ents s u rveys , c arried ou td u ring20 14, the main

priorities forres id ents in ord erofpreferenc e and perc eived importanc e

were: 1)road and pavementrepairs 2)c lean s treets 3)c rime and anti-

s oc ialbehaviou r4)pu blic trans port5)c ou ntry parks and open s pac es 6)

fac ilities and ac tivities foryou ngpeople 7 )s hoppingfac ilities 8 )

ed u c ation 9)afford able d ec enthou s ing10 )refu s e c ollec tion 11)

improved parking.

Flitwick in the future

6. The C ou nc il’ s five yearplan 20 15 –20 2 0 id entifies the enhanc ementof
C entralB ed ford s hire’ s town c entres inc lu d ingFlitwic kas a key area ofwork
forthe C ou nc il. In partic u lar, the c ou nc ilwis hes to ens u re thatthe projec ted
popu lation growthofC entralB ed ford s hire is s u pported withvibrantenhanc ed
loc altown c entres , pres ervingtheirown partic u larc harac ter.

Page 267
Agenda item 20



7 . O ver40 0 homes are c u rrently beingd eveloped in northwes tern Flitwic kand it
is antic ipated thatfu rthers ignific anthou s ingand employmentgrowthwill
oc c u rin the fu tu re. The C allforS ites proc es s c ond u c ted as partofthe
C ou nc il’ s preparation ofa new L oc alP lan c onc lu d ed in D ec ember20 16. A s
partofthis Flitwic krec eived s u bmis s ions forres id entiald evelopmenttotalling
8 4. 45 hec tares (eq u atingto 2 , 1 0 0 new homes ataverage England d ens ity)
and employmentalloc ations of1 7 . 8 hec tares . C learly notallofthes e
s u bmis s ions willbe brou ghtforward , however, itd oes provid e an ind ic ation of
the potentials c ale offu tu re growth.

8 . N etworkRail’ s d emand forec as tforpas s engers alongthe Thames linkline into
L ond on S tP anc ras , in the morningpeakis expec ted to ris e by 49% between
20 10 and 20 31 . Exis tingd ata forFlitwic kbac ks u p(and exc eed s )the
projec ted growthand alread y s hows an inc reas e ofpas s engers of23% over
the period 2 0 0 9/10 to 20 14/15, withan extra 27 5, 0 0 0 peryearu s ingthe
s tation in this period oftime.

9. Rec entc onvers ations withN etworkRailind ic ate thatan inc reas e in nu mbers
is likely to be partic u larly ac u te in Flitwic kas timetable c hanges are d u e to be
implemented whic hwillinc reas e the nu mberofpeaktrains attrac tingres id ents
from the new res id entiald evelopments in the town and wid erarea.

1 0 . The C ou nc ilis alread y progres s inga range ofinves tments its elfand with
partners in Flitwic k, to d eliveragains tits c orporate plan and to res pond to the
antic ipated growth:
 Flitwick Leisure Centre –the C ou nc ilhas inves ted £ 14. 7 m toward s the

new Flitwic kL eis u re C entre, whic hhas been open for12 months . In this

year, ithas welc omed 48 0 , 0 0 0 throu ghits d oors , whic his d ou ble the

nu mberofthe old L eis u re c entre’ s finalyear.

 Flitwick Old Leisure Centre site –the C ou nc ilwillreleas e this s ite onto

the open marketforres id entiald evelopment.

 Market Town Regeneration Fund –£ 92 0 , 0 0 0 ofC ou nc ilfu nd inghas

been alloc ated and matc hed by a fu rther£ 92 0 , 0 0 0 by the Town C ou nc il.

The alloc ation forFlitwic kis the s ingle bigges talloc ation within the

overallc . £ 4m regeneration fu nd . The Flitwic ks c heme foc u s es on the

H ighS treet, S tation Road and Kings Road areas . Itwilllinkto the S tation

area throu ghimproved pu blic realm and a greatly d ec lu ttered

environment, inc lu d ingartbas ed pu blic realm works to the brid ge. Itis

antic ipated thatthis s c heme willimprove c onnec tivity and amenity in the

area, makingthe H ighS treetmore appealingforloc alres id ents and

c ommu ters .

Page 268
Agenda item 20



 Station Road (Flitwick Town Council) –The Town C ou nc ilis planning

to d evelopreplac ementc ommu nity fac ilities forthe RoyalB ritis hL egion

and Flitwic kS c ou ts and potentially a replac ements eed s tore atthis s ite

forthe Flitwic kGard en A s s oc iation. The remaind erofthe s ite wou ld

provid e extra c are ac c ommod ation withthe pos s ibility ofs ome provis ion

forhealthc are fac ilities alongs id e a new play area forc hild ren. Exis ting

allotments wou ld notbe affec ted . Thes e ac tivities willbe d elivered in

parallelto C entralB ed ford s hire C ou nc il’ s M arketTown Regeneration

Fu nd . The inc lu s ion ofextra c are ac c ommod ation within this s c heme

meets the C ou nc il’ s polic y objec tive ofimprovinghou s ingoptions for

old erpeople.

 Flitwick Country Park –The Town C ou nc ilals o has plans to d evelopa

new C ou ntry P arkon land loc ated ad jac entto A 50 7 and M au ld en Road .

The P arkwillinc lu d e a d ed ic ated vis itorc entre.

 High Street Improvement Scheme –£ 1m ofC entralB ed ford s hire

C ou nc ilfu nd inghas been mad e available to retailers within key market

towns forthe replac ementand u pgrad e ofs hopfronts ac ros s the C ou nc il

area. The bu s ines s es involved from Flitwic kare in key loc ations within

the H ighS treet, and willtherefore have a wid erimpac ton the qu ality of

the H ighS treetthan ju s ttheirown s hops .

 Library ‘after hours’ programme –Given the popu larity ofthe library,

a programme ofeveningand weekend c u ltu ralac tivities is being

d elivered , to enc ou rage the vis itorec onomy and enhanc e the alread y

highc ommu nity interes tin this valu able amenity.

1 1 . In ad d ition to thes e inves tments , in 20 10 the C ou nc ilrec eived £ 3. 6m from the
Government’ s GrowthA rea Fu nd –Rou nd 3. Thes e fu nd s were u s ed to
pu rc has e the formerwarehou s es (UnitA and partofUnits B & C )and a fas t
food retailu nitad jac entto Flitwic kS tation.

1 2 . D u ring20 1 2 fu rtherac q u is itions ofland were c ompleted forthe pu rpos e of
betterenablinga c omprehens ive regeneration s c heme. The properties
ac q u ired were N o 10 S teppingley Road and Franklins H ou s e whic hwere
pu rc has ed fora c ombined £ 1 . 7 m . Thes e ac q u is itions were fu nd ed d irec tly by
the C ou nc il.

Page 269
Agenda item 20



13. W hile the workalread y in progres s by boththe C ou nc iland the Town C ou nc il
willalread y provid e loc albenefit, enhanc ingthe vibranc y ofthe town c entre, in
ord erto ens u re thatboththe popu lation growthand the growthofpas s enger
nu mbers atthe s tation is s u pported , as s etou tin the C ou nc il’ s s trategic plan,
the s pec ific plac e makingobjec tives forthe c ou nc ilmovingforward are:

 To improve the connectivity and footfallbetween the three d is tinc taxis

ofac tivity, provid inga more integrated s ens e ofplac e and linkingthe

exis tingplanned inves tmentbeingd elivered by boththe C ou nc iland the

Town C ou nc il.

 To improve commuter and other rail traveller amenities , provid ingan

improved gateway to the wid erC entralB ed ford s hire area, enhanc ing

trans portc onnec tivity and linkages between d ifferenttrans portmod es

(c ar, bu s and bike).

 To generate new employment opportu nities .

 To inc reas e retail choice and diversity, generatinginc reas ed footfallto

loc albu s ines s , an inc reas ed d raw fornew res id ents in planned

res id entiald evelopments loc ally and ens u ringthatthe retailvibranc y

matc hes thatofotherc omparable town c entres in C entralB ed ford s hire.

 To res pond to the s pec ific is s u es rais ed by res id ents throu ghres id ent

s u rveys and otherd irec tengagementexerc is es .

Part 2: The Station Road Site options appraisal

14. The S tation Road S ite in Flitwic kinc lu d es the C ou nc il’ s mos ts ignific antland
hold ings in the loc ality. The totals ite has an area ofc . 1 . 63ha. 1 . 23ha. ofthe
s ite is owned by C entralB ed ford s hire C ou nc ilwithN etworkRailin c ontrolof
0 . 4ha (notinc lu d ingthe exis tingN R owned s tation c arpark). The C ou nc il’ s
land hold ings are d ivid ed into three s eparate plots , whic hare:

 C B C c arpark/d emolis hed warehou s es –formeru nits B & C (2

ac res /1 . 0 5 ha. )

 Formerbu ngalow at10 S teppingley Road (0 . 2 2 ac res /0 . 0 8 ha)

 Franklin hou s e (0 . 26 ac res /0 . 1 0 ha. )

Page 270
Agenda item 20



15. The exis tings tation has limited amenity forrailtravellers , when c ompared to
others imilarc ommu ters tations . The s tation d oes offerreas onable valu e c ar
parking, withthe C ou nc ilc arparkingbeing£ 5. 0 0 perd ay d u ringthe weekand
£ 1 . 0 0 atthe weekend (with£ 7 . 60 beingthe average fee payable alongthe
Thames linkline on whic hFlitwic kis loc ated and £ 3. 50 perd ay beingpayable
in A rles ey). A s id e from c arparking, the s ite has a s ingle mobile refres hment
provid er, withthe H ighS treet, Tes c o and the L ibrary beingwithin a 5 to 10
minu te walk.

16. A n options apprais alhas been u nd ertaken on the followingpotential
d evelopmentoptions forthe s ite:

 D o nothing–exis tingc apac ity (192 s pac es approx. )on a mixtu re of

rou ghu ntarmac ked s u rfac e and c onc rete s labs (formerinternals u rfac e

ofwarehou s e bu ild ing).

 C arparku pgrad e atgrad e, exis tingc apac ity (192 s pac es approx. )–

res u rfac ingofc arparkingareas , ped es trian ac c es s enhanc ed , lighting

c olu mns ins talled as appropriate, c yc le lane c ons tru c ted to ru n throu gh

ad jac entres id entialareas into the s tation forec ou rt.

 C arparkingu pgrad ed to inc lu d e a mu lti-s torey c arpark(M S C P )and

externalatgrad e parkings pac es bothd eliveringinc reas ed c apac ity (2 8 0

s pac es in total), new ac c es s into c arparkc reated , new ped es trian

walkways to s tation platforms introd u c ed , c yc le lane c ons tru c ted to ru n

from ad jac entres id entialareas into s tation forec ou rt.

 M ixed -u s e d evelopments c heme –c omprehens ive red evelopmentof

s tation area inc lu d ingexis tings tation forec ou rtand c ou nc illand hold ing.

M ix ofu s es to be introd u c ed willinc lu d e res id ential(145 flats /mixtu re of1

& 2 bed rooms ), retailand c ommerc ialfloors pac e (u pto 6, 530 s qm), a

trans portinterc hange c entred on the s tation forec ou rtand new c ar

parkingprovis ion to be provid ed within a M S C P (totalof269 s pac es of

whic h59 willbe res erved to integralretailu nit). S u bs tantial

improvements to pu blic s pac es inc lu d ingnew amenity s pac es , improved

ped es trian walkways and c yc le linkvia neighbou ringres id entialareas

into the new Trans portInterc hange (Its hou ld be noted thatthis is the

option thatis c ons is tentwiththe d evelopmentenvis aged in the C ou nc il’ s

L oc alP lan).

1 7 . The options have been s u bjec tto c omparative s oc io-ec onomic benefit, ris k,

d elivery times c ale and financ ialanalys is .

Page 271
Agenda item 20



Part 2a: Socio-economic benefit analysis

1 8 . The s oc io-ec onomic benefits ofeac hoption are s etou tin Table 1 and were
as s es s ed agains tthe five s pec ific plac e makingobjec tives s etou tin P art1
above. The c riteria are:

 Connectivity –to whatextentd oes the option provid e an opportu nity to

inc reas e the c onnec tivity and the flow offootfallbetween the three

d is tinc taxis ofac tivity, and linkwithotherinves tmentin the area being

mad e by the C ou nc iland the Town C ou nc il?

 Commuter amenities –to whatextentd oes the option provid e

ad d itionalc ommu teramenities (improved /ad d itionalc arparking,

improved bu s es , c yc le parking)whic hwou ld eq u alprovis ion atother

c ommu terhu bs ats imilard is tanc es from c entralL ond on?

 Flitwick employment –to whatextentwillthe option provid e ad d itional

employment?

 Retail offer –to whatextentd oes the option inc reas e the retailvibranc y

within the town, and therefore provid e an inc reas ed d raw fornew

res id ents in planned res id entiald evelopments loc ally and eq u ate to the

retailvibranc y ofothertown c entres ?

 Resident priorities –to whatextentd oes the option c ontribu te to

ad d res s ingis s u es orpriorities as s etou tin the mos trec entFlitwic k

res id ents u rvey?

19. Eac hbenefithas been given a c omparative s c ore ou tof(5), withan option
d eemed to provid e a very highlevelofa partic u lartype ofbenefitbeings c ored
a 5, and an option d eemed to provid e a very low levelofpartic u larbenefit
beings c ored a 1 . W here an option d oes notprovid e any ad d itionalbenefit
then ithas been s c ored a 0 . This provid es fora totalbenefitas s es s ments c ore
foreac hoption ou tof25. The higherthe s c ore the more benefit, and therefore
the more a partic u laroption aligns withthe C ou nc il’ s s trategic objec tives s et
ou tin its c orporate plan and the priorities expres s ed by res id ents .

2 0 . A nalys is ofthe options agains tthe c riteria c onc lu d es thatO ption 4, the mixed -
u s e d evelopmentoffers mos tbenefit, as its c ores wellagains tallc riteria. The
enhanc ed c arparkingprovis ion and c arparkingu pgrad e wou ld provid e
ad d itionalc ommu teramenity, bu twou ld notprovid e materialbenefitwith
regard the otherc riteria.

Page 272
Agenda item 20



Part 2b: Risk analysis

21 . The key ris ks inherentin eac hoption have been id entified and are als o
s u mmaris ed in Table 1 . The key ris ks are:

 Construction risk –to whatextentd oes the projec tinc lu d e s ome form

ofc ons tru c tion, witha levelofris kas s oc iated withit?

 Sales or occupation risk/ operations risk –to whatextentd oes the

s c ope inc lu d e s ales ris k(i. e. ofres id entialu nits ), oc c u pation ris k(e. g. of

retailorrentalu nits ), operations ormanagementris k(e. g. ofc arparking

orrentalu nits )?

 Planning risk –willthe option req u ire planningc ons entand to what

extentwillitbe a majors c heme, req u irings ignific antd etailed and robu s t

workto s ec u re?

 Site risks –to whatextentd oes the option inc lu d e a s c ale ofworks that

c ou ld be impac ted by exis tingu tilities and others ite d evelopmentris ks ,

in ad d ition to any s tand ard c ons tru c tion ris k, and to whatextentis the

projec tc ontingenton partners hipwiththird parties ?

 Vacant possession risk –to whatextentwillthe option req u ire vac ant

pos s es s ion ofexis tingu s ers , i. e . exis tingc arparku s ers and tenants ?

Eac hris khas been given a c omparative s c ore ou tof(5), on the following

bas is :

 S c ore of0 –N il–this ris kis notpres entforthis option

 S c ore 1 –L ow –the ris kis s malland eas ily managed forthis option

 S c ore 2-L ow –M ed iu m –this ris kis pres entbu tis eas ily and rou tinely

managed in s imilarprojec ts

 S c ore 3 –M ed iu m –this ris kis materialbu tthere is reas onable

prec ed entthatitc an be s u c c es s fu lly mitigated and managed

 S c ore 4 –M ed iu m –H igh–the ris kon this s ite wou ld req u ire c arefu l

management, to ens u re thatitwas s u c c es s fu lly mitigated and managed

 S c ore 5 –H igh–the ris kon this s ite is highand u nlikely to be

manageable, c ou ld res u ltin the option notbeingimplementable.

Page 273
Agenda item 20



22 . A nalys is ofthe options agains tthes e c riteria ind ic ates thatallofthe options

have a ris kprofile whic hc ou ld be managed (bas ed on information c u rrently

available). The c arparkingu pgrad e atgrad e repres ents the mos t‘ ris k-free’

option, while the mixed -u s e option pres ents the mos tc omplex ris kprofile that

wou ld need to be c arefu lly managed in any fu tu re d evelopmentofthis natu re.

Part 2c: Delivery pace

23. The third partofthe options apprais alas s es s ed the likely d elivery times c ales ,
bas ed on alternative c omparable s c hemes and profes s ionalad vic e forthe
d ifferents c hemes . Two as pec ts ofthe programme were as s es s ed , the pre-
bu ild period (bas ed on the c u rrents tatu s ofprojec td evelopmentwork
u nd ertaken)and the c ons tru c tion period . This information is provid ed in Table
2 . A s wou ld be expec ted , the mixed -u s e s c heme wou ld take the longes tto
implement, bothin terms ofthe pre-bu ild period and the bu ild period , while the
parkingatgrad e offers the ‘ q u ic kes t’ win d evelopmentforthe town.

24. Its hou ld be noted thatin a mixed -u s e s c heme itmay be thatelements ofthe
s c heme are c ompleted and open ahead ofthe finalc ompletion ofthe s c heme.
Forexample, itc ou ld be thatc arparkingand retailare opened and in u s e after
18 months ofbu ild , while res id entialelements c ontinu e in the bu ild phas e fora
fu rtherperiod oftime. Fu rthermore, its hou ld be noted thatthe pre-bu ild
period s forallprojec ts , and partic u larly formixed -u s e projec ts , c an be highly
variable. Theiroveralld u ration d epend ingon proc u rement, planning,
c ons u ltation, d es ign, tec hnic aland c ontrac tnegotiation proc es s es . The
inc lu s ion ofmu ltiple u s es , pu blic s ec torbod ies and c ommerc ialparties , c an
lead to extend ed times c ales whic hc annotbe c ontrolled fu lly by the land owner.
In ad d ition, times c ales willals o be affec ted by res ou rc es and c apac ity ofall
parties involved .

Part 2d: Financial appraisal

25. Financ ialapprais als ofeac hoption have been c arried ou ts u c hthatthe
options c an be c ompared bas ed on three key financ ialas s es s ments :

 B u ild c os t–this is the raw c apitalc ons tru c tion c os tofbu ild

 A nnu aloperatinginc ome –this is the annu algros s inc ome thatwou ld be

generated throu ghc arparkingand retailleas es on the s ite.

 Res id u alfinanc ialpos ition –this is the res id u alfinanc ialapprais alof

eac hs c heme, inc lu d ingallc os ts and inc ome generated .

26. D etails on the financ ialapprais alare provid ed in the C los ed Report. Table 2
provid es a financ ialrankingofeac hoption, alongs id e the totalbenefitand ris k
s c ores , and the d elivery times c ale foreac hoption.

Page 274
Agenda item 20



2 7 . A s wou ld be expec ted , the c arparkingu pgrad e atgrad e provid es forthe mos t
ec onomic bu ild c os toption, while the mixed -u s e option is the mos tc os tly.
H owever, the res id u alfinanc ialpos ition is d ifferent, while the c arparking
options have reas onable res id u alfinanc ialbenefitto the C ou nc il, the mixed -
u s e option is antic ipated to have a potentially s trongerres id u al. This is d u e to
the fac tthatthe higherbu ild c os ts are offs etby the inc reas e in inc ome that
c an be generated from the range ofu s es .

2 8 . The c hallenge is to financ e the higheru pfrontbu ild c os tinves tmentand the
ris ks as s oc iated withthis s c heme s u c hthatthe res id u alfinanc ialbenefitis
realis ed overthe lifetime ofthe projec ts . A fu rtherc hallenge wou ld be to
manage the los s ofinc ome d u ringthe c ons tru c tion period where this inc ome is
ofoperationals ignific anc e, as itis forC entralB ed ford s hire.

Part 2e: Options appraisal conclusion - Preferred Option

29. O n the bas is ofthe options apprais alpres ented in this report, the mixed -u s e
d evelopmentoption is id entified as the preferred option. The regeneration of
Flitwic kS tation area throu ghthe d evelopmentofa c omprehens ive mixed u s e
s c heme c ompris ingres id ential, retailand improvements to trans port
infras tru c tu re wou ld helpto pos itively trans form Flitwic ktown c entre forthe
better, forboththe town’ s res id ents , neighbou ringc ommu nities , and railway
pas s engers . The regeneration ofFlitwic ks tation area, wou ld c omplementthe
otherimprovements beingimplemented in the area, s u c has the H ighS treet
improvementprojec td elivered as partofthe M arketTown’ s programme.
Together, thes e projec ts willhelpto ad d res s the phys ic alc ons traints ofthe ‘ 3
axis ’ town c entre c au s ed in large partby the d ivis ion ofthe c entre by the
railway line, the s c heme willprovid e improved pu blic s pac es and a genu ine
foc alpointforthe town c entre.

30 . The d evelopmentofnew homes in a s u s tainable and c entralloc ation wou ld
provid e greaterfootfallforthe town c entre and its bu s ines s es . The new homes
wou ld c ontribu te to C entralB ed ford s hire’ s 5 yearhou s ings u pply. Improved
c arparkingfac ilities in the s tation wou ld helpto ens u re c ommu ters are parked
in the mos tappropriate areas ratherthan on loc als treets . A new P u blic
Trans portInterc hange wou ld als o helpto improve the c onnec tivity between
bu s and rails ervic es and provid e a genu ine alternative to travelingto the
s tation by c ar.

31 . N ew retailand s ervic e u nits inc lu d ed wou ld s u bs tantially improve the overall
qu ality and range ofofferto town c entre u s ers generatingad d itionalfootfallfor
exis tingbu s ines s es . This as pec tofthe s c heme has the potentialto d irec tly
and ind irec tly c reate between 10 0 and 20 0 new jobs in the town c entre.

Page 275
Agenda item 20



32 . In ad d ition to thes e s trongs oc io-ec onomic benefits , the antic ipated
operationalinc ome and res id u alfinanc ialpos ition are als o s tronges tforthe
mixed u s e d evelopment. H owever, itd oes have a more c omplex ris kprofile
than the otheroptions , and fu rtherworkis req u ired to ens u re thatthes e c an
be managed effec tively. In partic u lar, itis nec es s ary to ens u re thatthe C ou nc il
and /orits partners have the appetite to inves tin the u pfrontbu ild c os ts and
are aware ofthe likely implementation times c ales , whic hare longerthan the
otheroptions d u e to the inc reas ed c omplexity and involvementofa greater
nu mberofparties .

33. Fu rtherworkis als o rec ommend ed to refine the propos ed mix ofu s es and
c ommerc ialfloors pac e provid ed within the mixed -u s e d evelopmentoption
bas ed on markettes tingwithpros pec tive inves tors , d evelopers and other
potentialpartners orend u s ers .

34. Its hou ld be noted thatinformation u s ed to s u pportthe options apprais alis
bas ed on a range ofexternalprofes s ionalad vic e and internalas s es s ments
from relevantd epartments ac ros s the C ou nc il. The ind ic ative c os ts and bu ild
d u rations have been as s es s ed atan appropriate levelofd etailfors trategic
d ec is ion making, bas ed on feas ibility s tu d ies and benc hmarkd ata. They
s hou ld therefore notbe treated as ‘ final’ or‘ fixed ’ .

Part 3: Mixed-use development option – further appraisal

35. Followingthe options apprais al, fu rtherapprais alworkhas been u nd ertaken
and markets ou nd ings taken regard ingthe mixed -u s e option. In s u mmary:

 N etworkRail(the otherland owningparty in the S tation S ite), have

c onfirmed theirinteres tin the mixed -u s e s c heme inc lu d inga trans port

interc hange. This has followed two nec es s ary internalnationalapproval

proc es s es to ens u re bu s ines s and operationalc learanc e.

 Feas ibility s tu d ies , s u pported by tec hnic als u rveys , u nd ertaken by

C entralB ed ford s hire C ou nc il’ s A s s ets team and externalarc hitec ts

ind ic ate thata mixed -u s e s c heme is feas ible on the s ite.

 A d etailed res id u alapprais alofthe s ite u nd ertaken by A s pinalVerd ihas

c onc lu d ed thatthe s c heme is viable and has the potentialto generate a

s u rplu s land valu e forthe C ou nc il.

Page 276
Agenda item 20



 A highways c apac ity s tu d y u nd ertaken by JM P has mod elled the traffic

impac tas s oc iated withthe mixed -u s e d evelopment, and c onc lu d ed that

there is s u ffic ientc apac ity in the loc alroad networkto s u pportthe

s c heme (s u bjec tto u s u alhighways works as s oc iated withany major

s c heme).

 A majornationalretailoperator, who wou ld be interes ted in anc hor

tenanc y within the d evelopment, has c onfirmed theirformalinteres tto

the C ou nc il, s u bjec tto the s c heme proc eed ingin a reas onable

times c ale.

 The H omes and C ommu nities A genc y have c onfirmed theirformal

interes tin partic ipatingin the mixed -u s e d evelopments u bjec tto d u e

d iligenc e, s u c hthatthe s ite c ou ld be partofthe government’ s S tarter

H ome initiative, whic hs eeks to provid e ad d itionals u pply ofafford able

hou s ingby 20 20 . A gain this wou ld req u ire the s c heme proc eed ingin a

reas onable timeframe. H omes and C ommu nities involvementwou ld be

in the form ofan eq u ity s hare in exc hange forforward fu nd ing u pto £ 3m

ofnec es s ary infras tru c tu re works , e. g. ac c es s road and trans port

interc hange. Ifthe res id entialelementofthe mixed u s e s c heme were

brou ghtforward as a S tarterH ome itwou ld provid e s ignific antnew

opportu nities forfirs ttime bu yers between the ages of23 and 40 to get

on the hou s inglad d er.

 A s pinalVerd iand C B RE (ac tingforone ofthe retailoperators )are ofthe

view thatmixed -u s e d evelopers wou ld be interes ted in lead ingthis

s c heme, whic hwou ld provid e a means oftrans ferrings ignific antd elivery

ris kto the private s ec tor.

Part 4: Recommended next steps

36. Given the potentialbenefits thatthe mixed -u s e s c heme c ou ld bringto Flitwic k
in line withthe C ou nc il’ s c orporate plan; the formalinteres trec eived from key
partners (N etworkRail, a majorretailoperator, and the H omes and
C ommu nities A genc y); and the likely interes tfrom mixed -u s e d evelopers in
workingwiththe C ou nc ilto manage the res id u alris kprofile, itis
rec ommend ed thatfu rtherworkbe u nd ertaken to fu rtherd evelopthis option. It
is rec ommend ed that:

Page 277
Agenda item 20



 W orkis u nd ertaken withthe interes ted key partners to agree provis ional

head s ofterms fora mixed -u s e d evelopmenton the Flitwic kS tation area

s ite.

 A loc alc ons u ltation exerc is e be u nd ertaken to as c ertain the views ofthe

loc alc ommu nities ofthe options and potentialu s es within the mixed -u s e

option on the s ite.

 Exis tingbu s ines s es within the C ou nc il’ s land hold ing(Franklins H ou s e

and s eparate fas tfood u nit)be engaged and c ons u lted on the s c heme

options withthe pu rpos e ofid entifyingopportu nities to retain and

improve theirbu s ines s pos ition within Flitwic ktown c entre.

 A d jac entproperty owners are als o engaged and c ons u lted to id entify if

ad d itionalbenefits c ou ld be realis ed throu ghpartners hipworking.

 A d raftou tline d evelopmentbriefis prepared forthe s ite and feed bac k

s ou ghtfrom partners and interes ted mixed -u s e d evelopers , s u c hthatthis

c ou ld s u bs eq u ently be finalis ed and c ons id ered by the P lanning

C ommittee.

37 . In ad d ition, itis rec ommend ed thatfu rtherapprais alofd elivery options be
u nd ertaken forthe s c heme, s u c hthatthe C ou nc ilis able to d ec id e on the
preferred d elivery rou te. To this end , itis rec ommend ed thatthe following
fac tors be c ons id ered :

 S ale ofthe land to a d eveloper, withthe C ou nc iltakingno fu rtherrole

otherthan planning.

 The C ou nc ilac tingas a mixed -u s e d eveloper, fu nd ingand s elf-d elivering

the s c heme throu ghs tand ard c ons tru c tion c ontrac ts .

 The C ou nc iles tablis hinga d evelopmentpartners hipwitha mixed -u s e

d eveloper, withorwithou tthe c ou nc ilac tingas a partfu nd er.

38 . In as s es s ingand c ons id eringeac hoption, itis rec ommend ed thatthe
followingfac tors be c ons id ered :

 Investment –who willprovid e the fu nd ingforthe d evelopment?D oes

the C ou nc ilhave the ability and /orinteres tin provid ingthe inves tment

req u ired ?

Page 278
Agenda item 20



 Risk –who is managingallofthe ris ks , to whatextentis the C ou nc ilable

and willingto take s pec ific ris ks ?D oes the C ou nc ilwis hto manage or

oc c u py any ofthe d evelopment?

 Return –whatlevelofretu rn orland valu e willlikely be generated ?

C ou ld this be a balanc e ofinitialc apitalrec eiptand /orongoingrevenu e

(s u c hthatitc u rrently rec eived from the c arparking)?

 Control –whatlevelofc ontrolwillthe C ou nc ilhave overtimes c ales and

the d evelopments c ope?Is the C ou nc ils atis fied withthe levelof

influ enc e thatitwillexertthrou ghits P lanningfu nc tion, and throu ghany

c ontrac ts , throu ghthe d evelopmentperiod and /orinto operations ?

(W here a partneris provid inginves tmentand takingris k, they willneed

to have the benefitofgreaterc ontroloverthe projec t).

 Likely market interest –whatotherparties wou ld be req u ired ?W hat

levelofmarketinteres t/c ompetition wou ld there be fors u c ha s c heme?

 Timescale –how longwillthe pre-c ontrac tworktake, whatc ontrol/

c ertainty willthere be?

39. To this end , itis rec ommend ed thatformalmarkets ou nd ings and expres s ions
ofinteres tbe s ou ghtfrom mixed -u s e d evelopers to as c ertain the leveloflikely
marketinteres tin the s c heme, the d elivery options beingc ons id ered and the
mix ofu s es thatwou ld be antic ipated by thes e partners .

40 . Itis als o rec ommend ed thatoffic ers be as ked to refine the financ ialres id u al
apprais aland c as h-flow forthe s c heme, and as partofthis workto as s es s the
likely d u ration and impac tofthe los s ofthe c arparkinginc ome forthe C ou nc il,
and the extentto whic hthe generation ofongoinginc ome from the s c heme is
feas ible and nec es s ary forthe C ou nc il, in takingthe s c heme forward .

41 . Finally, itis rec ommend ed thatles s ons be c aptu red from others imilar
s c hemes thathave been d eveloped s u c c es s fu lly els ewhere by otherloc al
au thorities workingin partners hipwithrailbod ies , the D epartmentfor
Trans portand a range ofprivate s ec torpartners . Key c omparable s c hemes
alread y id entified forthis pu rpos e inc lu d e H atfield S tation, the L u ton Trans port
Interc hange and Gu ild ford S tation. Itis rec ommend ed thatexamples als o be
s ou ghtwhere the d ifferentd elivery options beingc ons id ered by the C ou nc il
have been u s ed , and thatfac tors affec tingtimes c ales and d elivery pac e are
u nd ers tood .

Page 279
Agenda item 20



Part 5: Interim car parking review

42 . The s tation s ite is c u rrently beingoperated as a temporary c arpark, provid ing
approximately 192 c arparkings pac es . The fac ility is wellu s ed withbetween
95 and 10 0 % oc c u pation typic ally d u ringthe week. In c onju nc tion with
c ons id eringwhetherornotto proc eed witha mixed -u s e s c heme, itis
rec ommend ed thatthe C ou nc ilreview, c ons id erand c os tany fu rtherremed ial
works req u ired to ens u re s afe operation ofthe temporary c arparkin the
period u pto c ons tru c tion c ommenc ing. N otingthat, in the c as e ofthe mixed -
u s e d evelopment, the time period to the c ommenc ementofc ons tru c tion and
the extentto whic hthatis in the fu llc ontrolofthe C ou nc il, willbe d epend ent
on the d elivery option s elec ted .

Measures of success in Central Bedfordshire

43. The u ltimate meas u re ofs u c c es s to be applied to this projec tand its
s u bs eq u entimplementation is the enhanc ementofFlitwic ktown c entre in line
withthe princ iples ad opted by the C ou nc il’ s five yearplan, namely a town
c entre pos itioned to thrive and pros perwithimproved fac ilities and s ervic es .
The preferred option ofa mixed -u s e d evelopmentpres ented in this report
wou ld pos itively c ontribu te to this , as as s es s ed throu ghthe s oc io-ec onomic
benefitapprais alpres ented above.

Council Priorities

44. The s u c c es s fu lprogres s ion ofthis projec twills u pportthe C ou nc il’ s objec tive
ofenhanc ingC entralB ed ford s hire by betterenablingFlitwic ktown c entre to
thrive and pros perwithan improved town c entre and fac ilities forthe benefitof
res id ents , employees and vis itors . Itwillals o helpto c reate a s trongerloc al
c ommu nity by provid inga greaters ens e ofplac e withthe town c entre atthe
heartofthis .

Corporate Implications

Legal Implications

45. The reportis u pd atingExec u tive on the progres s mad e s o farin reviewing
/apprais ingoptions forthe fu tu re u s e and d evelopmentofFlitwic kS tation s ite
and the nearby C B C c arparkand as kingforapprovalto fu rtherd evelopthe
preferred mixed u s e option thatinc orporates trans portimprovements .

Page 280
Agenda item 20



46. Ifthe mixed u s e s c heme is taken forward legalc ons id eration willneed to be
given to the s elec tion ofpartners to provid e a s trongretailpres enc e and to the
head s ofterms to be prepared withinteres ted parties s u c has the H omes and
C ommu nity A genc y who willbe involved in any hou s ingelementand N etwork
Railas a promoterofimproved trans portfac ilities and an interc hange on the
Flitwic kS tation S ite.

47 . D ec is ions on whatlegalpowers and c ons ents willbe req u ired to ac hieve the
red evelopmentwillneed to be mad e. A s thes e d is c u s s ions d evelopitmay be
appropriate to leave the lead on s ec u ringpowers to one ofthe interes ted
parties thu s trans ferringd elivery ris k. Thes e matters willneed to be reported
bac kto Exec u tive in the reportpropos ed in the A u tu mn of20 1 7 .

48 . In the meantime the preparation ofa d evelopmentbriefand a propos ed
c ons u ltation wills eekto inform boththe C ou nc il, its partners and the pu blic
abou twhattypes ofs c heme wou ld be preferred and s u pportthe provis ion of
trans portimprovements and d elivery ofs tarterorothertypes ofhou s ing.

Financial Implications

49. There are s ignific antfinanc ialimplic ations c onc erningallofthe options
available to the C ou nc ilin relation to its land hold ingwithin the Flitwic ks tation
regeneration area.

50 . This inc lu d es bothexis tinginc ome from rents generated from Franklins H ou s e
and als o parkinginc ome generated by the C ou nc il’ s temporary c arpark.
B alanc ingthe potentiallos s ofthis c u rrentinc ome agains tfu tu re inc ome
s ou rc es (bothrevenu e and c apital)thatc ou ld be generated from a mixed -u s e
red evelopmentwillbe an importantc ons id eration onc e we are in a pos ition to
pres entfinalrec ommend ations .

51 . Its hou ld be noted thatthe C ou nc ilhas an exis tingalloc ation offu nd ingwithin
its M ed iu m Term Financ ialP lan of£ 1 , 0 57 M .

Risk Implications

52 . Ifa c omprehens ive mixed -u s e regeneration s c heme c entered on Flitwic k
S tation area is notpu rs u ed , the C ou nc ilis potentially atris kofhavingto repay
GovernmentGrowthA rea Fu nd regeneration grants totaling£ 3. 6m . Thes e
fu nd s were u s ed forthe ac q u is ition ofa s u bs tantialpartofthe C ou nc il’ s
c u rrentland hold ingin this loc ation.

Page 281
Agenda item 20



53. In terms ofthe d evelopmentoptions available to the C ou nc ilthere is a broad
range ofris ks and levelofexpos u re thatvaries c ons id erably ac ros s the
options available. Thes e ris ks are s u mmaris ed in partin the main bod y ofthis
report, howeverthey willbe fu lly explored as partofthe d evelopmentofthe
finalrec ommend ed options fu rtherto this report.

Equalities Implications

54. C entralB ed ford s hire C ou nc ilhas a s tatu tory d u ty to promote eq u ality of
opportu nity, eliminate u nlawfu ld is c rimination, haras s mentand vic timis ation
and fos tergood relations in res pec tofnine protec ted c harac teris tic s ; age
d is ability, gend erreas s ignment, marriage and c ivilpartners hip, pregnanc y and
maternity, rac e, religion orbelief, s ex and s exu alorientation.

55. Good planningc an improve environments and opportu nities forc ommu nities
experienc ingd is ad vantage. P lanningwhic hd oes notad eq u ately engage with,
orc ons id erthe need s of, loc alc ommu nities is u nlikely to improve theirlife
c hanc es and may fu rtherentrenc harea-bas ed d is ad vantage.

56. The red evelopmentofFlitwic kS tation area, withinpu tfrom the loc al
c ommu nity, provid es a u niqu e opportu nity to rad ic ally improve ac c es s to this
importantinfras tru c tu re s o thatitprovid es a genu inely enhanc ed s ervic e forall
s tation u s ers , res id ents , employees and vis itors .

Sustainability Implications

57 . W hic heveroption is taken forward there willbe c ons id erable implic ations
c onc ernings u s tainability. A mixed -u s e d evelopmentwillprovid e
improvements to trans portinfras tru c tu re whic hwillenc ou rage and promoted
greateru s e ofpu blic trans portwhils tgrowingthe nu mberofloc aljobs c los er
to c ommu nities . This wou ld thereby red u c e ou t-c ommu tingand inc reas e loc al
pros perity and the growthofthe loc alec onomy. Ifthe C ou nc ild oes not
proc eed witha mixed -u s e s c heme itwills tillbe in a pos ition to enhanc e loc al
infras tru c tu re in terms ofimproved c arparkingfac ilities thereby s u pporting
forec as ted pas s engergrowthatFlitwic kS tation.

Appendix

Flitwic kd evelopmentand growth–s ite plan

Page 282
Agenda item 20



Table 1: Benefits and risk appraisal

Benefit appraisal Risk appraisal

C
o

n
n

e
c

ti
v

it
y

C
o

m
m

u
te

r
a

m
e

n
it

y

F
li
tw

ic
k

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t

R
e

ta
il

o
ff

e
r

R
e

s
id

e
n

t
p

ri
o

ri
ti

e
s

T
o

ta
l

b
e

n
e

fi
t

s
c

o
re

C
o

n
s
tr

u
c

ti
o

n
ri

s
k

S
a
le

s
/

e
n

d
u

s
e

/
o

c
c

u
p

a
ti

o
n

/
o

p
e

ra
ti

o
n

s
ri

s
k

P
la

n
n

in
g

ri
s
k

S
it

e
ri

s
k

s

V
a
c

a
n

t
p

o
s

s
e

s
s

io
n

ri
s
k

T
o

ta
l

ri
s

k
s

c
o

re

Do nothing
existing car
park

N
o

n
e

(0
)

N
o

n
e

(0
)

N
o

n
e

(0
)

N
o

n
e

(0
)

L
o

w
(1

)

1
/2

5

N
o

n
e

(0
)

N
o

n
e

(0
)

N
o

n
e

(0
)

N
o

n
e

(0
)

N
o

n
e

(0
)

0
/

2
5

Car park
upgrade at
grade,
existing
capacity L

o
w

(1
)

M
e

d
iu

m
(2

)

N
o

n
e

(0
)

N
o

n
e

(0
)

L
o

w
(1

)

4
/

2
5

L
o

w
(1

)

L
o

w
(1

)

L
o

w
(1

)

L
o

w
(1

)

L
o

w
(1

)

5
/

2
5

Car park
upgrade
multi-storey,
enhanced
capacity L

o
w

–
M

e
d

iu
m

(2
)

M
e

d
iu

m
(3

)

L
o

w
–

M
e

d
iu

m
(2

)

N
o

n
e

(0
)

L
o

w
(1

)

8
/

2
5

L
o

w
-

M
e

d
iu

m
(2

)

L
o

w
-

M
e

d
iu

m
(2

)

M
e

d
iu

m
(2

)

M
e

d
iu

m
(2

)

L
o

w
(1

)

9
/

2
5

Mixed use
development

M
e
d

iu
m

–
H

ig
h

(4
)

H
ig

h
(5

)

H
ig

h
(5

)

H
ig

h
(5

)

M
e
d

iu
m

-
H

ig
h

(4
)

2
3

/
2

5

M
e
d

iu
m

(3
)

M
e
d

iu
m

p
lu

s
(4

)

M
e
d

iu
m

(3
)

M
e
d

iu
m

p
lu

s
(4

)

L
o

w
-

M
e
d

iu
m

(2
)

1
6

/
2

5

P
age 283

A
genda item

 20



Table 2: Summary options appraisal outcome -

Benefit
score

Risk score

Indicative pre-
build / project
preparation
duration

Indicative
build duration

Build cost
Annual
operating
gross income

Residual
financial
position

Do nothing existing car
park

1/25 0 /25 N il N il N o c os t

(Rank1)

Third highes t
inc ome
(Rank3)

Third highes t
inc ome
(Rank3)

Car park upgrade at
grade, existing capacity

4/25 5/25 6 –8 months
(as s u mingno
planning
c ons ent
req u ired )

10 –12 months
(typic ally 4 –6
months forc ar
parkbu t
retainingwall
willtake
longer).

Third highes t
c os t

(Rank2)

Third highes t
inc ome

(Rank3)

S ec ond highes t
res id u al
(Rank2)

Car park upgrade multi-
story, enhanced
capacity

8 /25 9/25 12 months
(planning
c ons entwou ld
be req u ired )

12 –1 8 months
(typic ally 10 -
12 months for
c arparkbu t
retainingwall
willtake
longer).

S ec ond highes t
c os t

(Rank3)

S ec ond highes t
inc ome

(Rank2)

Third highes t
res id u al

(Rank3)

Mixed use development

23/25 16/25 12 –24 months
(d epend ing
partic u larly on
d elivery option
and
proc u rement
approac h)

36 –48 months
(bu twiththe
potentialfor
interim
hand overs of
partic u lar
elements )

H ighes tc os t

(Rank4)

H ighes tinc ome

(Rank1)

H ighes t
res id u al

(Rank1)

P
age 284

A
genda item

 20



Programmes:
Flitwick

Drawing Title:
Flitwick 

Growth Map

Drawing Date:
1/12/2016

Key:

This drawing may contains Ordnance Survey material by permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2016, All rights reserved. 2015 Reference number 0100031673. 
OS Open data/ © Natural England/ © DEFERA / © DECC / © English Heritage. Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2015 - Aerial Photography - World Imagery: Source: Esri, DigitalGlobe, GeoEye, Earthstar Geographics, CNES/Airbus DS, USDA, USGS, AEX, Getmapping, Aerogrid, IGN, IGP, swisstopo, and the GIS User Community

P
age 285

A
genda item

 20



T
his page is intentionally left blank



EXECUTIVE 4 A pril20 1 7

Revenue Budget Monitoring Provisional Forecast Outturn
December 2016 (Q3)

ReportofC llrRic hard W enham , Exec u tive M emberforC orporate Res ou rc es
(ric hard . wenham@ c entralbed ford s hire. gov. u k)

A d vis ingO ffic ers : C harles W arboys , D irec torofRes ou rc es & S 151 O ffic er
(c harles . warboys @ c entralbed ford s hire. gov. u k)

This report relates to a Non Key Decision

Purpose of this report

1 . The reports ets ou tthe provis ionalforec as tou ttu rn financ ialpos ition for
20 16/1 7 as atthe end ofD ec ember20 16. Its ets ou ts pend agains tthe
approved bu d getand itexc lu d es the H ou s ingRevenu e A c c ou ntwhic his
s u bjec tto a s eparate report. Explanations forthe varianc es are s etou t
below in A ppend ix A .

2 . This reportenables the Exec u tive to c ons id erthe overallfinanc ial
pos ition ofthe C ou nc il.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Executive is asked to:

1. note the current forecast revenue outturn position which is
an overspend of £1.2M;

2. request that officers continue to look for compensatory
savings in order to deliver a balanced budget;

3. delegate authority to approve the 2016/17 revenue, capital
and HRA provisional financial outturn positions, subject to
audit, to the Chief Executive and the Director of Resources
(s.151 Officer) in consultation with the Leader and Executive
Member for Corporate Resources. The requirement for the
delegation is set out in paragraphs 3 – 5 below the
recommendation section; and

4. this delegation is subject to the final outturn position not
being more than 1% over/under net budget.

Page 287
Agenda item 21



Provisional Financial Outturn 2016/17 (subject to audit)

3. In previou s years a reporthas been taken to Exec u tive in Ju ne to
formally agree the provis ionalfinanc ialou ttu rn forthe previou s financ ial
year, s u bjec tto au d it. This yearthe C ou nc ilis volu ntarily working
toward s a s hortertimes c ale forthe approvalofthe S tatementof
A c c ou nts (S oA ), aimingto c omplete the d rafts etby end ofM ay. The
followingyearthis times c ale bec omes c ompu ls ory bu titis importantfor
boththe C ou nc iland its externalau d itors to try to ac hieve this
times c ale in 20 1 7 in ord erto valid ate the proc es s .

4. The s c hed u le forExec u tive meetings d oes notmatc hthis as piration,
with4 A pril20 1 7 beingtoo early forthe res u lts to be mad e available
and 6 Ju ne 20 1 7 beingtoo late to meetthe d es ired s ign offofthe S oA .

5. The Rec ommend ation is therefore thatd elegated au thority is given to
the C hiefExec u tive and D irec torofRes ou rc es (s . 151 O ffic er), in
c ons u ltation withthe L ead erand Exec u tive M emberforC orporate
Res ou rc es to agree the provis ionalfinanc ialou ttu rns forrevenu e,
c apitaland H RA ac c ou nts . There wills tillbe a reportto Exec u tive in
Ju ne on the ou ttu rn pos ition, thu s bringingthe figu res into the pu blic
d omain.

Issues

6. Forec as tou ttu rn pos ition as atD ec ember20 16 is £ 1 . 2M overbu d get
(£ 0 . 5M in N ovember, £ 0 . 1M u nd erbu d getlas tyear). The yearto d ate
s pend is £ 1 . 9M u nd erbu d get(£ 2 . 1M in N ovember)and s o the res tof
yearforec as tis effec tively overby £ 3. 1M .

7 . S C H H forec as tovers pend is £ 1 . 8 M (£ 1 . 9M in N ovember). This
forec as tovers pend is mainly d u e to flow throu ghofovers pend s from
20 15/16 and u nac hievable effic ienc ies agains tC are A c tfu nd ing
(£ 0 . 7 5M )and C are P ac kages (£ 0 . 7 M ).

8 . C hild ren’ s S ervic es are u nd erbu d getby £ 0 . 3M (£ 0 . 3M u nd erin
N ovember). The varianc e is s pread ac ros s nu merou s c os tc entres .

9. C ommu nity S ervic es are overby £ 0 . 2M (£ 0 . 3M u nd erin N ovember)
YTD is £ 1 . 2M u nd erbu d gets o res tofyearis forec as tto overs pend by
£ 1 . 4M . Ris ks relatingto S c hool/S pec ialEd u c ation N eed s trans port
have now been fac tored into the forec as t(s ee paragraph24 in
A ppend ix A ).

1 0 . Regeneration are u nd erbu d getby £ 0 . 1M (£ 0 . 1M u nd erin N ovember).
YTD is £ 0 . 9M u nd ers o res tofyearis an overs pend of£ 0 . 8 M . This is
d u e to inc ome rec eived earlierthan bu d geted whic his expec ted to
s low d own overthe res tofthe year.

Page 288
Agenda item 21



11 . C EO Team is overbu d getby £ 0 . 5M d u e to inc reas ed IT c os ts (£ 0 . 2M
overin N ovember).

1 2 . There is c u rrently fu rtherris kin the IT revenu e forec as twhic his s till
beingqu antified . W orkis ongoingreviewingthe s oftware and s u pport
c ontrac ts to id entify how mu c hofthe c os ts inc u rred to d ate relate to
fu tu re years (paid in ad vanc e). Untilthis is c omplete there is
u nc ertainty as to how mu c hofthe c u rrents pend relates to 20 16/1 7 .

13. In ad d ition within IT there are c u rrently d ou ble ru nningc os ts as a res u lt
of‘ old ’ s ys tems beingru n in parallelwiththe implementation ofnew
tec hnologies .

14. Res ou rc es are u nd erby £ 0 . 2M (£ 0 . 2M u nd erin N ovember). C orporate
C os ts are u nd erby £ 0 . 7 M (£ 0 . 7 M u nd erin N ovember)d u e to lower
than bu d geted M inimu m Revenu e P rovis ion and interes tc os ts d u e to
c apitals lippage and interes trate red u c tions .

15. W e are hold inga c ontingenc y of£ 2 . 1M agains twhic hno c allhas yet
been mad e. Ifthis c ontingenc y is releas ed then this res u lts in an
u nd ers pend of£ 0 . 9M . H owever, there are a nu mberofris ks whic hif
they materialis e c ou ld red u c e this fu rther.

16. O veralld ebtin D ec emberis £ 8 . 8 M , N ovemberwas £ 8 . 7 M . D ebtover
61 d ays is £ 4. 1M (42%), N ovemberwas £ 4. 1M (47 % ). W orkis
c ontinu ingto analys e the d ebtand ens u re effec tive and effic ient
rec overy proc ed u res are followed .

1 7 . The Table below d etails the fu llyearvarianc es by d irec torate:

Year to Date - December P9 Full Year

Directorate Budget Actual Variance Budget

Forecast

Outturn Variance

Rest of

Year

Variance
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

S C H H 52 . 0 53. 2 1 . 2 69. 3 7 1 . 1 1 . 8 0 . 6

C hild rens S ervic es 2 7 . 6 2 7 . 2 (0 . 4) 36. 6 36. 3 (0 . 3) 0 . 1

C omm u nityS ervic es 34. 8 33. 6 (1 . 2) 46. 7 46. 9 0 . 2 1 . 5

Regeneration 4. 3 3. 4 (0 . 9) 5. 9 5. 8 (0 . 1) 0 . 8

P u blic H ealth 0 . 0 (0 . 1) (0 . 1) 0 . 0 0 . 0 0 . 0 0 . 1

C hiefExec u tive's 5. 6 5. 9 0 . 3 7 . 5 8 . 0 0 . 5 0 . 2

Res ou rc es 8 . 5 8 . 1 (0 . 3) 11 . 7 1 1 . 4 (0 . 2) 0 . 1

C orporate C os ts 6. 4 5. 9 (0 . 5) 11 . 5 1 0 . 7 (0 . 7 ) (0 . 2)

Total Excl Landlord Business 139.2 137.4 (1.9) 189.2 190.4 1.2 3.1

Page 289
Agenda item 21



RESERVES POSITION

1 8 . The generalfu nd fu llyearforec as tpos ition inc lu d es a net£ 2 . 1M
inc reas e in res erves (exc lu d ingS c hools ).

19. In terms ofu s e ofgeneralfu nd earmarked res erves , S C H H are
forec as tto u s e £ 1 . 0 M , C hild ren’ s S ervic es £ 0 . 5M , C ommu nity S ervic es
£ 1 . 6M , P u blic H ealth£ 0 . 1M , and Regeneration £ 0 . 2M . N ote thatthes e
res erves are beingu s ed forthe pu rpos e forwhic hthey were s etas id e
las tyear.

2 0 . This is offs etby the c reation ofa £ 4. 7 M EM R forthe N ew H omes
B onu s (N H B )whic h we willrec eive in 20 16/1 7 . This was a c ons c iou s
d ec is ion within the M TFP to bothred u c e relianc e on N H B and to bu ild
a fu nd forinves tment. This leaves the N H B res erve at£ 6. 8 M inc lu d ing
c arry forward from 20 15/16.

2 1 . There is als o a bu d geted trans ferto EM R of£ 0 . 5M to topu pthe
Red u nd anc y Res erve.

2 2 . S ee A ppend ix B ford etails ofwhic hEM R have been u s ed (note that
C orporate C os ts s hows a nu mberofres erves thatare reflec ted in the
D irec torate ou ttu rns , forexample the u s e ofthe red u nd anc y res erve).

General Reserves

23. The opening pos ition for20 16/1 7 is £ 15. 5M . There are no fu rtheru s es
orc ontribu tions planned this year.

Council Priorities

24. S ou nd financ ialmanagementc ontribu tes to the C ou nc il’ s Valu e for
M oney and enables the C ou nc ilto s u c c es s fu lly d eliverits priorities .
The rec ommend ations willc ontribu te ind irec tly to all6 C ou nc il
priorities .

Corporate Implications

Legal Implications

25. N one

Financial Implications

26. The financ ialimplic ations are s etou tin the report.

Page 290
Agenda item 21



Equalities Implications

2 7 . Eq u ality Impac tA s s es s ments were u nd ertaken priorto the alloc ation of
the 20 16/1 7 bu d gets and eac h D irec torate was ad vis ed of s ignific ant
equ ality implic ations relatingto theirbu d getpropos als .

Appendices
A ppend ix A –D etailed D irec torate C ommentary
A ppend ix B –Earmarked Res erves .
A ppend ix C –D ebtM anagement
A ppend ix D –Treas u ry M anagement

Page 291
Agenda item 21



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A – DIRECTORATE COMMENTARY

Social Care, Heath and Housing (SCHH)

1. The Directorate General Fund outturn position is an overspend of £1.843M.

2. The Adult Social Care service (Care & Support, OPPD, Learning Disabilities/Mental
Health and Integrated Services) is forecast to overspend by £2.664M (excluding customer
contributions).

3. This division has to absorb the risk of increasing Older People, Physical and Learning
Disability package volumes and costs. People are living longer and the costs of dementia
are on the increase. Demographic pressure of £4.1M has been built into the budget to
reflect the impact of both an ageing population and the additional costs associated with
the transition of younger people with disabilities into Adult Social Care. There are,
however, significant efficiency targets for this area totalling just short of £4.2M.

4. Within the Older People 65+ external package budgets, there are projected overspends
on residential and nursing placements of £1.561M offset by additional customer income
which is forecast to exceed the budget by £1.115M. There is a projected overspend on
non-residential packages of £1.789M (this includes new extra care contract costs at Priory
View and Greenfields). For non-residential services there is a projected overachievement
of customer income of £0.527M. This leaves Older People package expenditure
projecting a net £1.708M overspend compared to budget. This is after allowing for the
recovery of backdated funding of £0.500M regarding long standing disputes regarding
health and other local authority funding. Additional placement costs of £0.196M relating
to the Greenacre re-provision are being funded from the Integrated Approaches reserve.

5. The Directorate continues to track the impact of former self funders who exert pressure on
residential and nursing placements budgets. Seventeen have required Council support
during 2016/17 compared to seven that required support for the same period in 2015/16.
The full year cost is estimated to be £0.527M.

6. Within Learning Disabilities, additional budget of £1.4M has been provided to cover the
impact of transitions in 2016/17 which includes the full year effect of 2015/16 new
customers and the part year effect of 2016/17 new customers. The budget has also been

Month: December 2016

Director Budget Actual

Proposed

(use of) /

contribution

to

Earmarked

reserves

Variance
Approved

Budget

Forecast

Outturn

Forecast

Variance

Proposed

(use of) /

contribution

to Earmarked

reserves

Forecast

Variance

after use of

earmarked

reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Social Care Health and Housing

Director of Social Care, Health, Housing 186 553 (356) 11 247 731 484 (474) 10

Procurement and Customer Services 1,069 1,135 - 66 1,426 1,541 115 - 115

Housing Solutions (GF) 2,731 2,568 - (163) 3,642 3,457 (185) - (185)

Care and Support 9,461 9,799 (94) 244 12,615 13,106 491 (115) 376

OPPD - Care Management 21,665 23,868 (146) 2,057 28,866 31,312 2,446 (196) 2,250

LD Care Management & MH Packages 16,036 16,035 - (1) 21,376 21,512 136 - 136

Head of Integrated Services + Other IS 710 572 - (138) 946 848 (98) - (98)

Commissioning 6,662 7,121 - 459 8,883 9,250 367 - 367

Resources (6,525) (7,708) (105) (1,288) (8,701) (9,649) (948) (180) (1,128)

Total Social Care and Health 51,995 53,943 (701) 1,247 69,300 72,108 2,808 (965) 1,843

Year to date Year

Page 293
Agenda item 21



increased to reflect carer breakdown costs for mid life customers estimated at £0.7M.

Efficiency targets for this service area amount to £1.1M. There is a projected overspend
on packages of £0.090M. There is also a risk (of £0.363M) associated with transitions
from Children’s Services not reflected in the outturn forecast for 2016/17.

7. There remain risks relating to the funding of customers being reviewed under the
Winterbourne View national programme.

8. To support the pressure around temporary accommodation and the usage of Bed &
Breakfast (B&B) accommodation, the Council agreed to invest £2.5M in purchasing
temporary accommodation. To December 2016 eight purchases have been completed.
Approval has been requested for a further £1.2M of funding from the HRA to purchase
additional properties in this financial year. In addition, lower cost “leasing” options are
being progressed to provide further bed spaces for temporary accommodation.

9. The service is also using private self contained accommodation on a nightly let basis
where the net cost is significantly lower than B&B accommodation but still costly. The
Council are utilising an additional 13 “satellite” properties and five Aragon properties as
temporary accommodation, as well as specific supported accommodation in Houghton
Regis and Leighton Buzzard. The previous peak of January 2016, when there were 99
households in temporary accommodation, has been exceeded in December 2016 at 110
(an increase from 108 at the end of November). The increase is due to the number of
households approaching the Council for housing advice in December (82), many of whom
are approaching as homeless and many with complex needs.

10. The Commissioning Service is projecting an overspend of £0.367M. The key variances
are overspends within various contracts partly offset by Contracts and Commissioning
Teams’ employment costs.

11. The Resources division is showing a projected underspend of £1.128M the majority of
which relates to a projected over achievement of customer contributions.

Better Care Fund (BCF)

12. The overall funding for 2016/17 is set out below: There has been a mandated increase in
the Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (BCCG) contribution compared to last
year.

Page 294
Agenda item 21



13.

Funding Stream 2016/17 Plan

£M

BCCG 15.276

CBC Disabled Facility Grant 1.315

CBC Additional Contribution 3.417

Under spend from 2015/16 0.586

TOTAL 20.534

14. The focus for 2016/17 will be on Out of Hospital Care, Prevention and on Protecting
Social Services.

15. The BCCG funding stream includes funding paid over to CBC of £4.038M.

16. HRA is subject to a separate report.

Children’s Services

17. The Directorate outturn position for 2016/17 Is a £0.312M underspend.

18. Mitigating action and one off compensatory savings have been identified and achieved to
cover the underlying overspend which relates to three main areas in Children’s Services
Operations and Commissioning and Partnerships:

 £0.663M Independent Fostering & Adoptions (IFA’s) and In-House Fostering where

Month: December 2016

Director Budget Actual

Proposed

(use of) /

contribution

to

Earmarked

reserves

Variance
Approved

Budget

Forecast

Outturn

Forecast

Variance

Proposed

(use of) /

contribution

to Earmarked

reserves

Forecast

Variance

after use of

earmarked

reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Children's Services

Director of Children's Services 753 735 (8) (26) 1,012 1,004 (8) (10) (18)

Children's Services Operations 16,835 16,243 (5) (597) 22,306 21,666 (640) (9) (649)

LAC Placement Costs 6,724 7,475 (71) 680 8,973 9,663 690 (95) 595

Commissioning & Partnerships 2,591 2,303 (17) (305) 3,637 3,467 (170) (23) (193)

Partnerships 389 465 (87) (11) 555 671 116 (116) -

Education Services 1,310 1,403 (209) (116) 1,516 1,747 231 (278) (47)

Total Children's Services (ex Schools / Overheads) 28,602 28,624 (397) (375) 37,999 38,218 219 (531) (312)

DSG + ESG Contribution to Central Support (1,017) (1,021) - (4) (1,356) (1,356) - - -

Total Children's Services (excluding Schools) 27,585 27,603 (397) (379) 36,643 36,862 219 (531) (312)

Year to date Year

Page 295
Agenda item 21



the budget only allowed for 58 IFA’s and there are currently 65 (non
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC).

 £0.288M Children with Disabilities, and is due to an additional five out of area
placements made since the budget build took place for 2016/17. Out of area
placements are made as a last resort when a high level of short break provisions
can no longer meet the need and safeguard the child and/or their family.

 £0.201M pressure on the Youth Offending Service budget in Commissioning and
Partnerships, mostly due to the increase in Remand Costs, which have significantly
increased this year (£0.214M compared with £0.109M last year). This assumes no
more remands in 2016/17.

19. One off compensatory savings and part year efficiencies achieved (full year effect is
included in the 2017/18 MTFP), mitigate the overspend areas and include:

 £0.176M reduction in the number of residential care home payments, leaving care
placements and salary savings.

 £0.379M in Fostering & Adoption from a reduction in the number of allowances
being paid, salary savings and increased Inter-agency income.

 £0.334M Intake & Family Support and Early Intervention & Prevention from salary
savings and discretionary spend budgets.

 £0.224M in Commissioning and Partnerships mainly from increased income
generation through the Academy of Social Work and Early Intervention including
from a decrease in the number of subsidised courses and qualifications, increased
learner contributions, increases in the number of learners, staffing restructuring and
alignments and changes to terms and conditions. This includes £0.089M in Youth
Support Services to offset Remand costs including holding staff vacancies and
reducing the full time equivalent of posts, reduction in commissioning Not in
Education Employment or Training training given the DfE changes to tracking
guidelines for those older than 18 years.

20. The tables below reflect the increased number of Looked After Children (LAC) and non
care placements.

Page 296
Agenda item 21



Dec
2015

Dec
2016

%
change

Average
£ per

child/mnth
Number of LAC : 253 241 (4.7%)

In House Foster Placements 114 109 (4.4%) 1,423
Independent Foster Placements 77 65 (15.6%) 3,404
Residential Homes & Schools 10 6 (40%) 17,445
St Christopher’s (Clophill & Bunyan
Road)

7 7 n/c 11,635

St Christopher’s (Stewartby) 1 1 n/c 13,750
Semi - Independent Living (aged 16 &
17)

11 12 9.1% 3,072

Placed for Adoption/ with Parents 24 26 8.3% 0
Children with Disabilities (CWD
Maythorn and Residential School)

6 9 50% 9,334 -
20,957

Young Offenders serving custodial
sentences /Temp Accom / Youth
Offending

3 4 33.3% 0

Parent & Baby Units 0 2 n/a 15,080

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking
Children:

41 60 46.3%

In House Foster Placements 5 10 100% 1,327
Independent Foster Placements 13 7 (46.2%) 3,250
Semi Independent Living (aged 16 &
17)

23 43 87% 1,487

Total Number of LAC: 294 301 2.4%

Dec
2015

Dec
2016

%
change

Non care placements :
Special Guardianship Orders 131 139 6.1%
Residential Orders 41 41 n/c
Adoption Allowances 46 49 6.5%
Other information:
Child Protection Plan 194 172 -11.3%
Children in Need 1331 1350 1.4%
Number of Referrals (YTD) 1792 1354 -24.4%

Page 297
Agenda item 21



Movement YTD
Inc. UASC

LAC (29th April 302) -1
In House Placements (April 123) -4
Independent Foster Placements (April 79) -7
Semi Independent Living (April 38) +17
Special Guardianship Orders (April 132) +7

21. There are currently 24fte agency staff across Children’s Services Operations covering
22fte vacant posts and 1.8 agency Social Workers mitigating for the Additional Years
Supported Employment’s in the Intake & Assessment and Family Support teams due to
leavers and secondments in the teams.

Community Services

22. The full year outturn position for Community Services is an overspend of £0.236M.

Community Services Director
23. Community Services Director is forecasting an underspend of £0.140M with the majority

of this relating to staffing. The staffing budget includes budget relating to the restructure

which will be transferred to the appropriate service once this has been concluded.

Highways Transportation

24. Highways and Transportation is forecasting an overall overspend of £1.381M. This is

explained further in paragraphs 25 – 29.

25. AD Highways & Transportation is forecasting an on budget position. The year to date is
also showing on budget.

26. Educational Transport are forecasting an overspend of £1.034M, this is mostly due to
increase in Special Education Needs costs where the number of routes have increased
from 120 in 2015/16 to 210 this year and the overall costs per route have also increased.
Extended Rights to travel are also showing £0.290M expenditure over and above the
£0.167M government grant received.

27. Highways Contracts are forecasting a £0.091M underspend.

Month: December 2016

Director Budget Actual

Proposed

(use of) /

contribution

to

Earmarked

reserves

Variance
Approved

Budget

Forecast

Outturn

Forecast

Variance

Proposed

(use of) /

contribution

to Earmarked

reserves

Forecast

Variance

after use of

earmarked

reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Community Services

Community Services Director 245 189 - (56) 327 187 (140) - (140)

Highways Transportation 13,201 13,692 (173) 318 17,874 19,467 1,593 (212) 1,381

Environmental Services - Waste 14,484 13,903 (76) (657) 19,117 19,072 (45) (577) (622)

Environmental Services - Other 3,632 3,319 (262) (575) 4,966 5,002 36 (373) (337)

Assets (including Working Smarter) 3,276 3,397 (373) (252) 4,368 4,780 412 (458) (46)

Total Community Services 34,838 34,500 (884) (1,222) 46,652 48,508 1,856 (1,620) 236

Year to date Year

Page 298
Agenda item 21



The year to date figures are showing a £0.496M underspend. It is expected third party
spend will be on budget as winter maintenance works continues.

28. Passenger Transport Services – forecasting an overspend of £0.438M of which £0.139M
relates to the contract hire of vehicles as the Council owned vehicles are not suitable.
Staffing costs are forecasting an overspend of £0.327M due to delays in recruitment.
Additional income from vehicle hire of £0.032M has slightly offset the above overspends.

29. Transport strategy is now being reported in the highways contract figures and the
remainder of the service has moved to the Regeneration and Business Support
Directorate.

Environmental Services

30. Environmental Services is forecasting an overall underspend of £0.959M. This is

explained further in paragraphs 31 – 37.

31. Libraries – forecasting a £0.204M underspend. There is a staffing underspend of £0.324M
due to a combination of staff vacancies due to the restructure of hours within the library
service which has meant that vacant positions are not currently being recruited. There is
forecast a £0.097M reduction in income against both Leighton Buzzard Theatre
(£0.053M) due to lower ticket sales and bar receipts, and the library service and fines
(£0.044M).

32. Emergency Planning – is forecasting a £0.029M underspend . There is a £0.074M

staffing underspend due to long term sickness and vacancies offset by income of

£0.040M no longer being received.

33. Public Protection – is forecasting a £0.205M overspend is due to overspends on staffing
costs due to a delayed restructure; this is now underway.

34. Community Safety – is forecasting an £0.093M underspend, this is due to salary costs in
respect of vacancies.

35. Waste Service is forecasting a £0.622M underspend, which is a £0.090M underspend on
staff costs, due to vacancies, reduced hours and the net cost of secondment of staff.
There has been lower indexation of £0.426M than budgeted on collection costs and a
£0.158M underspend on Household Waste Recycling Centres due to the temporary
closure of Ampthill and Leighton Buzzard. These are partially offset by underachievement
of recyclate income of £0.122M due to contamination and contract disputes.

36. Leisure & Active Lifestyles – is forecasting an on budget position.

37. Parking – is forecasting a £0.216M underspend, this is due to additional income of
£0.169M and an underspend on salaries. These have been partially offset by overspends
on costs at Flitwick car park.

38. Assets are forecasting to be £0.046M under budget.

Page 299
Agenda item 21



Regeneration and Business Support

39. The full year projected outturn position for 2016/17 is a £0.064M underspend.

40. The Director’s group is forecasting underspend of £0.106M which relates to staff salaries
due to vacancies. This has been partially offset by an overspend within Professional
services of £0.060M due to costs for assessment and analysis work.

41. Business and Investment is forecasting an overspend of £0.130M. Of this £0.173M
relates to staffing costs which are forecast to exceed budget once vacancies have been
filled. The staffing budget is being managed across the whole Directorate, there are
staffing underspends in other areas and the Directorate management team are working
together to ensure that in total the staffing costs do not exceed the budget.

A restructure is planned and once this has been completed the staffing budgets for the
whole Directorate will be adjusted accordingly.

42. The Development Infrastructure Division now includes areas of transport strategy is
forecasting an underspend of £0.087M. The underspend is a result of the following,
additional income of £0.269M due to higher levels of planning applications, underspends
against staffing of £0.490M which is the net result of vacancies across the division (there
are currently 12 vacant positions) some of which have been covered through agency.
These underspends are offset by overspends on Professional services of £0.503M part of
which is due to £0.200M spend on Local plan being met from underspends within the
Directorate rather than drawing on the earmarked reserve.

The one-off pieces of work include Transport modelling (£0.046M), Houghton Regis work
(£0.050M), Parking Strategy (£0.046M) Cornerstone work (£0.060M) and CBC match
funds to the Sustainable transport grant (£0.025M). Legal costs are overspending by
£0.104M due to the costs of counsel representation in a number of cases and £0.070M
for private contractors due to drainage and flood risk costs.

Month: December 2016

Director Budget Actual

Proposed

(use of) /

contribution

to

Earmarked

reserves

Variance
Approved

Budget

Forecast

Outturn

Forecast

Variance

Proposed

(use of) /

contribution

to Earmarked

reserves

Forecast

Variance

after use of

earmarked

reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Regeneration and Business

Director 650 506 - (144) 867 761 (106) - (106)

Business & Investment 510 456 (4) (58) 881 1,032 151 (21) 130

Planning 3,156 2,616 (132) (672) 4,161 4,238 77 (165) (88)

Programme Delivery - - - - - - - - -

Total Regeneration and Business 4,316 3,578 (136) (874) 5,909 6,031 122 (186) (64)

Year to date Year

Page 300
Agenda item 21



Public Health

43. Public Health’s forecast outturn is to achieve a balanced budget after proposed use of
reserves. The Public Health grant is currently ringfenced so any under/overspend
results in a movement against the carried forward reserve from 2015/16.

Chief Executive

44. The Chief Executive Team is forecasting an overspend of £0.498M

45. The forecast In the Chief Executive’s team is an overspend of £0.498M which relates to
IT. This is mainly due to contract and software expenses, recruitment of contract staff and
the purchase of professional services increasing to meet the demands of the Council’s
Digital Transformation programme. There is a currently further risk in the IT revenue
forecast which is still being quantified. Work is ongoing reviewing the software and
support contracts to identify how much of the costs incurred to date relate to future years
(paid in advance). Until this is complete there is uncertainty as to how much of the current
spend relates to 2016/17.

Resources

46. The Resources Directorate is forecasting an underspend of £0.248M.

Month: December 2016

Director Budget Actual

Proposed

(use of) /

contribution

to

Earmarked

reserves

Variance
Approved

Budget

Forecast

Outturn

Forecast

Variance

Proposed

(use of) /

contribution

to Earmarked

reserves

Forecast

Variance

after use of

earmarked

reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Public Health

Director of Public Health (9,045) (9,222) - (177) (12,060) (12,294) (234) 234 -

Assistant Director of Public Health 9,071 9,151 - 80 12,095 12,415 320 (320) -

Total Public Health (Excl overheads) 26 (71) - (97) 35 121 86 (86) -

Contribution to Central Support - - - - - - - - -

Total Public Health 26 (71) - (97) 35 121 86 (86) -

Year to date Year

Month: December 2016

Director Budget Actual

Proposed

(use of) /

contribution

to

Earmarked

reserves

Variance
Approved

Budget

Forecast

Outturn

Forecast

Variance

Proposed

(use of) /

contribution

to Earmarked

reserves

Forecast

Variance

after use of

earmarked

reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Chief Executive's

Chief Executive 229 224 - (5) 306 306 - - -

Communications 841 867 - 26 1,121 1,119 (2) - (2)

IT 4,534 4,841 - 307 6,045 6,545 500 - 500

Total Chief Executive's 5,604 5,932 - 328 7,472 7,970 498 - 498

Year to date Year

Page 301
Agenda item 21



47. Finance are underspent by £0.087M mainly as a result of higher than previously forecast
Housing Benefit Admin Subsidy (-£0.128M); the reduction in this funding from Department
for Works and Pensions was lower than expected for 2016/17. This impact of this has
been reduced in part by higher than previously forecasted agency costs. This is as a
result of a drive to improve performance following high staff turnover (£0.099M) in
Revenues & Benefits. There are also smaller savings in other areas of Finance amounting
to £0.058M.

48. There is an unachievable efficiency within the former Director ICS cost centre relating to
merging of common functions (£0.100M). This has been mitigated by savings from
Director of ICS post (£0.135M).

49. Within Governance - Coroner Services there is an overspend of £0.108M as a result of
increase of mortuary fees charged from Luton & Dunstable Hospital and increase in costs
resulting from the transfer in of coroner's officers from Bedfordshire Police, these
pressures are CBC's share of the total additional costs.

50. There is an overspend in Governance - Registration Services due to CBC share of one off
dilapidation charges relating to exiting the Pilgrim Centre (£0.027M) and revision of
income forecast as a result of fewer than previously expected ceremonies (£0.015M).

51. Local Land Charge (LLC) provision for legal costs which was not required in full (-
£0.070M) and savings against the Members’ budget (-£0.057M) which partly offsets the
overspends in Governance.

52. There are underspends in the Legal Services Budget of £0.131M.

Corporate Costs

Corporate Costs

53. Overall Corporate Costs is forecasting to be £0.743M underspent after movements to and
from reserves. The £5.210M contribution to reserves relates to the New Homes Bonus
and also the Redundancy reserves mentioned in the main report.

Month: December 2016

Director Budget Actual

Proposed

(use of) /

contribution

to

Earmarked

reserves

Variance
Approved

Budget

Forecast

Outturn

Forecast

Variance

Proposed

(use of) /

contribution

to Earmarked

reserves

Forecast

Variance

after use of

earmarked

reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Resources

Finance 3,622 3,482 - (140) 5,172 5,085 (87) - (87)

Housing Benefit Subsidy (448) (448) - - (597) (597) - - -

ICS Director 85 144 (63) (4) 113 144 31 (62) (31)

Legal Services 1,520 1,421 - (99) 2,026 1,895 (131) - (131)

Governance 1,766 1,870 (54) 50 2,413 2,338 (75) 85 10

People 1,926 1,828 (33) (131) 2,568 2,596 28 (37) (9)

Total Resources 8,471 8,297 (150) (324) 11,695 11,461 (234) (14) (248)

Year to date Year

Page 302
Agenda item 21



54. The Corporate Costs underspend of £0.7M is due to lower than budgeted interest
payments and also Minimum Revenue Provision following lower spend on 2015/16
Capital Programme than budgeted.

Month: December 2016

Director Budget Actual

Proposed

(use of) /

contribution

to

Earmarked

reserves

Variance
Approved

Budget

Forecast

Outturn

Forecast

Variance

Proposed

(use of) /

contribution

to Earmarked

reserves

Forecast

Variance

after use of

earmarked

reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Corporate Costs

Debt Management 10,235 9,710 - (525) 13,646 12,946 (700) - (700)

Premature Retirement Costs 1,990 1,991 - 1 2,756 2,756 - - -

Corporate Public Health Recharges (473) (454) - 19 (631) (631) - - -

Corporate HRA Recharges (90) (90) - - (120) (120) - - -

Efficiencies (60) (92) - (32) 130 87 (43) - (43)

Contingency and Reserves* (5,210) (8,714) 3,504 - (4,297) (9,478) (5,181) 5,181 -

Total Corporate Costs 6,392 2,351 3,504 (537) 11,484 5,560 (5,924) 5,181 (743)

Year to date Year

Page 303
Agenda item 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B – Earmarked Reserves

Description

Opening

Balance

2016/17

Spent Technical

Movements

Balance

before

new

transfers

New

Proposed

transfers

Proposed

Closing

Balance

2016/17

MEMO: Net

movement

after

proposals

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Social Care Health and Housing

Reserves

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 426 426 426 -

Winter Pressure 12/13 "Care Act" 20 20 20 -

Winter Pressure 13/14 "Care Act" 55 55 55 -

Mental Health Action Plan 60 60 60 -

Outcome Based Commissioning 2,484 (710) 1,774 1,774 (710)

Integrated Approaches 505 (140) 365 365 (140)

Better Care Fund 43 43 43 -

Support and Aspiration Grant 50 50 50 -

Welfare Reform - local welfare provision
grant

112 112 112 -

Zero Base Review grant 18 18 18 -

Total Social Care, Health and Housing
3,773 (850) - 2,923 - 2,923 (850)

Children's Services Reserves

Fostering & Adoption 95 (95) (0) (0) (95)

Childrens Homes Co-location - - - -

Partnership Reserves inc Performance
Reward Grant, LSP Sustainable
Neighbourhoods and Assets of
Community Value

198 (25) 173 173 (25)

SEN Reserves inc. Support and
Aspiration Grant and Children's & Families
Act

185 (102) 83 83 (102)

Children's Services Unspent Grant Income
403 403 403 -

Total Children's Services
880 (222) - 659 - 659 (222)

Community Services Reserves

Leisure Centre Reinvestment Fund 179 (32) 147 147 (32)

Integrated consumer protection 116 116 116 -

Transport Fund 92 (1) 91 91 (1)

Community Safety partnership fund 94 (42) 52 52 (42)

Community Safety Grant 119 119 119 -

Bedford & Luton Resilience Forum 65 65 65 -

Financial Investigation Unit 579 (246) 333 83 416 (163)

Biggleswade wind farm 23 23 23 -

countryside access grant 23 23 23 -

Woodside connection options appraisal
39 39 39 -

Rural Payments 3 3 3 -

Sundon Landfill 421 421 421 -

Facilities Security 100 100 100 -

Street Scene Improvements 500 (500) - - (500)

Community Safety 500 500 500 -

Total Community Services 2,853 (821) - 2,032 83 2,115 (738)

Page 305
Agenda item 21



Appendix B – Earmarked Reserves (Cont)

Description

Opening

Balance

2016/17

Spent Technical

Movements

Balance

before

new

transfers

New

Proposed

transfers

Proposed

Closing

Balance

2016/17

MEMO: Net

movement

after

proposals

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Regeneration Reserves

Career Development framework 33 33 33 -

External Funded Regeneration reserve 270 270 270 -

Local Development Framework 327 (119) 208 208 (119)

Minerals and Waste partnership funds 104 104 104 -

NIRAH 49 49 49 -

Business growth grants 40 (40) - - (40)

Flood Defence 555 (85) 470 470 (85)

Building control 327 327 50 377 50

Unauthorised Development 159 159 159 -

Neighbourhood planning grant 65 65 65 -

Food Enterprise Zone 29 29 29 -

Albion Archaeology 25 25 25 -

Total Regeneration 1,983 (244) - 1,739 50 1,789 (194)

Public Health Reserves

Public Health Grant Reserve 1,546 (86) 1,460 1,460 (86)

Risk reserve - - - -

Total Public Health 1,546 (86) - 1,460 - 1,460 (86)

Chief Executive's

Pan Public Sector Funding 28 28 28 -

Customer First 13 13 13 -

ICT Webcasting 55 55 55 -

Total Chief Executive's 96 - - 96 - 96 -

Resources

Housing Benefit Subsidy Audit Reserve
500 500 500 -

NNDR Discretionary Relief & NNDR Bad
Debts

946 946 946 -

Elections Fund 132 132 90 222 90

Individual Electoral Registration 59 (59) - 54 54 (5)

ICS - HR Apprentices & Graduates (£0.2m
held in Corporate at year end)

297 (28) 269 269 (28)

Total Resources 1,934 (87) - 1,847 144 1,991 57

Page 306
Agenda item 21



Appendix B – Earmarked Reserves (Cont)

Description

Opening

Balance

2016/17

Spent Technical

Movements

Balance

before

new

transfers

New

Proposed

transfers

Proposed

Closing

Balance

2016/17

MEMO: Net

movement

after

proposals

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Corporate Reserves - - -

Redundancy/Restructure Reserve 663 (482) 181 500 681 18

Insurance reserve 4,052 4,052 4,052 -

Welfare Reform 400 (90) 310 310 (90)

Teachers' Pensions 241 (9) 232 232 (9)

s31 NNDR Income to offset NNDR
discounts

2,532 2,532 2,532 -

Planning Decisions Legal Challenge 300 300 300 -

Weed Spraying 93 93 93 -

Grass Cutting 77 (77) - - (77)

Town Centre jet wash 27 27 27 -

Road Marking Line renewal 35 35 35 -

Rationalisation of Accommodation 243 (243) - - (243)

Community resilience 500 (42) 458 458 (42)

Tackling Safety and Vulnerability 385 (14) 371 371 (14)

New Homes Bonus 2,055 2,055 4,681 6,736 4,681

Impact of Funding Deficits 1,200 (38) 1,162 1,162 (38)

Smoothing MRP payments/Financing
Charges

926 926 926 -

Transformation (Invest to save,
Transforming service delivery)

700 700 700 -

Transforming lives 250 250 250 -

Independent careers service 250 250 250 -

Planning enforcement 200 (17) 183 183 (17)

Business Operations 200 200 200 -

Total Corporate Reserves 15,329 (1,012) - 14,318 5,181 19,499 4,170

Total Earmarked Reserves (General

Fund)
28,395 (3,321) - 25,074 5,458 30,532 2,137

Page 307
Agenda item 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C - Debtors

1. Overall debt in December is £8.8M in line with last month. Of this £4.7M is less
than 30 days old. Debt over 61 days is £3.7M (42%).

Of the Over 60 days - £2.9M is actively being chased, £0.3M have instalment
arrangements in place. £0.3M is being dealt with through legal channels. A further
£1.3M is in respect of house Sales.

2. The largest items of note within the total debt are:

 SCHH debt at the end of December was £4.733M of which £0.062M is
HRA related (reported separately in the HRA report). Of the £4.672M
General Fund debt (£3.800M for November), £2.551M is Health Service
debt (£1.564M for November). Of the remaining general debt of £2.121M,
£1.372M (65%) is more than 60 days old. Of this, all is under active
management (with solicitors, payable by instalments etc.) with none under
query or scheduled to be written off.

 Health Service debt at the end of December was £2.551M of which
£1.014M or 40% is more than 60 days. All debts are under active
management. A schedule of all outstanding debts is being shared and
discussed regularly with the Bedfordshire CCG.

 Total debt for Children’s Services is £0.249M of which £0.099M (40%) is
debt over 61 days.

 Community Services total debt is £1.223M of which £0.540M (44%) is debt
over 61 days and is being actively pursued.

 Regeneration total debt is £2.490M of which £1.723M is less than 30 days
old. £0.564M (23%) is over 61 days.

DIRECTORATE MoM

£k % £k % £k % £k % £k % £k % £k % £k % £k %
Social Care Health &

Housing 820 17% 1,364 29% 117 2% 189 4% 649 14% 537 11% 1,057 22% 4,733 89% 2,432 51% 44

Children's Services 27 11% 120 48% 3 1% 70 28% 20 8% 4 2% 5 2% 249 98% 99 40% 65

Community Services
190 16% 436 36% 57 5% 26 2% 184 15% 39 3% 291 24% 1,223 97% 540 44% -103

Regeneration
215 9% 1,508 61% 203 8% 35 1% 215 9% 67 3% 247 10% 2,490 97% 564 23% -245

Corporate
0 0% 11 7% 49 33% 3 2% 5 3% 5 3% 76 51% 149 97% 89 60% -221

Public Health
0 0% 0 0% 6 100% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 6 100% 0 0% 0

Unallocated & Non

Directorate 0 0% 0 0% -7 11% -1 2% -4 6% -7 11% -44 70% -63 89% -56 89% 7

GRAND TOTAL 1,252 14% 3,439 39% 428 5% 322 4% 1,069 12% 645 33% 1,632 19% 8,787 3,668 42% -453

PREVIOUS MONTH 1,264 2,620 709 583 1,459 1,183 896 8,714

House Sales 0 17 29 33 205 135 968 1,387

Total Debt Over 61271 to 3651 to 14 Days 15 to 30 Days 31 to 60 Days 61 to 90 Days 91 to 270 1 year and

Page 309
Agenda item 21



 Overall Corporate debt (Chief Executive and Finance) is £0.149M. Of this
there is £0.089M (60%) is over 61 days old.

 Public Health debt is zero.

Page 310
Agenda item 21



Appendix D - Treasury management

Borrowing

As at 31 December 2016 the Council’s total borrowing was £341.2M. Of this
amount, £268.7M was with the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB), £59.0M was
short-term temporary debt from other local authorities and £13.5M was market
debt from banks. The table below also shows the split between the General Fund
and HRA.

PWLB
Fixed

£M

PWLB
Variable

£M

Temporary
Debt

£M

Market
(LOBO)

£M
Total

£M
General Fund 97.0 6.7 59.0 13.5 176.2

HRA 120.0 45.0 0.0 0.0 165.0

TOTAL 217.0 51.7 59.0 13.5 341.2

To manage interest rate risk, the profile of debt is split so that overall the Council
has 64% fixed rate PWLB debt, 15% variable rate PWLB debt, 17% short-term
temporary debt and 4% fixed rate market (LOBO) debt; this is shown in A1 on the
Treasury Management Performance Dashboard.

Based on the latest available annual benchmark analysis conducted by the
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), A2 of the
Dashboard shows the Council’s cost of borrowing is significantly lower than the
4.4% average annual interest rate paid by other local authorities. The average
annual interest rate paid by the Council was 2.8% as at 31 March 2016, which is
mainly due to a higher proportion of variable rate and short-term temporary debt.

In line with the Council’s borrowing strategy, new short-term temporary borrowing
was taken out during Quarter 3 at a cost of between 0.23% p.a. and 0.40% p.a.
(inclusive of brokerage fees).

The Council’s underlying need to borrow as measured by its Capital Financing
Requirement (CFR) was £475.8M at 31 March 2016. Given external borrowing of
£353.8M (inclusive of a £15.7M PFI outstanding liability), deferred borrowing was
£122.0M at 31 March 2016 using internal resources to fund the capital
programme. In line with the approved treasury strategy, the Council used internal
resources in lieu of borrowing to the full extent as this has continued to be the
most cost effective means of funding capital expenditure. The CFR is expected to
increase to £520.9M at 31 March 2017, with deferred borrowing estimated to be
£110.2M (assumes £10M estimated reduction in working capital and no increase
in usable reserves).

Page 311
Agenda item 21



Investments

When investing, the Council prioritises security and liquidity and aims to achieve a
yield commensurate with these principles. To diversify the investment portfolio,
the Council continues to invest in a range of funds such as notice accounts, call
accounts and Money Market Funds as well as using a number of different
financial institutions. B1 of the Dashboard shows the breakdown by investment
counterparty as at 31 December 2016. It should be noted that as cash
investments are maintained at minimal levels for operational purposes, the £5.3M
long-term investment in the UK commercial property-based Lime Fund now
represents a higher proportion of total investments even though the cash amount
invested in it has not changed.

The latest available CIPFA Treasury Management benchmarking results are as at
30 September 2016. B2 of the Dashboard shows that the Council’s average rate
of return on investments was 1.7% which was higher than the benchmarked local
authority average of 0.9% – this was due to the relatively high investment return
on the Lime Fund (inclusive of capital appreciation).

In addition to the Lime Fund investment, the Council has cash deposits placed on
varying interest rates ranging between 0.15% and 0.55%. The Council holds the
majority of its investments in liquid form so it is available for cash flow purposes.
As at 31 December 2016, the Council held cash investments of £14.8M (exclusive
of the £5.3M Lime Fund investment). Of the total cash investment balance,
£11.3M was held in liquid form in instant access call accounts and Money Market
Funds (MMFs); and the remaining £3.5M was equally split between a notice
account and a fixed term deposit which matures in February 2016.

Cash Management

The average cash balance the Council holds is considerably lower than other
benchmarked authorities. The 12-month rolling average cash balance as at the
30 September 2016 for the Council was £26.3M compared to a benchmark
average of £125.9M. This reflects the Council’s long-standing strategy of
holding low cash balances to reduce investment counterparty risk and contain
borrowing costs by utilising internal cash balances in lieu of external borrowing
to fund capital expenditure.

Page 312
Agenda item 21



Outlook

The Council’s treasury advisers, Arlingclose, do not expect the Bank of England
to raise the Bank Rate from its current level of 0.25% over the next three years.
The currency-led rise in CPI inflation (1.6% in the year to December 2016) will
continue, breaching the Bank of England’s 2.0% target in 2017. However, the
Bank is expected to look through inflation overshoots over the course of 2017
when setting interest rates so as to avoid derailing the economy given the
pressure on household spending and business investment.

Over the financial year, the Council has continued to source its new borrowing
requirements from other local authorities on a short-term temporary basis. The
low market interest rates for temporary debt offer revenue cost savings relative to
borrowing on a long-term basis from the PWLB. This borrowing strategy assumes
that interest rates will continue to remain at historically low levels for the medium
term.

However, the Council advised by Arlingclose will continue to monitor long-term
rates with a view to fixing a portion of any borrowing requirement if rates available
are viewed as favourable.

A budget underspend of £0.700M with a further potential upside of £0.050M is
forecasted in 2016/17 in respect of Treasury Management activities reflecting:

 the Bank of England Base Rate cut to 0.25% in August 2016, whereas the
budget had been based on an assumption of official interest rate rises to
commence in the third quarter of 2016 and an average Base Rate of 0.6%
in 2016/17;

 a budget saving arising from the clearance of early debt repayment premia
costs;

 a budget saving on the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) for 2016/17;
 Capital Programme slippage has been higher than originally assumed in

the interest payable budget, leading to a lower level of overall borrowing
than assumed in the 2016/17 budget; and

 new borrowing being taken out at short-term fixed rates from other public
bodies at very low rates.

Page 313
Agenda item 21



SECTION B: INVESTMENT INFORMATION

0.0%

1.0%

2.0%

3.0%

4.0%

5.0%

6.0%

7.0% Annual benchmark analysis of average interest rate paid compared to other
local authorities as at 31 March 2016 (CBC shown as the black line)

A2

CBC average 2.78%
Benchmark average 4.35%

Page 314
Agenda item 21



0 20 40 60 80 100 120

0% - 1.0%

1.0% - 2.0%

2.0% - 2.5%

2.5% - 3.0%

3.0% - 3.5%

3.5% - 4.0%

4.0% - 4.5%

4.5% - 5.0%

5.0% - 5.5%

5.5% - 6.0%

6.0% - 6.5%

6.5% - 7.0%

7.0% - 7.5%

7.5% - 8.0%

8.0% - 8.5%

8.5% - 9.0%

9.0% - 9.5%

9.5% -…

Millions

Analysis to show Interest Rate Profile on Debt
as at 31 December 2016 (Average 2.72 %)

PWLB Maturity Fixed Rate

Market (LOBOS)

PWLB Maturity Variable Rate

Temporary Short term Debt

A3

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16
18
20
22
24
26
28
30
32
34
36
38
40
42
44
46
48
50
52
54
56
58
60
62
64
66
68
70

20
1

7

20
2

0

20
2

3

20
2

6

20
2

9

20
3

2

20
3

5

20
3

8

20
4

1

20
4

4

20
4

7

20
5

0

20
5

3

20
5

6

20
5

9

20
6

2

20
6

5

20
6

8

20
7

1

20
7

4

20
7

7

20
8

0

20
8

3

£
m

at
u

ri
n

g

M
ill

io
n

s

Financial year ending

Central Bedfordshire Council: Borrowing Maturity Profile
as at 31 December 2016

Temporary Short term Debt

PWLB Maturity variable rate

Market (LOBOS)

PWLB Maturity Fixed rate

LOBO assumption : the loans are not called prior to

A4

Page 315
Agenda item 21



SECTION B: INVESTMENT INFORMATION

0.0%

0.5%

1.0%

1.5%

2.0%

2.5%

3.0%

3.5%

j a f b s n g h z w o e t x d r k u m

Average interest rate received on investments compared
to other local authorities as at 30 September 2016 (CBC

shown as the black line)

CBC average 1.7%
Benchmark average 0.9%

B2

Page 316
Agenda item 21



Page 317
Agenda item 21



This page is intentionally left blank



EXEC UTIVE 4 April 2017

D ec em ber2016 Q 3 C apitalB u d getM onitoring Forec ast
O u ttu rn Report

Report of Cllr Richard Wenham, Executive Member for Corporate Resources
(richard.wenham@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)

Advising Officers: Charles Warboys, Director of Resources & S151 Officer
(charles.warboys@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)

This reportrelates to aNon Key D ec ision

P u rpose ofthis report

1. The report sets out the Capital projected outturn for 2016/17 as at the
end of December 2016. It excludes the Housing Revenue Account
(HRA) which is subject to a separate report.

REC O M M END A TIO NS

The Exec u tive is asked to:

1 . note thatthe gross forec astou ttu rn of£ 107 . 8 M , exc lu d ing H RA bu t
inc lu d ing d eferred spend from 2015/16, is below the approved bu d get
by £ 24. 8 M (£ 42 . 5M below lastyearagainstahigherbu d getof£ 139. 2M ).
The netforec astis £ 8 . 5M below bu d get(£ 32 . 9M below lastyear).

B ac kgrou nd Inform ation

2. This report is based on the 2016/17 budget approved by Council at its 25
February 2016 meeting. The reported budget also includes deferred spend
from 2015/16 which was approved by the Executive on the 7 June 2016 and a
further £8M approved at Council in July 2016 for Strategic Acquisitions. The
approved budget excluding HRA and including deferred spend from 2015/16 is
£132.6M (gross).

Financ ialand O therO ptions: These are covered in the report

3. Forec astO u ttu rn

i) P rinc ipalvarianc es

• Community Services are forecasting £1.5M spend against the £7.2M
budget for the A421 project until the position regarding the external
funding is clearer. Luton & Dunstable Busway is currently forecast to be
£3.6M under budget.

Page 319
Agenda item 22



• Woodside Link are forecasting £8.453M over budget variance of which
formal approval to bring forward 2017/18 budget is being sought. Of the
remaining £5.453M, £3.702M is external funding which will not be
received along originally expected timescales and £1.751M expenditure
overspend. This is a result of additional works being required on site.

• Thorn Turn Waste Park is currently £4.8M under budget and the North
Depot and Salt barn is £4.9M under budget. Both are proposed to be
slipped into 2017/18.

.
• Children’s Services are also expecting to spend £3.1M (net) more than

the DfE allocation in January 2016 on New School Places. This is due to
a combination of less than expected S106 contributions and a £2.0M
reduction to the budget which was due to be mitigated through value
engineering but that has not yet identified cost reductions.

• The £4M of the £8M budget for new acquisitions is currently forecast to
be spent, with the remaining £4M proposed to slip to 2017/18.
However, there are no current plans for new acquisitions, so this may
also become additional proposed slippage into 2017/18.

Yearto D ate (YTD )

• YTD Gross Spend is £21.2M below budget (£20.7M last year). Actual
spend is £66.2M (last year (£61.8M).

C apitalRec eipts

• The overall budget for Capital receipts is £10.5M. The forecast is now
£9.480M.

• To date we have received £2.463M which is the deposit of £1.2M for
Fairfield, £0.110M for the properties that were auctioned at the end of
the last financial year, deposits of £1.153M in respect of Stratton
Phase 5 development and for land Kings Reach, Biggleswade.

• The remaining receipt of £2.8M for Fairfield was received in early
February 2017.

Page 320
Agenda item 22



(Note: Any minor rounding differences are due to linking to detailed
appendices)

Reasons ford ec ision

4. To complete schemes currently underway and facilitate effective
financial management and planning.

C ou nc ilP riorities

5. Sound financial management contributes to the Council’s Value for
Money and enables the Council to successfully deliver its priorities.
The recommendations will contribute indirectly to all 6 Council
priorities.

C orporate Im plic ations

L egalIm plic ations

6. None.

Financ ialIm plic ations

7. The financial Implications are contained in the appendix to the report.

Equ alities Im plic ations

8. Equality Impact Assessments were undertaken prior to the allocation of
the 2016/17 budgets and each Directorate was advised of significant
equality implications relating to their budget proposals.

A ppend ic es

Appendix A – Detailed Directorate Commentary

ii) A summary of the position is in the table below.

D irec torate Gross

B u d get

Gross

A c tu al

Gross

Varianc e

Gross

B u d get

Gross

Forec ast

O u ttu rn

Gross

Varianc e

Net

B u d get

Net

A c tu al

Net

Varianc e

Net

B u d get

Net

Forec ast

O u ttu rn

Net

Varianc e

£ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m

CS 19.6 18.7 (0.9) 21.7 24.8 3.1 0.4 2.5 2.1 1.7 4.6 2.9

Community Service 52.6 39.3 (13.3) 90.2 69.6 (20.6) 32.0 29.5 (2.5) 60.4 52.7 (7.8)

Chief Executive's 3.3 3.8 0.4 4.5 4.5 0.0 3.3 3.8 0.4 4.5 4.5 0.0

Resources 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Regeneration 5.0 1.1 (3.9) 6.8 3.9 (2.9) 3.0 (0.4) (3.4) 4.1 2.3 (1.8)

ASCHH 6.9 3.3 (3.6) 9.4 5.0 (4.5) 3.7 1.8 (1.9) 5.0 3.2 (1.8)

TotalExc H RA 8 7 . 3 66. 2 (21 . 2) 132 . 6 10 7 . 8 (24. 8 ) 42 . 3 37 . 2 (5. 1) 7 5. 7 67 . 3 (8 . 5)

Yearto D ate P 9 Fu llYear2016/17 Yearto D ate P 9 Fu llYear2016/17

Page 321
Agenda item 22



This page is intentionally left blank



.1

Appendix A - DIRECTORATE COMMENTARY

Social Care Health and Housing

1. The directorate outturn forecast is under budget by £4.460M (gross) and under
budget by £1.804M (net).

2. The tables below highlights the areas of spend :

SCHH Full Year Gross Budget and Forecast

Scheme Categories
Gross

Budget

Gross

Forecast
Variance

Deferred

Spend

Over /

(Under)

spend

£k £k £k £k £k

Disabled Facilities Grants Scheme 2,380 2,400 20 0 20

Empty Homes 302 218 (84) 92 8
Renewal Assistance 281 281 0 0 0
Additional Gypsy and Traveller Sites 1,575 50 (1,525) 1,525 0
MANOP Care Home Reprovision 2,000 1,000 (1,000) 1,000 0

MANOP Non-HRA Extra Care Schemes 50 50 0 0 0
NHS Campus Closure 638 121 (517) 517 0
Adult Social Care ICT Projects 280 0 (280) 280 0
Review of Accommodation/Day Support,

"New Approaches to Outcome"

1,906 0 (1,906) 1,806 (100)

Care Homes internal works 0 100 100 0 100
Better Care Fund Capital Grant 0 732 732 0 732

Total 9,412 4,952 (4,460) 5,220 760

% of Budget 52.6%

SCHH Full Year Net Budget and Forecast

Scheme Categories Net Budget
Net

Forecast
Variance

Deferred

Spend

Over /

(Under)

spend

£k £k £k £k £k
Disabled Facilities Grants Scheme 1,712 1,712 0 0 0

Empty Homes 292 200 (92) 92 0
Renewal Assistance 181 181 0 0 0
Additional Gypsy and Traveller Sites 675 50 (625) 625 0
MANOP Care Home Reprovision 2,000 1,000 (1,000) 1,000 0

MANOP Non-HRA Extra Care Schemes 50 50 0 0 0
NHS Campus Closure 143 0 (143) 143 0
Adult Social Care ICT Projects 68 0 (68) 68 0
Review of Accommodation/Day Support,

"New Approaches to Outcome"

(124) 0 124 (124) 0

Care Homes internal works 0 0 0 0 0
Better Care Fund Capital Grant 0 0 124 0 0

Total 4,997 3,193 (1,804) 1,804 0

% of Budget 63.9%

Page 323
Agenda item 22



.2

3. Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG)
The grants provided to residents through the DFG programme assist some of
the poorer and most vulnerable members of the community. Without these
grants in many cases the properties involved would be unsuitable for the needs
of the occupiers who may then be unable to remain in their own homes. This
also reduces pressure on health service resources and residential care, as
without these improvements more residents would require emergency or longer
term care solutions.

The number and type of adaptions to Q3 2016/17 compared to Q3 2015/16 is
below:

4. Type of adaptation Total Q3
2015/16

Total Q3
2016/17

Level access shower/wet room 91 115
Straight stair lift 21 29
Curved stair lift 18 28
Toilet alterations 39 48
Access ramps 22 27
Dropped kerb and hard standing 6 7
Wheelchair/step lift 2 3
Through floor lift 1 2
Major extension 8 12
Kitchen alterations 4 11
Access alterations (doors etc) 40 54
Heating improvements 1 3
Garage conversions/minor additions 4 5
Safety repairs/improvements 5 5
Other 18 23

Total 280 372

5. Requests for Occupational Therapist (OT) Assessments provide an indication of
demand. In the year to date there have been 404 referral requests (715 to
December 2015/16). At the end of December the waiting list decreased to 51
from 150 at the end of November. The extent to which these convert into DFG
referrals will be closely monitored.

6. In terms of OT referral to Housing to make adaptions, there have been 235 year
to date, an average of 26 per month, compared with 254 referrals at an average
of 28 per month for the same period in 2015/16. As a result £1.610M of grant
payments have been made to date. If this rate continues for the rest of the year
this would result in a total of 313 referrals. See table below.

Page 324
Agenda item 22



.3

OT Referrals at December
2016

Previous years

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

367 606 508 533 437 343 329

Current Year
2016/17

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

35 21 41 17 27 30 15 24 25

Referrals YTD 235

Referrals FYF 313

Referrals Average 26

7. Expenditure on Empty Homes relates to Empty Dwelling Management Orders
(EDMOs) and Empty Homes Loans. A number of Empty Homes loans are being
considered for long term empty homes. Empty Homes Loan assistance is an
alternative for owners of empty homes willing to work with the Council. There are
8 Empty Homes Loan cases at enquiry stage and 10 approved and in progress.
There is one major scheme in Dunstable that might provide several units of
accommodation.

8. Work has completed on one property in Houghton Regis at a cost of £0.048M.
Work is in progress on one property in Leighton Buzzard. If the final EDMO is
approved the total cost is expected to be around £0.100M.

9. Most Renewals Assistance is provided as Loan Assistance. The repayment of
Loan Assistance is on change of ownership of the property that has been
improved with such assistance.

For the year to date, repayment is £0.088M allowing the Council to progress
some of the cases being held on the waiting list. The net renewals budget of
£0.181M includes slippage from 2015/16 of £0.031M. Current forecasts suggest
an outturn on budget.

10. Gypsy & Travellers - A full planning application for Biggleswade South was
determined and approved at the 29 June 2016 Development Management
Committee meeting.

The decision was referred to DCLG and final notification of granting of planning
permission was received on 20 July 2016. This approval will provide for a new
Gypsy and Traveller site at Biggleswade South (12 pitches). This will be part
funded by the General Fund and Housing Community Agency financial
contributions.

11. The proposed scheme was subject to a judicial review submission made by a
local resident in August 2016. However, the claim has been rejected by a Judge

Page 325
Agenda item 22



.4

at a pre-application stage and will not now be heard in the High Court. Revised
design changes to the site are currently being reviewed by the planning officer
and will be subject to a Non Material Amendment application. The current
forecast assumes that only contract preparation work will occur in this financial
year, to leave a net spend of circa £0.050M, with a net balance of £0.625M to be
deferred to 2017/18.

12. The MANOP programme includes strategic acquisitions to develop the care
home market and facilitate the provision of new modern residential homes for
older people and of extra care schemes. A site in Leighton Buzzard for care
home re-provision was acquired in October 2016. The remaining budget was to
support the acquisition of a site in the Ivel valley locality but likely to need to be
moved into the 2017/18 financial year.

13. The NHS Campus Closure programme has one potential remaining project for
Central Bedfordshire. This is subject to the release of capital receipts by NHS
Estates/PropCo to ensure that the Campus Closure Programme remains 100%
externally funded. In the current financial year, final schemes costs has been
incurred in respect of a Bedford Borough scheme. Slippage of £0.143M is
reported on the remaining budget.

14. The Adult Social Care ICT project will support the procurement of a new Adult
Social Care case management system. A business case is being developed by
the Directorate and soft market testing took place in November 2016 before a
structured approach is taken to the replacement the current system. Accordingly
the Adult Social Care ICT budget is proposed to slip into 2017/18

15. The Review of Accommodation/Day Support project relates to the Older
People’s Care Homes Re-provision project and any capital equipment and
maintenance requirements for the seven older people’s homes transferred to
local authority management in August 2014. The current forecast includes
£0.100M relating to the fabric and furniture within the homes, capital
enhancements, repairs to extend the useful life of boilers and lifts.

16. Single Capital Pot. Additional capital grant of £0.732M has been provided in
2016/17 through the DFG route to allow authorities to invest in broader strategic
capital projects allied to the Better Care Fund (BCF) plan. Capital Grant for BCF
of £0.482M has also been carried forward from 2015/16. Further work to
determine the use of this funding will take place through the BCF Programme
Delivery Team. At this point it is expected to be spent in 2016/17.

Children’s Services

17. The directorate outturn forecast is above budget by £3.104M (gross) and above
budget by £2.929M (net).

18. The forecast expenditure outturn position for 2016/17 is £24.8M, £3.1M above
the budgeted Capital Programme. The forecast income remains at £20M
requiring a net contribution of £4.6M, £2.9M above planned Council
contributions for 2016/17. The increased contribution is as a result of the annual
review of projects within the New School Places programme.

Page 326
Agenda item 22



.5

19. All but three projects within Children’s Services; New School Places, Schools
Access and Temporary Accommodation, are funded wholly by grant receipts
that have no expenditure deadline.

20. The table below highlights the areas of spend :

Children's Services Full Year Gross Budget and Forecast

Scheme Categories
Gross

Budget

Gross

Forecast
Variance

Deferred

Spend

Over /

(Under)

spend

£k £k £k £k £k
New School Places 18,601 18,285 (316) 0 (316)
Schools Capital Maintenance 2,000 2,268 268 0 268

Schools Devolved Formula Capital 450 450 0 0 0
Special Schools Provision 0 2,402 2,402 0 2,402
Temporary Accomodation 400 400 0 0 0
Schools Access Initiative 200 200 0 0 0
LPSA & LAA Grant payout 0 750 750 0 750

Total 21,651 24,755 3,104 0 3,104

% of Budget 114.3%

Children's Services Full Year Net Budget and Forecast

Scheme Categories Net Budget
Net

Forecast
Variance

Deferred

Spend

Over /

(Under)

spend

£k £k £k £k £k
New School Places 1,054 3,983 2,929 0 2,929
Schools Capital Maintenance 0 0 0 0 0

Schools Devolved Formula Capital 0 0 0 0 0
Special Schools Provision 0 (0) (0) 0 (0)
Temporary Accomodation 400 400 0 0 0
Schools Access Initiative 200 200 0 0 0
LPSA & LAA Grant payout 0 0 0 0 0

Total 1,654 4,583 2,929 0 2,929

% of Budget 277.1%

21. New School Places (NSP)

This programme provides the capital investment to deliver new school places
required by population growth in areas of limited surplus capacity within our
schools. The Council’s School Organisation Plan is the evidence base that
supports the commissioning of these new school places over a rolling five year
period. The programme is funded by a combination of sources including
Department for Education basic need grant, developer contributions and Council
borrowings and capital receipts.

22. The rolling five year programme is dynamic with perpetual changes in forecasts
of income and expenditure across financial years including those arising from
variances in S106 totals and trigger points and in the timing and therefore cost
profile of many projects.

Page 327
Agenda item 22



.6

23. In February 2016 the Council approved the programme for 2016/17 to 2019/20
with gross expenditure of:

 £18.2M (£0.7M net) in 2016/17

 £25M (net nil) in 2017/18

 £17.2M (net nil) in 2018/19

 £15M (£3.4M net) in 2019/20.

24. S106 has contributed significantly to the programme as one source of income in
the past. However, S106 income will fall short of the MTFP target by £1.1M. This
is due to a combination of factors that include the removal of contributions below
£10k due to changes in the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) regulations, the
removal of a number of planning permissions that have now expired and most
significantly a number of large developments that have been delayed, or have
disputes over S106 contributions.

Given the volatility in forecasts of S106 income the School Organisation Team
will now meet each quarter with the Regeneration team to review the forecast.

25. The revised forecast for the NSP programme for 2016/17 is gross expenditure
of:

 £18.3M (£4M net) in 2016/17
 £10M (net nil) in 2017/18
 £12.6M (net nil) 2018/19
 £37.5M (£15.2M net) in 2019/20.

26 The 2016/17 NSP programme includes expenditure on 20 separate capital
projects, most of which span more than a single financial year.

27. These projects include the provision of 1,695 new lower school places, 720 new
middle school places and 1,000 new upper school places as expansions to
existing schools or new school sites. These places have been commissioned to
serve the communities of Leighton Linslade, Fairfield, Stotfold, Arlesey, Ampthill,
Flitwick, Marston, Cranfield, Biggleswade, Barton and Silsoe.

28. Key points to take account of are that in 2017/18 the programme will be holding
an in year unallocated balance of £15M and in 2018/19 it will be £15.5M. This
could be utilised to offset the Council’s borrowing requirements in those years.
The DfE will not announce its allocation of Basic Need for 2019/20 until February
2017 at the earliest so the forecast net contribution in that year may be revised.

Schools Capital Maintenance

29. This rolling programme is externally funded by DfE grant but does require
schools to contribute to the cost of works, as set out in a formula contained
within the Central Bedfordshire Council’s Scheme for Financing Schools. These
contributions are invoiced once planned works are complete. The initial
indications are that income from schools contributions will be circa £0.180M in

Page 328
Agenda item 22



.7

2016/17.

30. In February 2016 the DfE announced the 2016/17 allocation of school condition
funding to the Council for strategic capital maintenance of its school buildings.
The allocation for 2016/17 is £1.994M. In addition to the grant, £0.268M
unallocated funds from 2015/16 are to be utilised, making a total confirmed
forecast spend budget of £2.27M for the 2016/17 Schools Capital Maintenance
Programme.

31. The schools capital maintenance programme for 2016/17 is funding projects
including kitchen ventilation and gas safety improvements; roof repairs, boiler
and heating replacement; emergency lighting, fire alarms, window replacements
and renewal of electrical distribution boards. The 2016/17 Programme is also
funding identified works at Leighton Middle School in collaboration with the new
schools places programme.

32. The results of the Councils schools condition surveys in 2015 and the multi year
indicative allocation of the DfE grant have enabled a three year programme of
works to be developed, improving the ability to prioritise and communicate those
priorities to schools for their own asset management planning.

To date, all original projects are complete on site except one which is
programmed for completion by end March 2017. One project has been
postponed as a result of a feasibility study and another postponed due to the
school’s refusal to contribute and allow access to carry out the works – the
issues have now been resolved. Replacement projects have been identified,
approved and programmed for completion by end of February 2017.

33. SEND Capital Programme (Special Schools Provision)

The Council’s Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Capital Programme
has been approved by Executive.

In 2016/17 this will be funding projects at Toddington St Georges Lower School
and Parkfields Middle School to provide new spaces for children with hearing
impairments. It is also funding the expansion of Oak Bank special school in
Leighton Buzzard and also providing a new Autistic Spectrum Condition
provision at Ardley Hill Academy in Dunstable.

34. The Secretary of State approved the application to capitalise the final
underspend in the 2015/16 High Needs block of £0.784M in order to provide
funding to expand the Academy of Central Bedfordshire on its Stotfold site and
Ivel Valley Special School’s primary phase, on its secondary site in
Biggleswade. The forecast spend for 2016/17 is £2.4M.

Community Services

35. The directorate forecast outturn is below budget by £20.564M (gross) and below
budget by £7.754M (net).

The table below highlights the areas of spend.

Page 329
Agenda item 22



.8

Community Services Full Year Gross Budget and Forecast

Scheme Categories
Gross

Budget

Gross

Forecast
Variance

Deferred

Spend

Over /

(Under)

spend

£k £k £k £k £k
Assets 18,773 13,218 (5,555) 5,556 1

Environmental Services 15,591 9,827 (5,764) 5,815 51
Libraries 0 0 0 0 0
Leisure 1,781 1,856 75 88 163
Transport 54,057 44,737 (9,320) 11,957 2,637

Total 90,202 69,638 (20,564) 23,416 2,852

% of Budget 77.2%

Community Services Full Year Net Budget and Forecast

Scheme Categories Net Budget
Net

Forecast
Variance

Deferred

Spend

Over /

(Under)

spend

£k £k £k £k £k

Assets 17,850 12,294 (5,556) 5,556 0

Environmental Services 13,622 8,574 (5,048) 5,048 (0)
Libraries 0 0 0 0 0
Leisure (1,290) 1,234 2,524 (2,524) 0
Transport 30,265 30,591 326 6,081 6,407

Total 60,447 52,693 (7,754) 14,161 6,407

% of Budget 87.2%

Assets

36. The major projects are;

 2016/17 Corporate Property Rolling Programme (£2.135M)
 Thorn Turn Infrastructure (£2.000M)
 Stratton Park Phase 5 Infrastructure (£3.012M)
 Enhancement work for disposals (£0.972M)
 Strategic Acquisitions (£0.200M)
 Energy Efficiencies (£0.300M)
 Farm Compliance (£0.302M)
 Westbury Phase 2 Industrial Units (0.175M)

37. Due to the delay in approval of the Accommodation strategy there is a deferral of
(£0.212M) on the Corporate Rolling Programme. The business case for the
roofing works at Westbury (£0.175M) is still being refined so costs have been
slipped. Similarly, various options for the Working Smarter programme are being
assessed causing a delay of (£0.250M) for the Working Smarter project.

There has been a delay in the Thorn Turn waste project due to the re-design of
the drainage works. Consequently this has had an impact on the delivery of the
infrastructure works and (£0.919M) has been slipped to next financial year.

Environmental Services

38. Environmental Services are forecasting a £5.048M underspend, this is
proposed to be slipped into the next financial year as follows:

Page 330
Agenda item 22



.9

39 Thorn Turn Waste park is proposing slippage of £4.763M which is due to
delays in the scheme going forward. This is as a result of undertaking a value
engineering exercise to reduce the cost of the scheme.

40. CCTV is forecasting a variance of £0.137M which is proposed to slipped as the
project is not expected to start this year. A report on the future of CCTV is
going to Sustainable communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee in March
2017 and the Executive in April 2017 setting out the options and a
recommendation for development of CCTV.

41. Houghton Hall Park (£0.086M), Sundon Landfill (£0.050M) and Integrated
Environmental Management System (£0.012M) are all proposing to be slipped
into the next financial year.

Major Achievements - Environmental Services (updated quarterly)

42. Sundon Landfill Restoration – Haul road removal completed with land
surrendered to land owner. Final trimming of levels and creation of footpaths
and tracks completed. Site seeded with growth becoming established. Tidying
up of infrastructure and ditches ongoing. Maintenance undertaken on phase 1-
4 landscaped areas. Working through the final snagging with the soil
importation contractor.

43. Waste & Recycling Containers, provision of replacement Bins & Containers –
Successful procurement and provision of 100 x 120 litre, 704 x 140 litre, 4,932
x 240 litre, 1,032 x 360 litre, 16 x 660 litre, 131 x 1100 litre, 1960 x 23 litre food
caddies, 2,592 x 7 litre food caddies, 60 x dog waste, 50 x plastic street litter
bins, 20 x metal street litter bins, 34 x dual recycle/litter bins.

44. Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRC) Redevelopment – During
financial year 2016/17, the second refurbished HWRC at Ampthill has been
completed. The third and final site at Leighton Buzzard is nearing completion
and is due to re-open to public at the end of January 2017. All three sites are
now split level, with increased customer parking, safety and bin availability
which is expected to deal with rising demand and improve our recycling rates.

45. Houghton Hall Park – Phase one of the landscape restoration works has been
completed. This includes the kitchen garden (walls, raised beds, fruit trees and
working area), formal garden (paths, circular beds, box hedging, ornamental
planting), estate fencing and new accessible paths around the park with new
bins and benches. Phase two will take place in Feb/March 2017 with parkland
tree planting and installation of new kitchen garden fencing and gates. Work
has commenced on the construction of the Visitor Centre following the award
of contract at the end of September 2016.

Leisure

46. Leisure is forecasting a £2.524M variance over budget, this is due to the
external funding of 3.037M for the old Flitwick leisure centre now not expected
until the next financial year and £0.517M of proposed slippage against
Dunstable leisure centre due to reprofiling of the project as construction is not
expected to start until summer 2017.

Page 331
Agenda item 22



.10

Major Achievements – Leisure (updated quarterly)

47. Library & Leisure Centre Renewal Dunstable – the planning application was
submitted, a Building contractor has been appointed, work is continuing on the
second stage of tender.

48. Leisure Strategy – The Shefford play area equipment was replaced following
arson attack. Supply and installation of a hammer/throwing cage for Sandy
Athletics.

49. Countryside Sites – The commissioned partnership to deliver ‘Green Wheel’
identified projects have successfully been completed. Partners have secured
match funding approval for contribution towards the kitchen extension at
Rushmere Country Parkand works will commence in January. Tree safety
works at various sites are underway to ensure works are completed before we
reach the bird nesting season end of February.

Transport

50. Transport is forecasting to be £0.326M overspent. This is due to an overspend
of £6.407M and £6.081M of net expenditure being slipped to the next financial
year.

• Woodside Link are forecasting £8.453M over budget variance of which
formal approval to bring forward 2017/18 budget is being sought. Of the
remaining £5.453M, £3.702M is external funding which will not be
received along originally expected timescales and £1.751M expenditure
overspend. This is a result of additional works being required on site.

 Luton and Dunstable Busway is forecasting slippage of £3.645M into
2017/18. A board meeting is due in February 2017 which is when final
figures for the project should be known.

 North Depot is forecasting to slip £4.894M as completion of the site
purchase and therefore work on the site is not expected until April 2017.

 Stratton Street Railway Bridge is forecasting a £0.836M overspend
which was approved in a report to Executive in October 2016.

 New Highways Contract Mobilisation is forecasting an overspend of
£0.301M, this is the residual payment to the highways contractor to
cover an interim depot solution. The overspend will be partially offset by
an £0.150M underspend in Highways Fixed Cost Services. Work is
continuing to mitigate the remaining overspend.

 Tree backlog works (conditions surveys, location plotting) are now
forecasting slippage of £0.460M into the next financial year. This is due
to a vacancy in the post that undertakes the work which is in the
process of being addressed.

 Fixed Cost services are forecasting an underspend of £0.150M as a

Page 332
Agenda item 22



.11

result of fewer hours being booked. This underspend is being used to
offset the overspend within the New Highways Contract Mobilisation.

Major Achievements – Transport (updated quarterly)

51. Woodside Link – The scheme is in the final phase of delivery; earthworks, the
majority of surfacing operations and street lights are all completed. The
scheme is on track for opening in March 2017.

52. Structural Maintenance – 38 carriageway resurfacing schemes have been
completed covering 37.5 kms and 7 footway resurfacing schemes completed
covering 1.97 kms.

53. Stratton Railway Bridge – The bridge deck has been replaced and the bridge is
open to traffic. Temporary barriers remain in place as the final work required
on the parapets has yet to be completed.

54. Luton and Dunstable Busway – While the scheme has been up and running
since September 2013 work has continued on settling the final account, land
and compensation claims (valid for 7 years after opening) along with busway
land transfer to CBC (areas within CBC). This work is progressing well with
expectations that a substantial part of this will be accomplished this financial
year.

55. A421-M1 Junction 13 – Milton Keynes Magna Park – A detailed design has
been commissioned and is underway, modelling and the businesses cases for
DfT are underway with submission expected in spring 2017. Planning
applications and land negotiations are also on-going.

56. Southern Highways Depot (Thorn Turn) – Earthworks and groundworks
phases are complete, all building foundations are in place and the steel frames
are in the process of being assembled. Payments made to UKPN have
enabled works to complete which ensure the site is ready to receive power and
the connection to the national grid. The main office building, is of modular
construction and being assembled on site. The surfacing of internal roads and
parking areas has also begun. We remain on programme for handover in July
2017.

57. Northern Highways Depot (Sandy) – Designs have been agreed and an
application for planning permission will be submitted in February. Land
purchase is agreed but is subject to planning permission. The construction
phase of the project is now set for August 2017 with completion and hand over
in April 2018.

Regeneration & Business Support

58. The directorate forecast outturn is under budget by £2.922M (gross) and under
budget by £1.837M (net).

59. The table below highlights the areas of spend :

Page 333
Agenda item 22



.12

Regeneration & Business Full Year Gross Budget and Forecast

Scheme Categories
Gross

Budget

Gross

Forecast
Variance

Deferred

Spend

Over /

(Under)

spend

£k £k £k £k £k
Strategic Infrastucture 3,079 954 (2,125) 1,685 (440)
Other 3,734 2,937 (797) 797 (0)

Total 6,813 3,891 (2,922) 2,482 (440)

% of Budget 57.1%

Regeneration & Business Full Year Net Budget and Forecast

Scheme Categories Net Budget
Net

Forecast
Variance

Deferred

Spend

Over /

(Under)

spend
£k £k £k £k £k

Strategic Infrastucture 2,102 854 (1,248) 957 (291)
Other 2,005 1,416 (589) 589 (0)

Total 4,107 2,270 (1,837) 1,546 (291)

% of Budget 55.3%

60. The net underspend relates to the Development Site Promotion project
(£0.140M) and Leighton Buzzard Transport Interchange (£0.150M) which are
proposed to slip into 2017/18.

61. Within Strategic Infrastructure, the net slippage of relates to the Flitwick station
area car park £1.050M where options for delivering a commercial and
residential scheme are currently being developed; the Flitwick transport
interchange £0.200M which is being developed alongside the Station Area Car
Park. Dunstable High Street Regeneration is forecasting an overspend of
£0.450M for the new signage on Dunstable High street with £0.250M of
external funding that will not be received until 2017/18. This is proposed to be
slipped to 2017/18 and a negative slippage of £0.2M is also proposed in order
to reduce spend next year.

62. Within Other, the net slippage of £589K mainly relates to the current
broadband scheme of £0.288M, which has now completed but in accordance
with the contract the money is being slipped for future schemes broadband.
Market Towns are slipping £0.321M due to delays in the programs.

Major Achievements Strategic Infrastructure (updated Quarterly)

63. Cranfield Technology Park Acceleration – Negotiations to acquire two pieces
of land in Cranfield to enable highway improvements to be carried out are
progressing well with one site agreed and with Legal Services.

64. Market Towns Regeneration Fund (MTRF) - A total of 7 bids from Ampthill,
Dunstable, Flitwick, Leighton Linslade, Sandy and Shefford town councils are
progressing in the MTRF programme. Business Cases were approved in
October 2016, enabling the Grant Agreements to be distributed to the Town
Centres (TC’s) for signing. All TC’s returned their signed documents, and these

Page 334
Agenda item 22



.13

have been sealed by LGSS. Now that the Grant Agreements are in place, TC’s
will be encouraged to quickly start delivering their outputs. Dunstable TC had
started their programme of works at risk to keep to programme timescales,
their architectural lighting scheme is in place. Timescales have not currently
been raised as a issue for the other TC’s, however many are only now
beginning their programme of activities but confidence is high for commencing
their works in January 2017 now legal documents are in place.

65. High Street Improvement Schemes (HSIS) – Round One on 1st September
2017 achieved 14 shopfront Expression of Interest (EOI) applications approved
by the TC panels. These businesses are currently going through the full
application process supported by our appointed architect. The Round two
deadline was on 1st November 2016, with 16 EOI applications received.
Panels were held, and 6 were approved to go to Full Application.

There is a further date for applying of Friday 1st February 2017 (round three)
and 1st May 2017 (round four). Our architect is creating designs which will
enable the project to gain true costings for the works proposed. We expect the
Full Application scoring panels to be completed in January 2017. This scoring
panel will ensure that the business is committed to the project, from a
monitoring perspective and financially. The tender for the HSIS building
contractor is planned to be appointed by end February 2017, with a view for
the contract to start 1st April 17 until March 18. Once appointed, they will work
with the architect, who will project manage this design and build contract for
the shop fits. The first shop front will start April 2017.

66. East West Rail (EWR) is now one of the Governments national transport
priorities. The National Infrastructure Commission Interim Report and Autumn
Statement announced £100M towards the 'accelerated' delivery of the Western
Section. Network Rail will be looking to provide further clarity over the timetable
for delivery of EWR in February 2017. The Detail Business Case has been
submitted and is going through the approval process with survey, design and
legal works on Ridgmont Interchange works due to start in early 2017.

67. Dunstable High Street Regeneration – the project will deliver physical
appearance infrastructure only in order to make the High St more attractive for
community use, examples being – replacement street lighting, gateway
treatment including planting, on street parking and associated carriageway
narrowing, pedestrian guardrail removal, provision for cyclists. Works must
commence shortly after the opening of the A5-M1 link and complete by March
2018

Public engagement commenced with a report being published in
January/February. The engagement was warmly welcomed within Dunstable
and in general the wishes of the community reflect the authorities ambitions.
The exercise did make it clear that there is a continued need for public
engagement and a plan is being drafted to reflect this.

Major Achievements Other (updated Quarterly)

68. Broadband – The second BDUK project is delivering to spend and outputs
profiles with over 2,000 additional premises already supported to receive
superfast broadband. Take up of services also continues to rise, at 38% of

Page 335
Agenda item 22



.14

eligible premises. This is considered best in class.

The subsidised satellite broadband service which ensures that all premises are
able to receive speeds of at least 2 Mega Bits per second continues, although
take up of this is low, as it is nationally.

Identified efficiencies through project one will be reinvested to support over 1500
additional premises to receive services across the partnership area (with over
600 in Central Bedfordshire).

Following the securing of an additional £3.48M from the South East Midlands
Local Enterprise Partnership and Broadband Delivery UK, a state aid public
consultation has been launched to identify eligible investment areas, as part of
the Council’s policy for full superfast broadband coverage.

69. Dunstable Town Centre Regeneration Phase 2 – The final Dorchester Close
property was acquired on 22nd June 2016 and the complete Dorchester Close
land and premises is now in the control of CBC.

Chief Executives Team

70. There are three major projects which are Digitisation (£2.0M), ICT Strategic
Investment (£1.695M) & IT Infrastructure Rolling Programme (£0.828M). All are
forecasting to achieve budget.

Chief Executive's Full Year Gross Budget and Forecast

Scheme Categories
Gross/Net

Budget

Gross/Net

Forecast
Variance

Deferred

Spend

Over /

(Under)

spend

£k £k £k £k £k
Information Assets 4,523 4,523 0 0 0

Total 4,523 4,523 0 0 0

% of Budget 100.0%

Page 336
Agenda item 22



Central Bedfordshire Council

EXECUTIVE 4 A pril20 1 7

December Q3 Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring

ReportofC llrC arole H egley, Exec u tive M emberforS oc ialC are and H ou s ing
(c arole. hegley@ c entralbed ford s hire. gov. u k)and C llrRic hard W enham , Exec u tive
M emberforC orporate Res ou rc es (ric hard . wenham@ c entralbed ford s hire. gov. u k)

A d vis ingO ffic ers : Ju lie O gley, D irec torofS oc ialC are, H ealthand H ou s ing
(ju lie. ogley@ c entralbed ford s hire. gov. u k) and C harles W arboys , D irec torof
Res ou rc es and s 151 O ffic er(c harles . warboys @ c entralbed ford s hire. gov. u k)

This report relates to a Non Key Decision.

Purpose of this report

1 . The reportprovid es information on the 20 16/1 7 H ou s ingRevenu e A c c ou nt
(H RA )projec ted ou ttu rn revenu e and c apitalpos ition as atD ec ember20 16.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Executive is asked to note and approve:

1. That the Revenue forecast position is to achieve a balanced budget
with a contribution to HRA Reserves of £23.314M, thus
strengthening the Council’s ability to invest and improve its stock of
Council Houses.

2. That the Capital forecast position indicates a net outturn of
£11.837M, against a budget of £15.589M. It is proposed that £2.586M
of future investment works are deferred to 2017/18.

3. That General Fund (GF) assets at Havelock Road in Biggleswade
and Greenacres in Dunstable are transferred to the HRA, generating
the equivalent of a capital receipt of £1.575M to the GF and enabling
the HRA to provide accommodation solutions that will avoid
temporary accommodation costs.

4. That Right to Buy (RtB) sales will be monitored for the possible
impact on predicted surpluses in the medium to longer term.

Page 337
Agenda item 23



Issues

2 . The revenu e forec as tpos ition as atthe end ofD ec ember20 16 projec ts a
yearend s u rplu s of£ 6. 57 8 M c ompared to a bu d geted s u rplu s of£ 5. 363M , an
inc reas e of£ 1 . 2 15M .

3. There is a forec as tofred u c ed expend itu re within M aintenanc e (£ 0 . 7 8 1M ),
d u e to a c ombination ofproc u rementand c ontrac teffic ienc ies , and an u nd er
s pend in H ou s ingO perations (£ 0 . 1 7 7 M ), d u e to red u c ed s pend on elec tronic
file management, effic ienc y s avings ac hieved by bringingprojec tworkin
hou s e and u tilis ingexis tingres ou rc es , and tenanc y s u s tainmentwork. The
forec as tu nd ers pend in the Financ ialInc lu s ion s ervic e (£ 0 . 1 0 8 M )is d u e to
red u c ed s pend on d owns izingand the s lowerthan antic ipated rollou tof
Univers alC red it. Fu rthers avings (£ 0 . 0 92M )have been ac hieved as a res u lt
ofred u c ed interes tpayments on the H RA d ebt, d u e to red u c tions in interes t
rates .

4. The forec as tpos ition forthe H RA c apitalprogramme ind ic ates a netou ttu rn
below bu d getat£ 11 . 8 37 M ; this inc lu d es d eferred works of£ 4. 2 8 0 M from
20 15/16. Itis propos ed that£ 2 . 58 6M offu tu re inves tmentworks are d eferred
to 20 1 7 /1 8 .

5. L and withthe potentialto d eliver2 u nits , previou s ly owned by C orporate
A s s ets , has been id entified atH aveloc kRoad , B iggles wad e. Itis propos ed
thatthe land is trans ferred from the GF to the H RA , forthe agreed land valu e
of£ 0 . 0 7 5M . Itis als o propos ed to trans ferGreenac res , the formerc are home
in D u ns table, from the GF into the H RA . The s ite has rec ently been
ind epend ently valu ed at£ 1 . 5M , whic hwou ld be fu nd ed from exis tingH RA
Res erves and provid e the equ ivalentofan immed iate c apitalrec eiptforthe
GF. In the s hortto med iu m term this c ou ld provid e flexible bed s it
ac c ommod ation foru pto 50 people, ad d res s ingd emand s forTemporary
A c c ommod ation (TA )orS u pported ac c ommod ation.

6. The approac hbeingtaken is to c reate “s ys tem res ilienc e”forthe fu tu re,
es tablis hingflexible provis ion ac ros s C entralB ed ford s hire, to be managed
intens ively as eitherTA and /ors u pported hou s ing. A s partofthe approac h,
the H ou s ingS ervic e is c reatingan Intens ive P roperty M anagementTeam
(within the H RA )thatwillmanage allofthe properties and rooms thatare
u s ed forS u pported /Temporary A c c ommod ation on a hotels tyle bas is , in part
to maximis e inc ome; bu tmore importantly, to avoid c os tto the GeneralFu nd
atthe levels een in neighbou ringloc alau thorities .

7 . The 20 16/1 7 bu d getforthe H RA antic ipates a c ontribu tion to the Ind epend ent
L ivingD evelopmentRes erve (IL D R)of£ 5. 2M and c ontribu tion to the s trategic
res erve of£ 0 . 163M . The yearend forec as ts u gges ts a c ontribu tion to
res erves of£ 6. 57 8 M , an inc reas e of£ 1 . 2 15M , witha c ontribu tion of£ 6. 57 8 M
to the IL D R. This eq u ates to a pred ic ted totalres erve balanc e of£ 23. 314M
(notinc lu d ingthe propos ed c os toftrans ferringthe H aveloc kRoad and
Greenac re s ites ).

Page 338
Agenda item 23



Council Priorities

8 . S ou nd financ ialmanagementc ontribu tes to the C ou nc il’ s Valu e forM oney and
enables the C ou nc ilto s u c c es s fu lly d eliverits priorities . The rec ommend ations
willc ontribu te ind irec tly to all6 C ou nc ilpriorities .

Corporate Implications

Legal Implications

9. N one

Financial Implications

1 0 . The financ ialimplic ations are c ontained in the report.

Equalities Implications

11 . Eq u ality Impac tA s s es s ments were u nd ertaken priorto the alloc ation ofthe
20 16/1 7 bu d gets and eac hD irec torate was ad vis ed ofs ignific antequ ality
implic ations relatingto theirbu d getpropos als .

Conclusion and next Steps

12 . The reportpres ents the 20 16/1 7 H RA financ ialpos ition as atthe end of
D ec ember20 16. Its ets ou ts pend to d ate agains tthe profiled revenu e and c apital
bu d gets , the forec as tfinanc ialou ttu rn, and provid es explanations forany
variations . This reportenables the Exec u tive to c ons id erthe overallfinanc ial
pos ition ofthe H RA .

Appendices

Appendix A – Housing Revenue Account Detailed Commentary

Page 339
Agenda item 23



This page is intentionally left blank



.1

APPENDIX A

HRA REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)

1. The HRA annual expenditure budget is £23.561M and income budget is
£28.924M, which allows a contribution of £5.363M to reserves to present a
net budget of zero.

2. As a result of a restructure within the Housing Service, the Asset
Management service has been split to create a new team called the Housing
Investment Team. Capital related works are now managed within Housing
Investment whilst the management and maintenance of properties and
tenants, forms the Housing Operations Team. A subjective breakdown of
budget, year to date position and forecast outturn is shown in Table 1 below.

Table 1

2016/17
Budget

Budget
YTD

Actual
YTD

Variance
YTD

Full Year
Forecast

Variance
Full Year
Forecast
to Budget

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Total Income (28.924) (21.709) (21.688) 0.021 (28.972) (0.048)

Housing Operations 6.851 5.159 4.807 (0.352) 6.674 (0.177)

Financial Inclusion 0.596 0.447 0.364 (0.083) 0.488 (0.108)

Housing Investment 0.107 0.080 0.062 (0.018) 0.102 (0.005)

Corporate Resources 2.047 1.532 1.532 0 2.043 (0.004)

Maintenance 5.506 3.945 3.524 (0.421) 4.725 (0.781)

Debt related costs 0.119 0.089 0.102 0.013 0.119 0

Direct Revenue
Financing 5.121 3.841 3.841 0 5.121 0

Efficiency Programme (0.853) (0.640) (0.640) 0 (0.853) 0

Interest repayment 4.067 3.050 2.981 (0.069) 3.975 (0.092)

Principal repayment 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL Expenditure 23.561 17.503 16.573 (0.930) 22.394 (1.167)

Surplus (5.363) (4.206) ^(5.115) (0.909) (6.578) (1.215)

Contribution to / (from)
reserve (at year end) 5.363 4.206 ^5.115 0.909 6.578 1.215

Net Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0 0

^ Included for balancing and illustrative purposes only

Page 341
Agenda item 23



.2

3. Income received in the year to date has an adverse variance of £0.021M,
with a full year favourable variance of £0.048M. As part of the General
Fund’s efficiencies for 2016-17 it was agreed that a reduced Supported
Housing contribution to the HRA would be made, saving the General Fund
£0.150M. The Housing Service set itself the target of balancing this pressure
within the HRA by achieving an efficiency of the same value. Work is
underway to explore new charging methods for the Supported Housing
service provided by HRA staff. Savings are not likely to fully materialise in this
financial year resulting in a forecast reduction in income, and under
achievement of this efficiency of £0.128M. This is offset by additional rental
income achieved through the purchasing of new properties and increased
income from leasehold recharges.

4. The Housing Operations Team is underspent in the year to date by £0.352M,
with a full year favourable variance of £0.177M. The project to transfer
information on to an electronic file management system completed earlier
than expected, saving £0.084M. There have also been efficiency savings of
£0.064M achieved by bringing project work in house and utilising existing
resources; further savings have been achieved in relation to tenancy
sustainment work, resulting in an underspend of £0.034M. Part of the in year
favourable variance relates to underspends on insurance related repairs
works (£0.056M). This provision is earmarked for situations where insurance
related costs are below the policy excess and the Council has to self fund.
Other favourable variances in the year to date are accounted for by utility
costs, which will increase over the winter period.

5. The Financial Inclusion service is under spent in the year to date by £0.083M,
with a full year favourable variance of £0.108M. The roll out of Universal
Credit has been slower than anticipated, so additional provision made in the
budget build has not been required. In addition the Council has not spent as
much enabling people to Rightsize to new homes, or incentivising tenants to
move, as it did in the early years of welfare reform, when more tenants were
subject to the Spare Room Subsidy.

6. Maintenance expenditure is underspent in the year to date by £0.421M with a
full year favourable variance of £0.781M. The reprocurement of the Central
Heating Maintenance Contract including domestic and commercial appliances
has led to an expected outturn of £0.5M, providing a favourable variance of
£0.125M. Fire Safety works are forecast to outturn at £0.125M yielding a
saving of £0.142M from controls introduced in previous years.

7. Placing more specialist maintenance work through the electrical and day to
day contractors has resulted in a full year forecast favourable variance of
£0.060M. Working closely with the routine maintenance contractor to reduce
the number of maintenance visits to each property will provide a further
saving of £0.217M against the full years forecast. Overall, good progress is
being made and the efficiency savings being achieved will feature within the
HRA Efficiency programme for 2017 - 2021, with a view to creating a new
Repairs Delivery model by bringing together several contracts and
considering a range of delivery options.

8. The starting point is to implement a ‘self serve’ customer interface using First

Page 342
Agenda item 23



.3

Touch apps aligned to ‘end to end’ system integration between contractor and
Council systems, all of which is in progress. By 2018, the aim is to create a
Repairs Delivery model that is better able to respond to the problems within
the labour market, so as to retain a sustainable, skilled workforce, in terms of
repair and maintenance type operations. The project is therefore ‘two stage’;
to create a lean, fit for purpose, mainly self service, customer interface across
all repairs type operations; aligned to the creation of a sustainable model to
deliver high quality repairs and servicing in tenants and leaseholders homes.

HRA CAPITAL PROGRAMME

9. The HRA Capital budget is £15.589M which includes slippage from 2015/16
of £4.280M. Across the HRA Capital Programme there is a year to date
favourable variance of £2.948M.

10. The full year forecast within Stock Protection is for an outturn of £6.215M, a
favourable variance of £0.928M. Projects relating to Future Investment are
forecast to outturn at £5.622M, an under spend of £2.824M.

11. An analysis of forecast spend, and variance to year to date profile, for each
HRA scheme is presented at Table 2. The proposed funding of the
programme is shown at Table 3.

Table 2

Budget
2016/1
7

Full Year
Forecast

Variance Monthly Budget Monitoring
December 2016
Profiled
YTD

Actual
YTD

Variance

Stock Protection £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Enhancements 100 100 0 75 88 13
Lift Replacement 100 108 8 0 4 4

Fire Safety & Alarm
Systems

194 194 0 146 109 (37)

Garage Refurbishment 109 60 (49) 68 3 (66)

Paths & Fences siteworks 110 110 0 83 22 (61)

Estate Improvements 200 180 (20) 94 27 (67)

Green Space Improvement 60 0 (60) 0 0 0

Energy Conservation 750 550 (200) 300 225 (75)

Roof Replacement 550 600 50 550 543 (7)

Assisted Living Technology 65 0 (65) 0 0 0

Central Heating Installation 710 710 0 533 478 (55)

Rewiring 565 410 (155) 424 292 (132)

Kitchens and Bathrooms 900 700 (200) 490 348 (142)

Central Heating communal 25 25 0 19 1 (18)

Door Replacement 292 292 0 219 189 (30)

Structural repairs 250 120 (130) 187 26 (161)

Aids and adaptations 450 450 0 338 316 (22)

Drainage and Water
Supply

35 50 15 26 45 19

Page 343
Agenda item 23



.4

Table 3

Proposed Funding of HRA Capital Programme

Source £’000

Revenue Contributions 5,121

Useable Capital Receipts 4,000

Independent Living Development Reserve 1,301

Strategic Reserve 1,415

Total 11,837

STOCK PROTECTION

12. Within Stock Protection there is a year to date favourable variance of
£1.031M; this is primarily due to out of profile expenditure relating to
Structural Repairs (£0.161M), Estate Improvements (£0.067M), Rewiring
(£0.132M), Asbestos Management (£0.095M), Energy conservation
(£0.075M), Kitchen and Bathrooms (£0.142M), Garage Refurbishment
(£0.066M), Paths & Fences siteworks (£0.061M), Communal/PIR Lighting

Capitalised salaries 500 500 0 375 375 (0)

Asbestos management 360 310 (50) 270 175 (95)

Communal/PIR Lighting 660 660 0 465 384 (81)

Targeted door
Replacement

20 20 0 20 47 27

Window Replacement 138 66 0 46 0 (46)

Sub Total 7,143 6,215 (928) 4,728 3,697 (1,031)

Budget
2016/17

Full Year
Forecast

Variance Monthly Budget Monitoring
December 2016

Profiled
YTD

Actual
YTD

Variance

Future Investment

Stock remodelling 130 130 0 97 146 49

Parking Schemes 125 125 0 50 0 (50)

Investment Panel
Programme

69 69 0 0 0 0

Houghton Regis Central 295 295 0 207 243 36

Garage Site Assembly 229 0 (229) 162 0 (162)

Garage Site Development 318 100 (218) 243 57 (186)

Croft Green 2,439 300 (2,139) 185 99 (86)

Sheltered Refurbishment 400 300 (100) 100 (2) (102)

New Homes 3,310 3,310 0 2,484 2,015 (469)

Major Renewal Schemes 125 0 (125) 90 0 (90)

Priory View 1,006 1,006 0 756 (72) (828)

Creasey Park New Homes 0 (13) (13) 0 (30) (30)

Sub Total 8,446 5,622 (2,824) 4,373 2,457 (1,917)

TOTAL HRA 15,589 11,837 (3,752) 9,101 6,154 (2,948)

Page 344
Agenda item 23



.5

(£0.081M) and other minor variences.

13. Full year under spends are forecast for the Rewiring programme (£0.155M),
Structural Repairs (£0.130M), Energy Conservation (£0.200M), Kitchens and
Bathrooms (£0.200M), Assisted Living Technology (£0.065M), Asbestos
Management (£0.050M) and Garage Refurbishment (£0.049M).

14. Savings have been made during the year by undertaking partial rewires and
repairs to installations in order to bring the installation up to standard and
increase the life of the installation rather than undertaking full rewires. A
decision was made to replace existing technology and door entry systems
only on failure, while we review the “offer” from the Council in relation to
Assisted Living Technology (Telecare).

15.

16.

While Asbestos and Structural works are both capital expenditure, they are
not based upon a planned programme and therefore expenditure is called off
when works of this nature are required. To date, this year has seen a
significant reduction in the need for these type of works compared to previous
years. The underspend in the Garage Refurbishment programme is a result
of an ongoing review of our Garage Strategy.

The underspend in Assisted Living Technology is due to a review being
undertaken on the service offer and ensuring that any such technology is
future proofed rather than take on the traditional approach.

FUTURE INVESTMENT

17. Major construction work at the Croft Green Development is forecast to
commence in April 2017 with completion forecast for the spring of 2018. A
preferred bidder has been identified and the decision to award Part A of the
contract was taken at the June 2016 Executive. The contractor has now
been appointed to progress the Part A works. When complete, the
development will provide 24 self-contained apartments and communal
facilities. Current forecasts suggest that, from a budget of £2.439M, an
outturn of £0.300M spend will occur in 2016/17 with the balance proposed to
be deferred to 2017/18.

18. The combined Garage Site Development/Assembly programmes have
identified 30 sites that have the potential to deliver 123 new homes of mixed
type and tenure. The budget will be used to progress land and garage buy-
backs and planning consent on those sites. A financial business case for
alternative uses will be prepared for consideration as part of the scheme
development. Current forecasts suggest an outturn of £0.100M with proposed
slippage of £0.447M to 2017/18.

19. The Housing Service has worked with colleagues in other areas of the
Council to identify land that is suitable for housing and within the Council’s
ownership. The objective is to extend the supply of affordable housing
throughout the authority area, rather than just in the south of the area. Land
with the potential to deliver 2 units, previously owned by Corporate Assets,
has been identified at Havelock Road, Biggleswade. It is proposed that the
land is transferred from the GF to the HRA, for the agreed land value of

Page 345
Agenda item 23



.6

£0.075M. A planning application for two new semi detached properties has
recently been approved.

20. The purchase of dwellings within the New Homes project is progressing
ahead of profile with the completion in the current year of 7 properties.
These properties will be used to help address the demand for Temporary
Accommodation and supported accommodation. By creating additional
tenancies in the HRA, the cost to the Council’s General Fund (GF) of
supplying emergency accommodation is significantly reduced as the rent falls
within Housing Benefit levels, compared to expensive Bed and Breakfast or
‘Nightly Lets’ accommodation where the Council has to bridge the gap
between the rent and the amount that Housing Benefit will fund.

21. To date £2.015M has been spent against an original total budget of £3.310M.
Having considered the savings delivered to the Council’s GF by purchasing
these properties, at December 2016 meeting Executive approved a proposal
to vire £1.2M of the budget allocated to the Croft Green project in 2016/17 to
enable the purchase of further properties throughout the Council area. This
will enhance the asset base of the HRA, offset the increase in Right to Buy
sales (please see the section on HRA Capital Receipts), and reduce revenue
expenditure in the GF.

22. There are increasing homelessness pressures, which are impacting upon GF
temporary accommodation (TA) budgets. The approach being taken is to
create “system resilience” for the future, establishing flexible provision across
Central Bedfordshire, to be managed intensively as either TA and/or
supported housing. The Housing Service is creating an Intensive Property
Management Team (within the HRA) that will manage all of the properties
and rooms that are used for TA on a ‘hotel-style’ basis, in part to maximise
income; but more importantly, to avoid cost at the level seen in neighbouring
local authorities.

23. Over time, it is envisaged that this provision will increase to circa 250 units
(homes, single rooms, shared accommodation). The use of this ‘circa 250
units’ will function flexibly, as both TA and accommodation based supported
housing, the main aim being to avoid cost to the system. Whilst management
and maintenance costs are significantly higher for this type of
accommodation, the greater concentration of tenancies will also generate
additional income for the HRA. More importantly, this approach directly
facilitates the Housing GF efficiencies, to reduce TA Budget provision over a
three year period.

24. As part of this approach it is proposed to transfer Greenacres, the former
care home in Dunstable, from the GF into the HRA. The site has recently
been independently valued at £1.5M, which would be funded from existing
HRA Reserves and provide the equivalent of an immediate capital receipt for
the GF. In the short to medium term this could provide flexible bedsit
accommodation for up to 50 people, addressing demands for TA or
Supported accommodation. In the longer term the site could be regenerated
to provide new housing supply and would certainly enhance the HRA’s
portfolio of assets.

Page 346
Agenda item 23



.7

25. The is no anticipated expenditure within the Major Renewal Schemes project
code, as the regeneration project works originally considered are not likely to
emerge in the short to medium term.

26. The Priory View development achieved practical completion on 22 April 2016.
The Council’s employer’s agent recommended withholding monies from the
contractor relating to outstanding snagging works, resulting in a year to date
underspend of (£0.828M). Some of the snagging and non compliant works
are still outstanding, and a final account is pending from the main contractor.
Works to the value of £1.006M were deferred from 2015/16 and are forecast
to outturn on budget.

HRA EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME

27. Since 2010 the Housing Service has been using Housemark to provide a
benchmarking service. The analysis provided has assisted in identifying the
areas where HRA expenditure is high relative to other stock retained
authorities. Benchmarking has indicated, for example, that we should review
the Repairs Delivery model, the result of which has been the achievement of
‘in year’ savings and further proposals for HRA efficiencies going forward.

28. The HRA revenue budget for 2016/17 was reduced by £0.853M, as part of
the Council’s efficiency programme.

29. This year’s HRA efficiency target comprises mainly of reduced Day to Day
and Void maintenance costs (£0.680M). The overall efficiency target for
2016/17 is forecast to be fully achieved.

HRA ARREARS

30. Table 4 shows a breakdown of the HRA debt position at December.

Table 4

Debt Analysis - Tenant Arrears

Description of debt
0-4 weeks 4-8 weeks 8-13 weeks 13-52

weeks
Over 1 yr TOTAL

£M £M £M £M £M £M

Current Tenant 0.184 0.155 0.107 0.083 0 0.529

Former Tenant 0.017 0.015 0.002 0.068 0.392 0.494

1.023

Debt Analysis - Other Arrears

Description of debt

From 1 to
30 days

From 31 to
60 days

From 61 to
90 days

From 91 to
365 days

Over 1 yr TOTAL

£M £M £M £M £M £M

Leaseholders 0 0 0 0 0.001 0.001

Misc recoveries 0 0 0 0.001 0.005 0.006

Shops 0.009 0 0 0.008 0.009 0.026

Void recoveries 0.005 0 0 0.003 0.019 0.027

0.014 0.000 0.000 0.012 0.034 0.060

Page 347
Agenda item 23



.8

31. Total tenant debt amounted to £1.023M compared to £1.077M at the end of
November 2016. Current Tenant Arrears (CTA) are £0.529M or 1.67%
(£0.585M or 1.85% at November) of the annual rent debit of £31.622M,
against a target of 1.8%, whilst Former Tenant Arrears (FTA) are at 1.56%
with a balance of £0.494M against a target of 1.56% (1.75% with a balance
of £0.492M at November).

32. In light of welfare reform Housing Operations have implemented a pro-active
approach to managing the impact on rent arrears. This includes early
intervention, downsizing where necessary, increased contact with our
residents, supporting tenants in making the right decisions regarding
payment of rent and strong enforcement action when all other options have
been exhausted.

33. Contacts with other Registered Providers of social housing have enabled us
to benchmark, research good practice, and ensure genuine unrecoverable
debts are presented for write off quarterly. This ensures the FTA officer is
concentrating their time on cases with the highest probability of recovery.
Since 2015 recovery of FTA debt has taken on a completely different
approach from previous years as research has shown that the probability of
recovery can actually increase with the age of the debt. For example, if a
family is evicted from one of our properties it can take between 3 to 12
months for the family to resettle, enabling a trace to be made and thus the
debt can be pursued.

34. Debt recovery plans may be put in place and take several years to settle.
An affordable payment plan reviewed on a regular basis increases the
probability of full recovery. Where contact is maintained, debt can be
recovered up to 6 years after becoming an FTA, however where a period of
2 to 3 years has elapsed and no contact or trace has been possible the debt
will be put forward for write off.

35. The current approach to FTA debt has resulted in recovery in the previous
year exceeding £0.130M, compared to the previous two years total recovery
not exceeding £0.020M. The service is confident with the current approach
and anticipates further improvements in recovery rates.

36. There are currently £0.060M of non tenant arrears (£0.049M November),
which comprises the following: rents at shops owned by the HRA, service
charges and ground rent relating to leaseholders who purchased flats via the
Right to Buy scheme, and property damage relating to existing and former
tenants.

PROMPT PAYMENT INDICATOR

37. The performance target for payment to suppliers, where there is no dispute
over the amount invoiced, is 90% of invoices paid within 30 days of invoice
receipt date. The HRA performance for December was 93% of 244 invoices
(71% of 281 invoices in November) paid on time. Work is ongoing to create
‘end to end’ system integration between SAP and the QL system, so as to
improve performance overall. There is known as the Self Billing project, the
aim being to automate (or minimise manual processes) to pay our invoices.

Page 348
Agenda item 23



.9

This project is progressing well and will significantly improve timescales for
making payment.

38. Actions are being implemented to improve this aspect of the service but
have not yet taken full effect. It is apparent that some delays are caused by
the way invoices are sent to the Council and how they eventually get to
Housing. Managers and team leaders are reviewing the late payment list
each month to investigate whether the service is at fault and what remedial
action is necessary to improve performance.

HRA CAPITAL RECEIPTS

39. New Right to Buy (RtB) discounts and proposals for re-investing the capital
receipts came into effect from April 2012, which increased the maximum
discount available to tenants from £0.034M to their current level of £0.078M.

40. Up to the end of December 2016, 62 RtB applications were received with 19
properties being sold, compared to 55 Applications and 31 sales over the
same period in 2015/16. It is currently projected that the number of RtB
sales will be between 25 and 30 for the year, resulting in a residual receipt
for the year of approximately £2.8M.

41. The Council has a balance at Quarter 3 2016/17 of useable capital receipts
of £8.902M, of which £2.977M is reserved for investment in new social
housing. The Council has entered into an agreement with the Secretary of
State to invest these receipts in new social housing. The use of these
receipts is restricted to schemes that do not receive Homes and
Communities Agency (HCA) funding.

42. The retained receipt from RtB sales can represent no more than 30% of the
cost of the replacement properties. Since the agreement was signed in
2012, £3.347M has been spent on replacement properties up to 31
December 2016. The Council is committed to spend a further £9.924M on
replacement properties by 31 December 2019.

43. The HRA’s Budget proposals for the period of the Medium Term Financial
Plan (MTFP) propose significant investment in new build (in excess of
£10.3M by 31 December 2019).

44. Current projections suggest RtB sales will not have a negative impact on the
Business Plan, particularly if the number of new build properties exceeds the
properties sold. However if annual RtB sales were to make up a significant
percentage of the Housing Stock, such that it diminished by 10% (equivalent
to approximately 500 properties) or more over the period to 31 December
2019, then this would pose a threat to the surpluses predicted both in the
medium and longer term.

45. If additional sales continue to represent a small percentage of the Council’s
stock, there is a significant benefit as retained receipts will provide the
Council with additional funds for reinvestment.

Page 349
Agenda item 23



.10

46. The sale of apartments at Priory View has generated £4.253M of capital
receipts. These funds being available to fund further new build projects in
the years to follow. As at 1 April 2016 the balance of HRA Usable Capital
receipts was £2.996M. It is anticipated that £2.8M of RtB receipts will be
retained in the current year; when the Priory view sales income is taken into
account this delivers a subtotal of £10.049M. It is proposed to use £4.0M of
usable receipts to part fund the Capital programme, so the balance carried
forward is forecast to be £6.049M.

RESERVES

47. The total reserves available as at year end 2015/16 were £19.452M,
comprising £2.0M in HRA Balances, £9.004M in the Independent Living
Development Reserve, £8.248M in the Strategic Reserve and £0.200M in
the Major Repairs Reserve.

48. The current position indicates a year end balance in reserves of £23.314M.
HRA Balances are projected to remain at a contingency level of £2.000M,
with the Independent Living Development Reserve increasing to £14.281M,
the Strategic reserve reducing to £6.833M, and the Major Repairs Reserve
(MRR) remaining at £0.200M.

49. In total this equates to a forecast contribution to reserves for the year of
£6.578M, offset by spend from reserves of £2.716M to result in a net
increase of £3.862M.

50. It is proposed to use part of the balance in the Strategic Reserve to finance
the transfer of the Havelock Road and Greenacre sites from the GF. The
value of these sites is £1.575M. Should the proposed transfer be approved,
the Strategic Reserve balance would drop to £5.258M and total reserves
would equate to £21.739M.

51. An Investment Strategy has been formulated, that sets out proposals for the
use of the reserves that are forecast to materialise in the short to medium
term. This strategy is referred to in the HRA Budget Report that is going
before Council in February 2017, and continues to be refined as part of the
Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan.

Page 350
Agenda item 23



.11

Table 6

Net Revenue Position Full Analysis

Month: December 2016

Director Budget Actual
Use of

Reserves
Variance

Approved

Budget

Provisional

Outturn
Variance

Transfers

to/(from)

reserves

Variance

after use of

earmarked

reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Assistant Director
13,361 13,887 - 526 17,815 18,571 756 - 756

Housing Operations
(18,281) (18,324) - (44) (24,374) (24,251) 123 - 123

Repairs and Business

Management

4,474 3,874 - (600) 5,965 5,192 (773) - (773)

Financial Inclusion
365 266 - (99) 487 386 (101) - (101)

Housing Investment
80 62 - (18) 107 102 (5) - (5)

Total 0 (235) 0 (235) 0 0 0 0 0

Year to date Year

Table 5

HRA Reserves

Page 351
Agenda item 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Central Bedfordshire Council 
 

EXECUTIVE          April 2017 
 

 

2016/17 Quarter 3 Performance Report 
 
Report of Cllr Richard Wenham, Executive Member for 
Corporate Resources (Richard.Wenham@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk) 
 
Advising Officer: Richard Carr, Chief Executive (Richard.Carr@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk) 
 
 
This report relates to a non-Key Decision  

 
Purpose of this report  
1. To report Quarter 3 2016/17 performance for Central Bedfordshire Council’s Medium 

Term Plan (MTP) indicator set. 
  

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The Executive is asked to: 
 

•  Note performance against the indicators currently being used to help support 
the monitoring of progress against the Medium Term Plan priorities, and to ask 
officers to further investigate and resolve underperforming indicators as 
appropriate. 

 
 
2. Since the Council was created in 2009, it has strived to strengthen Central 

Bedfordshire as a great place to live and work. This means delivering great value 
and services to our residents, making sure that both businesses and individuals have 
great prospects for the future, in terms of education, skills and employment and 
enhancing Central Bedfordshire as a place. 

 
3. In 2015, the Council updated its plans for delivering its ambitions. This culminated in 

the new Five Year Plan 2015-2020 being adopted by Council in November 2015, 
based on six key priorities: 

 

• Enhancing Central Bedfordshire 

• Delivering Great Resident Services 

• Improving Education and Skills 

• Protecting the Vulnerable; Improving Well-being 

• A More Efficient and Responsive Council 

• Creating Stronger Communities 
 
4. This report represents the third view of a new suite of indicators that will be reported 

throughout the lifetime of this Plan. As this is still a new set of measures, over time, 
comparative data will be made available in order that the Executive can monitor 
progress. 
 

Page 353
Agenda item 24



5. Starting later this year, performance against these 46 indicators will be delivered via 
a new Central Bedfordshire Council Performance Portal. This will provide the end 
user with access to historic performance alongside current, access to the data itself 
and an improved reporting experience. Future reports to Executive will continue to 
provide commentary and analysis of the performance data that will be reported via 
the portal. 

 
 
  

Page 354
Agenda item 24



Since the Council was created in 2009, it has strived to strengthen Central Bedfordshire as a great place to live and work. For the Council this means delivering great value and services to our 
residents, making sure that both businesses and individuals have great prospects for the future, in terms of education, skills and employment and enhancing Central Bedfordshire as a place.

In 2015, the Council updated its plans for delivering its ambitions. This culminated in a Five Year Plan 2015-2020 being adopted by Council in November 2015, based on six key priorities:

The Council's Five Year Plan

Percentage of Central Bedfordshire residents satisfied with the local area as a place to live
Resident's 
Survey

Sep 16 90 %

% feel safe when outside in their local area during the day
Resident's 
Survey

Sep 16 97 %

% feel safe when outside in their local area after dark
Resident's 
Survey

Sep 16 81 %

Number of new jobs Annual (Dec) Dec 15 500

People in employment aged 16 to 64 (% above national average) Quarterly Sep 16 4.8 %

Average Earnings for Workers Annual (April) Apr 16 £487.0

New Homes completions (cumulative) Quarterly Dec 16 1,387

Town Centre Vacancy Rates
Quarterly 
(Feb,May,Aug,...

Nov 16 7.1 %

Enhancing Central Bedfordshire
Performance will 
be reported

Last 
Reported

Latest Data
Direction 
of Travel

Current 
Status

The Council will retain the character of Central Bedfordshire whilst continuing to improve the prosperity of residents by:

� Investing in core infrastructure
� Supporting the creation of jobs
� Providing the quantity and type of housing we need
� Improving Central Bedfordshire's town centres

It is also important that Central Bedfordshire's residents feel safe and are happy living in their local areas. The Council will therefore monitor how satisfied residents are with their local areas as 

places to live, and also that they feel safe, both during the day and after dark, through the annual Residents Survey.

The proportion of residents who are satisfied with Central Bedfordshire as a place to live remains very high, with 90% of respondents to the survey being positive. Whilst the direction of travel 

indicates a decline, this response was 1% less than the 2014 return and is therefore not statistically relevant. The Central Bedfordshire response on satisfaction with the area is also 8% above the 

national average response level for this question.

Whilst a smaller proportion of residents feel safe after dark (81%), 97% of residents feel safe outside during the day and this return represents a 4% increase on the 2014 result.

The measure of new jobs created in Central Bedfordshire is a statistic obtained from the British Register and Employment Survey (BRES), and indicates the level of increase in prosperity of our 

residents. The latest data reported 500 new jobs were created during 2015. This represents a growth rate of 0.54%, a lower growth rate compared to the previous years' data but subject to 

revision. Concerns have been raised with The Office for National Statistics (ONS) as this figure has been revised considerably previously and does not match market conditions during the period. 

The long term job growth is 2,180 jobs per annum (2010-15) average.

In September 2016 there were 141,100 people aged 16-64 in employment. Central Bedfordshire remains above comparator areas, and is 4.8% above the national rate of employment, up from 

the previous quarter and only 0.2% below the Council's target of remaining 5% above comparator areas. The Council also monitors average earnings for workers, which was reported at £487 

per week (April 2016), up from the previous year's data but still below national and local comparators.

A vital element of ensuring the enhancement of Central Bedfordshire is to facilitate the provision of quality homes. The number of new homes completed in Central Bedfordshire has consistently 

Enhancing Central Bedfordshire Summary

P
age 355

A
genda item

 24

hoodg01
Text Box
of respondents

hoodg01_1
Text Box
of respondents

hoodg01_2
Text Box
of respondents

hoodg01_3
Text Box
new jobs

hoodg01_4
Text Box
above national average

hoodg01_5
Text Box
average earnings

hoodg01_6
Text Box
new homes

hoodg01_7
Text Box
town centre vacancies



increased year-on-year. By December 2016, there had been 1,387 new homes completed in 2016/17, and the number is set to exceed the Council's annual target of 1,475 new homes by the end 

of Quarter 4. 

A thriving town centre is vital for our communities, and the Council is working hard to improve town centres across Central Bedfordshire, with many plans already being carried out to support this. 

Town centre vacancy rates are a good way of indicating their success and prosperity, and will be monitored closely so that the Council can be certain the work it is doing is effective. The 

vacancy rate in our town centres currently stands at 7.1% (November 2016), which is an improvement on 7.7% that was previously reported for August 2016.

To support the Council's commitment to enhancing Central Bedfordshire, it will actively work to encourage the growth of suitable businesses, influencing this through effective use of its assets, 

sector development and a package of support from Central Bedfordshire Council aligned to its key businesses, sectors and potential investors. 

Enhancing Central Bedfordshire Summary

P
age 356

A
genda item

 24



Perception of Council - Good quality services
Resident's 
Survey

Sep 16 70 %

Percentage of Central Bedfordshire residents satisfied with living environment
Resident's 
Survey

Sep 16 84 %

Kg/household of black bin waste Quarterly Sep 16 134

Satisfaction with highways maintenance Annual (Oct) Oct 16 52 %

CBC’s relative position re condition of roads (principal) Annual (March) Mar 15 99 %

CBC’s relative position re condition of roads (non principal) Annual (March) Mar 15 97 %

Leisure facility usage rates Quarterly Dec 16 453,954

Libraries facility usage rates Annual (March) Mar 16 925,041

Customer Services - numbers of service failures reported Quarterly

Delivering Great Resident Services 
Performance will 
be reported

Last 
Reported

Latest Data
Direction 
of Travel

Current 
Status

The Council will make sure that Central Bedfordshire's universal services, such as rubbish collection and recycling, road maintenance, Libraries and Leisure are of great quality.

It will do this by:

� Increasing access to parks and open spaces 
� Revamping household waste recycling centres 
� Improving the condition of roads and pavements 
� Transforming leisure centres.

The Council are currently making progress with all of these services, but to make sure improvement continues a number of new measures have been developed that the Council will monitor closely.

The proportion of residents who agree the Council provides quality services overall has increased by 26% between 2011 and 2016, albeit that there was a slight reduction in satisfaction between 

2014 and 2016 (of 4%).  

A new indicator, relating to resident satisfaction with their living environment, was introduced in 2016. For the first time the Council asked residents how satisfied or dissatisfied they were with the 

outdoor space around their local area, (e.g. in terms of how clean, tidy and pleasant the environment is) and 84% of respondents indicated that they were either very or fairly satisfied compared to 

8% suggesting that they were either fairly or very dissatisfied. 

Kg/household of black bin waste - Whilst this total reflects an increase in the amount of residual waste produced per household compared to the previous quarter, there is a seasonal fluctuation in 

the amount of waste produced per household, peaking in the summer months. Performance compared to the same period the previous year is an improvement with 5kg less waste per household 

being produced.

Satisfaction with highways maintenance - There has been a slight decline in satisfaction with highways maintenance although the long term trend continues to be an improvement. This year has 

seen the start of a new contract and contractor and this, together with the impact of the highways grass cutting failures, are likely to have been the primary reasons for the decline. The grass cutting 

contract has been re-tendered and as the new highways maintenance contract gets embedded this decline should be reversed.

Leisure Facilities usage rates - Whilst there has been a decline in leisure facility usage compared to the previous quarter, this reflects an established seasonal pattern. Usage rates remain well 

above targets and represent an increase over the same period last year of almost 90,000 visits with comparative increases seen at Flitwick, Dunstable and Tiddenfoot centres.

Customer Services - numbers of service failures reported - Will be reported 2017/18. 

Delivering Great Resident Services Summary

P
age 357

A
genda item

 24

hoodg01_8
Text Box
of respondents

hoodg01_9
Text Box
of respondents

hoodg01_10
Text Box
of respondents

hoodg01_11
Text Box
New

hoodg01_12
Text Box
kg of waste per household

hoodg01_13
Text Box
not requiring maintenance

hoodg01_14
Text Box
not requiring maintenance

hoodg01_15
Text Box
visitors

hoodg01_16
Text Box
visitors



School readiness - % of children achieving a good level of development at the Early Years 
Foundation

Annual (Sept) Sep 16 68.5 %

Attainment 8 - ranking Annual (Dec) Dec 16 90

% of Schools rated Good or Outstanding (Quarterly) Quarterly Dec 16 89 %

% of young people aged 16-18 who are in education, employment or training (EET) Annual (Feb) Feb 16 90.4 %

Employer Skills Gaps Annual (Dec) Dec 15 29 %

Improving Education and Skills
Performance will 
be reported

Last 
Reported

Latest Data
Direction 
of Travel

Current 
Status

The Council will support the academic and social success of Central Bedfordshire's children and young people as well as their physical wellbeing. And the Council will support adult learning too, 

so that everyone will have access and incentives to work, either in Central Bedfordshire or elsewhere.

It will do this by:

� Working in partnership with schools, parents and communities 
� Building new schools and expanding existing ones 
� Creating a range of routes to work such as apprenticeships and specialist schemes for older employees

The Council's education measures help it to consider whether there are good outcomes for younger children (aged 4-5), and as they develop (aged 15-16).

School readiness - The 2016 results for Central Bedfordshire show that 68.5% of children were classed as having a 'Good Level of Development'. This is a 5% improvement from 2015 but 

Central Bedfordshire remains below the National (69.3%) and Statistical Neighbour (71.6%) averages. Central Bedfordshire Council remains in the third quartile nationally.

The national measure for GCSE attainment has changed this year. This measure has been replaced with 'Attainment 8 Ranking'.

Attainment 8 is the new national measure that shows the average grade of a pupil across 8 DfE defined subject (English, Maths, 3 English Baccalaureate Subjects and 3 other DfE approved 

subjects). The performance measure included in this report is the average for all pupils across Central Bedfordshire.

In line with what was reported previously for the GCSE measure, this new measure continues to report on Central Bedfordshire's ranking against all other local authorities.

The average overall Attainment 8 score per Pupil in Central Bedfordshire is 49.3; this has increased by 0.9 points from last year (48.4). This means in 2016 Central Bedfordshire Pupils have 

achieved nearly an average C grade for each of their Attainment 8 subjects.

Central Bedfordshire is 1.4 points below the statistical neighbour average (50.7) and 0.8 points above the national average (48.5). 

Central Bedfordshire is ranked 10/11 against the statistical neighbours; the same as last year.

Central Bedfordshire is ranked 90/151 against the national ranking; compared to a ranking of 77/150 last year, Central Bedfordshire remains in the 3rd quartile nationally. 

% schools rated Good or Outstanding - The % of Central Bedfordshire schools judged to be good or outstanding by OFSTED remains stable at 89%. (Data reported includes inspection 

outcomes published up to and including 31st December 2016.) This performance remains slightly below our target of 90%.

OFSTED publish a similar indicator which does not include colleges or sponsored Academies which are yet to be inspected. This shows Central Bedfordshire compares well to statistical 

neighbours and national averages - as at 31 August 2016, 90% of Central Bedfordshire schools are good or outstanding and the Statistical Neighbour Average was 89% and England 89%. 

The School Intervention Strategy continues to play a part in the improvement of Central Bedfordshire judgement grades.

Improving Education and Skills Summary

P
age 358

A
genda item

 24

hoodg01_17
Text Box
of children

hoodg01_18
Text Box
out of 151

hoodg01_19
Text Box
of 136 schools

hoodg01_20
Text Box
of 16-18 year olds in EET

hoodg01_21
Text Box
of businesses reporting skills gaps



Children’s Safeguarding - Referrals as a percentage of the child population Quarterly Dec 16 2.3 %

Percentage of referrals of children leading to the provision of a social care service Quarterly Dec 16 91.8 %

LAC - School attendance (when entering care and registered at school) Annual (July) Jul 16 92.7 %

% of care leavers at age 17-21 who are engaged in education, training or employment Quarterly Dec 16 70.1 %

Proportion of adults subject to a safeguarding enquiry of those known to adult social care Quarterly Dec 16 1.80 %

Total non-elective admissions in to hospital (general & acute), all-age, per 100,000 population Quarterly Dec 16 2,543

Avoiding admissions to Care Homes Quarterly

Average age of customers admitted to a residential care home (65+) Quarterly Dec 16 84.1

Delivery of new dwellings suitable for older people Quarterly Dec 16 164

Premature Deaths (persons per 100,000) Annual (Dec) Dec 15 280

Hate Crime incidents reported Quarterly Dec 16 20

No. of Domestic Abuse incidents reported Quarterly Dec 16 789

Protecting the Vulnerable; improving well-being 
Performance will 
be reported

Last 
Reported

Latest Data
Direction 
of Travel

Current 
Status

The Council will strive to protect anyone who may be at risk of exploitation, abuse or suffering, regardless of their age or disability. And the Council will work to improve the health and wellbeing of 

all Central Bedfordshire residents.

It will do this by:

� Identifying children and families who may be in vulnerable situations and intervene early where necessary to make sure Central Bedfordshire's youngsters have the best start in life 
� Developing social care and housing services so that people are able to live independently for as long as possible 
� Working beyond organisational boundaries, particularly with the Council's partners in the health service, to offer joined up services that are available in the right place and at the right time 

Referrals as a % of the child population - The Council's performance in this measure remains in line with previous performance which meant that the Council was in the top quartile nationally. 

This is a cumulative measure and shows a stable increase from previous quarters. This demonstrates that the appropriate levels of referrals are received by the Council which shows that partners 

know how to safely make contact with the Council if they have a safeguarding concern about a child.

% of referrals of children leading to the provision of a social care service - The Council's current performance (91.8%) continues to be well above target (85%). This measure demonstrates 

the effectiveness of the Council's triage processes and whether it is ensuring that all vulnerable children receive appropriate support. 

% of care leavers in EET - 70.1% of care leavers are engaged in Education, Employment or Training. Performance for this measure continues to be above target (65%) and the Council remains 

in the top quartile nationally. This demonstrates the levels of support provided to young people as they leave care and progress into adulthood.

Proportion of adults subject to a safeguarding enquiry of those known to adult social care - There has been a slight movement from 1.9% in Quarter 2, (July -September), compared to 

1.8% in Quarter 3. (October - December). Quarter 3 - Of the 6,110 customers with an open referral or service, 111 have an open safeguarding enquiry. There has been little change over the last 

three quarters on this measure.

Total non-elective admissions in to hospital (general &  acute), all-age, per 100,000 population - No significant improvement. The target remains challenging. Work is on-going through the 

Accident and Emergency delivery boards to address unplanned admissions. Critical appraisals of Better Care Fund projects are also being undertaken, particularly in relation to falls and End of 

Life partnerships.

Avoiding admissions to Care Homes - This measure remains a work in progress. The measure will help evidence how Central Bedfordshire Council is assisting residents to remain at home. 

This measure is complex to calculate and evidence due to the many sources of data.

Average age of customers admitted to a residential care home (65+) - The average age of admission to a care home has decreased by 1.6 years during Quarter 3 (October 2016 - December 

2016). To ensure the measure is clear the measure title has been revised to clearly state that this measure relates only to residents 65 and over.

Protecting the Vulnerable; improving well-being Summary

P
age 359

A
genda item

 24

hoodg01_22
Text Box
referrals

hoodg01_23
Text Box
provision of social care service

hoodg01_24
Text Box
attendance

hoodg01_25
Text Box
care leavers in EET

hoodg01_26
Text Box
admisions

hoodg01_27
Text Box
adults with a safeguarding enquiry

hoodg01_28
Text Box
average age

hoodg01_29
Text Box
dwellings

hoodg01_30
Text Box
out of 100,000

hoodg01_31
Text Box
incidents reported

hoodg01_32
Text Box
incidents reported

hoodg01_33
Text Box
New



Delivery of new dwellings suitable for older people - No new specialist schemes are now expected to be delivered during the remainder of 2016/17.

The rate of premature mortality (defined as being before 75 years of age) has fallen slightly but remains just above the target for statistical neighbours. The main causes of premature deaths are 

cardio-vascular disease (CVD), cancer and respiratory disease. Therefore action needs to continue to reduce modifiable risk factors and prioritise the following:

• Reducing smoking prevalence.

• Increasing physical activity.

• Reducing the proportion of people that are overweight or obese.

• Encouraging people to stay within the safe limits for alcohol.

To ensure that people at high risk of premature death are identified early by increasing the uptake of Healthchecks and Cancer screening.

To ensure that good clinical outcomes for CVD are achieved consistently across General Practices, particularly for hypertension and diabetes.

Hate Crime incidents reported - A new performance indicator to measure hate crimes has been developed and continues to be closely monitored. The number of hate crime incidents reported 

has declined from the previous quarter and is also lower than the same period in the previous year. There is no target for this measure as although a lower number of incidents is our goal, this is 

an under-reported crime and therefore the Council would seek to increase the level of incidents reported and a higher number is better. 

Number of domestic abuse incidents reported - The Council encourages the reporting of domestic abuse and monitors numbers as part of its commitment to protecting the vulnerable. The 

Council is working hard to tackle domestic abuse in Central Bedfordshire, and levels have remained fairly stable. A total of 789 incidents were reported during the third quarter of 2016/17. This is 

less than the previous quarter but follows the same pattern as last year. The Council continue to work with partners to ensure we are doing all we can to encourage victims to come forward. There 

is no target as the Council seeks to encourage and therefore increase reporting but at the same time reduce the number of incidents. 

Protecting the Vulnerable; improving well-being Summary

P
age 360

A
genda item

 24



Perception of Council - Value for money
Resident's 
Survey

Sep 16 58 %

Perception that Council acts on the concerns of residents
Resident's 
Survey

Sep 16 55 %

Time taken to process Housing Benefit, Council Tax Benefit, new claims & change events - Days Quarterly Dec 16 21.4

Call wait times average - (seconds) Quarterly Dec 16 148

% of Customer contact by the web Quarterly Dec 16 0 %

Repeat issues (2nd calls or more to contact centre) Quarterly

A more efficient and responsive Council 
Performance will 
be reported

Last 
Reported

Latest Data
Direction 
of Travel

Current 
Status

The Council will be focused on cost effectiveness and efficiency in all that it does. Customers, the residents and businesses of Central Bedfordshire, will help to determine whether it is successful in 

this ambition. The Council will listen to their opinions, views and preferences in shaping its plans.

It will do this by:

� Maximising the value for money achieved for every pound of Council Tax payer's money that is spent 
� Improving the productivity of its workforce by continuing to listen and engage with them in developing the organisation 
� Making use of technology to make it easier for customers to contact and do business with the council on line 
� Modernising its way of working so that organisational costs are reduced on overheads such as office accommodation, travel costs and paper

58% of residents agree that Central Bedfordshire Council provides value for money. Whilst this is a decline of 4% from the 2014 result, the Council compares positively to the national average 

position of 52%. The survey included a question about perceptions of the Council being efficient and well run. Positive responses to this question increased by 9% since 2014 with 58% of residents 

agreeing that this is the case.

A majority of residents (55%) agree that the Council acts on the concerns of residents, which represents an increase of 4% since 2014. 

The Quarter 3 speed of processing housing benefits came in at 21.4 days against a target of 15 days. Whilst the target has still not been achieved, this was a 60% improvement on Quarter 2 

performance. The last 3 months have seen steady improvement. This improved performance should continue for the remainder of 2016/17 due to the retention of the additional resource that was 

taken on earlier in the year and the impact of the 7 trainees who joined the Council in November.

The new telephone system, STORM, went live in the Contact Centre in July 2016. However work was required to build a robust management information process and iron out technical issues. This 

work has been completed, and accurate data has been reported from November 2016, which means that the Quarter 3 data for call waiting times only represents 2 months. 

% of Customer contact by the web - Whilst the Contact Centre is no longer measuring customer contacts via the web (as a result of system changes such as the switch to the new Ringway 

Jacobs reporting tool), the Council remains committed to enabling digital access to services and new mechanisms for monitoring and reporting on these will be explored.

Repeat issues (2nd calls or more to contact centre) - Will be reported from 2017/18. 

A more efficient and responsive Council Summary

P
age 361

A
genda item

 24

hoodg01_34
Text Box
of respondents

hoodg01_35
Text Box
of respondents

hoodg01_36
Text Box
days

hoodg01_37
Text Box
seconds

hoodg01_38
Text Box
No longer reported

hoodg01_39
Text Box
New



Perception that people can influence decisions in their own area
Resident's 
Survey

Sep 16 39 %

Perception that people in the local area pull together to improve the local area
Resident's 
Survey

Sep 16 75 %

Percentage that volunteer
Resident's 
Survey

Sep 16 35 %

Number of volunteers engaged within the community (currently the village care schemes) Quarterly Sep 16 969

Number of customers supported within the community (currently by the village care schemes) Quarterly Sep 16 717

Town and parish survey satisfaction
Res./Staff 
Survey

Creating stronger communities
Performance will 
be reported

Last 
Reported

Latest Data
Direction 
of Travel

Current 
Status

The Council  will do all it can to strengthen community spirit in Central Bedfordshire's towns and villages, nurturing a sense of place and belonging to build resilience and reduce social isolation.

It will do this by:

� Creating more opportunities for community participation in local affairs and services 
� Supporting voluntary activity so that local people are helped to help themselves 
� Making all of the assets the Council owns in Central Bedfordshire's towns and villages (parks, open spaces, buildings etc.) more available to local people for community events and 

activities 
� Working with town and parish councils so that more services are provided at a local level 

Overall, 39% of residents agree that they can influence decision making, but 47% do not. Whilst the proportion of respondents agreeing with this has increased since 2014, it is by 1% only and is 

not therefore statistically representative. Since 2011, the proportion of residents who agree that they can influence decisions has increased by 5%. 

In terms of social cohesion, the proportion of residents who agree that people pull together to improve the local area has increased significantly since 2014, with 9% more respondents (75%) 

agreeing.

Whilst the number of volunteers engaged with village care schemes has increased, there has been a 3% reduction in the proportion of survey respondents who indicate that they give unpaid, 

voluntary help.   

Number of volunteers engaged within the community (currently the village care schemes) - During Quarter 2 (July 2016 - September 2016) 969 volunteers were engaged within the 

community (925 volunteers during Quarter 1), an increase of 44. A new scheme was launched in the Leighton Buzzard locality (Eaton Bray). It is interesting to note that there are a greater number 

of volunteers engaged from villages with modest populations than in the larger towns across Central Bedfordshire. The Council is considering a range of new approaches to increase the number 

of volunteers engaged in the larger towns.

Number of customers supported within the community (currently by the village care schemes) - During Quarter 2 (July 2016 - September 2016) 717 customers were supported within the 

community (767 customers during Quarter 1). Quarter 2 data by locality: Chiltern Vale - 222, Ivel Valley - 242, Leighton Buzzard - 89, West Mid Beds -164. The number of customers supported 

fluctuates as individual circumstances change. During Quarter 2 (July 2016 - September 2016) demand has deceased with fewer residents requiring support.

Town and parish survey satisfaction - To be reported 2017/18.

Creating Stronger Communities Summary

P
age 362

A
genda item

 24

hoodg01_40
Text Box
of respondents

hoodg01_41
Text Box
of respondents

hoodg01_42
Text Box
of respondents

hoodg01_43
Text Box
New

hoodg01_44
Text Box
people

hoodg01_45
Text Box
people



 
Quarter 3 Summary  

 
6. There are 46 indicators in the MTP suite and the majority of these are reported in the 

accompanying scorecard. There are however 4 indicators which are in development 
and once the necessary development work has been completed data for these will 
be included in future reports.  
 

7. The information includes an indication of when data is due to be reported. For those 
indicators that are identified as ‘Res./Staff Survey’ these are reported every even 
numbered year eg. 2012, 2014, 2016, etc. 

 
8. This report includes the latest available data for all the Council’s MTP indicators 

(except for those where data is unavailable at this time), even if new data is not 
being reported this quarter, so that a complete picture of overall performance is 
given. 

 
9. In this report performance against agreed targets is shown and the direction of travel 

where data has become available.  
 

10. Arrows in the scorecard show the performance ‘direction of travel’ and the RAG 
symbols shows whether or not agreed targets are being met. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
11. Work is continuing to consider the presentation of measures on the Council’s 

website. This has the potential to deliver improvements that will help residents to see 
current performance at a glance and view progress to date. 
 
Performance Against Targets and Direction of Travel 
 

12. Of those measures that currently have targets set: 
 
- 12 are reporting as green 
-   5 are reporting as amber 
-   6 are reporting as red 

 
Commentary is provided in each section of the scorecard to explain performance 
against target 
 
 
 

 

Page 363
Agenda item 24



Diagram – RAG status including totals 

 
 

13. Of those measures that currently have a Direction of Travel (DoT) set: 
 

- 20 are reporting DoT in a positive direction 
-   3 are reporting DoT as neither positive or negative 
- 18 are reporting DoT in a negative direction 

 
Commentary is provided in each section of the scorecard to explain performance 
against Direction of Travel. 

 
14. As historic information is built up for this relatively new set of indicators, further 

analysis of performance compared to previous data will be made available. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
  

6

Red

5

Amber

12

Green

Page 364
Agenda item 24



 

 
Council Priorities  
 
15. The measures selected for the reporting of performance reflect the Council’s 

priorities. Measures are reported under the headings in Central Bedfordshire 
Council’s 5 year plan. 

 
Corporate Implications  
 

Legal Implications 

16. None directly, however any areas of on-going underperformance would reflect a risk 
to both service delivery and the reputation of the Council. 

 

Financial Implications 

17. None directly, although the Medium Term Plan indicator set provides a view of the 
value for money delivered by the council. 

 

Equalities Implications 

18. This report highlights performance against a range of indicators which measure how 
the Council is delivering against its Medium Term Plan priorities. It identifies specific 
areas of underperformance which can be highlighted for further analysis. Whilst 
many of the indicators deal with information important in assessing equality, it is 
reported at the headline level in this report. 

 
19. To meet the Council's stated intention of tackling inequalities and delivering services 

so that people whose circumstances make them vulnerable are not disadvantaged, 
performance data for indicators in this set is supported by more detailed performance 
data analysis at the service level and this is used to support the completion of 
equality impact assessments. These impact assessments provide information on the 
underlying patterns and trends for different sections of the community and identify 
areas where further action is required to improve outcomes for vulnerable groups. 

 

Public Health 

20. The Medium Term Plan indicator set includes measures on premature deaths and 
use of leisure centres. 

 

Sustainability: 

21. A broad range of indicators relating to sustainability including those covering 
employment, library usage, active recreation and waste are included in the Medium 
Term Plan indicator set. 

 

Community Safety: 

22. The measures included cover perception of safety both during the day and at night. 
 

Risk Management: 

23. Effective monitoring of performance indicators mitigates the risk of failing to deliver 
the Council’s priorities, reputational risks and the risk of failing to deliver statutory 
responsibilities. 

  

Page 365
Agenda item 24



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 367
Agenda item 26

NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 377
Agenda item 26

NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 379
Agenda item 26

NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 381
Agenda item 26

NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	7 Forward Plan of Key Decisions
	8 Council Responsiveness (Recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Enquiry)
	Appendix 1 - Council Responsiveness

	9 School Parking (Recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Enquiry)
	Appendix 1 - School Parking (Recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Enquiry)

	10 Neighbourhood Planning
	11 CCTV Review
	Appendix A - CCTV Review
	Appendix B - CCTV Review
	Appendix C - CCTV Review

	12 Superfast Broadband Extension Project
	13 Children's Services Transformation Programme
	14 Commissioning of New School Places in Barton-Le-Clay and Marston Moretaine for September 2018
	Appendix A - Commissioning of New School Places in Barton-Le-Clay & Marston Moretaine for September 2018
	Appendix B - Commissioning of New School Places in Barton-Le-Clay & Marston Moretaine for September 2018
	Appendix C - Commissioning of New School Places in Barton-Le-Clay & Marston Moretaine for September 2018
	Appendix D - Commissioning of New School Places in Barton-Le-Clay & Marston Moretaine for September 2018

	15 Commissioning of New School Places in the Ward of Cranfield and Marston Moretaine for September 2018
	Appendix A - Commissioning of New School Places in the ward of Cranfield & Marston Moretaine for September 2018

	16 Prescribed Alteration to Robert Peel, St Swithuns VC and John Donne CofE Lower Schools
	Appendix A - Prescribed Alteration to Robert Peel, St Swithuns and John Donne Lower Schools
	Appendix B - Prescribed Alteration to Robert Peel, St Swithuns and John Donne Lower Schools
	Appendix C - Prescribed Alteration to Robert Peel, St Swithuns and John Donne Lower Schools

	17 Determination of a Statutory Notice for a Change of Age Range at Shillington Lower School from 4-9 to 2-9 years of age
	Appendix A - Determination of a Statutory Notice for a Change of Age Range at Shillington Lower School

	18 The Day Offer for Older People and Adults with Disabilities
	Appendix 1 - Day Offer for Older People and Adults with Disabilities
	Appendix 2 - Day Offer for Older People and Adults with Disabilities

	20 Flitwick Station Site and Car Park
	Appendix A - Flitwick Station Site and Car Park

	21 Revenue Budget Monitoring Provisional Forecast Outturn December 2016 (Quarter 3)
	Appendix A - Revenue Budget Monitoring Provisional Forecast Outturn (Q3)
	Appendix B - Revenue Budget Monitoring Provisional Forecast Outturn (Q3)
	Appendix C - Revenue Budget Monitoring Provisional Forecast Outturn (Q3)
	Appendix D - Revenue Budget Monitoring Provisional Forecast Outturn (Q3)

	22 December 2016 Quarter 3 Capital Budget Monitoring Forecast Outturn Report
	Appendix A - December 2016 Quarter 3 Capital Budget Monitoring Forecast Outturn Report

	23 Period 9 (Quarter 3) – 2016/17 Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring
	Appendix A - Period 9 (Quarter 3) - 2016/17 Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring

	24 Quarter 3 Performance Monitoring
	26 Flitwick Station Site and Car Park
	Appendix C - Flitwick Station Site and Car Park - Scheme Illustration 1
	Appendix C - Flitwick Station Site and Car Park - Scheme Illustration 2
	Appendix C - Flitwick Station Site and Car Park - Scheme Illustration 3


